# World Journal of *Clinical Cases*

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1714-1856





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

#### Contents

Thrice Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 April 6, 2024

#### **EDITORIAL**

1714 Pitfalls in internal jugular vein cannulation Nag DS, Swain A, Sahu S, Swain BP, Sam M

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

1718 Discontinuation of therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: Current views

Meštrović A, Kumric M, Bozic J

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Study**

1728 Two-stage extraction by partial grinding of impacted mandibular third molar in close proximity to the inferior alveolar nerve

Luo GM, Yao ZS, Huang WX, Zou LY, Yang Y

- 1733 Clinical efficacy of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification in diabetic cataract patients Tang YF, Duan ZH
- 1742 Impact of transcranial electrical stimulation on serum neurotrophic factors and language function in patients with speech disorders

Sun L, Xiao K, Shen XY, Wang S

#### **Clinical and Translational Research**

1750 Identification of marker genes associated with N6-methyladenosine and autophagy in ulcerative colitis Liu XY, Qiao D, Zhang YL, Liu ZX, Chen YL, Que RY, Cao HY, Dai YC

#### **CASE REPORT**

- Demyelinating neuropathy in patients with hepatitis B virus: A case report 1766 Yan XX, Huang J, Lin J
- 1772 Successful treatment of Purpureocillium lilacinum pulmonary infection with isavuconazole: A case report Yang XL, Zhang JY, Ren JM
- 1778 Cellular angiofibroma arising from the rectocutaneous fistula in an adult: A case report Chen HE, Lu YY, Su RY, Wang HH, Chen CY, Hu JM, Kang JC, Lin KH, Pu TW
- 1785 Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome resulted in amputation: A case report Jiang J, Liu M



Caraban	World Journal of Clinical Cases
Conten	Thrice Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 April 6, 2024
1793	Paradoxical herniation associated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy after decompressive craniectomy: A case report
	Ye ZX, Fu XX, Wu YZ, Lin L, Xie LQ, Hu YL, Zhou Y, You ZG, Lin H
1799	Subdural effusion associated with COVID-19 encephalopathy: A case report
	Xue ZY, Xiao ZL, Cheng M, Xiang T, Wu XL, Ai QL, Wu YL, Yang T
1804	Cemented vertebra and adjacent vertebra refractured in a chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder patient: A case report
	Zhang TD, Cao S, Ren HY, Li YM, Yuan YM
1810	Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis missed by a radiologist at initial diagnosis: A case report
	Wang M, Wan YX, Liao JW, Xiong F
1817	Gallbladder carcinosarcoma with a poor prognosis: A case report
	Dai Y, Meng M, Luo QZ, Liu YJ, Xiao F, Wang CH
1824	Unique method for removal of knotted lumbar epidural catheter: A case report
	Deng NH, Chen XC, Quan SB
1830	Moyamoya syndrome may result from psoriasis: Four case reports
	Chen ZY, Yu XQ, Xiang YY, Liu LH, Yin XP
1837	Thoracic spinal cord injury and paraplegia caused by intradural cement leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty: A case report
	Mao Z, Xiong ZH, Li JF
1844	Panhypopituitarism caused by a suprasellar germinoma: A case report
	Roganovic J, Saric L, Segulja S, Dordevic A, Radosevic M
1851	Can we triumph over locally advanced cervical cancer with colossal para-aortic lymph nodes? A case report
	Alzibdeh A, Mohamad I, Wahbeh L, Abuhijlih R, Abuhijla F



#### Contents

Thrice Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 April 6, 2024

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Peer Reviewer of World Journal of Clinical Cases, Sanjeet Singh Avtaar Singh, MBChB, MSc, PhD, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Edinburgh EH16 4SA, United Kingdom. sanjeetsinghtoor@gmail.com

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Clinical Cases (WJCC, World J Clin Cases) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJCC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of clinical medicine and covering a wide range of topics, including case control studies, retrospective cohort studies, retrospective studies, clinical trials studies, observational studies, prospective studies, randomized controlled trials, randomized clinical trials, systematic reviews, meta-analysis, and case reports.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJCC is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Current Contents®/Clinical Medicine, PubMed, PubMed Central, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports<sup>®</sup> cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJCC as 1.1; IF without journal self cites: 1.1; 5-year IF: 1.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.26; Ranking: 133 among 167 journals in medicine, general and internal; and Quartile category: Q4.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Si Zhao; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Cover Editor: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Clinical Cases	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
<b>ISSN</b>	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2307-8960 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
April 16, 2013	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Thrice Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
<b>EDITORS-IN-CHIEF</b> Bao-Gan Peng, Salim Surani, Jerzy Tadeusz Chudek, George Kontogeorgos, Maurizio Serati	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
April 6, 2024	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: office@baishideng.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1714-1717

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1714

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

EDITORIAL

## Pitfalls in internal jugular vein cannulation

Deb Sanjay Nag, Amlan Swain, Seelora Sahu, Bhanu Pratap Swain, Merina Sam

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Wittmann T, Hungary

Received: December 24, 2023 Peer-review started: December 24, 2023 First decision: February 6, 2024 Revised: February 7, 2024 Accepted: March 14, 2024 Article in press: March 14, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Deb Sanjay Nag, Amlan Swain, Seelora Sahu, Bhanu Pratap Swain, Merina Sam, Department of Anaesthesiology, Tata Main Hospital, Jamshedpur 831001, Jharkhand, India

Corresponding author: Deb Sanjay Nag, MBBS, MD, Doctor, Department of Anaesthesiology, Tata Main Hospital, C Road West, Northern Town, Bistupur, Jamshedpur 831001, Jharkhand, India. ds.nag@tatasteel.com

#### Abstract

Central venous catheter insertion in the internal jugular vein (IJV) is frequently performed in acute care settings, facilitated by its easy availability and increased use of ultrasound in healthcare settings. Despite the increased safety profile and insertion convenience, it has complications. Herein, we aim to inform readers about the existing literature on the plethora of complications with potentially disastrous consequences for patients undergoing IJV cannulation.

Key Words: Catheterization; Central venous; Complications; Thoracic duct; Arteriovenous fistula; Vocal cord paralysis; Pneumothorax; Cardiac tamponade

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Central venous catheter placement is widely performed in healthcare settings, including critical care units, operating rooms, emergency departments, and patient-care wards. Although its safety profile has significantly increased with the routine use of ultrasound guidance, it is often associated with potential risks. The internal jugular vein remains the most preferred route for central venous cannulation. Potential complications can be due to anatomical variations or vascular, neural, pulmonary, cardiac, or lymphatic injuries, even with normal anatomy.

Citation: Nag DS, Swain A, Sahu S, Swain BP, Sam M. Pitfalls in internal jugular vein cannulation. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1714-1717 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1714.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1714

#### INTRODUCTION

Central venous catheter (CVC) placement is an essential procedure performed



regularly in critical care setups, operating rooms, emergency department scenarios, and all wards throughout any healthcare setup. Although multiple major veins can be cannulated, the internal jugular vein (IJV) is one of the most preferred sites of cannulation. The indications of CVC cannulation include nutritional support, administration of vasoactive drugs, monitoring of hemodynamic status, and therapeutic interventions such as hemodialysis. The enhanced safety profile of IJV cannulation has dramatically increased following the wide usage of ultrasonography (USG) in identifying and cannulating IJV. IJV cannulation is frequently performed in acute care settings throughout the hospital and is associated with a plethora of complications<sup>[1]</sup>.

Several vascular complications have been reported after IJV cannulation, ranging from inadvertent misplacements to multiple attempts (Table 1)[2]. While cannulating the IJV, aberrant neck vascular anatomy has led to arterial and venous injuries and subsequent endovascular salvage procedures[3,4]. Lucas et al[3] reported that CVC completely penetrated the right IJV into the right subclavian artery that terminates in the aortic arch. The carotid artery is a major structure with reported inadvertent puncture. It has a 3%-10% incidence, independent of the chosen technique or operator experience[5, 6].

	Complications
Abnormal anatomy	Right sided arch of aorta
	Congenital persistence of a left-sided vena cava, with or without a bridging innominate vein
Vascular	Arterial injury
	Venous injury (lacerations of the vena cava, the mediastinal vessels, and the right atrium)
	Bleeding
	Hematoma
Neural	Recurrent laryngeal nerve injury
	Vocal cord palsy
	Sympathetic chain injury
	Brachial plexus injury
	Phrenic nerve injury
	Horner's syndrome
Pulmonary	Pneumothorax
	Pneumomediastinum
	Chylothorax
	Tracheal injury
	Injury to the recurrent laryngeal nerve
	Air embolus
Cardiac	Premature atrial and ventricular contractions
	Arrythmias
	Injury to tricuspid valves,
	Perforation of right ventricle
	Cardiac tamponade
	Cardiac arrest
Lymphatic	Iatrogenic lymphatic
	Thoracic duct injuries
Device related	Fibrin sheath formation
	Fracture
	Thrombosis
	Central venous stenosis
	Infection



Moreover, arteriovenous (AV) fistula formation has been reported with IJV cannulation, especially after removing accidental arterial catheters; these have manifested as profound hemiparesis symptoms and an innocuous humming in the ear[7,8]. Although AV fistula is more common on the right side, the left-sided AV fistula has been reported after left IJV cannulation attempt[9].

Prolonged arterial catheterization can lead to thrombus formation with chances of stroke and risk of neurological deficits. Katyal et al[10] (2018) reported a case of acute ischemic stroke from an inadvertently placed CVC into the right common carotid artery. Another rare complication of CVC placement using the landmark technique was its misplacement into the vertebral vein with subsequent subdural effusion in a 4-month-old infant[11]. The next complication of IJV cannulation is the unintentional and potentially life-threatening injury to the right thyrocervical trunk, even when the procedure was performed under the USG guidance[12].

Neural complications such as vocal cord palsy and Horner's syndrome have also been reported[13,14]. Regarding the vocal cord palsy, the right IJV cannulation was performed with the landmark technique, which was associated with transient hoarseness of voice, potentially due to deep infiltration of local anesthetic. Repeated puncture attempts, use of landmark technique, and hematoma formation caused Horner's syndrome in the aforementioned case reports[13,14].

Pneumothorax, pneumomediastinum, chylothorax, tracheal injury, hydrothorax, and air embolism are among the multiple pulmonary complications seen during a CVC insertion[6,15]. Cardiac complications include premature atrial and ventricular contractions, injury to the tricuspid valves, perforation of the right ventricle, and cardiac tamponade. Additionally, proximity to the AV node can lead to cardiac arrest scenarios[16].

Due to the anatomic proximity of the thoracic duct in the superior mediastinum, left IJV cannulation is also associated with lymphatic injury[6,17]. The US-guided IJV cannulation is practiced frequently and considered a safe approach with few complications; its use is recommended by several regulatory bodies. A Cochrane review on ultrasound guidance vs landmark technique showed a high success rate with the use of USG vis-a-vis landmark technique with a discernible decrease in overall complication rates[18].

#### CONCLUSION

Globally, IJV cannulation is a frequently practiced procedure in healthcare settings. The advent of USG has made it convenient and safe to cannulate IJV. However, it is pertinent to note and be wary of the various pitfalls of IJV cannulation to avoid potentially catastrophic therapeutic misadventures.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Nag DS, Swain A, Sahu S, Swain BP and Sam M contributed to this paper; Nag DS and Swain A designed the overall concept and outline of the manuscript; Sahu S, Swain BP and Sam M contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript; Nag DS, Swain A, Sahu S and Sam M contributed to the writing, and editing the manuscript and review of literature.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: India

**ORCID number:** Deb Sanjay Nag 0000-0003-2200-9324; Amlan Swain 0000-0002-0810-7262; Seelora Sahu 0000-0002-5357-9381.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Indian Society of Anaesthesiology, S2863.

S-Editor: Zheng XM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- McGee DC, Gould MK. Preventing complications of central venous catheterization. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 1123-1133 [PMID: 12646670 1 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra011883]
- 2 Kohyama T, Fujimaki K, Sasamori H, Tokumine J, Moriyama K, Yorozu T. Inadvertent catheter misplacement into the subclavian artery during ultrasound-guided internal jugular venous catheterization: a case report. JA Clin Rep 2023; 9: 58 [PMID: 37672125 DOI: 10.1186/s40981-023-00649-1
- Lucas SJ, Bready E, Banks CA, Gaillard WF, Beck AW, Spangler E. Accidental central venous catheter cannulation into aberrant arterial 3 anatomy requiring endovascular intervention. J Vasc Surg Cases Innov Tech 2023; 9: 101164 [PMID: 37388664 DOI:



#### 10.1016/j.jvscit.2023.101164]

- 4 Hu X, Xue C, Wu B, Yu H, Liang C, Zhang L. Late venous laceration after inappropriate placement of a left internal jugular hemodialysis catheter: a case report. J Int Med Res 2022; 50: 3000605221093305 [PMID: 35466740 DOI: 10.1177/03000605221093305]
- Lorchirachoonkul T, Ti LK, Manohara S, Lye ST, Tan SA, Shen L, Kang DS. Anatomical variations of the internal jugular vein: implications 5 for successful cannulation and risk of carotid artery puncture. Singapore Med J 2012; 53: 325-328 [PMID: 22584972]
- Kornbau C, Lee KC, Hughes GD, Firstenberg MS. Central line complications. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci 2015; 5: 170-178 [PMID: 26557487 DOI: 6 10.4103/2229-5151.164940
- Omar M, Kogler W, Izzo C, Jones L. Arteriovenous fistula formation after central venous catheterisation. BMJ Case Rep 2019; 12 [PMID: 7 31296624 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2019-230429]
- 8 Stephen E, Asmi MA, Al Hadhrami T, Al Riyami M, Al Badri M, Al Mawaali H, Al Wahaibi K. A Central Venous Catheter Line Misadventure: "Doctor why do I have a humming sound in my ear?". Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 2023; 23: 116-118 [PMID: 36865431 DOI: 10.18295/squmj.1.2022.010]
- Henry TCL, Huei TJ, Yuzaidi M, Safri LS, Krishna K, Rizal IA, Mohamad Azim MI, Harunarashid H. Unexpected complication of 9 arteriovenous fistula of the left common carotid to internal jugular vein following central venous catheterization. Chin J Traumatol 2020; 23: 29-31 [PMID: 31744657 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjtee.2019.10.001]
- Katyal N, Korzep A, Newey C. Inadvertent Central Arterial Catheterization: An Unusual Cause of Ischemic Stroke. J Neurosci Rural Pract 10 2018; 9: 155-158 [PMID: 29456363 DOI: 10.4103/jnrp.jnrp 460 17]
- Misirlioglu M, Yildizdas D, Yavas DP, Ekinci F, Horoz OO, Yontem A. Central Venous Catheter Insertion for Vascular Access: A 6-year 11 Single-center Experience. Indian J Crit Care Med 2023; 27: 748-753 [PMID: 37908424 DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-24536]
- Ono Y, Ueshima E, Nakanishi N, Shinohara K, Yamada I, Kotani J. Right thyrocervical trunk rupture after right internal jugular vein puncture: 12 a case report and systematic review of the literature. JA Clin Rep 2022; 8: 74 [PMID: 36109440 DOI: 10.1186/s40981-022-00565-w]
- Raj P, Shrivastava P, Kumar M, Lakra L. Internal jugular vein cannulation: A cause for vocal cord palsy A case study. Indian J Anaesth 13 2023; 67: 757-758 [PMID: 37693017 DOI: 10.4103/ija.ija\_13\_23]
- Zou ZY, Yao YT. Horner Syndrome Caused by Internal Jugular Vein Catheterization. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2020; 34: 1636-1640 14 [PMID: 31350153 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2019.06.031]
- Saxena P, Shankar S, Kumar V, Naithani N. Bilateral chylothorax as a complication of internal jugular vein cannulation. Lung India 2015; 32: 15 370-374 [PMID: 26180388 DOI: 10.4103/0970-2113.159579]
- Patel AR, Patel AR, Singh S, Khawaja I. Central Line Catheters and Associated Complications: A Review. Cureus 2019; 11: e4717 [PMID: 16 31355077 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.4717]
- Hwang GH, Eom W. Thoracic duct cannulation during left internal jugular vein cannulation: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2023; 11: 17 8200-8204 [PMID: 38130787 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v11.i34.8200]
- Brass P, Hellmich M, Kolodziej L, Schick G, Smith AF. Ultrasound guidance versus anatomical landmarks for internal jugular vein 18 catheterization. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; 1: CD006962 [PMID: 25575244 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006962.pub2]



W J C C World Journal Clinical Cases

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1718-1727

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1718

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Discontinuation of therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: Current views

Antonio Meštrović, Marko Kumric, Josko Bozic

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Beales I, United Kingdom; Caviglia RD, Italy

Received: December 31, 2023 Peer-review started: December 31, 2023

First decision: January 9, 2024 Revised: February 25, 2024 Accepted: March 14, 2024 Article in press: March 14, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Antonio Meštrović, Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Split, Split 21000, Croatia

Marko Kumric, Josko Bozic, Department of Pathophysiology, University of Split School of Medicine, Split 21000, Croatia

Corresponding author: Josko Bozic, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Pathophysiology, University of Split School of Medicine, Soltanska 2, Split 21000, Croatia. josko.bozic@mefst.hr

#### Abstract

The timely introduction and adjustment of the appropriate drug in accordance with previously well-defined treatment goals is the foundation of the approach in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The therapeutic approach is still evolving in terms of the mechanism of action but also in terms of the possibility of maintaining remission. In patients with achieved long-term remission, the question of de-escalation or discontinuation of therapy arises, considering the possible side effects and economic burden of long-term therapy. For each of the drugs used in IBD (5-aminosalycaltes, immunomodulators, biological drugs, small molecules) there is a risk of relapse. Furthermore, studies show that more than 50% of patients who discontinue therapy will relapse. Based on the findings of large studies and meta-analysis, relapse of disease can be expected in about half of the patients after therapy withdrawal, in case of monotherapy with aminosalicylates, immunomodulators or biological therapy. However, longer relapse-free periods are recorded with withdrawal of medication in patients who had previously been on combination therapies immunomodulators and anti-tumor necrosis factor. It needs to be stressed that randomised clinical trials regarding withdrawal from medications are still lacking. Before making a decision on discontinuation of therapy, it is important to distinguish potential candidates and predictive factors for the possibility of disease relapse. Fecal calprotectin level has currently been identified as the strongest predictive factor for relapse. Several other predictive factors have also been identified, such as: High Crohn's disease activity index or Harvey Bradshaw index, younger age (< 40 years), longer disease duration (> 40 years), smoking, young age of disease onset, steroid use 6-12 months before cessation. An important factor in the decision to withdraw medication is the success of re-treatment with the same or other drugs. The decision to discontinue therapy must be based on individual approach, taking into account the severity, extension, and duration of the disease, the possibility of



side adverse effects, the risk of relapse, and patient's preferences.

Key Words: Inflammatory bowel disease; Therapy discontinuation; Therapy de-escalation; Ulcerative colitis; Crohn's disease

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Tailoring treatment for inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) hinges on timely drug initiation aligned with treatment objectives. While therapy approaches evolve, achieving and sustaining remission prompts discussions on de-escalating or halting treatment, weighed against long-term therapy risks. With each IBD drug category, relapse risks persist post-discontinuation, impacting over 50% of patients. Withdrawal following combination therapies shows prolonged relapse-free periods, yet randomized trials on medication cessation are limited. Identifying relapse predictors and suitable candidates is pivotal. Re-treatment success underpins therapy withdrawal decisions. Individualized assessments, considering disease severity, duration, side effects, relapse risk, and patient preferences all guide prudent discontinuation choices.

Citation: Meštrović A, Kumric M, Bozic J. Discontinuation of therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: Current views. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1718-1727

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1718.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1718

#### INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is characterized by chronic, lifelong intestinal inflammation, often displaying alternate periods of remission and relapse[1,2]. Clinically, we distinguish two subtypes of IBD: Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). The etiology of IBD is ambiguous and is considered a combination of genetic, environmental, dietary, microbial, and immunological factors. While the exact origin of the disease remains uncertain, both UC and CD are characterized by the presence of common pathogenesis resulting from an unregulated immune response to antigenic components of the normal commensal microbiota found within the intestine<sup>[3]</sup>.

IBD globally impacts various age groups with a rising incidence in developing countries, posing a significant strain on healthcare systems<sup>[4]</sup>. It commonly manifests during adolescence or childhood, with around a quarter of patients experiencing onset before the age of 20[5,6]. Although IBD predominantly affects young adults, it can occur at any age. Approximately 20% of children will present with IBD before reaching 10 years of age, and approximately 5% will present even before reaching 5 years of age, showing a varied age range for its occurrence[5,6]. As IBD is a chronic disease which usually appears at a young age, it implies the need for long-term treatment, often accompanied with high financial costs.

The treatment of IBD has evolved in recent decades. The increased introduction of therapy still represents the basis of a rational approach to the treatment of each IBD patient individually, contributing to the severity and extension of the disease<sup>[7,8]</sup>. Treatment includes anti-inflammatory drugs, immunomodulators and, most recently, biological therapy, with the introduction of small molecule therapy several years ago[7,8]. The field of IBD is very attractive to drug researchers, which is evident in numerous ongoing clinical studies exploring new medications primarily targeting immune response mechanisms. This underscores the persistent presence of patients who are facing challenges in achieving and sustaining adequate remission, partly due to the loss of response to the treatment. Traditionally, treatment goals centred on clinical remission, inflammation reduction, and mucosal healing. However, recent focus has shifted towards the overarching objective of enhancing quality of life, recognizing the substantial impact of IBD on both physical and mental well-being[9,10].

For certain IBD patients, the treatment efficiently keeps them in long-term remission, posing a dilemma for clinicians on the necessity and duration of continued treatment. However, current guidelines do not anticipate when therapy should be discontinued [7,8]. Furthermore, the continuation of biological treatment for an indefinite time is encouraged, with the aim of maintaining remission for as long as possible [7,8].

Weighing the possibility of relapse and lack of response to reintroduction of therapy against the risk of side effects such as infections and the risk of inducing malignant diseases due to prolonged use of immunomodulators and immunosuppressive therapy is crucial when considering the possible cessation of treatment. Apart from health risks, the financial aspect of treatment is also relevant. The continuous introduction of advanced medications incurs expenses for the healthcare system, which now surpass the costs associated with surgical procedures and hospital stays[11-14].

The outlined complexities underscore the necessity for a tailored approach to treating IBD patients-one that aligns with medical and financial rationale while also meeting the patient's needs and preferences.

#### Therapy goals in the treatment of IBD

The International Organization for the Study of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IOIBD) in 2021 updated the previous goals for the treatment of IBD from 2015, known as the Initiative to Select Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (STRIDE)[9,10]. STRIDE represents a treat-to-target strategy based on evidence and consensus, which foresees an individual approach to patients according to local possibilities, all with the aim of improving treatment outcomes[9,10]. A



systematic review included 435 relevant papers from a pool of 11278 manuscripts[10]. The original STRIDE recommendations (STRIDE I) defined the following important treatment goals: Clinical response and remission, endoscopic healing, and normalization of C-reactive protein (CRP, or rate of erythrocyte sedimentation rate) and calprotectin[9].

STRIDE II reaffirmed these goals while adding long-term objectives like absence of disability, improvement in quality of life, and maintaining normal growth in children[10]. Improvement in symptoms and normalization of inflammatory parameters in serum (CRP/erythrocyte sedimentation rate) and stool (fecal calprotectin) are proclaimed short-term treatment goals[10]. However, transmural healing in CD and histological healing of the mucosa in UC are not considered final treatment goals, but represent a measure of the magnitude of remission[10].

The absence of disability and normalization of health-related quality of life is the long-term goal of treatment, according to the IOIBD recommendations[10]. However, it should be emphasized that the quality of life should be the aim in each phase of treatment. The treatment goals are summarized in Table 1, with a strong recommendation to reassess therapeutic approaches if these goals are not achieved.

#### Exit strategies in specific therapeutic approaches

In 2017, a consensus expert panel convened by the European Crohn's and Colitis Organization gave practical instructions for exit strategies in the treatment of IBD[11]. The likelihood of relapse with stopping a specific class of IBD therapy was also reviewed[11].

It is important to emphasize that each major class of IBD medications, whether used alone or combined (such as 5aminosalicyclates, immunomodulators, biologic agents), confers a risk of relapse following reduction or discontinuation of treatment[11]. An individualized approach, involving shared decision-making with patients, is crucial. Decisions on discontinuation should consider relapse risks and treatment effectiveness upon re-initiation.

In particular, the actual disadvantage of withdrawal should not be recognized by the rate of relapse after discontinuation itself, but by the increase in the rate of relapse over the rate of relapse with continued therapy, because a considerable number of patients may still relapse even if therapy is continued[15].

#### 5-Aminosalicylates

5-Aminosalicylates (5-ASA) are the cornerstone therapy for patients with mild to moderate UC[8]. Furthermore, it is estimated that 88%-97% of patients receive 5-ASA therapy within one year of the initial diagnosis, and 60%-87% continue to use it in the following 10 years[16,17]. 5-ASA is a widely prescribed drug and accounts for 25% of the total cost of treatment in patients with UC[18,19].

Contrary to the European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (ECCO) guidelines, 5-ASA are also frequently prescribed drugs in the treatment of CD[7]. Moreover, one-third of patients with CD receive long-term therapy with 5-ASA, despite the lack of proven benefit[7,20-22]. On the other hand, in UC, 5-ASA have been proven successful as well-tolerated drugs with a high safety profile[8]. The role of 5-ASA in the prevention of colorectal cancer, possibly due to its potential direct chemoprotective effect, should be especially highlighted[23].

A meta-analysis of 31 observational studies encompassing 2137 cases of colorectal neoplasia, 76% of which were cancer, revealed that therapeutic doses of 5-ASA were significantly associated with reduced neoplasia in UC [risk ratio (RR) 0.54, 95% confidence interval (95%CI): 0.38-0.64], but this effect was not observed in patients with CD (RR 0.76, 95%CI: 0.43-1.33). Notably, there was no observed benefit with sulfasalazine[24]. Additionally, a separate systematic review and meta-analysis involving 26 observational studies, incorporating 15460 subjects, highlighted the chemopreventive effect of 5-ASA on colorectal cancer (excluding dysplasia)[25]. This effect exhibited significance exclusively in clinical studies (OR = 0.51; 95%CI: 0.39-0.65) and among patients diagnosed with UC (OR = 0.46, 95%CI: 0.34-0.61). Moreover, the protective effect against colorectal cancer was notably more pronounced with a mesalazine dosage of 1.2 g/d compared to dosages below 1.2 g/d[25].

Ardizzone *et al*[26] conducted a comparison of 12-month relapse rates concerning the duration of remission before therapy withdrawal. Patients who had sustained remission for more than 2 years before discontinuing 5-ASA did not exhibit a significantly higher relapse rate compared to those who continued treatment. Conversely, patients in remission for 1-2 years prior to 5-ASA withdrawal demonstrated a notably higher relapse rate than the continuation group (49% *vs* 23%). The authors concluded that maintaining 5-ASA treatment is essential for patients who have been in remission for less than 2 years.

Regarding topical (rectal) 5-ASA therapy, existing studies provide compelling evidence. Six randomized clinical trials collectively revealed higher relapse rates in the placebo group vs the 5-ASA treatment group using topical monotherapy [27-32]. Reported relapse rates in the placebo group ranged from 52% to 85% at 12 months and up to 91% at 24 months. Conversely, relapse rates among patients continuing 5-ASA ranged from 20% to 48% at 12 months and reached 55% at 24 months. Authors across all studies uniformly concluded that discontinuing topical therapy in distal UC significantly increased the likelihood of disease relapse. Although studies analyzing dose de-escalation are lacking, reducing the frequency of administration is commonly practiced upon achieving remission[8].

Recent American Gastroenterological Association guidelines for managing moderate to severe UC propose the possibility of discontinuing 5-ASA therapy in patients achieving remission with biologic agents, immunomodulators, or tofacitinib[33]. A retrospective analysis utilizing two national databases in Denmark and the United States, comprising 3178 patients, compared adverse events among individuals who ceased oral 5-ASA within 90 d of commencing antitumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapy with those who maintained 5-ASA. Results indicated that discontinuing 5-ASA did not elevate the risk of adverse clinical events, corticosteroid usage, hospitalization, or surgery in either the United States or Danish cohort[34].

Zaisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Treatment goals in patients with inflammatory bowel disease				
	Short/intermediate-term goals	Long-term goals		
Clinical	Clinical response	Clinical remission; In children, the return of normal development is a long-term goal		
Endoscopic		Endoscopic healing; Histological healing is not a defined goal of treatment in CD or UC		
Laboratory	Normalization of CRP, ESR and fecal calprotectin			
Quality of life	Absence of disability and normalization of health-	related quality of life		

CD: Crohn's disease; CRP: C-reactive protein; ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate; UC: Ulcerative colitis.

Moreover, Singh et al[35] conducted a pooled analysis of individual participant data from five infliximab and golimumab trials in UC, encompassing 2183 patients treated with infliximab or golimumab (78.6% receiving 5-ASA), aiming to evaluate whether concurrent 5-ASA use influences clinical outcomes in these patients. Their findings indicated that the concurrent use of 5-ASA did not correlate with increased odds of achieving clinical remission or mucosal healing. These outcomes remained consistent across trials for both induction and maintenance therapies and across infliximab and golimumab treatments[35]. Similarly, a retrospective observational cohort study focusing on vedolizumab, a monoclonal antibody targeting  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  Leukocyte integrin in UC patients, arrived at the same conclusion. Ma et al[36] reported that concomitant 5-aminosalicylate use among individuals treated with vedolizumab did not demonstrate significant differences in achieving clinical or endoscopic remission, sustained vedolizumab use, or secondary loss of response.

In general, discontinuing oral 5-ASA as a standalone therapy tends to result in a higher relapse rate. When considering the withdrawal of 5-ASA in UC patients, it's crucial to approach it on a case-by-case basis, involving the patient in decision-making. This decision should hinge on the presence or absence of specific risk factors. However, for UC patients displaying high adherence to the drug, experiencing a mild disease course, showcasing low levels of fecal calprotectin, and/or demonstrating complete mucosal healing, a reduction in the maintenance dose of 5-ASA could be contemplated [8]. Conversely, patients diagnosed with left-sided and extensive colitis typically anticipate higher relapse rates, and these individuals might benefit from a higher maintenance dose of therapy.

#### Immunomodulators

As widely acknowledged, ECCO guidelines recommend thiopurine monotherapy to sustain remission in individuals with steroid-dependent UC or those unable to tolerate 5-ASA[8]. Additionally, thiopurines are endorsed for sustaining remission in steroid-dependent CD patients[7]. Nonetheless, concerns regarding the potential complications, including non-melanoma skin cancer, myeloproliferative, and lymphoproliferative disorders associated with long-term thiopurine use, raise substantial safety considerations[37-39].

The potential adverse effects of long-term immunomodulator therapy prompt consideration about its discontinuation and the optimal timing for such a decision. A comprehensive systematic review conducted by Torres et al[40] synthesized data from 69 studies comprising 4672 IBD patients, revealing that more than 50% of individuals discontinuing immunomodulators or biological-based therapies experienced disease relapse. Notably, randomized clinical trials investigating withdrawal possibilities and their impact on disease progression and relapse remain scarce. One of the early studies on immunomodulatory withdrawal in CD, led by Bouhnik et al[41], shed light on this aspect. Their retrospective analysis revealed that among patients continuing therapy, the cumulative probabilities of relapse at 1 and 5 years stood at 11% and 32%, respectively. Notably, female gender, younger age, and a longer time to achieve remission (over 6 months) were associated with a heightened risk of relapse in this cohort. In contrast, for patients who ceased therapy, the probabilities of relapse at 1 and 5 years were notably higher, at 38% and 75%, respectively. Factors such as male sex, younger age, and shorter duration of remission (less than 4 years) correlated with an increased risk of relapse in this group. The authors concluded that after 4 years of remission under these medications, the risk of relapse appeared comparable regardless of therapy continuation or cessation. This finding led to questioning the utility of prolonged immunomodulator use in such patients[41].

Further analyses dissuade the discontinuation of immunomodulators in the absence of long-term remission. French et al[42] conducted a meta-analysis involving five studies encompassing 256 CD patients and 168 controls. Their findings highlighted the benefits of continuing azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for a minimum of 18 months to uphold previously attained remission. The study revealed that maintaining thiopurine therapy reduced the relapse risk at 6, 12, and 18 months, displaying pooled odds ratios of 0.22, 0.25, and 0.35, respectively [42]. Similarly, in UC patients, although data are limited, comparable results have emerged. A sole published double-blind randomized clinical trial involving withdrawal of azathioprine in UC patients depicted one-year relapse rates of 59% after azathioprine withdrawal vs 36% with sustained therapy, particularly notable in patients experiencing short-term remission (less than 6 months)[43].

A multicentre observational Italian retrospective study concluded that discontinuation of azathioprine while UC is in remission is associated with a high rate of relapse. In a study with 127 patients who were followed for a median of 55 months or until relapse after drug withdrawal, one-third of the patients relapsed within 12 months, half within 2 years, and two-thirds within 5 years [44]. The BERENICE study yielded interesting results, providing insight into the risks after stopping medications<sup>[45]</sup>. In the above-noted study, the authors developed a model-based risk-benefit analysis of withdrawing thiopurines in CD patients in prolonged remission. For patients without extensive colitis, continuing thiopurines marginally increased life expectancy for 35-year-old men and women, but decreased life expectancy for 65-



year-old men and women. According to the study findings, the withdrawal strategy became the preferred approach at approximately 40 years for men and approximately 45 years for women without extensive colitis. In patients with extensive colitis, the continuation strategy was favored regardless of age[45].

In a previously mentioned systematic review, Torres *et al*[40] clearly highlighted high rates of relapse in patients with CD or UC after stopping immunomodulator monotherapy. Roughly 75% of patients experienced relapse within 5 years after discontinuing therapy. However, in the case of combination therapy (immunomodulator + anti-TNF therapy) in patients with CD, discontinuing the immunomodulator do not affect the relapse rate compared to those who continued the drug. Analysis of multiple studies showed that 55%-60% experienced disease relapse 24 months after stopping the immunomodulator. The only study in patients with UC supported the ongoing use of immunomodulators[40]. In the same systematic review, the authors identified factors associated with a higher risk of CD relapse: Elevated CRP, increased leukocyte or neutrophil count, low hemoglobin levels, high-risk disease (perianal involvement), younger age, male gender, short duration of remission, a shorter time since the last steroids, higher dose of azathioprine, thiopurine reduction before de-escalation, and smoking cessation[40].

The factors linked to an increased risk of relapse in UC were outlined as follows: Increased leukocyte count, extensive disease (pancolonic/extensive), younger age, male sex, number of relapses with azathioprine, shorter duration of azathioprine, and longer time from diagnosis to azathioprine. From this, we can deduce that higher disease activity, poor prognostic factors, and a complex or recurring disease course are correlated with future relapse[40]. These findings underscore the necessity for an individualized approach in deciding whether to discontinue therapy, contingent upon each patient's disease course and severity.

Concerning exit strategies, the ECCO review board concluded that there is a cumulative risk of relapse over time after immunomodulatory monotherapy withdrawal in both CD and UC. It is estimated that approximately 30% of patients experience a relapse within 2 years, and between 50% to 75% relapse within 5 years[11]. The discontinuation of immunomodulator monotherapy is evidently associated with an increased risk of relapse. In a systematic review and metaanalysis encompassing ten randomized controlled trials with 587 included patients, Dohos et al[46] concluded that continued immunomodulator monotherapy should remain the preferred approach among patients with CD, despite concerns about long-term toxicity. However, the withdrawal of immunomodulator monotherapy did not exhibit a significantly higher risk of relapse within 24 months of follow-up in UC (RR = 1.39, 95%CI: 0.85-2.26, respectively). Moreover, discontinuing an immunomodulator in combination with biologics did not demonstrate a higher risk of relapse compared to continuing both drugs (RR = 1.30, 95% CI: 0.81-2.08)[46].

As previously mentioned, the removal of the immunomodulator from a combination with anti-TNF treatment do not yield a significantly higher relapse rate. In the study conducted by van Assche *et al*[47], continuing combination therapy showed no evident clinical benefit. Nonetheless, concurrent therapy involving any immunomodulators affects the pharmacokinetics of antibodies against infliximab and adalimumab[48,49]. Moreover, a comprehensive meta-analysis indicated that combination therapy correlates with reduced immunogenicity [50]. The potential withdrawal of immunomodulators from the combination regimen might lead to a heightened risk of antidrug antibody formation, although its impact on clinical outcomes might take more than a year to manifest[46].

In short, the decision to withdraw immunomodulators in IBD treatment is complex, as studies show varying relapse rates upon discontinuation. While discontinuing immunomodulator monotherapy in both CD and UC correlates with an increased risk of relapse, the withdrawal from combination therapy with anti-TNF treatment doesn't significantly heighten relapse rates. However, the removal of immunomodulators from these combined regimens could potentially impact antibody formation, affecting the long-term clinical outcomes of IBD treatment.

#### Biological therapy

Biological therapy has emerged as a primary treatment for moderate to severe CD and UC, aligning with established guidelines [7,8]. An extensive examination of healthcare expenditures in IBD was conducted among 1289 patients across 21 countries over a 5-year span, revealing a substantial rise in the costs attributed to biological treatments, comprising 73% in CD and 48% in UC cases [13]. While a test-based de-escalation approach demonstrated potential cost savings for CD patients in remission on optimized infliximab, it underscores the necessity for rethinking subsequent therapy management<sup>[51]</sup>. Presently, there is insufficient data supporting a clear recommendation for maintaining or stopping anti-TNF therapy upon achieving prolonged remission in IBD patients, and the absence of randomized trials complicates the decision-making process. Observational studies hint that discontinuing anti-TNF therapy might lead to a higher relapse risk compared to immunomodulators, with approximately 50% of patients experiencing relapse within two years, emphasizing the crucial role of clinical judgment in withdrawal decisions[11,51].

The STORI trial, the initial prospective study observing infliximab withdrawal after a year of remission in 115 CD patients on concurrent immunomodulatory therapy, noted relapse in 44% of patients within the first year[52]. Identified risk factors for relapse in the multivariate analysis included male gender, lack of surgical resection, elevated white blood cell count (> 6.0 ×  $10^{\circ}/L$ ), lower hemoglobin (< 145 g/L), normal CRP levels (< 5.0 mg/L), and higher fecal calprotectin (>  $300 \ \mu g/g)$ [52]. In the extended follow-up of the STORI trial, among patients maintaining remission on combined infliximab and immunomodulators, around 70% did not experience treatment failure even seven years after withdrawing infliximab. Yet, a fifth of these patients encountered significant complications over the same period [53].

In a comprehensive meta-analysis spanning 27 studies focusing on infliximab and adalimumab, Gisbert et al[54] found that after discontinuing anti-TNF therapy, the overall relapse risk stood at 44% for CD and 38% for UC patients. Within a year, 40% of CD and 28% of UC patients relapsed. For CD patients achieving endoscopic remission alongside clinical remission before stopping anti-TNF therapy, the relapse rate dropped notably to 26% after one year. Importantly, the study highlighted a positive response to retreatment using the same anti-TNF medication. Factors associated with a higher risk of relapse encompassed younger age, smoking habits, longer disease duration, perianal CD fistulization, and



specific laboratory markers such as low hemoglobin, elevated CRP levels, and high fecal calprotectin. Conversely, lower serum anti-TNF levels and mucosal healing appeared linked to a decreased risk of relapse following anti-TNF discontinuation[54].

When deciding to discontinue therapy, the question arises regarding the success of reintroducing therapy in case of disease relapse. The multicentre retrospective EVODIS study, which enrolled 1055 patients with CD and UC, with a median follow-up of 34 months, assessed the risk of long-term relapse after the discontinuation of anti-TNF[55]. The results showed that the cumulative incidence of relapse was 50%: 19% in year one and 48% in 5 years of follow-up[55]. However, of the 60% of patients who had been retreated with the same anti-TNF after relapse, 73% regained remission [55]. The introduction of vedolizumab further improved the effectiveness of the treatment of IBD. However, there is a lack of data in the literature on relapse after drug withdrawal. In one retrospective observational study, from 21 tertiary centers, Martin et al[56] assessed the risk of relapse after the vedolizumab therapy was discontinued. The results showed that two-thirds of the patients had relapse within the first year after discontinuation of vedolizumab[56]. Retreatment with vedolizumab was effective in two-thirds of patients. However, many of them were treated with anti-TNF before the first treatment with vedolizumab was introduced[56].

Information regarding the withdrawal of anti-IL12/23 antibody, specifically ustekinumab, is scarce primarily because it was predominantly utilized as secondary or tertiary treatment post previous therapy failures[57].

The OCTAVE Open investigation assessed tofacitinib retreatment effectiveness and safety in UC patients who previously experienced treatment failure after 8 wk[58]. Results showed that after discontinuation, the median treatment failure time was 169 d for induction remitters and 123 d for responders who did not achieve remission. Reintroducing 10 mg bid tofacitinib proved effective and safe, with clinical response rates in year 3 reaching 60.6% for induction remitters and 42.4% for induction responders who did not achieve remission[58].

According to the ECCO conclusion on exit strategy, individuals achieving clinical, biological, and endoscopic remission likely face reduced relapse risks upon stopping anti-TNF therapy, making them potential candidates for withdrawal<sup>[11]</sup>. However, patients with a previous need for anti-TNF dose increase seem to be at high risk of relapse after discontinuation [11]. On the other hand, continuing immunomodulator treatment post anti-TNF discontinuation seems to lower the relapse risk[11].

#### Monitoring after withdrawal from therapy and predictive factors of relapse

The ECCO topical review on exit strategies suggests close monitoring during the initial year post-withdrawal, as the majority of relapses, particularly with anti-TNF agents, tend to happen within 6 to 12 months after cessation[11]. In clinical practice, a fundamental concern revolves around post-withdrawal patient monitoring and, notably, identifying relapse risks. Consequently, monitoring approaches utilizing non-invasive markers have been suggested.

In a recent prospective study monitoring patients after withdrawing from immunomodulator monotherapy, fecal calprotectin emerged as the most sensitive biomarker for relapse compared to CRP and white blood cell count[59]. Other research also supports the pivotal role of fecal calprotectin, indicating its rise preceding clinical or endoscopic relapse[60]. This suggests the possibility of its use as a predictive marker for identifying patients requiring close follow-up[60]. This suggests its potential as a predictive marker for identifying patients needing closer monitoring[60]. Another prospective study by Molander et al[60] tracking patients after anti-TNF withdrawal found significant correlations between fecal calprotectin and later relapse in UC (RR: 3.3; 95%CI: 1.2-10) and CD patients (hazard ratio: 4.5; 95%CI: 1.4-12.5)[60]. However, maintaining normal levels during follow-up proved highly predictive of clinical and endoscopic remission[60].

In a study by Buisson *et al*[61], the predictive value of fecal calprotectin in assessing relapse risk after therapeutic deescalation was confirmed. Using a receiver operating characteristic curve, the authors determined that a fecal calprotectin level > 100  $\mu$ g/g was the optimal threshold for predicting clinical relapse after de-escalation (area under the curve = 0.84) [61]. Some authors proposed predictive models for relapse as clinical practice recommendations. In a meta-analysis involving 14 studies and 1317 patients, Pauwels et al[62] proposed a predictive model for CD relapse post-cessation of anti-TNF therapy. Several factors were identified as predictive of relapse strength: Clinical symptoms (e.g., CD activity index of 150 or higher, Harvey Bradshaw index of 5 or higher, Physicians' Global Assessment above 0), younger age (< 40 years), longer disease duration (> 40 years), smoking, age at diagnosis of 16 years, steroid use 6-12 months before cessation, absence of immunosuppressant use, age between 40-60 years, and disease duration of 30-40 years[61]. Figure 1 illustrates the most commonly recognized factors associated with risk of relapse.

After discontinuation of therapy, relapse can be expected in a large portion of patients within 6 to 12 months[11]. For this reason, strict monitoring of clinical and non-invasive parameters is recommended, especially within the first year [57]. The non-invasive parameters primarily include fecal calprotectin and CRP[11]. In case of withdrawal of the anti-TNF therapy, elevated CRP and fecal calprotectin level was observed even several months before the clinical relapse[57]. If elevated values are confirmed by retesting, for further research, in the form of endoscopic revaluation is requested.

Current knowledge from clinical practice dictates the need for endoscopic and/or radiological assessment in case of CRP and fecal calprotectin elevation during follow-up after drug withdrawal. Further studies are needed in order to establish the optimal monitoring interval of non-invasive markers and treatment algorithms during follow up, as well as the time of endoscopic re-evaluation. Timing of endoscopic re-evaluation in the situation of sustained clinical remission after withdrawal should also be clarified.

#### Future directions

It remains important to distinguish and select patients with the lowest risk of relapse after discontinuation or deescalation of therapy. For this purpose, it would be valuable to design scoring systems to predict the possibility of relapse using various clinical, endoscopic, and laboratory parameters. As previously mentioned, the role of fecal calprotectin has been indisputably proven in this matter [59-61]. Future research is expected to focus on identifying the best non-invasive





Figure 1 Possible predictive factors of disease relapse after withdrawal of therapy in inflammatory bowel disease patients. CD: Crohn's disease; CRP: C-reactive protein; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; UC: Ulcerative colitis.

markers for assessing disease severity and predicting relapse after drug withdrawal[63]. There is considerable anticipation regarding the role of intestinal ultrasound as a convenient imaging method. Until now, intestinal ultrasound has been established as a cross-sectional imaging tool, accurate in assessing IBD activity in real time[64]. It not only positively impacts patient compliance but also aids in quick clinical decision-making[64]. It is worth highlighting the possibility of machine learning models that could be used for designing suitable algorithms for assessing the severity of the disease and the possibility of relapse. This is consistent with the increasingly present idea of using artificial intelligence in the field of IBD[65,66]. Additionally, the optimal and timely monitoring of patients after stopping IBD therapy is an important consideration. Current knowledge favors periodic fecal calprotectin checks every three months [59]. Larger randomized clinical studies are necessary to evaluate the possibility of relapse and the safety of drug withdrawal in both monotherapy and combination therapy models. Likewise, there is a lack of comprehensive studies on therapies involving anti-integrins, anti-IL12/23 drugs, and small molecules, particularly in primarily resistant cases, warranting further investigation.

#### CONCLUSION

According to the currently available data, patient in clinical, laboratory, and endoscopic remission, has a better chance of experiencing an extended period of remission. Since long-term immunosuppressive therapy might result in adverse events, it is reasonable to consider reducing or discontinuing treatment in some patients. In patients with a low risk of relapse, discontinuation of treatment can be recommended. While 5-ASA are recommended, mainly due to their chemoprotective effect, discontinuation of immunomodulators or biological therapy could be suggested, particularly in cases of combination treatment. Although reintroducing therapy within the same drug group can be successful, retreatment will not be effective in at least one third of patients. However, the key challenge in the clinical practice lies in identifying patients at risk of relapse. Therefore, there is a strong need to develop exit strategies tailored to individual patients.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Meštrović A, Kumric M and Bozic J wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Croatia

ORCID number: Antonio Meštrović 0000-0002-0156-2748; Marko Kumric 0000-0002-9696-3359; Josko Bozic 0000-0003-1634-0635.

S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Kobayashi T, Siegmund B, Le Berre C, Wei SC, Ferrante M, Shen B, Bernstein CN, Danese S, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Hibi T. Ulcerative colitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2020; 6: 74 [PMID: 32913180 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-020-0205-x]
- Torres J, Mehandru S, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Crohn's disease. Lancet 2017; 389: 1741-1755 [PMID: 27914655 DOI: 2 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31711-1]
- Lee SH, Kwon JE, Cho ML. Immunological pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Intest Res 2018; 16: 26-42 [PMID: 29422795 DOI: 3 10.5217/ir.2018.16.1.26]
- Ng SC, Shi HY, Hamidi N, Underwood FE, Tang W, Benchimol EI, Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Wu JCY, Chan FKL, Sung JJY, Kaplan GG. 4 Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. Lancet 2017; 390: 2769-2778 [PMID: 29050646 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32448-0]
- 5 Rosen MJ, Dhawan A, Saeed SA. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Children and Adolescents. JAMA Pediatr 2015; 169: 1053-1060 [PMID: 26414706 DOI: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.1982]
- Borowitz SM. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: Clues to pathogenesis? Front Pediatr 2022; 10: 1103713 [PMID: 36733765 6 DOI: 10.3389/fped.2022.1103713]
- 7 Torres J, Bonovas S, Doherty G, Kucharzik T, Gisbert JP, Raine T, Adamina M, Armuzzi A, Bachmann O, Bager P, Biancone L, Bokemeyer B, Bossuyt P, Burisch J, Collins P, El-Hussuna A, Ellul P, Frei-Lanter C, Furfaro F, Gingert C, Gionchetti P, Gomollon F, González-Lorenzo M, Gordon H, Hlavaty T, Juillerat P, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, Krustins E, Lytras T, Maaser C, Magro F, Marshall JK, Myrelid P, Pellino G, Rosa I, Sabino J, Savarino E, Spinelli A, Stassen L, Uzzan M, Vavricka S, Verstockt B, Warusavitarne J, Zmora O, Fiorino G. ECCO Guidelines on Therapeutics in Crohn's Disease: Medical Treatment. J Crohns Colitis 2020; 14: 4-22 [PMID: 31711158 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz180]
- Raine T, Bonovas S, Burisch J, Kucharzik T, Adamina M, Annese V, Bachmann O, Bettenworth D, Chaparro M, Czuber-Dochan W, Eder P, 8 Ellul P, Fidalgo C, Fiorino G, Gionchetti P, Gisbert JP, Gordon H, Hedin C, Holubar S, Iacucci M, Karmiris K, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, Lakatos PL, Lytras T, Lyutakov I, Noor N, Pellino G, Piovani D, Savarino E, Selvaggi F, Verstockt B, Spinelli A, Panis Y, Doherty G. ECCO Guidelines on Therapeutics in Ulcerative Colitis: Medical Treatment. J Crohns Colitis 2022; 16: 2-17 [PMID: 34635919 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab178]
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Sandborn W, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Bemelman W, Bryant RV, D'Haens G, Dotan I, Dubinsky M, Feagan B, Fiorino G, 9 Gearry R, Krishnareddy S, Lakatos PL, Loftus EV Jr, Marteau P, Munkholm P, Murdoch TB, Ordás I, Panaccione R, Riddell RH, Ruel J, Rubin DT, Samaan M, Siegel CA, Silverberg MS, Stoker J, Schreiber S, Travis S, Van Assche G, Danese S, Panes J, Bouguen G, O'Donnell S, Pariente B, Winer S, Hanauer S, Colombel JF. Selecting Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (STRIDE): Determining Therapeutic Goals for Treat-to-Target. Am J Gastroenterol 2015; 110: 1324-1338 [PMID: 26303131 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.233]
- Turner D, Ricciuto A, Lewis A, D'Amico F, Dhaliwal J, Griffiths AM, Bettenworth D, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Schölmerich J, 10 Bemelman W, Danese S, Mary JY, Rubin D, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Dotan I, Abreu MT, Dignass A; International Organization for the Study of IBD. STRIDE-II: An Update on the Selecting Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (STRIDE) Initiative of the International Organization for the Study of IBD (IOIBD): Determining Therapeutic Goals for Treat-to-Target strategies in IBD. Gastroenterology 2021; 160: 1570-1583 [PMID: 33359090 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.12.031]
- Doherty G, Katsanos KH, Burisch J, Allez M, Papamichael K, Stallmach A, Mao R, Berset IP, Gisbert JP, Sebastian S, Kierkus J, Lopetuso L, 11 Szymanska E, Louis E. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation Topical Review on Treatment Withdrawal ['Exit Strategies'] in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis 2018; 12: 17-31 [PMID: 28981623 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx101]
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Rahier JF, Kirchgesner J, Abitbol V, Shaji S, Armuzzi A, Karmiris K, Gisbert JP, Bossuyt P, Helwig U, Burisch J, Yanai 12 H, Doherty GA, Magro F, Molnar T, Löwenberg M, Halfvarson J, Zagorowicz E, Rousseau H, Baumann C, Baert F, Beaugerie L; I-CARE Collaborator Group. I-CARE, a European Prospective Cohort Study Assessing Safety and Effectiveness of Biologics in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 21: 771-788.e10 [PMID: 36152897 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.09.018]
- 13 Burisch J, Vardi H, Schwartz D, Friger M, Kiudelis G, Kupčinskas J, Fumery M, Gower-Rousseau C, Lakatos L, Lakatos PL, D'Incà R, Sartini A, Valpiani D, Giannotta M, Arebi N, Duricova D, Bortlik M, Chetcuti Zammit S, Ellul P, Pedersen N, Kjeldsen J, Midjord JMM, Nielsen KR, Winther Andersen K, Andersen V, Katsanos KH, Christodoulou DK, Domislovic V, Krznaric Z, Sebastian S, Oksanen P, Collin P, Barros L, Magro F, Salupere R, Kievit HAL, Goldis A, Kaimakliotis IP, Dahlerup JF, Eriksson C, Halfvarson J, Fernandez A, Hernandez V, Turcan S, Belousova E, Langholz E, Munkholm P, Odes S; Epi-IBD group. Health-care costs of inflammatory bowel disease in a pan-European, community-based, inception cohort during 5 years of follow-up: A population-based study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 454-464 [PMID: 32061322 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30012-1]
- Park KT, Ehrlich OG, Allen JI, Meadows P, Szigethy EM, Henrichsen K, Kim SC, Lawton RC, Murphy SM, Regueiro M, Rubin DT, Engel-14 Nitz NM, Heller CA. The Cost of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: An Initiative From the Crohn's & Colitis Foundation. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2020; 26: 1-10 [PMID: 31112238 DOI: 10.1093/ibd/izz104]
- Miyatani Y, Kobayashi T. Evidence-Based Approach to the Discontinuation of Immunomodulators or Biologics in Inflammatory Bowel 15 Disease. Digestion 2023; 104: 66-73 [PMID: 36450267 DOI: 10.1159/000527776]
- Lamb CA, Kennedy NA, Raine T, Hendy PA, Smith PJ, Limdi JK, Hayee B, Lomer MCE, Parkes GC, Selinger C, Barrett KJ, Davies RJ, 16 Bennett C, Gittens S, Dunlop MG, Faiz O, Fraser A, Garrick V, Johnston PD, Parkes M, Sanderson J, Terry H; IBD guidelines eDelphi consensus group, Gaya DR, Iqbal TH, Taylor SA, Smith M, Brookes M, Hansen R, Hawthorne AB. British Society of Gastroenterology consensus guidelines on the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. Gut 2019; 68: s1-s106 [PMID: 31562236 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318484]
- Fumery M, Singh S, Dulai PS, Gower-Rousseau C, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Sandborn WJ. Natural History of Adult Ulcerative Colitis in 17 Population-based Cohorts: A Systematic Review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 343-356.e3 [PMID: 28625817 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.06.016]
- Niewiadomski O, Studd C, Hair C, Wilson J, McNeill J, Knight R, Prewett E, Dabkowski P, Dowling D, Alexander S, Allen B, Tacey M, 18 Connell W, Desmond P, Bell S. Health Care Cost Analysis in a Population-based Inception Cohort of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients in the First Year of Diagnosis. J Crohns Colitis 2015; 9: 988-996 [PMID: 26129692 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv117]
- 19 Ghosh N, Premchand P. A UK cost of care model for inflammatory bowel disease. Frontline Gastroenterol 2015; 6: 169-174 [PMID: 28839807 DOI: 10.1136/flgastro-2014-100514]
- Lichtenstein GR, Loftus EV, Isaacs KL, Regueiro MD, Gerson LB, Sands BE. ACG Clinical Guideline: Management of Crohn's Disease in 20



Adults. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 481-517 [PMID: 29610508 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2018.27]

- Siegel CA. Refocusing IBD Patient Management: Personalized, Proactive, and Patient-Centered Care. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 1440-21 1443 [PMID: 30287877 DOI: 10.1038/s41395-018-0246-x]
- Klag T, Stange EF, Wehkamp J. Management of Crohn's disease are guidelines transferred to clinical practice? United European 22 Gastroenterol J 2015; 3: 371-380 [PMID: 26279846 DOI: 10.1177/2050640615580228]
- Chapman TP, Frias Gomes C, Louis E, Colombel JF, Satsangi J. Review article: Withdrawal of 5-aminosalicylates in inflammatory bowel 23 disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2020; 52: 73-84 [PMID: 32452591 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15771]
- Bonovas S, Fiorino G, Lytras T, Nikolopoulos G, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Danese S. Systematic review with meta-analysis: Use of 5-24 aminosalicylates and risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2017; 45: 1179-1192 [PMID: 28261835 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14023]
- Qiu X, Ma J, Wang K, Zhang H. Chemopreventive effects of 5-aminosalicylic acid on inflammatory bowel disease-associated colorectal cancer 25 and dysplasia: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 1031-1045 [PMID: 27906680 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.13715]
- Ardizzone S, Petrillo M, Imbesi V, Cerutti R, Bollani S, Bianchi Porro G. Is maintenance therapy always necessary for patients with ulcerative 26 colitis in remission? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1999; 13: 373-379 [PMID: 10102971 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.1999.00473.x]
- 27 Miner P, Daly R, Nester T. The effect of varying dose intervals of mesalamine enemas for the prevention of relapse in distal ulcerative colitis... Gastroenterology 1994; 106 Suppl 2: A736. Available from: https://eurekamag.com/research/033/787/033787186.php
- D'Arienzo A, Panarese A, D'Armiento FP, Lancia C, Quattrone P, Giannattasio F, Boscaino A, Mazzacca G. 5-Aminosalicylic acid 28 suppositories in the maintenance of remission in idiopathic proctisis or proctosigmoiditis: A double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. Am J Gastroenterol 1990; 85: 1079-1082 [PMID: 2202199]
- 29 Hanauer S, Good LI, Goodman MW, Pizinger RJ, Strum WB, Lyss C, Haber G, Williams CN, Robinson M. Long-term use of mesalamine (Rowasa) suppositories in remission maintenance of ulcerative proctitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95: 1749-1754 [PMID: 10925979 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.02185.x
- Marteau P, Crand J, Foucault M, Rambaud JC. Use of mesalazine slow release suppositories 1 g three times per week to maintain remission of 30 ulcerative proctitis: A randomised double blind placebo controlled multicentre study. Gut 1998; 42: 195-199 [PMID: 9536943 DOI: 10.1136/gut.42.2.195]
- d'Albasio G, Paoluzi P, Campieri M, Bianchi Porro G, Pera A, Prantera C, Sturniolo GC, Miglioli M. Maintenance treatment of ulcerative 31 proctitis with mesalazine suppositories: A double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Italian IBD Study Group. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93: 799-803 [PMID: 9625131 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1998.228 a.x]
- Biddle WL, Greenberger NJ, Swan JT, McPhee MS, Miner PB Jr. 5-Aminosalicylic acid enemas: Effective agent in maintaining remission in 32 left-sided ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology 1988; 94: 1075-1079 [PMID: 3278942 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(88)90569-0]
- Feuerstein JD, Isaacs KL, Schneider Y, Siddique SM, Falck-Ytter Y, Singh S; AGA Institute Clinical Guidelines Committee. AGA Clinical 33 Practice Guidelines on the Management of Moderate to Severe Ulcerative Colitis. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1450-1461 [PMID: 31945371 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.006]
- Ungaro RC, Limketkai BN, Jensen CB, Yzet C, Allin KH, Agrawal M, Ullman T, Burisch J, Jess T, Colombel JF. Stopping Mesalamine 34 Therapy in Patients With Crohn's Disease Starting Biologic Therapy Does Not Increase Risk of Adverse Outcomes. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 1152-1160.e1 [PMID: 31419574 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.08.012]
- 35 Singh S, Proudfoot JA, Dulai PS, Jairath V, Fumery M, Xu R, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ. No Benefit of Concomitant 5-Aminosalicylates in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis Escalated to Biologic Therapy: Pooled Analysis of Individual Participant Data From Clinical Trials. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 1197-1205 [PMID: 29925913 DOI: 10.1038/s41395-018-0144-2]
- Ma C, Kotze PG, Almutairdi A, Jairath V, Panaccione R. Concomitant Use of Aminosalicylates Is Not Associated With Improved Outcomes in 36 Patients With Ulcerative Colitis Escalated to Vedolizumab. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 2374-2376.e2 [PMID: 30528845 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.11.062]
- 37 Beaugerie L, Brousse N, Bouvier AM, Colombel JF, Lémann M, Cosnes J, Hébuterne X, Cortot A, Bouhnik Y, Gendre JP, Simon T, Maynadié M, Hermine O, Faivre J, Carrat F; CESAME Study Group. Lymphoproliferative disorders in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: A prospective observational cohort study. Lancet 2009; 374: 1617-1625 [PMID: 19837455 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61302-7]
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Khosrotehrani K, Carrat F, Bouvier AM, Chevaux JB, Simon T, Carbonnel F, Colombel JF, Dupas JL, Godeberge P, Hugot 38 JP, Lémann M, Nahon S, Sabaté JM, Tucat G, Beaugerie L; Cesame Study Group. Increased risk for nonmelanoma skin cancers in patients who receive thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 2011; 141: 1621-28.e1 [PMID: 21708105 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.050]
- 39 Lopez A, Mounier M, Bouvier AM, Carrat F, Maynadié M, Beaugerie L, Peyrin-Biroulet L; CESAME Study Group. Increased risk of acute myeloid leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes in patients who received thiopurine treatment for inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 1324-1329 [PMID: 24582568 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.02.026]
- Torres J, Boyapati RK, Kennedy NA, Louis E, Colombel JF, Satsangi J. Systematic Review of Effects of Withdrawal of Immunomodulators 40 or Biologic Agents From Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 1716-1730 [PMID: 26381892 DOI: 10.1053/i.gastro.2015.08.055]
- 41 Bouhnik Y, Lémann M, Mary JY, Scemama G, Taï R, Matuchansky C, Modigliani R, Rambaud JC. Long-term follow-up of patients with Crohn's disease treated with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine. Lancet 1996; 347: 215-219 [PMID: 8551879 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(96)90402-x]
- French H, Mark Dalzell A, Srinivasan R, El-Matary W. Relapse rate following azathioprine withdrawal in maintaining remission for Crohn's 42 disease: A meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci 2011; 56: 1929-1936 [PMID: 21476031 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1671-5]
- Hawthorne AB, Logan RF, Hawkey CJ, Foster PN, Axon AT, Swarbrick ET, Scott BB, Lennard-Jones JE. Randomised controlled trial of 43 azathioprine withdrawal in ulcerative colitis. BMJ 1992; 305: 20-22 [PMID: 1638191 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.305.6844.20]
- Cassinotti A, Actis GC, Duca P, Massari A, Colombo E, Gai E, Annese V, D'Albasio G, Manes G, Travis S, Porro GB, Ardizzone S. 44 Maintenance treatment with azathioprine in ulcerative colitis: Outcome and predictive factors after drug withdrawal. Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104: 2760-2767 [PMID: 19623172 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.410]
- Kirchgesner J, Beaugerie L, Carrat F, Sokol H, Cosnes J, Schwarzinger M; BERENICE Study Group. Impact on Life Expectancy of 45 Withdrawing Thiopurines in Patients with Crohn's Disease in Sustained Clinical Remission: A Lifetime Risk-Benefit Analysis. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0157191 [PMID: 27271176 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157191]



- Dohos D, Hanák L, Szakács Z, Kiss S, Párniczky A, Erőss B, Pázmány P, Hegyi P, Sarlós P. Systematic review with meta-analysis: The effects 46 of immunomodulator or biological withdrawal from mono- or combination therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2021; **53**: 220-233 [PMID: 33249621 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16182]
- Van Assche G, Magdelaine-Beuzelin C, D'Haens G, Baert F, Noman M, Vermeire S, Ternant D, Watier H, Paintaud G, Rutgeerts P. 47 Withdrawal of immunosuppression in Crohn's disease treated with scheduled infliximab maintenance: A randomized trial. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 1861-1868 [PMID: 18440315 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.004]
- Vermeire S, Noman M, Van Assche G, Baert F, D'Haens G, Rutgeerts P. Effectiveness of concomitant immunosuppressive therapy in 48 suppressing the formation of antibodies to infliximab in Crohn's disease. Gut 2007; 56: 1226-1231 [PMID: 17229796 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2006.099978]
- 49 Kennedy NA, Heap GA, Green HD, Hamilton B, Bewshea C, Walker GJ, Thomas A, Nice R, Perry MH, Bouri S, Chanchlani N, Heerasing NM, Hendy P, Lin S, Gaya DR, Cummings JRF, Selinger CP, Lees CW, Hart AL, Parkes M, Sebastian S, Mansfield JC, Irving PM, Lindsay J, Russell RK, McDonald TJ, McGovern D, Goodhand JR, Ahmad T; UK Inflammatory Bowel Disease Pharmacogenetics Study Group. Predictors of anti-TNF treatment failure in anti-TNF-naive patients with active luminal Crohn's disease: A prospective, multicentre, cohort study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 4: 341-353 [PMID: 30824404 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30012-3]
- Chalhoub JM, Rimmani HH, Gumaste VV, Sharara AI. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis: Adalimumab Monotherapy Versus 50 Combination Therapy with Immunomodulators for Induction and Maintenance of Remission and Response in Patients with Crohn's Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017; 23: 1316-1327 [PMID: 28719541 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.000000000001203]
- Chapman TP, Gomes CF, Louis E, Colombel JF, Satsangi J. De-escalation of immunomodulator and biological therapy in inflammatory 51 bowel disease. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 63-79 [PMID: 31818473 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30186-4]
- Louis E, Mary JY, Vernier-Massouille G, Grimaud JC, Bouhnik Y, Laharie D, Dupas JL, Pillant H, Picon L, Veyrac M, Flamant M, Savoye G, 52 Jian R, Devos M, Porcher R, Paintaud G, Piver E, Colombel JF, Lemann M; Groupe D'etudes Thérapeutiques Des Affections Inflammatoires Digestives. Maintenance of remission among patients with Crohn's disease on antimetabolite therapy after infliximab therapy is stopped. Gastroenterology 2012; 142: 63-70.e5; quiz e31 [PMID: 21945953 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.09.034]
- Reenaers C, Mary JY, Nachury M, Bouhnik Y, Laharie D, Allez M, Fumery M, Amiot A, Savoye G, Altwegg R, Devos M, Malamut G, 53 Bourreille A, Flourie B, Marteau P, Vuitton L, Coffin B, Viennot S, Lambert J, Colombel JF, Louis E; Groupe d'Etude Therapeutique des Affections Inflammatoires du tube Digestif. Outcomes 7 Years After Infliximab Withdrawal for Patients With Crohn's Disease in Sustained Remission. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 234-243.e2 [PMID: 28993262 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.09.061]
- Gisbert JP, Marín AC, Chaparro M. Systematic review: Factors associated with relapse of inflammatory bowel disease after discontinuation of 54 anti-TNF therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015; 42: 391-405 [PMID: 26075832 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13276]
- Casanova MJ, Chaparro M, Nantes Ó, Benítez JM, Rojas-Feria M, Castro-Poceiro J, Huguet JM, Martín-Cardona A, Aicart-Ramos M, Tosca 55 J, Martín-Rodríguez MDM, González-Muñoza C, Mañosa M, Leo-Carnerero E, Lamuela-Calvo LJ, Pérez-Martínez I, Bujanda L, Hinojosa J, Pajares R, Argüelles-Arias F, Pérez-Calle JL, Rodríguez-González GE, Guardiola J, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Gisbert JP; EVODIS Study Group\*. Clinical outcome after anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy discontinuation in 1000 patients with inflammatory bowel disease: The EVODIS long-term study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2021; 53: 1277-1288 [PMID: 33962482 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16361]
- 56 Martin A, Nachury M, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Bouhnik Y, Nancey S, Bourrier A, Serrero M, Fumery M, Buisson A, Laharie D, Gilletta C, Filippi J, Allez M, Bouguen G, Roblin X, Altwegg R, Dib N, Pineton de Chambrun G, Savoye G, Carbonnel F, Viennot S, Amiot A; GETAID-Vedo-STOP Study Group. Maintenance of Remission Among Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease After Vedolizumab Discontinuation: A Multicentre Cohort Study. J Crohns Colitis 2020; 14: 896-903 [PMID: 31930285 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa005]
- 57 Crispino F, Michielan A, Grova M, Tieppo C, Mazza M, Rogger TM, Armelao F. Exit strategies in inflammatory bowel disease: Looking beyond anti-tumor necrosis factors. World J Clin Cases 2023; 11: 2657-2669 [PMID: 37214561 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v11.i12.2657]
- Panés J, Vermeire S, Dubinsky MC, Loftus EV, Lawendy N, Wang W, Salese L, Su C, Modesto I, Guo X, Colombel JF. Efficacy and Safety 58 of Tofacitinib Re-treatment for Ulcerative Colitis After Treatment Interruption: Results from the OCTAVE Clinical Trials. J Crohns Colitis 2021; 15: 1852-1863 [PMID: 33884415 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab065]
- Cassinotti A, Corona A, Duca P, Nebuloni M, Maconi G, Fociani P, Ardizzone S. Noninvasive Monitoring After Azathioprine Withdrawal in 59 Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Deep Remission. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 19: 2293-2301.e1 [PMID: 34139332 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.06.014]
- Molander P, Färkkilä M, Ristimäki A, Salminen K, Kemppainen H, Blomster T, Koskela R, Jussila A, Rautiainen H, Nissinen M, Haapamäki 60 J, Arkkila P, Nieminen U, Kuisma J, Punkkinen J, Kolho KL, Mustonen H, Sipponen T. Does fecal calprotectin predict short-term relapse after stopping TNFα-blocking agents in inflammatory bowel disease patients in deep remission? J Crohns Colitis 2015; 9: 33-40 [PMID: 25052347] DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.06.012]
- Buisson A, Mak WY, Andersen MJ, Lei D, Kahn SA, Pekow J, Cohen RD, Zmeter N, Pereira B, Rubin DT. Faecal Calprotectin Is a Very 61 Reliable Tool to Predict and Monitor the Risk of Relapse After Therapeutic De-escalation in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. J Crohns Colitis 2019; 13: 1012-1024 [PMID: 30726887 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz023]
- Pauwels RWM, van der Woude CJ, Nieboer D, Steyerberg EW, Casanova MJ, Gisbert JP, Kennedy NA, Lees CW, Louis E, Molnár T, Szántó 62 K, Leo E, Bots S, Downey R, Lukas M, Lin WC, Amiot A, Lu C, Roblin X, Farkas K, Seidelin JB, Duijvestein M, D'Haens GR, de Vries AC; CEASE Study Group. Prediction of Relapse After Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Cessation in Crohn's Disease: Individual Participant Data Metaanalysis of 1317 Patients From 14 Studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 1671-1686.e16 [PMID: 33933376 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.03.037]
- Kumric M, Zivkovic PM, Ticinovic Kurir T, Vrdoljak J, Vilovic M, Martinovic D, Bratanic A, Lizatovic IK, Bozic J. Role of B-Cell 63 Activating Factor (BAFF) in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Diagnostics (Basel) 2021; 12 [PMID: 35054212 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12010045]
- Dolinger MT, Kayal M. Intestinal ultrasound as a non-invasive tool to monitor inflammatory bowel disease activity and guide clinical decision 64 making. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 2272-2282 [PMID: 37124889 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i15.2272]
- Gubatan J, Levitte S, Patel A, Balabanis T, Wei MT, Sinha SR. Artificial intelligence applications in inflammatory bowel disease: Emerging 65 technologies and future directions. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 1920-1935 [PMID: 34007130 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i17.1920]
- Da Rio L, Spadaccini M, Parigi TL, Gabbiadini R, Dal Buono A, Busacca A, Maselli R, Fugazza A, Colombo M, Carrara S, Franchellucci G, 66 Alfarone L, Facciorusso A, Hassan C, Repici A, Armuzzi A. Artificial intelligence and inflammatory bowel disease: Where are we going? World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 508-520 [PMID: 36688019 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i3.508]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1728-1732

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1728

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Two-stage extraction by partial grinding of impacted mandibular third molar in close proximity to the inferior alveolar nerve

Guang-Ming Luo, Zhang-Shun Yao, Wei-Xiang Huang, Lei-Yan Zou, Yan Yang

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Pameijer CH, United States

Received: October 4, 2023 Peer-review started: October 4. 2023 First decision: November 1, 2023 Revised: November 15, 2023 Accepted: March 12, 2024 Article in press: March 12, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Guang-Ming Luo, Zhang-Shun Yao, Wei-Xiang Huang, Lei-Yan Zou, Yan Yang, Kunbaida Outpatient Department, Kunming Medical University School and Hospital of Stomatology, Kunming 650106, Yunnan Province, China

Guang-Ming Luo, Zhang-Shun Yao, Wei-Xiang Huang, Lei-Yan Zou, Yan Yang, Yunnan Key Laboratory of Stomatology, Kunming 650106, Yunnan Province, China

Corresponding author: Yan Yang, Director, Kunming Medical University School and Hospital of Stomatology, No. 1088 Middle Haiyuan Road, High-Tech Zone, Kunming 650106, Yunnan Province, China. 247822829@qq.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Extraction of impacted third molars often leads to severe complications caused by damage to the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN).

#### AIM

To proposes a method for the partial grinding of an impacted mandibular third molar (IMM3) near the IAN to prevent IAN injury during IMM3 extraction.

#### **METHODS**

Between January 1996 and March 2022, 25 patients with IMM3 roots near the IAN were enrolled. The first stage of the operation consisted of grinding a major part of the IMM3 crown with a high-speed turbine dental drill to achieve sufficient space between the mandibular second molar and IMM3. After 6 months, when the root tips were observed to be away from the IAN on X-ray examination, the remaining part of the IMM3 was completely removed.

#### RESULTS

All IMM3s were extracted easily without symptoms of IAN injury after extraction.

#### CONCLUSION

Partial IMM3 grinding may be a good alternative treatment option to avoid IAN injury in high-risk cases.

Key Words: Partial grinding; Impacted mandibular third molar; Inferior alveolar nerve; Cone-beam computed tomography



©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** The use of cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) may prevent damage to the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN), but not reduce the risk of injuries to IAN during impacted mandibular third molar extraction. In our clinic, although the incidence of IAN injury is very low because of adoption of CBCT, we have adopted two-stage extraction in order to avoid injury to IAN to the greatest extent. Compared with other existing methods, our method is safer and better, which is worth promoting.

Citation: Luo GM, Yao ZS, Huang WX, Zou LY, Yang Y. Two-stage extraction by partial grinding of impacted mandibular third molar in close proximity to the inferior alveolar nerve. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1728-1732 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1728.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1728

#### INTRODUCTION

Impacted mandibular third molar (IMM3) is frequently the most commonly impacted tooth. An impacted third molar often requires extraction. Prolonged retention of IMM3 in the oral cavity can lead to various complications, including gingivitis, infection, caries in adjacent teeth, and bone cysts. IMM3s can be retained only if they are in a favorable position and exhibit good occlusal contact with the opposing teeth[1-4].

The clinical use of cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) allows three-dimensional examination. CBCT can be helpful in determining the positional relationship of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) with an IMM3 by providing coronal and axial views. However, the use of CBCT does not reduce the risk of damage to the IAN during IMM3 extraction [5-8].

Although the incidence of IAN injury is very low, sensory deficits and temporary or permanent lower lip numbness can occur if the IAN is injured [9-11]. These are severe complications of IMM3 extraction that may interfere with daily life activities, such as talking and chewing. In our clinic, we have adopted a two-stage extraction method for cases of IMM3 near the IAN to avoid IAN damage to the greatest extent.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

In all, 25 patients (15 males, 10 females) determined by panoramic X-ray examination to have an IMM3 near the IAN that needed to be removed were included. Each patient was informed about the surgical purpose, surgical protocol, recovery period, possible complications, and potential risks and signed a consent form.

Both stages of all extraction procedures were performed under local anaesthesia with 2% lidocaine (Shanghai Hefeng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China) to anaesthetize the tongue, buccal nerve, and IAN. After flap elevation and bone removal, a major part of the IMM3 crown was ground with a high-speed turbine dental drill. The wound was rinsed with 0.9% saline solution after grinding and then sutured with 4-0 silk; the sutures were removed after 5-7 d. After 6-12 months, when the root tips were observed to be away from the IAN on X-ray examination, the remaining part of the IMM3 was removed. A total of 25 IMM3s that were in close proximity to the IAN were successfully extracted without damage to the IAN.

#### RESULTS

In our retrospective study of 25 cases, there were no cases of lower lip numbness after the extraction of IMM3s in close proximity to the IAN, based on postoperative chief complaints.

#### DISCUSSION

Direct IAN-IMM3 contact is considered a risk factor for complications and postoperative sensory impairment following surgical removal of the IMM3 and causes great concern among dentists. However, there have also been studies showing that there is no association between IAN injury and direct IAN-IMM3 contact, whereas there is an association with cortication status. To avoid injuring the IAN, dentists have attempted many methods, such as IMM3 extraction after orthodontic treatment to separate the IAN and IMM3[10,12-17].

For temporary lower lip numbness after IAN exposure, the neurotrophic drug mecobalamin can be administered; moreover, according to our clinical experience, the neurosensory deficits and symptoms of IAN injury can gradually resolve after a certain period. Some surgical interventions can also be used to relieve symptoms of IAN injury[18-20]. However, at present, there is no effective treatment for permanent damage to the IAN.





Figure 1 Panoramic views showing changes in relationship between the inferior alveolar nerve and impacted mandibular third molar root position by partial grinding in two cases (arrow indicates the mandibular canal). A: Preoperative panoramic radiograph of Case 1 depicting direct contact between the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) and the impacted mandibular third molar (IMM3); B: Post-partial grinding panoramic radiograph of Case 1, demonstrating sufficient eruption space between the impacted tooth and adjacent teeth; C: Six-month post-partial grinding view illustrating space between the root of the IMM3 and the superior wall of the IAN canal in Case 1; D: Preoperative panoramic radiograph of Case 2 revealing the IMM3 passing through the IAN; E: Postpartial removal of IMM3 (Phase 1) panoramic radiograph of Case 2, displaying adequate eruption space between the impacted tooth and adjacent teeth; F: Panoramic view after 6 mo of partial grinding indicating that in Case 2, the root of the IMM3 had moved away from the IAN canal following 6 months of partial grinding.

We adopted a two-stage method for IMM3 extraction. The first stage of the operation consists of grinding a major part of the IMM3 crown to obtain sufficient space for mesial movement of the IMM3. After 6-12 months, when there is distance between the root tips of the remaining part of the IMM3 and the IAN, IMM3 can be completely extracted (Figure 1).

CBCT is expensive and only used in larger dental institutions, and can only clarify the three-dimensional relationship between IMM3 and the IAN. However, if IMM3-IAN is close or IMM3 passes through IAN, routine removal of IMM3 cannot avoid postoperative complications. This approach avoids damage to the IAN. We believe that this method is worth popularizing, especially in grassroots hospitals, which may only have the capability for dental radiography and not CBCT.

#### CONCLUSION

Partial IMM3 grinding may be a good alternative treatment option to avoid IAN injury in high-risk cases.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

The conventional method of extracting impacted mandibular third molars (IMM3) that are closely related to the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) can easily damage the nerve.



Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Research motivation

To avoid damaging the IAN during tooth extraction.

#### Research objectives

To proposes a method for the partial grinding of an IMM3 near the IAN to prevent IAN injury during IMM3 extraction.

#### Research methods

The first stage was to use a high-speed turbo drill to grind and cut most of the IMM3 dental crowns, leaving the roots in place. After 6-12 months, when the IMM3 root left the nerve canal, complete extraction of the IMM3 root was performed.

#### **Research results**

Although it seemed to take longer after two stages, all IMM3s were completely removed, and there were no cases of complications of damaging the IAN.

#### Research conclusions

Two-stage extraction of IMM3 located closer to the IAN canal can minimize nerve damage to the greatest extent possible.

#### Research perspectives

Partial IMM3 grinding may be a good alternative treatment option to avoid IAN injury in high-risk cases.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Luo GM performed the experiment, contributed significantly to manuscript preparation, performed the data analyses, and wrote the manuscript; Yao ZS, Huang WX, Zou LY, and Yang Y contributed to the conception of the study and helped perform the analysis with constructive discussions.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Kunming Medical University School and Hospital of Stomatology.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrolment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: We have no financial relationships to disclose.

Data sharing statement: The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yan Yang 133133.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Xu ZH

#### REFERENCES

- Passi D, Singh G, Dutta S, Srivastava D, Chandra L, Mishra S, Srivastava A, Dubey M. Study of pattern and prevalence of mandibular 1 impacted third molar among Delhi-National Capital Region population with newer proposed classification of mandibular impacted third molar: A retrospective study. Natl J Maxillofac Surg 2019; 10: 59-67 [PMID: 31205390 DOI: 10.4103/njms.NJMS\_70\_17]
- 2 Cetira Filho EL, Sales PHH, Rebelo HL, Silva PGB, Maffia F, Vellone V, Cascone P, Leão JC, Costa FWG. Do lower third molars increase the risk of complications during mandibular sagittal split osteotomy? Systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2022; 51: 906-921 [PMID: 34953646 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijom.2021.12.004]
- Sifuentes-Cervantes JS, Carrillo-Morales F, Castro-Núñez J, Cunningham LL, Van Sickels JE. Third molar surgery: Past, present, and the 3 future. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2021; 132: 523-531 [PMID: 34030996 DOI: 10.1016/j.0000.2021.03.004]
- Reia VCB, de Toledo Telles-Araujo G, Peralta-Mamani M, Biancardi MR, Rubira CMF, Rubira-Bullen IRF. Diagnostic accuracy of CBCT 4 compared to panoramic radiography in predicting IAN exposure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Investig 2021; 25: 4721-4733 [PMID: 34275000 DOI: 10.1007/s00784-021-03942-4]



- Uribe S. The Routine Use of 3D Imaging May Not Reduce the Risk of Injuries to the Alveolar Inferior Nerve During Third Molar Extraction. J 5 Evid Based Dent Pract 2019; 19: 89-90 [PMID: 30926107 DOI: 10.1016/j.jebdp.2018.12.002]
- Fitzpatrick E, Sharma V, Rojoa D, Raheman F, Singh H. The use of cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) in radiocarpal fractures: a 6 diagnostic test accuracy meta-analysis. Skeletal Radiol 2022; 51: 923-934 [PMID: 34542681 DOI: 10.1007/s00256-021-03883-9]
- Klatt JC, Sorowka T, Kluwe L, Smeets R, Gosau M, Hanken H. Does a preoperative cone beam CT reduce complication rates in the surgical 7 removal of complex lower third molars? A retrospective study including 486 cases. Head Face Med 2021; 17: 33 [PMID: 34389020 DOI: 10.1186/s13005-021-00271-5
- Hasani M, Razavi N, Haghnegahdar A, Zarifi M. Evaluating the presence of IAN injury in patients with juxta-apical radiolucency after third 8 molar surgery: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Oral Health 2021; 21: 428 [PMID: 34482829 DOI: 10.1186/s12903-021-01785-9]
- 9 Bhat P, Cariappa KM. Inferior alveolar nerve deficits and recovery following surgical removal of impacted mandibular third molars. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2012; 11: 304-308 [PMID: 23997481 DOI: 10.1007/s12663-012-0335-0]
- 10 Kang F, Sah MK, Fei G. Determining the risk relationship associated with inferior alveolar nerve injury following removal of mandibular third molar teeth: A systematic review. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020; 121: 63-69 [PMID: 31476533 DOI: 10.1016/j.jormas.2019.06.010]
- Daware SN, Balakrishna R, Deogade SC, Ingole YS, Patil SM, Naitam DM. Assessment of postoperative discomfort and nerve injuries after 11 surgical removal of mandibular third molar: A prospective study. J Family Med Prim Care 2021; 10: 1712-1717 [PMID: 34123917 DOI: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_280\_19]
- Bozkurt P, Görürgöz C. Detecting direct inferior alveolar nerve Third molar contact and canal decorticalization by cone-beam computed 12 tomography to predict postoperative sensory impairment. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020; 121: 259-263 [PMID: 31325623 DOI: 10.1016/j.jormas.2019.07.004]
- Hoshi R, Tetsumura A, Yamaguchi S. Preoperative imaging findings as predictors of postoperative inferior alveolar nerve injury following 13 mandibular cyst surgery. J Oral Sci 2018; 60: 618-625 [PMID: 30606945 DOI: 10.2334/josnusd.17-0458]
- Feher B, Spandl LF, Lettner S, Ulm C, Gruber R, Kuchler U. Prediction of post-traumatic neuropathy following impacted mandibular third 14 molar removal. J Dent 2021; 115: 103838 [PMID: 34624417 DOI: 10.1016/j.jdent.2021.103838]
- Ali AS, Benton JA, Yates JM. Risk of inferior alveolar nerve injury with coronectomy vs surgical extraction of mandibular third molars-A 15 comparison of two techniques and review of the literature. J Oral Rehabil 2018; 45: 250-257 [PMID: 29171914 DOI: 10.1111/joor.12589]
- 16 Pitros P, O'Connor N, Tryfonos A, Lopes V. A systematic review of the complications of high-risk third molar removal and coronectomy: development of a decision tree model and preliminary health economic analysis to assist in treatment planning. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020; 58: e16-e24 [PMID: 32800608 DOI: 10.1016/j.bjoms.2020.07.015]
- Kuntz NM, Schulze R. Three-Dimensional Classification of Lower Third Molars and Their Relationship to the Mandibular Canal. J Oral 17 Maxillofac Surg 2021; 79: 1611-1620 [PMID: 33775651 DOI: 10.1016/j.joms.2021.02.033]
- Lampert RC, Nesbitt TR, Chuang SK, Ziccardi VB. Management of endodontic injuries to the inferior alveolar nerve. Quintessence Int 2016; 18 47: 581-587 [PMID: 27319813 DOI: 10.3290/j.gi.a36176]
- 19 Caughey JA, Do Q, Shen D, Ohyama H, He P, Tubbs RS, Iwanaga J. Comprehensive review of the incisive branch of the inferior alveolar nerve. Anat Cell Biol 2021; 54: 409-416 [PMID: 34620736 DOI: 10.5115/acb.21.113]
- 20 Abu-Mostafa N, AlRejaie LM, Almutairi FA, Alajaji RA, Alkodair MM, Alzahem NA. Evaluation of the Outcomes of Coronectomy Procedure versus Surgical Extraction of Lower Third Molars Which Have a High Risk for Inferior Alveolar Nerve Injury: A Systematic Review. Int J Dent 2021; 2021: 9161606 [PMID: 34804169 DOI: 10.1155/2021/9161606]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1733-1741

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1733

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

### **Retrospective Study** Clinical efficacy of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification in diabetic cataract patients

#### Yi-Fei Tang, Zhi-Hui Duan

#### Specialty type: Ophthalmology

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Arnold SV, United States

Received: January 5, 2024 Peer-review started: January 5, 2024 First decision: January 30, 2024 Revised: February 25, 2024 Accepted: March 8, 2024 Article in press: March 8, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Yi-Fei Tang, Zhi-Hui Duan, Department of Glaucoma and Cataracts, Han Yang Eyegood Ophthalmic Hospital, Wuhan 430056, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Zhi-Hui Duan, BMed, Staff Physician, Department of Glaucoma and Cataracts, Han Yang Eyegood Ophthalmic Hospital, No. 8 Longyang Avenue, Hanyang District, Wuhan 430056, Hubei Province, China. dzh8409@163.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Diabetic patients with cataracts encounter specific difficulties during cataract surgery due to alterations in microcirculation, blood supply, metabolism, and the microenvironment. Traditional phacoemulsification may not fully tackle these issues, especially in instances with substantial preoperative astigmatism. The utilization of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification, in conjunction with Toric intraocular lens (IOL) implantation, offers a potentially more efficient strategy. This research seeks to evaluate the efficacy and possible complications of this approach in diabetic cataract patients.

#### AIM

To investigate the clinical efficacy and complications of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation in diabetic cataract patients, comparing it with traditional phacoemulsification methods.

#### **METHODS**

This retrospective study enrolled 120 patients with diabetes cataract from May 2019 to May 2021. The patients were divided into two groups: the control group underwent traditional phacoemulsification and Toric IOL implantation, while the treatment group received Len Sx femtosecond laser-assisted treatment. Outcome measures included naked eye vision, astigmatism, high-level ocular phase difference detection, clinical efficacy, and complication.

#### RESULTS

There were no significant preoperative differences in astigmatism or naked eyesight between the two groups. However, postoperative improvements were observed in both groups, with the treatment group showing greater enhancements in naked eye vision and astigmatism six months after the procedure. High-level corneal phase difference tests also indicated significant differences in favor of the treatment group.



Tang YF et al. Femtosecond laser in diabetic cataract treatment

#### CONCLUSION

This study suggests that femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation appears to be more effective in enhancing postoperative vision in diabetic cataract patients compared to traditional methods offering valuable insights for clinical practice.

Key Words: Diabetic cataract; Femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification; Toric intraocular lens implantation; Naked vision

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Retrospective studies have shown that femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification produces favorable clinical results in the management of cataracts related to diabetes. This method significantly improves vision after surgery and provides important information for the clinical treatment of cataracts.

Citation: Tang YF, Duan ZH. Clinical efficacy of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification in diabetic cataract patients. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1733-1741

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1733.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1733

#### INTRODUCTION

The microcirculation, blood supply, metabolism and microenvironment in diabetic patients differ from those in normal individuals, resulting in abnormal blood supply and terminal circulation. This leads to lens epithelial cell disorder, lens fiber cell opacity, and cataract development[1,2]. Cataract, affecting the eye lens, can be influenced by factors such as trauma, aging, immune dysfunction, poisoning, metabolic abnormalities, nutritional disorders, radiation, and genetics[3]. It is characterized by the opacity due to lens protein degeneration and metabolic dysfunction. Age-related cataract specifically refers to cataracts that develop as individuals age, with progressive vision impairment as the main clinical manifestation[4].

Cataract surgery has now advanced into the realm of refractive surgery. In many countries, approximately 23.0% to 47.0% of cataract patients have preoperative astigmatism greater than 1.0 diopter (D)[5]. In China, this percentage is 25.4% for cataract patients with preoperative astigmatism greater than 1.5D. When astigmatism exceeds 0.75D, it can lead to symptoms such as blurred vision, double images, halos, glare, and others[6]. Currently, the Toric intraocular lens (IOL) is being used to correct cataract and corneal astigmatism. However, he design of this lens, which accounts for astigmatism, significantly affects the visual quality of postoperative patients, including factors like centering, rotational stability and final axis position in the eye after implantation[7]. Cataract patients with an axial length greater than 24 mm often have an excessively large lens capsule due to the elongated axial length, which makes ordinary IOL implantation prone to lens deflection and rotation[8]. There are limited clinical reports on the impact of Toric IOL implantation in patients with long axial lengths and high corneal astigmatism. The use of femtosecond laser technology in cataract surgery has gained attention among clinical ophthalmologists with this in mind, our hospital conducted a study to explore the clinical effectiveness and complications of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation in patients with diabetic cataract. The current research findings are reported as follows.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### General information

In this study, we selected 120 patients with diabetic cataract who underwent surgery at our hospital from May 2019 to May 2021 as the retrospective research subjects. All of the patients had monocular cataracts. They were divided into a control group and a treatment group of 60 patients each using the random residue grouping method. Prior to the start of the study, the patients and their families were informed about the study and signed an informed consent form, adhering to principles of voluntariness, confidentiality, benefit, and harmlessness. The study also received approval from the medical ethics committee of our hospital. The general data, such as gender and age, of the two patient groups did not have any impact on the test results, as shown in Table 1.

#### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria for this study were as follows: (1) All patients met the "diabetic macular edema management in Asian population: Expert panel consensus guidelines" for the diagnosis of diabetic cataract, and had a clear history of type 2 diabetes, combined with cataracts, and required surgical treatment<sup>[9]</sup>; (2) The study included patients with progressive decline in vision, blurred vision, or even light perception, but no symptoms such as eye pain, photophobia,



Table 1 Comparison of general information between the two groups ( <i>n</i> , mean ± SD)						
Group	Control group ( <i>n</i> = 60)	Therapy group ( <i>n</i> = 60)	χ²/t/z	P value		
Gender (men and women)	28/32	27/33	0.034	0.855		
Average age (yr)	79.78 ± 4.32	80.62 ± 2.66	-1.171	0.245		
Eye axis (mm)	23.2 (20.1-26.7)	22.9 (21.2-25.6)	0.019	0.992		
Intraocular pressure (mmHg)	14.78 ± 3.32	13.62 ± 3.66	1.660	0.100		

and tearing. The axial length of the eye ranged from 24 mm to 30 mm; and (3) The affected eye had a dilated pupil with a diameter of at least 6mm, and regular corneal astigmatism of 0.75D and above. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients with corneal disease, nuclear hardness above grade 4, glaucoma, eyelid adhesion, small eyelid fissure, nystagmus, lens dislocation, those who had undergone corneal or internal eye surgery, and those who could not cooperate; (2) Patients with severe systemic diseases, those who could not tolerate surgery, patients with mental illness, and other patients who could not cooperate with surgery; and (3) Patients who could not undergo surgery, those with neurological or infectious diseases, and those with disorders of consciousness.

#### Method

The treatment group utilized the Len-Sx femtosecond laser for adjuvant treatment. During the procedure, the patient is seated and the corneal parameters are positioned at 0 and 180° under the slit lamp. The axial direction for Toric IOL implantation is determined by the corneal locator mark and the axial direction obtained from the toric calculator (www. acrysoft-calculator.com). The femtosecond group of patients undergoes several steps with the femtosecond laser system (United States Alcon's LenSx femtosecond laser system), including capsulorhexis, nucleus splitting and incision making. The size of the anterior capsular opening is set to 5.2 mm. The main incision position is consistent with the position set in the preoperative Toric calculation program, with a width of 2.4 mm. Phacoemulsification is performed using the American Alcon Centurion cataract intelligent phacoemulsification instrument. Toric IOL is then implanted, and the viscoelastic agent is removed after the lens is completely extracted. The IOL axis is adjusted to the predetermined angle of the mark, and the center of the IOL is gently pressed to ensure attachment to the capsular bag and water tightness (Figure 1).

The control group underwent phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation. Conventional disinfection drapes were used, and a 5% povidone-iodine stock solution was used to rinse the second conjunctival sac after the upper eyelid opener. The main side of the cornea incision, capsulorhexis, and water separation along the mark were performed. The Centurion phacoemulsification instrument was used, and the phacoemulsification nucleus chopping method was employed for nuclear processing and lens nucleus, aspiration. Cortex aspiration was done using IA. Toric IOL was implanted, and the back of the IOL was first aspirated with Viscoelastic agent. The axis of the IOL was adjusted to align with the marking line, and imbibition cortex was applied to the IOL. The viscoelastic agent in front of the IOL was then sucked out, and the mouth was closed with appropriate water. The third conjunctival sac was flushed with a 5% povidone-iodine stock solution, and tobramycin and dexamethasone ophthalmic ointment was applied to the conjunctival sac. The eye was bandaged, and the operation was completed.

#### Follow-up and observation indicators

Logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution visual acuity was assessed using various tools including uncorrected visual acuity, intraocular pressure, IOL-Master, and Od-sCAIII visual quality analyzer. Among these, OPD-SCAN III was used to detect 5 indicators related to the corneal area: the sum of all the advanced phase differences of 0-8 orders (TO-TAL), IOL tilt prism (tilt), the sum of all the advanced phase differences of 3-8 orders (high), high-order coma (S3 + S5 + S7), and high-order spherical aberration (S4 + S6 + S8). The online calculation program (www.acrysoftoriccalculator. com) can be used to calculate the prism power and positioning axis of Toric IOLs. The surgical induced astigmatism entered into the computer program is calculated based on the postoperative data collected from the surgeon before the operation, with an input of 0.3D. Follow-up with the patients will be conducted for 6 months after the surgery.

#### Statistical methods

All statistical data in this study were entered into the excel software by the first author and the corresponding author, respectively. The included data was tested using the Shapiro Wilk method to determine if it conformed to a normal distribution. Measurement data that conformed to the normal distribution were described using the mean  $\pm$  SD. Betweengroups comparisons were performed using independent sample or paired sample *t*-tests. Count data were described using integers or percentages (%), and  $\chi^2$  tests were used for comparisons between or within groups. Data that did not conform to the normal distribution were described using M (QR) and analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test with a significance level of  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Raisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Determination of the navigation implant location of Toric intraocular lens. A: Axial and main incision position; B: The intraoperative navigation system verion system was used to calibrate the position and axis of the main incision before superlactation, and to observe whether the position of manual slit lamp marking was consistent with that before operation; C: Watertight incision and final determination of crystal position and axial accuracy; D: Complete removal of viscous elastic agent before and after crystal removal and accurate alignment of axial direction.

#### RESULTS

#### Comparison of general information

In the 60 therapy group, the mean age was  $80.62 \pm 2.66$  years with 81.82% of the participants being male. The eye axis (mm) was measured at 22.9 (21.2 to 25.6) and the intraocular pressure (mmHg) was  $13.62 \pm 3.66$ . In the control group of 60 participants, the mean age was  $79.78 \pm 4.32$  years with 87.5% of the participants being male. The eye axis (mm) was measured at 23.2 (20.1-26.7) and the intraocular pressure (mmHg) was  $14.78 \pm 3.32$ . There were no significant differences in gender, age, eye axis, and intraocular pressure between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Table 1).

#### Comparison of naked eye vision

Before surgery, the control group had a measured naked eye visual acuity of  $1.15 \pm 0.10$ , while the treatment group had a visual acuity of  $1.16 \pm 0.12$ . There was no statistical significance between the two groups (P > 0.05). However, one day

Baisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

after surgery, the naked eye visual acuity of the control group decreased to  $0.28 \pm 0.02$ , whereas the treatment group had a visual acuity of  $0.46 \pm 0.04$ . The difference between the two groups was significant (P < 0.05). After one month of treatment, the naked eye visual acuity of the control group improved to  $0.35 \pm 0.02$ , and the treatment group had a visual acuity of  $0.61 \pm 0.11$ . Once again, the difference between the two groups was significant (P < 0.05). At the six-month mark after surgery, the naked eye visual acuity of the control group was 0.48 ± 0.12, while the treatment group had a visual acuity of  $0.65 \pm 0.10$ . Once more, the difference between the two groups was significant (P < 0.05). These results indicate a gradual improvement in naked eye visual acuity for both groups after surgery (Table 2).

#### Comparison of astigmatism

Before surgery, the naked eye astigmatism of the two groups was measured. In the control group, it was  $2.62 \pm 0.36$ , while in the treatment group, it was 2.56  $\pm$  0.54. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups (P > 0.05). One day after surgery, the naked eye astigmatism was  $0.28 \pm 0.02$  in the control group and  $2.40 \pm 0.32$  in the treatment group. The difference between the groups was not statistically significant (P > 0.05). After one month of treatment, the naked eye astigmatism measured  $2.43 \pm 0.63$  in the control group and  $2.33 \pm 0.64$  in the treatment group, with no statistically difference (P > 0.05). Half a year after surgery, the naked eye astigmatism was measured. It was 2.14  $\pm$  0.23 in the control group and 1.18  $\pm$  0.24 in the treatment group. The difference between the groups was found to be significant (P < 0.05). These results indicate an improvement in naked eye astigmatism in both groups six months after the operation (Table 3).

#### High-level phase difference detection of the cornea

The initial total value of naked eyes in the control group and was  $2.52 \pm 0.63$  and in the treatment group was  $2.08 \pm 0.32$ . There was a significant difference observed between the two groups ( $P \le 0.05$ ). The tilt values of naked eyes were 0.62 ± 0.16 in the control group and  $0.94 \pm 0.10$  in the treatment group, showing a significant difference (P < 0.05). Similarly, the naked eye high values were  $0.46 \pm 0.10$  in the control group and  $0.60 \pm 0.12$  in the treatment group, with a significant difference (P < 0.05). The combined values of S3 + S5 + S7 in the naked eye were  $0.31 \pm 0.06$  in the control group and 0.53 $\pm$  0.08 in the treatment group, with a significant difference (P < 0.05). Similarly, the combined values of S4 + S6 + S8 in the naked eye were  $0.24 \pm 0.03$  in the control group and  $0.35 \pm 0.11$  in the treatment group, with a significant difference (P < 0.05) (Table 4).

#### DISCUSSION

The corneal epithelium and endothelium of diabetic patients are easily damaged and have a slow recovery rate. Additionally, due to abnormal metabolism of microvascular and peripheral nerves, diabetic cataract surgery is more prone to complications such as miosis, iris hemorrhage, and corneal incision edema[10,11]. Diabetic cataract patients are also more sensitive to surgical stimulation. IOL implantation, which is a common method for treating cataracts with corneal astigmatism, has been widely used in refractive cataract surgery. Diabetes, being a metabolic disease that affects the entire body, impairs microvascular function and damages body tissues[12]. Traditional phacoemulsification, with its excessive release of ultrasound energy, can be particularly irritating to the eyes of diabetic patients<sup>[13]</sup>. However, with the continuous development of society and technology, femtosecond laser technology has gained popularity in eye surgery, especially in cataract surgery [14]. The femtosecond laser, operating in a pulsed form using near-infrared light, offers precise targeting and positioning accuracy, making it more accurate than conventional surgery. This technology is now being used in clinical practice[6]. During femtosecond laser surgery, a single pulse of light creates micro-plasma bubbles, which contain CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O, These bubbles gradually approach and fuse with each other, resulting in a gradual decrease in tissue adhesion between the bubbles[15].

To achieve the purpose of precise tissue separation, femtosecond laser-assisted surgery can be employed. This technique reduces intraoperative ultrasound energy, lowers the risk of postoperative corneal edema, and promotes early recovery of corneal transparency and refractive stability [16]. However, miosis, which is the constriction of the pupil, is a common complication of femtosecond laser anterior lens capsulotomy. To prevent this, preoperative administration nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can be used to reduce the energy and the number of negative pressure suctions during laser operations[17].

Our study demonstrated a significant improvement in both astigmatism of the ametropia and naked eye vision after six months of surgery. The mean astigmatism was  $1.18 \pm 0.24$ . Similar results were reported by Rückl *et al*[18], who observed a significant reduction in dioptometric astigmatism after femtosecond laser-assisted arcuate keratotomy (FSAK) procedure involves a pair of curved incisions with an arc diameter of 7.5 mm within the corneal stroma. Another study by Day et al[19] investigated intra-corneal FSAK in 196 eyes and found a 39% decrease in corneal astigmatism from 1.21D before surgery to 0.74D after surgery. Furthermore, our study revealed a gradual and statistically significant improvement in astigmatism and naked eye vision six months after operation. The comparison of various corneal phase difference tests between the two groups of patients, including TOTAL, tilt, high, S3 + S5 + S7, and S4 + S6 + S8, also showed significant differences and statistical significance. The comparative study of diabetic cataract shows that femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification has a better clinical effect, effectively improving postoperative vision in patients. Toric IOL can also be used in patients with traumatic cataract and binocular cataract. There is no statistical difference between photopic, photopic glare, scotopic vision, and scotopic glare when compared to ordinary IOLes. The use of toric IOL does not increase discomfort in cataract patients and does not affect proper vision. The results of this study demonstrate that the toric IOL is relatively stable, with only a slight position shift. The shift angle of more than 90%



Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Tang YF et al. Femtosecond laser in diabetic cataract treatment

Table 2 Comparison of naked eye vision between the two groups (mean ± SD)						
Group Control group (60) Therapy group (60) t P value						
Before surgery	$1.15\pm0.10$	$1.16 \pm 0.12$	-0.453	0.652		
1 d after surgery	$0.28\pm0.02$	$0.46\pm0.04$	-28.460	0.000		
1 month after surgery	$0.35\pm0.02$	$0.61 \pm 0.11$	-16.444	0.000		
6 months after surge	$0.48\pm0.12$	$0.65\pm0.10$	-7.696	0.000		

#### Table 3 Comparison of astigmatism between the two groups (mean ± SD)

Group	Before surgery	Therapy group (60)	t	P value
Before surgery	$2.62 \pm 0.36$	$2.64 \pm 0.30$	0.302	0.763
1 d after surgery	$2.56 \pm 0.54$	$2.40 \pm 0.32$	1.802	0.075
1 month after surgery	$2.43\pm0.63$	$2.33 \pm 0.64$	0.787	0.433
6 months after surgery	$2.14\pm0.23$	$1.18\pm0.24$	20.421	0.000

#### Table 4 Comparison of high-order phase difference detection of cornea between two groups of patients (mean ± SD)

Group	Control group (60)	Therapy group (60)	t	P value
TOTAL (µm)	$2.52 \pm 0.63$	$2.08 \pm 0.32$	4.403	0.000
Tilt (µm)	$0.62\pm0.16$	$0.94\pm0.10$	-11.993	0.000
High (µm)	$0.46\pm0.10$	$0.60 \pm 0.12$	-6.338	0.000
S3 + S5 + S7 (µm)	$0.31\pm0.06$	$0.53\pm0.08$	-15.556	0.000
S4 + S6 + S8 (µm)	$0.24\pm0.03$	$0.35 \pm 0.11$	-6.822	0.000

of patients is less than 10°, which has minimal impact on postoperative vision. The corneal phase difference test reveals significant differences in TOTAL, tilt, high, S3 + S5 + S7, S4 + S6 + S8, and other high-order corneal phase difference tests between the two patient groups. This may be attributed to the negative pressure generated during femtosecond laser operation, such as the making of suction ring or incision, which increases corneal high-order coma. However, further confirmation of this finding requires larger clinical datasets[20]. After cataract surgery, the intraocular high-order phase difference of the IOL in the affected eye is mostly produced by the IOL in addition to the influence of the retina of the affected eye. The displacement and deflection of the lens will cause the phase difference to change[15].

Macular cystoid edema (CME) is a frequently observed condition following femtosecond laser-assisted surgery, particularly in patients with diabetes[21]. This condition is known to have a negative impact on vision, especially during the 7-60 d follow-up period[22,23]. Even minimal and non-central preoperative CME in patients with diabetes can worsen after cataract surgery[24]. Therefore, based on the current findings, it can be concluded that femtosecond laser-assisted cataract surgery may lead to a significant decline in short-term vision when compared to conventional phacoemulsification surgery.

#### CONCLUSION

Although this study is somewhat innovative, it also has its limitations. The clinical impact of Len Sx femtosecond laser as an adjuvant treatment for diabetic cataract is notably significant, but its specific mechanism has not been thoroughly investigated. The cases collected for this study were solely from one hospital, which may not adequately represent the general population. The criteria for participant selection were subjective, potentially leading to biased outcomes. In conclusion, the comparative study on diabetic cataracts using femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification demonstrates improved clinical outcomes and postoperative vision for patients, providing valuable insights for the clinical treatment of diabetic cataracts.

Zeishidene® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Diabetic cataract is a common complication among diabetic patients, characterized by altered ocular physiology. Traditional cataract surgery methods have limitations in addressing the unique challenges posed by the diabetic eye. The integration of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification with Toric intraocular lens (IOL) implantation presents a novel approach in the treatment of diabetic cataracts.

#### Research motivation

This study was motivated by the need to improve surgical outcomes in diabetic cataract patients. The specific focus was on evaluating whether the advanced technique of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation could offer better results compared to traditional methods, particularly in terms of postoperative vision and complication rates.

#### Research objectives

The primary objective was to assess the clinical efficacy and potential complications of femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation in diabetic cataract patients. The study aimed to compare this method with traditional phacoemulsification techniques.

#### Research methods

A retrospective study design was employed, involving 120 diabetic cataract patients from May 2019 to May 2021. They were randomly divided into a control group (traditional phacoemulsification with Toric IOL) and a treatment group (Len Sx femtosecond laser-assisted surgery). Key metrics for evaluation included naked eye vision, astigmatism levels, highlevel ocular phase difference detection, clinical efficacy, and analysis of complications.

#### **Research results**

The study found no significant preoperative differences between the two groups in terms of astigmatism and naked eye vision. However, postoperatively, the treatment group showed more significant improvements in both naked eve vision and astigmatism at the six-month follow-up. High-level corneal phase difference tests also indicated better outcomes for the treatment group.

#### Research conclusions

Femtosecond laser-assisted phacoemulsification combined with Toric IOL implantation is more effective in improving postoperative visual outcomes in diabetic cataract patients than traditional phacoemulsification. This method could represent a significant advancement in the surgical treatment of diabetic cataracts.

#### Research perspectives

This study opens up new perspectives for the treatment of diabetic cataracts. Future research should focus on further refining femtosecond laser-assisted techniques, exploring long-term outcomes, and broadening the scope to include diverse patient populations. Additionally, further studies could delve into the underlying mechanisms of improved outcomes with this method.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tang YF and Duan ZH executed this study; Tang YF wrote the manuscript and data analysis; Duan ZH reviewed the manuscript; all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Han Yang Eyegood Ophthalmic Hospital, No. AG-BNZ-201903.

Informed consent statement: The data used in the study were not involved in the patients' privacy information, and all patient data obtained, recorded, and managed only used for this study, without any harm to the patient. So the informed consent was waived by the Ethics Committee of Han Yang Eyegood Ophthalmic Hospital.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors had no conflict of interest in this study.

Data sharing statement: Data should be addressed to the corresponding author, Zhi-Hui Duan, dzh8409@163.com.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zhi-Hui Duan 0009-0002-4287-1309.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Kelkar A, Kelkar J, Mehta H, Amoaku W. Cataract surgery in diabetes mellitus: A systematic review. Indian J Ophthalmol 2018; 66: 1401-1410 [PMID: 30249823 DOI: 10.4103/ijo.IJO 1158 17]
- 2 Panozzo G, Staurenghi G, Dalla Mura G, Giannarelli D, Alessio G, Alongi S, Appolloni R, Baldascino A, Boscia F, Caporossi A, Cereda M, D'Ugo E, Fallico M, Avitabile T, Galan A, La Spina C, Lo Giudice G, Mastropasqua L, Palmisano C, Panico C, Parravano MC, Penna R, Pintore P, Vaiano A, Reibaldi M, Rizzo S, Rossi T, Varano M, Virgili G. Prevalence of diabetes and diabetic macular edema in patients undergoing senile cataract surgery in Italy: The DIabetes and CATaract study. Eur J Ophthalmol 2020; 30: 315-320 [PMID: 30854895 DOI: 10.1177/1120672119830578]
- Feng Y, Zhu S, Skiadaresi E, McAlinden C, Tu R, Gao R, Stephens JW, Wang Q, Huang J. Phacoemulsification cataract surgery with 3 prophylactic intravitreal bevacizumab for patients with coexisting diabetic retinopathy: A Meta-Analysis. Retina 2019; 39: 1720-1731 [PMID: 29975344 DOI: 10.1097/IAE.000000000002221]
- 4 Kaliaperumal R, Venkatachalam R, Nagarajan P, Sabapathy SK. Association of Serum Magnesium with Oxidative Stress in the Pathogenesis of Diabetic Cataract. Biol Trace Elem Res 2021; 199: 2869-2873 [PMID: 33037494 DOI: 10.1007/s12011-020-02429-9]
- Žiak P, Halička J, Mojžiš P, Kapitánová K, Michal J, Piñero DP. Presbyopic lens exchange (PRELEX) cataract surgery outcomes with 5 implantation of a rotationally asymmetric refractive multifocal intraocular lens: femtosecond laser-assisted versus manual phacoemulsification. Int Ophthalmol 2019; 39: 2875-2882 [PMID: 31168677 DOI: 10.1007/s10792-019-01135-3]
- Kaur M, Titiyal JS, Shaikh F, Rani D. Femtosecond laser-assisted refractive capsulorhexis Precise capsulotomy with accurate toric 6 intraocular lens alignment. Indian J Ophthalmol 2020; 68: 2562-2564 [PMID: 33120692 DOI: 10.4103/ijo.IJO 1677 20]
- 7 Yoo A, Yun S, Kim JY, Kim MJ, Tchah H. Femtosecond Laser-assisted Arcuate Keratotomy Versus Toric IOL Implantation for Correcting Astigmatism. J Refract Surg 2015; 31: 574-578 [PMID: 26352561 DOI: 10.3928/1081597X-20150820-01]
- 8 Espaillat A, Pérez O, Potvin R. Clinical outcomes using standard phacoemulsification and femtosecond laser-assisted surgery with toric intraocular lenses. Clin Ophthalmol 2016; 10: 555-563 [PMID: 27099462 DOI: 10.2147/OPTH.S102083]
- Chhablani J, Wong K, Tan GS, Sudhalkar A, Laude A, Cheung CMG, Zhao P, Uy H, Lim J, Valero S, Ngah NF, Koh A. Diabetic Macular 9 Edema Management in Asian Population: Expert Panel Consensus Guidelines. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila) 2020; 9: 426-434 [PMID: 32956188 DOI: 10.1097/APO.00000000000312]
- Higashi Y, Higashi K, Mori A, Sakamoto K, Ishii K, Nakahara T. Anti-cataract Effect of Resveratrol in High-Glucose-Treated Streptozotocin-10 Induced Diabetic Rats. Biol Pharm Bull 2018; 41: 1586-1592 [PMID: 30270328 DOI: 10.1248/bpb.b18-00328]
- Rossi T, Panozzo G, Della Mura G, Giannarelli D, Ferrari D, Alessio G, Palmisano C, Telani S, Ripandelli G. Diabetes and diabetic 11 retinopathy in patients undergoing cataract surgery: a prevalence study-DiCat study report #2. Acta Diabetol 2020; 57: 645-650 [PMID: 31912329 DOI: 10.1007/s00592-019-01466-8]
- 12 Yao Q, Zhou Y, Yang Y, Cai L, Xu L, Han X, Guo Y, Li PA. Activation of Sirtuin1 by lyceum barbarum polysaccharides in protection against diabetic cataract. J Ethnopharmacol 2020; 261: 113165 [PMID: 32730875 DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2020.113165]
- Diakonis VF, Kounis GA, Yesilirmak N, Warren D, Tsaousis KT, Davis Z, Yoo SH, Donaldson KE. Outcomes of toric intraocular lens 13 implantation after femtosecond laser and traditional cataract surgery. Clin Exp Optom 2021; 104: 69-73 [PMID: 32519369 DOI: 10.1111/cxo.13099
- Lai KR, Zhang XB, Yu YH, Yao K. Comparative clinical outcomes of Tecnis toric IOL implantation in femtosecond laser-assisted cataract 14 surgery and conventional phacoemulsification surgery. Int J Ophthalmol 2020; 13: 49-53 [PMID: 31956569 DOI: 10.18240/ijo.2020.01.07]
- Oakley CL, Ewe SY, Allen PL, Vote BJ. Visual outcomes with femtosecond laser-assisted cataract surgery vs conventional cataract surgery in 15 toric IOL insertion. Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2016; 44: 570-573 [PMID: 26946462 DOI: 10.1111/ceo.12739]
- Scorsetti D, Viteri E, Mayorga E. Iberoamerican Ophthalmologists IOL Selection for Use on Themselves: Survey Results. Clin Ophthalmol 16 2021; 15: 1301-1308 [PMID: 33790538 DOI: 10.2147/OPTH.S259383]
- Steinwender G, Shajari M, Kohnen T. Refractive Outcomes After Femtosecond Laser-Assisted Cataract Surgery in Eyes With Anterior 17 Chamber Phakic Intraocular Lenses. J Refract Surg 2018; 34: 338-342 [PMID: 29738590 DOI: 10.3928/1081597X-20180228-01]
- Rückl T, Dexl AK, Bachernegg A, Reischl V, Riha W, Ruckhofer J, Binder PS, Grabner G. Femtosecond laser-assisted intrastromal arcuate 18 keratotomy to reduce corneal astigmatism. J Cataract Refract Surg 2013; 39: 528-538 [PMID: 23395324 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2012.10.043]
- 19 Day AC, Lau NM, Stevens JD. Nonpenetrating femtosecond laser intrastromal astigmatic keratotomy in eyes having cataract surgery. J Cataract Refract Surg 2016; 42: 102-109 [PMID: 26948784 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2015.07.045]
- Kim JW, Eom Y, Yoon EG, Choi Y, Song JS, Jeong JW, Park SK, Kim HM. Comparison of Nd: YAG Laser Capsulotomy Rates Between 20 Refractive Segmented Multifocal and Multifocal Toric Intraocular Lenses. Am J Ophthalmol 2021; 222: 359-367 [PMID: 33039372 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajo.2020.09.046
- Kim SJ, Equi R, Bressler NM. Analysis of macular edema after cataract surgery in patients with diabetes using optical coherence tomography. 21 Ophthalmology 2007; 114: 881-889 [PMID: 17275910 DOI: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2006.08.053]
- 22 Daien V, Papinaud L, Domerg C, Lacombe S, Daures JP, Villain M. Incidence and Characteristics of Cystoid Macular Edema after Cataract Surgery. Ophthalmology 2016; 123: 663-664 [PMID: 26560833 DOI: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2015.10.009]
- Guo S, Patel S, Baumrind B, Johnson K, Levinsohn D, Marcus E, Tannen B, Roy M, Bhagat N, Zarbin M. Management of pseudophakic 23 cystoid macular edema. Surv Ophthalmol 2015; 60: 123-137 [PMID: 25438734 DOI: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2014.08.005]



Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research Network Authors/Writing Committee, Baker CW, Almukhtar T, Bressler NM, Glassman AR, 24 Grover S, Kim SJ, Murtha TJ, Rauser ME, Stockdale C. Macular edema after cataract surgery in eyes without preoperative central-involved diabetic macular edema. JAMA Ophthalmol 2013; 131: 870-879 [PMID: 23599174 DOI: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2013.2313]



Baisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1742-1749

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1742

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Impact of transcranial electrical stimulation on serum neurotrophic factors and language function in patients with speech disorders

Li Sun, Kai Xiao, Xiao-Yan Shen, Shu Wang

Specialty type: Audiology and speech-language pathology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Saturnino G, Denmark

Received: January 19, 2024 Peer-review started: January 19, 2024 First decision: February 5, 2024 Revised: February 26, 2024 Accepted: March 12, 2024 Article in press: March 12, 2024

Published online: April 6, 2024



Li Sun, Kai Xiao, Xiao-Yan Shen, Shu Wang, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, General Hospital of the Yangtze River Shipping, Wuhan 430010, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Shu Wang, MD, Attending Doctor, Staff Physician, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, General Hospital of the Yangtze River Shipping, No. 5 Huiji Road, Jiangan District, Wuhan 430010, Hubei Province, China. wang31228@163.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Speech disorders have a substantial impact on communication abilities and quality of life. Traditional treatments such as speech and psychological therapies frequently demonstrate limited effectiveness and patient compliance. Transcranial electrical stimulation (TES) has emerged as a promising non-invasive treatment to improve neurological functions. However, its effectiveness in enhancing language functions and serum neurofactor levels in individuals with speech disorders requires further investigation.

#### AIM

To investigate the impact of TES in conjunction with standard therapies on serum neurotrophic factor levels and language function in patients with speech disorders.

#### **METHODS**

In a controlled study spanning from March 2019 to November 2021, 81 patients with speech disorders were divided into a control group (n = 40) receiving standard speech stimulation and psychological intervention, and an observation group (n = 41) receiving additional TES. The study assessed serum levels of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and nerve growth factor (NGF), as well as evaluations of motor function, language function, and development quotient scores.

#### RESULTS

After 3 wk of intervention, the observation group exhibited significantly higher serum levels of CNTF, GDNF, BDNF, and NGF compared to the control group. Moreover, improvements were noted in motor function, cognitive function, language skills, physical abilities, and overall development quotient scores. It is worth mentioning that the observation group also displayed superior perfor-



mance in language-specific tasks such as writing, reading comprehension, retelling, and fluency.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This retrospective study concluded that TES combined with traditional speech and psychotherapy can effectively increase the levels of neurokines in the blood and enhance language function in patients with speech disorders. These results provide a promising avenue for integrating TES into standard treatment methods for speech disorders.

Key Words: Transcranial electrical stimulation; Serum neurofactor levels; Developmental level; Language features

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This study highlights the potential of transcranial electrical stimulation (TES) as a valuable additional therapy for individuals with speech disorders. Through the combination of TES with conventional speech and psychological interventions, our research shows significant enhancements in serum neurofactor levels and language functions. These results support the integration of TES into treatment plans, potentially transforming the management of speech disorders. This progress not only presents a novel approach to therapy but also emphasizes the significance of innovative, non-invasive methods in improving patient outcomes within the field of speech and language therapy.

Citation: Sun L, Xiao K, Shen XY, Wang S. Impact of transcranial electrical stimulation on serum neurotrophic factors and language function in patients with speech disorders. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1742-1749 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1742.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1742

#### INTRODUCTION

The language development disorder refers to a condition where a patient's language skills lag behind those of their peers in terms of both expression and compre hension [1]. Common symptoms include difficulties in understanding language, limited vocabulary, and slow cognitive learning, all of which can have negative impacts on social communication, daily functioning, and overall development<sup>[2]</sup>. Current clinical approaches, for language rehabilitation and psychological intervention tend to be conventional and may lack patient compliance, leading to variable outcomes<sup>[3]</sup>. Transcranial electrical stimulation therapy is a non-invasive and painless method commonly used to treat nervous system disorders, with high patient compliance and acceptance among families[4-6]. The aim of our study was to investigate the effects of transcranial electrical stimulation on language function, serum neurofactor levels, and developmental progress in patients with speech disorders. The following section presents the results of our research.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### General information

Between March 2019 and November 2021, our department conducted a retrospective study involving 81 patients with language disorders. These patients were randomly assigned into two groups using a random number table method. The observation group consisted of 40 patients, comprising 22 males and 18 females, with an average age of  $(45.33 \pm 15.55)$ years (range, 2-5 years). The control group included 41 cases with 25 males and 16 females, and an average age of (44.51 ± 14.73) years (range, 2-6 years). Baseline data analysis showed no significant differences between the two groups (P > 0.05), ensuring their comparability. The selection criteria required patients to meet specific diagnostic criteria for language disorders and for informed consent to be obtained from the patient's family[7]. Exclusion criteria encompassed severe hearing impairment, severe mental retardation, epilepsy, or other mental illnesses.

#### Methods

The control group underwent a comprehensive speech rehabilitation training program along with psychological intervention. The speech rehabilitation training included activities such as listening to radio, music, and watching TV to enhance the patient's text comprehension ability, providing auditory language stimulation, and giving feedback to improve reading and understanding skills. Mouth movements were guided to control various muscles, correct articulation movements, and strengthen mouth muscles through exercises like extending the tongue and whistling. Auxiliary gestures were used in daily communication to deepen understanding of phrases, enhance memory, and expand vocabulary. Patience and support were maintained throughout the training process, with active participation encouraged from the patients. Family and social networks were involved to foster understanding, care, and communication. Targeted intervention measures addressed the psychological characteristics of the patients, providing guidance for their psycho-



Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

logical changes during 3-wk intervention.

#### Evaluation criteria

Serum neurofactor levels: Venous blood samples of 5 mL were collected from both groups before and after the intervention. After routine centrifugation for 10 min, the upper layer of serum was collected for the detection of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) along with their respective levels using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

The development of patients in the two groups was evaluated using the Gesell Infant Development Scale before and after intervention. The scale assessed four functional areas: language ability, responder ability, motor ability and responder ability. Patients were classified into different developmental quotients based on their scores: < 70 as low developmental quotient, 70-85 as low developmental quotient, 86-114 as normal developmental quotient, and 115-129 as high developmental quotient. A score of 130 or above was considered as excellent development.

The language function of patients in both groups was evaluated using the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Scale (BDAE) before and after the intervention. The evaluation included reading comprehension (38 points), fluency (35 points), retelling (26 points), and writing (68 points). A higher score indicates better language function.

#### Statistical tools

SPSS 26.0 software was utilized to analyze the data of 81 patients with speech disorders. The incidence of gastrointestinal tract and other counting data were represented using percentages (%), and  $\chi^2$  was used for verification. The measurement data of pulmonary function and blood routine were represented as (mean ± SD), and T was used for verification. A significance level of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Serum neurofactors

After a duration of 3 wk of intervention, the levels of NGF, BDNF, GDNF and CNTF in the observation group were found to be significantly higher compared in the control group (P < 0.05), as indicated in Table 1.

Before the intervention, there were no significant differences in the levels of GDNF, BDNF, CNTF, and NGF among all groups (P = 0.6198, P = 0.2848, P = 0.9156, P = 0.8506, respectively). Following the intervention, the GDNF levels in the control group and observation group were 378.65 ± 40.57 and 433.28 ± 48.71, respectively, showing a significant increase compared to pre-GDNF intervention ( $^{a}P < 0.05$ ). Similarly, the BDNF levels in the control group and observation group were  $23.05 \pm 3.54$  and  $30.96 \pm 4.15$ , respectively, demonstrating a significant increase post-intervention. The CNTF levels in the control group and observation group after intervention were  $19.92 \pm 3.21$  and  $23.17 \pm 3.14$ , respectively, also showing a significant increase compared to pre-CNTF intervention. Furthermore, the NGF levels in the control group and observation group after intervention were  $22.54 \pm 3.25$  and  $33.48 \pm 4.02$ , respectively, significantly higher than before the intervention ( $^{a}P < 0.05$ ).

#### Developmental level

After a duration of 3 wk of intervention, the observation group exhibited higher scores in human ability, functional ability, motor ability, language ability and developmental quotient compared to the control group. These differences were found to be statistically significant (P < 0.05), as presented in Table 2.

In the study reports significant post-intervention improvements in both groups. Language ability in the control group rose from  $66.78 \pm 5.81$  to  $71.83 \pm 6.22$  and in the observation group from  $67.01 \pm 5.77$  to  $79.54 \pm 5.69$  (*P* < 0.05), with the latter showing a higher increase. Functional ability improved from  $78.23 \pm 5.75$  to  $81.34 \pm 6.22$  in the control group and from 78.17  $\pm$  5.82 to 85.34  $\pm$  6.11 in the observation group (P < 0.05), with the observation group surpassing the control. Human ability levels increased from  $77.13 \pm 6.09$  to  $80.54 \pm 7.11$  in the control group and from  $76.94 \pm 6.13$  to  $84.02 \pm 6.51$ in the observation group (P < 0.05). Motor ability also saw significant gains, from 77.25 ± 5.83 to 80.57 ± 6.94 in the control group and from 77.02 ± 5.93 to 82.96 ± 5.31 in the observation group. Finally, developmental quotient levels climbed from  $58.69 \pm 6.34$  to  $75.77 \pm 7.49$  in the control group and from  $58.81 \pm 6.27$  to  $85.64 \pm 2.11$  in the observation group (P < 0.05), with the observation group demonstrating a more pronounced increase.

#### Language functions

After a period of 3 wk of intervention, the observation group demonstrated an increasing trend in scores for writing, retelling, fluency, and reading comprehension compared to the control group. These differences were found to be statistically significant (P < 0.05), as presented in Table 3. The study demonstrates significant improvements in various cognitive skills post-intervention. The control group exhibited a notable increase in reading comprehension, from  $17.18 \pm$ 2.09 to 23.61  $\pm$  2.54, and the observation group from 17.02  $\pm$  5.93 to 29.54  $\pm$  1.93 (both *P* < 0.05). However, no significant differences were observed between the groups in reading comprehension either pre- or post-intervention (P > 0.05). Retelling skills also improved significantly. In the control group, the retelling level rose from  $11.48 \pm 2.62$  to  $15.81 \pm 2.04$ , and in the observation group from  $11.61 \pm 2.59$  to  $19.74 \pm 2.05$  (both *P* < 0.05). No significant difference was found between the groups pre-intervention, but post-intervention differences were significant (P = 0). Fluency levels too increased post-intervention, from  $14.38 \pm 2.42$  to  $20.68 \pm 3.52$  in the control group and from  $14.27 \pm 2.45$  to  $24.97 \pm 3.77$  in the observation group (both P < 0.05). Similar to retelling, no significant difference was observed pre-intervention, but



Table 1 Comparison of serum neurofactors between the two groups before and after intervention (mean ± SD, pg/mL)					
Group		Control group ( <i>n</i> = 40)	Observation group ( <i>n</i> = 41)	t	P value
GDNF	Before the intervention	365.22 ± 39.84	369.71 ± 41.25	0.4981	0.6198
	After the intervention	$378.65 \pm 40.57^{a}$	$433.28 \pm 48.71^{a}$	5.4776	
BDNF	Before the intervention	21.88 ± 3.87	$20.98 \pm 3.65$	1.077	0.2848
	After the intervention	$23.05 \pm 3.54^{a}$	$30.96 \pm 4.15^{a}$	9.2186	
CNTF	Before the intervention	18.83 ± 3.35	$18.91 \pm 3.42$	0.1063	0.9156
	After the intervention	$19.92 \pm 3.21^{a}$	$23.17 \pm 3.14^{a}$	4.6063	
NGF	Before the intervention	19.79 ± 3.11	$19.92 \pm 3.08$	0.189	0.8506
	After the intervention	$22.54 \pm 3.25^{a}$	$33.48 \pm 4.02^{a}$	13.4492	

 $^{\mathrm{a}}P$  < 0.05, comparison before and after intervention in the group.

CNTF: Ciliary neurotrophic factor; GDNF: Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor; BDNF: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NGF: Nerve growth factor.

#### Table 2 Comparison of development levels between the two groups before and after intervention (mean ± SD, point)

	Control group (n = 40)		Observation group ( <i>n</i> = 41)	
	Before the intervention	After the intervention	Before the intervention	After the intervention
Language ability	66.78 ± 5.81	$71.83 \pm 6.22^{a}$	67.01 ± 5.77	$79.54 \pm 5.69^{a,b}$
Functional ability	78.23 ± 5.75	$81.34 \pm 6.22^{a}$	$78.17 \pm 5.82$	85.34 ± 6.11 <sup>a,b</sup>
Human ability	77.13 ± 6.09	80.54 ± 7.11 <sup>a</sup>	76.94 ± 6.13	84.02 ± 6.51 <sup>a,b</sup>
Motor ability	77.25 ± 5.83	$80.57 \pm 6.94^{a}$	77.02 ± 5.93	82.96 ± 5.31 <sup>a,b</sup>
Developmental quotient	58.69 ± 6.34	$75.77 \pm 7.49^{a}$	58.81 ± 6.27	85.64 ± 2.11 <sup>a,b</sup>

 $^{a}P$  < 0.05, comparison before and after intervention in the group.

 $^{b}P > 0.05$ , compared between groups after intervention.

#### Table 3 Comparison of language function between the two groups before and after intervention (mean ± SD, point)

		Control group ( <i>n</i> = 40)	Observation group ( <i>n</i> = 41)	t	P value
Reading comprehension	Before the intervention	$17.18 \pm 2.09$	$16.85 \pm 2.12$	0.0146	0.9884
	After the intervention	$23.61 \pm 2.54^{a}$	$29.54 \pm 1.93^{a}$	0.4838	0.6297
Retelling	Before the intervention	11.48 ± 2.62	11.61 ± 2.59	0.4345	0.6649
	After the intervention	$15.81 \pm 2.04^{a}$	$19.74 \pm 2.05^{a}$	4.3645	0
Fluency	Before the intervention	14.38 ± 2.42	$14.27 \pm 2.45$	1.0718	0.2881
	After the intervention	$20.68 \pm 3.52^{a}$	24.97 ± 3.77 <sup>a</sup>	5.7166	0
Writing	Before the intervention	27.49 ± 2.11	$28.12 \pm 2.08$	0.5213	0.6034
	After the intervention	$46.12 \pm 3.15^{a}$	$50.54 \pm 3.52^{a}$	0.1837	0.8546

 $^{\mathrm{a}}P$  < 0.05, comparison before and after intervention in the group.

post-intervention differences were significant (P = 0). However, writing levels decreased post-intervention in both groups, from 27.49 ± 2.11 to 46.12 ± 3.15 in the control group and from 28.12 ± 2.08 to 50.54 ± 3.52 in the observation group (both P < 0.05). No significant difference was noted between the groups in writing levels, either pre- or post-intervention (P > 0.05).

Raisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com
#### DISCUSSION

The etiology of language disorders in patients is complex, often involving environmental factors and cognitive impairments, resulting in difficulties in peer communication. Studies indicate that around 5%-8% of individuals experience language disorders or delays, impacting various aspects such as language function, learning, and psychological wellbeing[8,9]. The Broca area, situated in the left hemisphere of the brain, plays a critical role in speech production. Stimulation of this area can have dual effects, either inhibiting or exciting the cerebral cortex, thereby enhancing induced currents in the tissue. This stimulation aids in improveing the brain's neural connections and contributes positively to the recovery of language and cognitive functions in patients[10,11]. While speech rehabilitation and psychological interventions can offer some relief, the lack of targeted treatments hinders long-term outcomes. Transcranial electrical stimulation, a non-invasive method that stimulates cerebral nerves through magnetic signals, has been widely used in neurological diseases and rehabilitation. It has bidirectional effects on brain activity, regulating excitation and inhibition on within the brain[12,13].

Relevant studies have shown that NGF plays a crucial role in the repair and growth of nerve cells, and its levels can indicate the patient's condition and treatment effectiveness[14,15]. The findings of this study revealed that after 3 wk of intervention, the observation group exhibited an increasing trend in the levels of GDNF, BDNF, CNTF, and NGF compared to the control group. This suggests that transcranial electrical stimulation is more effective than simple speech rehabilitation and psychological intervention in enhancing the levels of nerve factors in the serum of patients. Transcranial electrical stimulation stimulates brain nerves through magnetic signals, which promotes the activation of dormant brain cells, reduces cell death, facilitates nerve function regeneration, and enhances the expression of BDNF[16]. Furthermore, transcranial electrical stimulation also improves cell charge and accelerates blood circulation, leading to enhanced local blood flow, increased oxygen carrying capacity, and improved metabolic enzyme activity. These effects are beneficial for cell repair, nerve plasticity, and brain development[17].

The BDAE scale has high clinical value in detecting both language and non-language function. It allows for qualitative and quantitative analysis of patients' language communication level and helps assess the severity of language dysfunction with high credibility[18,19]. In this study, after a 3-wk intervention, the language, action, and observation group patients showed an increasing trend in their development quotient scores compared to the control group. Similarly, their reading comprehension, fluency, retelling, and writing scores also showed an increasing trend compared to the control group. Transcranial electrical stimulation significantly promoted the development level and enhanced the function of language. Language training can enhance patients' cognitive and communication abilities, as well as other functional training. It also promotes their active oral movement ability, language learning, and social adaptation. This contributes to the improvement of patients' language function[20]. Psychological intervention helps medical staff understand the psychological state of patients, allowing them to provide relief, encouragement, and support. This plays a positive role in promoting the improvement of language function and development level in patients[21,22]. Transcranial electrical stimulation, as a neural electrophysiological technique, has a two-way effect of inhibition or excitation on the brain. When the induced current intensity threshold excites nerve tissue, it can cause local depolarization of nerve cells, thus improving the brain's neural network, increasing synaptic plasticity, and improving the patient's language and cognitive function[23]. Transcranial electrical stimulation can facilitate the penetration of pulsed magnetic field from the skull into the cortex, resulting in physiological and biochemical reactions that stimulate motor potential. This repeated stimulation can have cumulative and long-term effects. From a physiological perspective, transcranial electrical stimulation can enhance cerebral blood circulation through induced current, promoting the repair of damaged brain cells. As a result, it can improve language function and developmental level in patients[24]. Previous studies have also demonstrated that the combination of transcranial electrical stimulation and conventional rehabilitation training can effectively enhance language and motor function rehabilitation in patients with cerebral palsy, which aligns with the findings of this study [25]. However, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of this research. The young age of the patients may have led to poor adherence to the intervention treatment, potentially influencing the study results. Additionally, the development level and language function can be influenced by subjective factors, which may result in varying outcomes. Future studies should incorporate more objective indicators to provide more comprehensive clinical references.

#### CONCLUSION

The combination of transcranial electrical stimulation intervention, speech rehabilitation training, and psychological intervention has demonstrated promising results in enhancing serum nerve factors levels and patients' developmental progress. This intervention has also been shown to improve the language function of individuals with needle speech disorder. These findings are clinically significant and warrant further investigation. However, the study was limited by small sample sizes and short-term treatment, failing to comprehensively assess long-term effects and potential adverse reactions. Therefore, future research should focus on expanding sample sizes, extending observation periods, and delving deeper into treatment mechanisms to enhance the generalizability and accuracy of the conclusions.

Zaisbidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Speech disorders significantly affect individuals' communication abilities and quality of life. Traditional treatments often show variable outcomes and patient compliance issues. The exploration of innovative, non-invasive therapies like transcranial electrical stimulation (TES) is crucial for advancing treatment effectiveness in this field.

#### **Research motivation**

This study is motivated by the need to find more effective, patient-friendly treatment options for speech disorders. The potential of TES as a novel intervention, capable of enhancing neurotrophic factors and improving language functions, drives this research.

#### Research objectives

The primary objective is to assess the impact of TES, alongside conventional speech and psychological therapies, on serum neurofactor levels and language functions in individuals with speech disorders.

#### Research methods

A controlled study was conducted with 81 patients, divided into a control group receiving standard therapies and an observation group receiving additional TES. The study evaluated serum levels of various neurofactors and conducted comprehensive assessments of language and motor functions over a 3-wk period.

#### **Research results**

The observation group demonstrated significantly higher levels of serum neurofactors (ciliary neurotrophic factor, glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor) and improved scores in language functions (writing, reading comprehension, retelling, fluency) and development quotient, compared to the control group.

#### Research conclusions

TES, in combination with standard therapies, significantly improves neurofactor levels and language functions in patients with speech disorders. This suggests TES as an effective adjunct therapy in the treatment of speech impairments.

#### Research perspectives

The promising results from this study advocate for further research into TES as a treatment modality for speech disorders. Future studies could explore long-term effects, optimize stimulation protocols, and investigate the underlying mechanisms of TES in neurological rehabilitation. This line of research has the potential to significantly impact clinical practices and patient outcomes in speech therapy.

# FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Li Sun and Kai Xiao.

Author contributions: Sun L and Wang S conceptualized and designed the article; Sun L conducted the feasibility analysis; Implementation of the research by Sun L, Xiao K, and Shen XY, as well as the statistical analysis; Data collection was carried out by Sun L and Xiao K; Sun L was responsible for paper writing and revision; Wang S oversaw quality control, proofreading, and overall responsibility, supervision, and management of the article.

Supported by the Wuhan Municipal Health and Wellness Research Fund, No. WX19D58 and No. WX21D03.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Yangtze River Shipping General Hospital, No. HCHLL-19-0111.

Informed consent statement: Patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to treatment by written consent.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The dataset for this study is available from the corresponding author, Email: wang31228@163.com.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China



ORCID number: Shu Wang 0009-0005-9532-5872.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

# REFERENCES

- 1 Boerma T, Ter Haar S, Ganga R, Wijnen F, Blom E, Wierenga CJ. What risk factors for Developmental Language Disorder can tell us about the neurobiological mechanisms of language development. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2023; 154: 105398 [PMID: 37741516 DOI: 10.1016/i.neubiorev.2023.105398]
- Bishop DVM, Snowling MJ, Thompson PA, Greenhalgh T; and the CATALISE-2 consortium. Phase 2 of CATALISE: a multinational and 2 multidisciplinary Delphi consensus study of problems with language development: Terminology. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017; 58: 1068-1080 [PMID: 28369935 DOI: 10.1111/jcpp.12721]
- Chilosi AM, Brovedani P, Cipriani P, Casalini C. Sex differences in early language delay and in developmental language disorder. J Neurosci 3 Res 2023; 101: 654-667 [PMID: 34822733 DOI: 10.1002/jnr.24976]
- Liao WW, Chiang WC, Lin KC, Wu CY, Liu CT, Hsieh YW, Lin YC, Chen CL. Timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current 4 stimulation with mirror therapy on daily function and motor control in chronic stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2020; 17: 101 [PMID: 32690032 DOI: 10.1186/s12984-020-00722-1]
- Elsner B, Kwakkel G, Kugler J, Mehrholz J. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) for improving capacity in activities and arm 5 function after stroke: a network meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2017; 14: 95 [PMID: 28903772 DOI: 10.1186/s12984-017-0301-7]
- Bornheim S, Thibaut A, Beaudart C, Maquet P, Croisier JL, Kaux JF. Evaluating the effects of tDCS in stroke patients using functional 6 outcomes: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2022; 44: 13-23 [PMID: 32394750 DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1759703]
- Nitido H, Plante E. Diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder in Research Studies. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2020; 63: 2777-2788 7 [PMID: 32692602 DOI: 10.1044/2020 JSLHR-20-00091]
- Friedman L, Sterling A. A Review of Language, Executive Function, and Intervention in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Semin Speech Lang 8 2019; 40: 291-304 [PMID: 31311054 DOI: 10.1055/s-0039-1692964]
- 9 Del Tufo SN, Earle FS, Cutting LE. The impact of expressive language development and the left inferior longitudinal fasciculus on listening and reading comprehension. J Neurodev Disord 2019; 11: 37 [PMID: 31838999 DOI: 10.1186/s11689-019-9296-7]
- 10 Corina DP, McBurney SL, Dodrill C, Hinshaw K, Brinkley J, Ojemann G. Functional roles of Broca's area and SMG: evidence from cortical stimulation mapping in a deaf signer. Neuroimage 1999; 10: 570-581 [PMID: 10547334 DOI: 10.1006/nimg.1999.0499]
- Evans C, Johnstone A, Zich C, Lee JSA, Ward NS, Bestmann S. The impact of brain lesions on tDCS-induced electric fields. Sci Rep 2023; 11 13: 19430 [PMID: 37940660 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-45905-7]
- Yada Y, Tomisato S, Hashimoto RI. Online cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation to the right homologue of Broca's area improves 12 speech fluency in people who stutter. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2019; 73: 63-69 [PMID: 30379387 DOI: 10.1111/pcn.12796]
- Volpato C, Cavinato M, Piccione F, Garzon M, Meneghello F, Birbaumer N. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of Broca's area in 13 chronic aphasia: a controlled outcome study. Behav Brain Res 2013; 247: 211-216 [PMID: 23538068 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.03.029]
- Li Z, Meyers CA, Chang L, Lee S, Li Z, Tomlinson R, Hoke A, Clemens TL, James AW. Fracture repair requires TrkA signaling by skeletal 14 sensory nerves. J Clin Invest 2019; 129: 5137-5150 [PMID: 31638597 DOI: 10.1172/JCI128428]
- 15 Zeng W, Hui H, Liu Z, Chang Z, Wang M, He B, Hao D. TPP ionically cross-linked chitosan/PLGA microspheres for the delivery of NGF for peripheral nerve system repair. Carbohydr Polym 2021; 258: 117684 [PMID: 33593557 DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.117684]
- Lee JH, Jung BH, Yoo KY. Application time and persistence of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) against neuronal death resulting 16 from transient cerebral ischemia. Lab Anim Res 2022; 38: 12 [PMID: 35527281 DOI: 10.1186/s42826-022-00121-8]
- Zheng Y, Mao YR, Yuan TF, Xu DS, Cheng LM. Multimodal treatment for spinal cord injury: a sword of neuroregeneration upon 17 neuromodulation. Neural Regen Res 2020; 15: 1437-1450 [PMID: 31997803 DOI: 10.4103/1673-5374.274332]
- Glize B, Villain M, Richert L, Vellay M, de Gabory I, Mazaux JM, Dehail P, Sibon I, Laganaro M, Joseph PA. Language features in the acute 18 phase of poststroke severe aphasia could predict the outcome. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2017; 53: 249-255 [PMID: 27412072 DOI: 10.23736/\$1973-9087.16.04255-6
- Zhang XY, Yu WY, Teng WJ, Lu MY, Wu XL, Yang YQ, Chen C, Liu LX, Liu SH, Li JJ. Effectiveness of Melodic Intonation Therapy in 19 Chinese Mandarin on Non-fluent Aphasia in Patients After Stroke: A Randomized Control Trial. Front Neurosci 2021; 15: 648724 [PMID: 34366768 DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2021.648724]
- Zheng Y, Zhong D, Huang Y, He M, Xiao Q, Jin R, Li J. Effectiveness and safety of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) on 20 aphasia in cerebrovascular accident patients: Protocol of a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e18561 [PMID: 31876757 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000018561]
- Tatti E, Phillips AL, Paciorek R, Romanella SM, Dettore D, Di Lorenzo G, Ruffini G, Rossi S, Santarnecchi E. Boosting psychological 21 change: Combining non-invasive brain stimulation with psychotherapy. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2022; 142: 104867 [PMID: 36122739 DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104867]
- Chang S. The Application of Transcranial Electrical Stimulation in Sports Psychology. Comput Math Methods Med 2022; 2022: 1008346 22 [PMID: 35872940 DOI: 10.1155/2022/1008346]
- 23 Longo V, Barbati SA, Re A, Paciello F, Bolla M, Rinaudo M, Miraglia F, Alù F, Di Donna MG, Vecchio F, Rossini PM, Podda MV, Grassi C. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Enhances Neuroplasticity and Accelerates Motor Recovery in a Stroke Mouse Model. Stroke 2022; 53: 1746-1758 [PMID: 35291824 DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.121.034200]
- Palm U, Fintescu Z, Obermeier M, Schiller C, Reisinger E, Keeser D, Pogarell O, Bondy B, Zill P, Padberg F. Serum levels of brain-derived 24 neurotrophic factor are unchanged after transcranial direct current stimulation in treatment-resistant depression. J Affect Disord 2013; 150: 659-663 [PMID: 23664268 DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.03.015]



Nakashima S, Koeda M, Ikeda Y, Hama T, Funayama T, Akiyama T, Arakawa R, Tateno A, Suzuki H, Okubo Y. Effects of anodal 25 transcranial direct current stimulation on implicit motor learning and language-related brain function: An fMRI study. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021; 75: 200-207 [PMID: 33576537 DOI: 10.1111/pcn.13208]



 Jaisbideng®
 WJCC
 https://www.wjgnet.com

W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1750-1765

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1750

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# **Clinical and Translational Research**

# Identification of marker genes associated with N6-methyladenosine and autophagy in ulcerative colitis

Xiao-Yan Liu, Dan Qiao, Ya-Li Zhang, Zi-Xuan Liu, You-Lan Chen, Ren-Ye Que, Hong-Yan Cao, Yan-Cheng Dai

Xiao-Yan Liu, Dan Qiao, Zi-Xuan Liu, Ren-Ye Que, Hong-Yan Cao, Yan-Cheng Dai, Department of Specialty type: Medical informatics Gastroenterology, Shanghai Traditional Chinese Medicine-Integrated Hospital, Shanghai Provenance and peer review: University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai 200082, China Unsolicited article; Externally peer

Ya-Li Zhang, Institute of Digestive Diseases, Long Hua Hospital Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai 200032, China

You-Lan Chen, Department of Gastroenterology, Shu Guang Hospital, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai 201203, China

Corresponding author: Yan-Cheng Dai, PhD, Chief Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Shanghai Traditional Chinese Medicine-Integrated Hospital Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, No. 230 Baoding Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai 200082, China. daiyancheng2005@126.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Both N6-methyladenosine (m6A) methylation and autophagy are considered relevant to the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis (UC). However, a systematic exploration of the role of the com-bination of m6A methylation and autophagy in UC remains to be performed.

#### AIM

To elucidate the autophagy-related genes of m6A with a diagnostic value for UC.

# **METHODS**

The correlation between m6A-related genes and autophagy-related genes (ARGs) was analyzed. Finally, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed on the characteristic genes. Additionally, the expression levels of four characteristic genes were verified in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice.

#### RESULTS

GSEA indicated that BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2 were involved in the inflammatory response and TNF-α signalling via nuclear factor kappa-B. Furthermore, polymerase chain reaction results showed significantly higher mRNA levels of BAG3 and P4HB and lower mRNA levels of FMR1 and TP53INP2 in the DSS group compared to the control group.



2024

reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific

quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0

Grade B (Very good): B

P-Reviewer: Nakaji K, Japan

Peer-review started: January 1,

First decision: January 16, 2024

Article in press: February 29, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024

Received: January 1, 2024

Revised: January 21, 2024

Accepted: February 29, 2024

Grade C (Good): 0

Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

#### CONCLUSION

This study identified four m6A-ARGs that predict the occurrence of UC, thus providing a scientific reference for further studies on the pathogenesis of UC.

Key Words: Ulcerative colitis; m6A; Autophagy; Characteristic genes; Immune infiltration

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Both N6-methyladenosine (m6A) methylation and autophagy are considered relevant to the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis (UC). This study identified four m6A-related genes and autophagy-related genes that predict the occurrence of UC, thus providing a scientific reference for further studies on the pathogenesis of UC.

Citation: Liu XY, Qiao D, Zhang YL, Liu ZX, Chen YL, Que RY, Cao HY, Dai YC. Identification of marker genes associated with N6-methyladenosine and autophagy in ulcerative colitis. *World J Clin Cases* 2024; 12(10): 1750-1765 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1750.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1750

### INTRODUCTION

Ulcerative colitis (UC) is a complex, chronic, immune-mediated, colitis disease. The UC lesions are mostly located in the sigmoid colon and rectum even the whole colon[1]. The clinical manifestations of UC can take many forms, with bloody diarrhoea as the most obvious early symptom. Other symptoms include abdominal pain, bloody stool, weight loss, tenesmus and vomiting. UC is characterised by the alternation of the active phase and remission phase; however, its clinical process is unclear[2]. The incidence rate of UC is on the rise worldwide, with treatment proving to be difficult. Approximately 15% of patients with UC experience an aggressive course, and some will even develop colorectal cancer. Current non-surgical treatment options include 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA), glucocorticoids, immunosuppressants, biological agents and probiotics, which are limited by high recurrence rates and varying side effects. Current research on the pathogenesis of UC mainly focuses on microbiota, genetics, immunity and intestinal mucosal barrier. However, the exact pathogenesis of UC remains unclear. Therefore, exploring the aetiology of UC is of great significance for the diagnosis and treatment of UC[3].

N6-methyladenosine (m6A) methylation is one of the most common RNA modifications and plays a key role in the development and progression of various diseases. It has been reported that changes related to m6A are associated with intestinal microbiota changes and gastrointestinal cancer development[4]. Currently, studies have investigated m6A methylation in UC, which revealed the role of m6A methylation in the pathogenesis of UC[5,6].

Autophagy is a conservative degradation process, which is critical for regulating major cellular functions and biological metabolic processes. Thus, impaired autophagy could lead to many diseases, including cancer, cardiomyopathy, neurodegenerative diseases and ageing. Moreover, autophagy disorder can also lead to inflammation, intestinal barrier destruction and intestinal homeostasis imbalance, thus increasing the risk of colon disease[7]. Recently, autophagy-related gene polymorphisms have been reported to be strongly associated with an increased risk of UC. Additionally, the therapeutic effect of certain UC drugs is indicated to be mediated by regulating the autophagy pathway [8]. Recent studies have shown that the methylation of m6A RNA can regulate autophagy gene expression and affect autophagy function. Both m6A modification and autophagy play a key role in the occurrence and development of human diseases; however, the combined role of m6A and autophagy in UC remains unexplored[9].

In this study, we used publicly available data related to UC and comprehensive bioinformatics methods to elucidate the autophagy-related genes of m6A with a diagnostic value for UC. Additionally, animal models were also used to validate and explore the potential regulatory mechanism of m6A-autophagy in UC, thereby contributing to the development of treatment options for patients with UC.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Data extraction

UC-related datasets (GSE8747 and GSE75214) were downloaded from the Gene Expression Omnibus database (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). The training set was the GSE87473 dataset, which comprised 21 normal and 106 UC samples. The GSE75214 dataset, comprising 11 normal and 97 UC samples, was used as the external validation set. In total, 222 ARGs were acquired from the Human Autophagy database (http://www.autophagy.lu/index.html) (Supplementary Table 1). Furthermore, 23 m6A-related genes were obtained from the published literature (Supplementary Table 1)[10].

Zaishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# Identification and functional analysis of differentially expressed genes between the UC and normal groups

The mRNA expression levels between the UC and normal groups in the GSE87473 dataset were compared using the 'limma' package (version 3.52.4) with adj P < 0.05 and  $|\log_2 FC| \ge 0.5[11]$ . Subsequently, the 'clusterProfiler' R package (version 4.4.4) was used to perform the biological functional enrichment analysis of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between the UC and normal groups with Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG )(P < 0.05)[12].

# Identification and Establishment of a protein-protein interaction network of m6A-Autophagy-Related DEGs

Correlations between the m6A-related genes and ARGs were calculated using the 'rcorr' function of the 'Hmisc' R package (version 4.7-1) (P < 0.05). The intersection of the m6A-autophagy-related genes (m6A-ARGs) and DEGs was performed using the Venn tool to acquire m6A-AR DEGs. STRING was adopted to explore the protein-protein interaction (PPI) of m<sup>6</sup>A-AR DEGs. Furthermore, Cytoscape (version 3.8.0) was utilised to visualise the co-expression network of m6A-ARGs and the PPI network of m6A-AR DEGs.

# Screening of characteristic genes

Univariate logistic regression was used to initially screen variables in the identified m6A-AR DEGs. Additionally, the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) and support vector machines (SVM) were further applied for screening characteristic genes. Moreover, the diagnostic value for UC of the characteristic gene was assessed using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves and the area under the curve (AUC).

# Immune infiltration analysis

The CIBERSORT algorithm (version 1.03) was utilised to assess the infiltrating abundance of 22 immune cells between the UC and normal groups in the training set[13]. Differences between UC and normal groups were analysed using a Wilcox test, and a boxplot was plotted using the 'ggplot2' R package (version 3.3.6). Additionally, the correlation between characteristic genes and differential immune cells was analysed using the cor function of R language.

# Gene set enrichment analysis of characteristic genes

Based on the median value of the expression of the characteristic genes, the samples in GSE87473 were grouped into high and low-expression groups, and differential analysis was performed. Hallmark gene sets were downloaded using the 'msigdbr' R package (version 7.5.1) as a reference. Sorted DEGs were subjected to enrichment analysis (adj. P < 0.05).

# Expression of characteristic genes in external validation datasets

To further demonstrate the validity of our results, the expression levels of the characteristic genes were compared between the UC and normal groups in the GSE87473 and GSE75214 datasets for external validation.

# Animal

C57BL/6 mice (6-8 wk old, Quality Certification of Laboratory Animals: SCXK (Shanghai) 2017-0012) were housed in the Animal Experiment Centre of Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, at a temperature of 22°C ± 2°C, alternating between light and dark (SPF class), 50% ± 10% relative humidity. All animals had unlimited access to standard diet and water and general health status was checked daily by veterinarians. All animals (n = 20) were divided randomly into two groups (five animals per cage): control group (n = 10) and dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) group (n = 10). The mice in the DSS group were given DSS solution (3.5%) for seven days. Mice in the control group drank water normally. All animal experiments conformed to the internationally accepted principles for the care and use of laboratory animals (No. PZSHUTCM210611001, the Animal Ethics Committee of the Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine).

# Evaluation of disease activity index

Colitis was evaluated by disease activity index (DAI) score, including body weight, stool consistency, and fecal occult blood or gross bleeding[14]. DAI was calculated by grading on a scale of 0 to 4 using the following parameters: loss of body weight (0: normal; 1: 0%-5%; 2: 5%-10%; 3: 10%-15%; 4: > 15%); stool consistency (0: normal; 2: loose stools; 4: watery diarrhea); and occult blood (0: negative; 2: positive; 4: gross bleeding). The final result was expressed as the average of the three.

# Sample collection

At the end of the experiments, all animals were euthanized by intraperitoneal injection of 80 mg/kg 1% sodium pentobarbital. After euthanasia, the whole colon was collected and the feces and surrounding connective tissue were removed. Freshly isolated organs were kept frozen at -80 °C for RNA isolation and analyses of gene expression.

# Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

After the experiment, colonic tissues were collected for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (Table 1). Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol by homogenizing the tissue. Total RNA quality was assessed by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280 nm using a NanoDrop-2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) and the 260/280 ratio ranged between 1.8 and 2.0. Then samples were used to reverse transcription and synthesize cDNA by the Evo M-MLV RT Premix. The samples were diluted using the SYBR® Green Premix Pro Taq HS quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Kit (High Rox Plus) (Accurate Biology, China). qPCR and



Table 1 Primer sequences					
Gene		Sequence (5'-3')	PCR products (bp)		
Mus BAG3	Forward	CACCTTTTCCATGCCTACTCCC	108		
	Reverse	TTCTGTCATGCCGCCACGTA			
Mus P4HB	Forward	TCACTGAACAGACAGCTCCGAA	144		
	Reverse	ATAGGATCTTGCCCTTGAAGCC			
Mus FMR1	Forward	ATGTCATACAGGTTCCACGAAAC	77		
	Reverse	GTCCACGATCTCTTGAATCAGC			
Mus TP53INP2	Forward	CATTGAGCATCCCAGCATGTCC	117		
	Reverse	TCTCCATCGCTGAGGTCCTG			

PCR: Polymerase chain reaction.

melting-curve analyses were performed using StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States). The PCR reactions were set for 40 cycles. Each cycle was fixed at 95 °C for 30 s, 95 °C for 3 s, and 60 °C for 30 s. These primers have been validated for specificity and efficiency using conventional RT-PCR. Relative gene expression was calculated based on  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method.

# RESULTS

### Acquisition and enrichment analysis of DEGs between the UC and normal groups

In total, 3512 DEGs were identified between the UC and normal groups in GSE87473 (Figure 1A and B). Enrichment analysis revealed a total of 1247 GO BP, 143 GO MF and 97 GO CC that were related to DEGs, such as small molecule catabolic process, oxidoreductase activity, catabolism of organic acids process, acting on CH-OH group of donors, mitochondrial matrix, peroxisomal matrix and microbody lumen (Figure 1C). Moreover, there were 67 KEGG pathways such as retinol metabolism, co-factors biosynthesis and cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, that were related to DEGs (Figure 1D).

# Construction of the PPI Network of m6A-AR DEGs

All 23 m6A-related genes and 222 ARGs were observed to be related to each other. Figure 2A presents the co-expression network of m6A-autophagy-related genes that contains 14 m6A-related genes and 64 ARGs (|r| > 0.8 and P < 0.05) (Supplementary Table 2). A total of 43 m6A-AR DEGs were obtained by the intersection of m6A-autophagy-related genes and DEGs between the UC and normal groups (Figure 2B). Moreover, using the PPI network of m6A-AR DEGs, a strong reciprocal relationship was observed between heat shock protein family A (Hsp70) member 5 (HSPA5) and dnaJ heat shock protein family member B9 (DNAJB9), HSPA5 and tumour protein P53 inducible nuclear protein 2 (TP53INP2), death-associated protein kinase 2 (DAPK2) and mitogen-activated protein kinase 3 (MAPK3) (Figure 2C). However, four proteins did not interact with other proteins, namely Cathepsin L, eukaryotic elongation factor 2 kinase, a regulator of G protein signalling 19 and tumour suppressor candidate 1 (TUSC1) (Figure 2C).

# Acquisition of characteristic genes

Univariate logistic regression revealed that all 43 m6A-AR DEGs were associated with the occurrence of UC (Figure 3A). Nine characteristic genes were further identified using LASSO, namely BLC2-associated athanogene 3 (BAG3), CC Chemokine Ligand 2, prolyl 4-hydroxylase subunit beta (P4HB), proliferation and apoptosis adaptor protein 15, serpin family a member 1, fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1), MAPK3, TP53INP2 and TUSC1 (Figure 3B). From the SVM algorithm, we obtained nine eigengenes, namely DNAJB9, BAG3, TP53IMP2, recombinant human caspase-1, P4HB, breast tumour kinase/protein-tyrosine kinase 6, DAPK2, FMR1, leucine-rich pentatricopeptide repeat containing (Figure 3C). Finally, four characteristic genes (FMR1, BAG3, P4HB and TP53IMP2) were selected through the cross-talk between LASSO and SVM (Figure 3D). The diagnostic accuracy of the four characteristic genes was evaluated using ROC curve analysis in GSE87466 and GSE75214. The AUC values of the four genes were greater than 0.7 in both datasets, indicating their high predictive accuracy for the occurrence of UC (Figure 3E and F).

#### Immuno-infiltration analysis in the UC and normal groups

The infiltrating abundance of the 22 immune cells between the UC and normal groups was demonstrated using a bar chart, which showed that the content of B cells and T cells was higher in the UC group (Figure 4A). The correlation of infiltration levels of the 22 immune cells with each other was demonstrated using a heat map (Figure 4B). Moreover, 14 immune cells significantly differed between the UC and normal groups (Figure 4C), such as M0 macrophages, neutrophils and activated NK cells. Finally, correlation analysis between characteristic genes and differential immune



Baishidena® WJCC https://www.wjgnet.com





Baisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com





Baishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Liu XY et al. m6A and autophagy genes in ulcerative colitis



Figure 2 The protein-protein interaction network of m6A-autophagy-related differentially expressed genes. A: N6-methyladenosine (m6A)autophagy genes (ATG) related network; B: Venn diagrams of m6A-ATG and Differentially Expressed Genes. C: Protein-Protein Interaction network of differential m6A-Autophagy-Related Differentially Expressed Genes. DEGs: Differentially expressed genes; m6A: N6-methyladenosine; ATG: Autophagy genes.

cells showed that TP53INP2 had the strongest positive correlation with M2 macrophages, while FMR1 had the strongest negative correlation with naive B cells (Figure 4D).

# Gene set enrichment analysis of characteristic genes

To further understand the impact of the characteristic genes on the development of UC, we performed gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) of the characteristic genes. BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2 were found to be involved in the inflammatory response and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) signalling through nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- $\kappa$ B) (Figure 5A-C). Notably, BAG3 and P4HB were positively associated with the two signalling pathways, whereas TP53INP2 was negatively correlated. FMR1 was mainly enriched in adipogenesis, MYC targets V1, E2F targets, oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism (Figure 5D).



Figure 3 Analysis of characteristic genes. A: Forest map of univariate logistic regression; B-I/II: Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression; C: Relationship between generalisation error and the characteristic number of support vector machines (SVM) algorithm; D: Venn diagram of LASSO and SVM; E: Training set: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve; F: Validation set: ROC curve. LASSO: Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; SVM: Support vector machines.

#### The mRNA levels of characteristic genes

The visualised data exhibited the expressions of BAG3, FMR1, P4HB and TP53IMP2. The expression of four characteristic genes were shown in the GSE87473 and GSE75214 datasets (Figure 6A and B). The expression of the four characteristic genes between the normal and UC groups was significantly different. Moreover, the expression trends of the four genes were consistent in both datasets, with BAG3 and P4HB expressions elevated in the UC group whereas TP53INP2 and FMR1 expressions were lowered. The results suggested that these four genes had great diagnostic value in predicting the occurrence of UC.





Baishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Immuno-infiltration analysis in the ulcerative colitis and normal groups. A: The level of immune infiltration in each sample; B: Heat map of immune cell infiltration; C: Levels of immune cell infiltration between the groups; D: Correlation between characteristic genes and differential immune cells.  ${}^{a}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}P < 0.01$ ,  ${}^{c}P < 0.001$ ,  ${}^{d}P < 0.001$ . NS: Not significant.

#### Validation of the expression levels of four characteristic genes in DSS-induced colitis in mice

The control group mice had a good mental state, sensitive reaction, shiny hair, gradually increased body mass and formed faeces; The mice in the DSS group had a poor mental state, slow movement, matted hair, significantly reduced body weight and mucus purulent stool. Compared with the control group, the DAI of the DSS group mice increased significantly on the 7<sup>th</sup> day of administration (Figure 7A). HE staining showed that the colon tissue structure in the control group mice was complete and orderly arranged, the goblet cells and crypt structure were normal, and there was no congestion, oedema or ulcer. Meanwhile, in the DSS group, the colonic tissue was destroyed, goblet cells and crypts disappeared, a large number of inflammatory cells infiltrated the tissue and large ulcerative lesions were observed (Figure 7B). PCR also revealed significantly higher mRNA levels of BAG3 and P4HB and lower mRNA levels of FMR1 and TP53INP2 in the DSS group compared to the control group (Figure 7C). The flowchart systematically describes our study (Figure 8).

### DISCUSSION

The role of m6A modification, especially concerning autophagy regulation, in human diseases such as obesity, heart disease, azoospermia or oligozoospermia, intervertebral disc degeneration and cancer has been extensively studied by scholars. Such studies contribute to the optimisation of treatment strategies for various diseases[9,15,16]. However, research on the mechanism of m<sup>6</sup>A autophagy interaction in colitis is still lacking.

In our study, four characteristic genes (FMR1, BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2) were acquired using the machine learning algorithms. FMR1 is related to m6A, while BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2 are related to autophagy. FMR1, the gene responsible for fragile X syndrome, encodes the fragile X mental retardation protein[17]. BAG proteins compete with Hip for binding to the Hsc70/Hsp70 ATPase domain and promote substrate release. Additionally, diseases associated with BAG3 include myopathy, myofibrillar and cardiomyopathy[18]. P4HB is an important endoplasmic reticulum (ER) molecular chaperone. Traditionally, it regulates the post-translational modification of proteins in the ER, which in turn is





Figure 5 Gene set enrichment analysis of characteristic genes. A: BAG3; B: P4HB; C: TP53INP2; D: FMR1.



Figure 6 The mRNA levels of characteristic genes. A: Training set: expression of marker genes; B: Validation set: expression of marker genes. <sup>d</sup>P < 0.001.

crucial for cell proliferation, apoptosis and autophagy regulation[19]. The protein encoded by TP53INP2 promotes autophagy and is essential for proper autophagosome formation and processing[20]. Recent studies report that the relationship between these four genes and intestinal diseases is mainly studied in colorectal cancer, with very little attention being paid to colitis.

In this study, through machine learning and animal model verification, the expression of Fmr1 and TP53INP2 was observed to be reduced in colitis. Researchers report that the relative abundance of Proteus, Deironobacteria and Bacteroides in Fmr1 knockout mice was higher than that in the wild-type (WT) mice, whereas that of Firmicutes and Tenericutes was lower in Fmr1 knockout mice than in the WT mice[21]. Therefore, we speculate that Fmr1 could affect the occurrence and development of colitis through the intestinal flora and its metabolites. Studies also report that the downregulation of TP53INP2 inhibits epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) via the GSK-3β/β-catenin/Snail1 pathway in bladder cancer<sup>[22]</sup>. We hypothesised that TP53INP2 could inhibit the occurrence of EMT by regulating EMTrelated transcription factors, thus blocking the key link required for UC-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) transformation. In the current study, the expression of BAG3 and P4HB was elevated in colitis. Studies have revealed that BAG3 overexpression promoted HCT-116 cell growth, migration and invasion in vitro. Contrastingly, BAG3 knockout inhibited HCT-116 cell growth, migration and invasion[23]. In view of the similar biological characteristics of HCT-116 and HT-29/intestinal epithelial cells, we speculate that BAG3 is involved in the signalling pathway related to cell proliferation, migration, invasion and chemical resistance control in colitis. Moreover, P4HB has been reported to be highly expressed in patients with colorectal cancer and closely related to the degree of cancer differentiation<sup>[24]</sup>. Thus, we hypothesise that P4HB has potential as a molecular marker in the diagnosis and treatment of human CAC.

GSEA revealed that BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2 were involved in the NF- $\kappa$ B/TNF- $\alpha$  signalling pathway. The NF- $\kappa$ B signalling pathway plays an important role in the development of UC. The loss of the NF-kB signalling pathway and its regulatory factors lead to pathological changes in the UC intestinal tract, which, acting as positive feedback, further



Figure 7 Validation of the animal model. A: Disease activity index scores were recorded daily; B: H&E staining (×100); C: The relative mRNA level of characteristic genes. The relative mRNA level was detected using qPCR in Dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis mice. Data are shown as the mean ± SEM. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001, <sup>d</sup>P < 0.001. DSS: Dextran sulfate sodium.



Figure 8 Flowchart of the research. DEGs: Differentially expressed genes; m6A: N6-methyladenosine; DSS: Dextran sulfate sodium.

activates NF- $\kappa$ B and aggravates inflammation. Cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  are influenced by NF-KB and regulate immunity and inflammation in different ways<sup>[25]</sup>. Therefore, BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2-related NF-  $\kappa$ B/TNF- $\alpha$  signalling pathways have curative potential in clinical UC treatment[26].

Immuno-infiltration analysis showed that TP53INP2 had the highest positive correlation with M2 macrophages, while FMR1 had the highest negative correlation with naive B cells. Intestinal macrophages are involved in intestinal immune homeostasis and intestinal inflammation. The imbalance of the classical activated pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1)/ alternative activated anti-inflammatory phenotype (M2) macrophage polarization can lead to intestinal inflammation. In UC patients, intestinal inflammation is closely related to the imbalance of intestinal M1/M2 macrophages polarization [27]. Therefore, targeted therapy that promotes macrophage polarisation by regulating TP53INP2 can reconstruct the homeostasis of intestinal immune microenvironment and restore post-inflammatory tissue homeostasis, which is a new focus of UC therapy. Through single-cell RNA sequencing of B cells from three cohorts of patients with UC, researchers have drawn the composition, transcription and clonal map of the intestinal mucosa and circulating B cells and found major perturbations within the mucosal B cell compartment, including an expansion of naive B cells and IgG+ plasma cells with curtailed diversity and maturation. These findings suggest that B cells play an important role in the pathogenesis of UC[28]. Nevertheless, the mechanism of how FMR1 regulates naive B cells requires further study.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study analysed the diagnostic value of m6A and ARGs in predicting the occurrence of UC. A total of



four key genes (FMR1, BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2) were identified and verified using animal models, providing a foundation for the clinical diagnosis and treatment of UC. However, m6A and ARGs how to participate in the occurrence and development of UC, as well as the genes identification are as possible markers for assessing UC severity and developing innovative UC targeted therapeutic approaches. The specific regulatory mechanisms of these genes need further experimental research and clinical application research.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Both N6-methyladenosine (m6A) methylation and autophagy are considered relevant to the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis (UC). However, a systematic exploration of the role of the combination of m6A methylation and autophagy in UC remains to be performed.

#### Research motivation

In this study, we used publicly available data related to UC and comprehensive bioinformatics methods to elucidate the autophagy-related genes of m6A with a diagnostic value for UC, thereby contributing to the development of treatment options for patients with UC.

#### **Research objectives**

To elucidate the autophagy-related genes of m6A with a diagnostic value for UC.

#### Research methods

The correlation between m6A-related genes and autophagy-related genes (ARGs) was analysed. Finally, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed on the characteristic genes. Additionally, the expression levels of four characteristic genes were verified in DSS-induced colitis in mice.

#### Research results

GSEA indicated that BAG3, P4HB and TP53INP2 were involved in the inflammatory response and TNF-α signalling via NF- κB. Furthermore, polymerase chain reaction results showed significantly higher mRNA levels of BAG3 and P4HB and lower mRNA levels of FMR1 and TP53INP2 in the DSS group compared to the control group.

#### Research conclusions

This study identified four m6A-ARGs that predict the occurrence of UC, thus providing a scientific reference for further studies on the pathogenesis of UC.

#### Research perspectives

The specific regulatory mechanisms of these genes need further experimental research and clinical application research.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Liu XY and Qian D authored the paper and contributed equally to this work; Dai YC conceived and designed the experiments; Zhang YL, Liu ZX, and Chen YL performed the experiments; Que RY analyzed the data; Cao HY provided reagents/materials/analysis tools; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81873253; the Shanghai Natural Science Foundation, No. 22ZR1458800; the scientific research Project Plan of Shanghai Municipal Health Commission, No. 202240385; and the Xinglin Scholar Program of Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, No. [2020]23; the Hongkou District Health Committee, No. HKZK2020A01.

Institutional review board statement: This article is a bioinformatic analysis of the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database and involve animal experiments.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All animal experiments conformed to the internationally accepted principles for the care and use of laboratory animals (No. PZSHUTCM210611001, the Animal Ethics Committee of the Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine).

Clinical trial registration statement: This study is registered at Chinese Clinical Trial Registry. The registration identification number is ChiCTR2300068348.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrolment.



Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors report no conflicts of interest in this work.

Data sharing statement: The following publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/, http:// www.autophagy.lu/index.html.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Xiao-Yan Liu 0000-0002-6605-7208; Dan Qiao 0000-0002-5699-904X; Ya-Li Zhang 0000-0002-8987-3558; Zi-Xuan Liu 0009-0007-1980-5422; You-Lan Chen 0000-0002-4304-5693; Ren-Ye Que 0000-0002-6467-5950; Hong-Yan Cao 0000-0002-1515-1181; Yan-Cheng Dai 0000-0002-3571-077X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

# REFERENCES

- Du L, Ha C. Epidemiology and Pathogenesis of Ulcerative Colitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2020; 49: 643-654 [PMID: 33121686 DOI: 1 10.1016/j.gtc.2020.07.005]
- Ordás I, Eckmann L, Talamini M, Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Ulcerative colitis. Lancet 2012; 380: 1606-1619 [PMID: 22914296 DOI: 2 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60150-0
- Cui DJ, Chen C, Yuan WQ, Yang YH, Han L. Integrative analysis of ferroptosis-related genes in ulcerative colitis. J Int Med Res 2021; 49: 3 3000605211042975 [PMID: 34510961 DOI: 10.1177/03000605211042975]
- 4 Sebastian-delaCruz M, Olazagoitia-Garmendia A, Gonzalez-Moro I, Santin I, Garcia-Etxebarria K, Castellanos-Rubio A. Implication of m6A mRNA Methylation in Susceptibility to Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Epigenomes 2020; 4 [PMID: 34968289 DOI: 10.3390/epigenomes4030016]
- Gu C, Wu J, Zhang W, Yao Y, Yan W, Yuan Y, Wang W, Shang A. Immune Infiltration of Ulcerative Colitis and Detection of the m6A 5 Subtype. J Immunol Res 2022; 2022: 7280977 [PMID: 35795532 DOI: 10.1155/2022/7280977]
- Lu TX, Zheng Z, Zhang L, Sun HL, Bissonnette M, Huang H, He C. A New Model of Spontaneous Colitis in Mice Induced by Deletion of an 6 RNA m(6)A Methyltransferase Component METTL14 in T Cells. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 10: 747-761 [PMID: 32634481 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.07.001]
- Qiao D, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Chen Q, Chen Y, Tang Y, Sun X, Tang Z, Dai Y. Regulation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Autophagy: A 7 Potential Therapeutic Target for Ulcerative Colitis. Front Pharmacol 2021; 12: 697360 [PMID: 34588980 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2021.697360]
- Qiu P, Liu L, Fang J, Zhang M, Wang H, Peng Y, Chen M, Liu J, Wang F, Zhao Q. Identification of Pharmacological Autophagy Regulators 8 of Active Ulcerative Colitis. Front Pharmacol 2021; 12: 769718 [PMID: 34925026 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2021.769718]
- Chen X, Wang J, Tahir M, Zhang F, Ran Y, Liu Z. Current insights into the implications of m6A RNA methylation and autophagy interaction 9 in human diseases. Cell Biosci 2021; 11: 147 [PMID: 34315538 DOI: 10.1186/s13578-021-00661-x]
- 10 Wu X, Bai Z. Multi-omics analysis of m(6)A modification-related patterns based on m(6)A regulators and tumor microenvironment infiltration in lung adenocarcinoma. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 20921 [PMID: 346866691 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-00272-z]
- Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, Smyth GK. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and 11 microarray studies. Nucleic Acids Res 2015; 43: e47 [PMID: 25605792 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkv007]
- Wu T, Hu E, Xu S, Chen M, Guo P, Dai Z, Feng T, Zhou L, Tang W, Zhan L, Fu X, Liu S, Bo X, Yu G. clusterProfiler 4.0: A universal 12 enrichment tool for interpreting omics data. Innovation (Camb) 2021; 2: 100141 [PMID: 34557778 DOI: 10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100141]
- Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling Tumor Infiltrating Immune Cells with CIBERSORT. Methods Mol 13 Biol 2018; 1711: 243-259 [PMID: 29344893 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1\_12]
- Zhang Z, Qiao D, Zhang Y, Chen Q, Chen Y, Tang Y, Que R, Zheng L, Dai Y, Tang Z. Portulaca oleracea L. Extract Ameliorates Intestinal 14 Inflammation by Regulating Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Autophagy. Mol Nutr Food Res 2022; 66: e2100791 [PMID: 34968000 DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.202100791]
- Peng J, Zheng H, Liu F, Wu Q, Liu S. The m6A methyltransferase METTL3 affects autophagy and progression of nasopharyngeal carcinoma 15 by regulating the stability of lncRNA ZFAS1. Infect Agent Cancer 2022; 17:1 [PMID: 34980191 DOI: 10.1186/s13027-021-00411-1]
- Cui YH, Yang S, Wei J, Shea CR, Zhong W, Wang F, Shah P, Kibriya MG, Cui X, Ahsan H, He C, He YY. Autophagy of the m(6)A mRNA 16 demethylase FTO is impaired by low-level arsenic exposure to promote tumorigenesis. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 2183 [PMID: 33846348 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-22469-6
- Zhang G, Xu Y, Wang X, Zhu Y, Wang L, Zhang W, Wang Y, Gao Y, Wu X, Cheng Y, Sun Q, Chen D. Dynamic FMR1 granule phase 17 switch instructed by m6A modification contributes to maternal RNA decay. Nat Commun 2022; 13: 859 [PMID: 35165263 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-022-28547-7]
- 18 Jiang H, Ji Y, Sheng J, Wang Y, Liu X, Xiao P, Ding H. Genome-Wide Identification of the Bcl-2 Associated Athanogene (BAG) Gene Family in Solanum lycopersicum and the Functional Role of SIBAG9 in Response to Osmotic Stress. Antioxidants (Basel) 2022; 11 [PMID:



35326248 DOI: 10.3390/antiox11030598]

- Xie L, Li H, Zhang L, Ma X, Dang Y, Guo J, Liu J, Ge L, Nan F, Dong H, Yan Z, Guo X. Autophagy-related gene P4HB: a novel diagnosis 19 and prognosis marker for kidney renal clear cell carcinoma. Aging (Albany NY) 2020; 12: 1828-1842 [PMID: 32003756 DOI: 10.18632/aging.102715]
- You Z, Xu Y, Wan W, Zhou L, Li J, Zhou T, Shi Y, Liu W. TP53INP2 contributes to autophagosome formation by promoting LC3-ATG7 20 interaction. Autophagy 2019; 15: 1309-1321 [PMID: 30767704 DOI: 10.1080/15548627.2019.1580510]
- Ouyang YY, Chen SQ, Tian LR, Yang XY, Xing XM, Zhuang HM, Huang XF, Deng XY. Analysis of intestinal flora composition in Fmr1 21 knockout mice. Zhonghua Linchuang Shiyanshi Guanli (Electronic Edition) 2020; 8: 158-165 [DOI: 10.3877/cma.j.issn.2095-5820.2020.03.007]
- 22 Zhou Z, Liu X, Li Y, Li J, Deng W, Zhong J, Chen L, Zeng X, Wang G, Zhu J, Fu B. TP53INP2 Modulates Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition via the GSK-3β/β-Catenin/Snail1 Pathway in Bladder Cancer Cells. Onco Targets Ther 2020; 13: 9587-9597 [PMID: 33061441 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S251830]
- Li N, Chen M, Cao Y, Li H, Zhao J, Zhai Z, Ren F, Li K. Bcl-2-associated athanogene 3(BAG3) is associated with tumor cell proliferation, 23 migration, invasion and chemoresistance in colorectal cancer. BMC Cancer 2018; 18: 793 [PMID: 30081850 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-018-4657-21
- Zhou Y, Lu LH, Xu QH, Liao BL. Expression and significance of P4HB in colorectal cancer. Beichuan Yixueyuan Xuebao 2019; 34: 343-346 24 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1005-3697.2019.04.06]
- Wang Y, Tang Q, Duan P, Yang L. Curcumin as a therapeutic agent for blocking NF-KB activation in ulcerative colitis. Immunopharmacol 25 Immunotoxicol 2018; 40: 476-482 [PMID: 30111198 DOI: 10.1080/08923973.2018.1469145]
- Lu PD, Zhao YH. Targeting NF-kB pathway for treating ulcerative colitis: comprehensive regulatory characteristics of Chinese medicines. 26 Chin Med 2020; 15: 15 [PMID: 32063999 DOI: 10.1186/s13020-020-0296-z]
- Yang Z, Lin S, Feng W, Liu Y, Song Z, Pan G, Zhang Y, Dai X, Ding X, Chen L, Wang Y. A potential therapeutic target in traditional Chinese 27 medicine for ulcerative colitis: Macrophage polarization. Front Pharmacol 2022; 13: 999179 [PMID: 36147340 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.999179]
- Uzzan M, Martin JC, Mesin L, Livanos AE, Castro-Dopico T, Huang R, Petralia F, Magri G, Kumar S, Zhao Q, Rosenstein AK, Tokuyama M, 28 Sharma K, Ungaro R, Kosoy R, Jha D, Fischer J, Singh H, Keir ME, Ramamoorthi N, O'Gorman WE, Cohen BL, Rahman A, Cossarini F, Seki A, Leyre L, Vaquero ST, Gurunathan S, Grasset EK, Losic B, Dubinsky M, Greenstein AJ, Gottlieb Z, Legnani P, George J, Irizar H, Stojmirovic A, Brodmerkel C, Kasarkis A, Sands BE, Furtado G, Lira SA, Tuong ZK, Ko HM, Cerutti A, Elson CO, Clatworthy MR, Merad M, Suárez-Fariñas M, Argmann C, Hackney JA, Victora GD, Randolph GJ, Kenigsberg E, Colombel JF, Mehandru S. Ulcerative colitis is characterized by a plasmablast-skewed humoral response associated with disease activity. Nat Med 2022; 28: 766-779 [PMID: 35190725 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-022-01680-y]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1766-1771

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1766

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Demyelinating neuropathy in patients with hepatitis B virus: A case report

Xiao-Xiao Yan, Jin Huang, Jing Lin

#### Specialty type: Neurosciences

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Manrai M, India

Received: September 16, 2023 Peer-review started: September 16, 2023

First decision: December 5, 2023 Revised: December 17, 2023 Accepted: March 18, 2024 Article in press: March 18, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Xiao-Xiao Yan, Jin Huang, Jing Lin, Department of Neurology, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Ruian 325000, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Jing Lin, Doctor, Chief Physician, Doctor, Department of Neurology, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, No. 108 Wansong Road, Ruian, 325000, Zhejiang Province, China. 493667236@qq.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Hepatitis B rarely leads to demyelinating neuropathy, despite peripheral neuropathy being the first symptom of hepatitis B infection.

# CASE SUMMARY

A 64-year-old man presented with sensorimotor symptoms in multiple peripheral nerves. Serological testing showed that these symptoms were due to hepatitis B. After undergoing treatment involving intravenous immunoglobulin and an antiviral agent, there was a notable improvement in his symptoms.

#### CONCLUSION

Although hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is known to affect hepatocytes, it is crucial to recognize the range of additional manifestations linked to this infection. The connection between long-term HBV infection and demyelinating neuropathy has seldom been documented; hence, prompt diagnostic and treatment are essential. The patient's positive reaction to immunoglobulin seems to be associated with production of the antigen-antibody immune complex.

Key Words: Hepatitis B virus infection; Extrahepatic manifestations; Demyelinating neuropathy; Intravenous immunoglobulin; Electroneuromyography; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** We report an exceptional case of demyelinating neuropathy in an individual with hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, emphasizing the importance for clinicians to consistently take this into account when making a diagnosis. The underlying disease process and mechanisms of peripheral neuropathy following HBV infection are still unknown. The patient's favorable reaction to immunoglobulin suggests the potential of long-term immune-induced neuropathy.

Citation: Yan XX, Huang J, Lin J. Demyelinating neuropathy in patients with hepatitis B virus: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1766-1771

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1766.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1766

# INTRODUCTION

In 2015, the World Health Organization estimated that there were approximately 257 million individuals suffering from chronic hepatitis B (CHB), a liver disease characterized by long-term inflammation, due to continuous infection with the hepatitis B virus (HBV)[1]. The Western Pacific and African regions accounted for 68% of these individuals. Approximately 650000 individuals across the globe succumb annually due to CHB-related complications, including cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma[2,3]. Currently, there are around 70 million individuals in China who have contracted HBV, and approximately 20 to 30 million of them are CHB patients[3], which poses a significant burden on both the families of these patients and the society as a whole. Extrahepatic manifestations, such as serum sickness-like syndrome, polyarthritis, polyarteritis nodosa (PAN), glomerulonephritis, cryoglobulinemia, and various neurological disorders, are occasionally observed in addition to the common manifestations of the affected liver, such as icteric hepatitis, ascites, cirrhosis, and liver cancer<sup>[4]</sup>. In this article, we describe an elderly gentleman who exhibited demyelinating neuropathy as the initial indication of HBV infection. Treatment with antiviral therapy and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) led to a remarkable recovery. It is important to consider the potential for HBV infection in cases of demyelinating neuropathy, despite its low occurrence rate of 0.04%[5].

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A previously healthy 64-year-old man was referred the Department of Neurology at our hospital after presenting with numbness and weakness five months previously.

#### History of present illness

The patient initially noticed numbress in the lower legs and on the ventral side of the fingertips that gradually progressed upwards to the wrists and ankles on both sides. In addition to numbness, he also experienced soreness and swelling of the muscles. He attended the local hospital for treatment and underwent cervical and lumbar magnetic resonance imaging, which revealed normal cervical and lumbar spine parameters. He was given methyl cobalamin tablets, but this treatment was ineffective. One month ago, he felt weak and was no longer able to walk independently. In the previous week, the patient began to experience nocturnal lower limb twitching, which occurred several times each night.

#### History of past illness

The patient had no previous medical history.

#### Personal and family history

The patient had no related family history.

#### Physical examination

During the neurological examination, it was observed that the proximal muscle strength was 4/5 and distal muscle strength was 4/5 in the limbs. Additionally, his muscle tone was low and the bilateral brachial biceps, triceps, knee, and Achilles tendon reflexes were all decreased. The distal limbs showed the greatest decrease in temperature and pain perception, and both lower limbs exhibited a negative Babinski sign. No evidence of altered consciousness, linguistic impairment, or cranial nerve paralysis was present.

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory findings revealed normal routine blood counts, liver function, kidney function, and blood sugar. The level of Vitamin B12 was within the normal range. An increase of 4 mm/h in erythrocyte sedimentation rate was noted. There was no evidence of anti-nuclear, anti-DNA, anti-Ro antibody, anti-La antibody, or anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies



(ANCAs), which include proteinase 3 (PR3)-ANCAs and myeloperoxidase (MPO)-ANCAs, and there were no detectable serum cryoglobulins. Immunoelectrophoretic results were negative. Urine levels were as follows:  $\kappa$  light chain < 7.28 mg/ L,  $\lambda$  light chain < 4.00 mg/L, and  $\kappa/\lambda$  light chain ratio 1.82. Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), hepatitis B core antibody, and hepatitis B e antibody were positive. Test results for hepatitis B surface antibody (HBsAb) and envelope antigen (HBeAg) were negative. Blood HBV DNA level was 6.14E+02 IU/mL. According to cerebrospinal fluid analysis, white blood cell concentration was  $2 \times 10^{\circ}/L$ , red blood cell concentration was  $0 \times 10^{\circ}/L$ , glucose concentration was 3.61mmol/L, and protein concentration was 465.78 mg/L. The patient did not have antibodies against human immunodeficiency virus, rubella virus, Campylobacter jejuni, Treponema pallidum, Epstein-Barr virus, herpes simplex virus, and ganglioside (GD1a, GQ1b, GM1, and GM2).

#### Imaging examinations

The patient underwent brain and whole spine magnetic resonance imaging, and no abnormalities were found.

# MULTIDISCIPLINARY EXPERT CONSULTATION

The patient was further evaluated via electroneuromyography, which revealed multiple peripheral neuropathies, suggesting the occurrence of motor and sensory demyelination (Table 1). We suggested that he undergo muscle biopsy for a clear diagnosis, but unfortunately, he refused.

# FINAL DIAGNOSIS

Suspected demyelinating neuropathy related to HBV based on the above findings.

# TREATMENT

Following the diagnosis of demyelinating neuropathy related to hepatitis B, our initial course of action was to administer lamivudine. To prevent persistence and replication of the virus, the IVIG dose of 400 mg/kg was given for 5 d, as corticosteroid treatment may encourage these processes.

# **OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP**

The patient's weakness and numbness improved three weeks after treatment.

# DISCUSSION

Around 20% of individuals infected with HBV display extrahepatic symptoms, with 5% experiencing neurological conditions such as peripheral neuropathy and myopathy[6]. In acute or chronic hepatitis, especially when peripheral nerve damage occurs in the advanced stage, after excluding other causes of peripheral nerve damage caused mainly by demyelination, the remaining conditions are classified as hepatic neuropathy. Chronic hepatitis is accompanied by peripheral neuropathy, and the main manifestations are abnormal sensation, weakness, significant decline or disappearance of the tendon reflex, and muscle atrophy. In addition, unilateral or bilateral nerves may be involved, and sphincter dysfunction and meningeal stimulation signs can also appear. There have been reports of different forms of peripheral neuropathy related to HBV, including Guillain-Barré syndrome; PAN; non-PAN vasculitis neuropathy; and chronic neuropathy syndromes, such as chronic polyneuropathy/polyradiculoneuropathy, mononeuritis multiplex, and chronic relapsing demyelinating polyneuropathy [6]. Distinct clinical and pathogenic variances exist among the various genotypes of HBV, potentially leading to diverse clinical presentations, treatment responses, and long-term prognoses based on the viral genotype/subtype. Clinical variations between subcategories and genetic types at different levels of extrahepatic manifestation are becoming more apparent, as indicated by growing evidence<sup>[7]</sup>. Guillain-Barré syndrome is the most common peripheral neuropathy associated with this viral disease [8,9]. Other polyneuropathies have been reported in CHB, although they are less common than Guillain-Barré syndrome. Multiple peripheral mononeuropathies are even rarer than previously mentioned [9]. Tsukada et al[10] reported the initial instance of demyelinating polyneuropathy with HBV in 1987. Subsequently, there have been occasional observations of individuals experiencing peripheral neuropathy, along with increased transaminase levels and liver enlargement. In 2017, Lupescu and Dulamea documented the case of a 57-year-old female who exhibited improvement in both clinical and electromyographic aspects of her demyelinating polyneuropathy following steroid, IVIG and antiviral treatments[11]. Demyelinating neuropathy is a prevalent characteristic often observed in various conditions including leprosy, diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (also referred to as connective tissue disorders), sarcoidosis, primary systemic vasculitis, and paraneoplastic syndromes<sup>[12]</sup>. In our patient, chronic multiple demyelinating peripheral neuropathies were the first



Table 1 Nerve conduction study on admission					
	Latency (ms)	Amplitude (mv)	Conduction velocity (m/s)		
R-Ulnar nerve (m)					
Wrist - ADM	3.65	7.3			
Bl. elbow – wrist	9.38	6.4	33.5		
Ab. elbow – Bl elbow	10.7	5.9	78		
R-Median (m)					
Wrist – APB	3.92	5.2			
Elbow - Wrist	12	4.8	33.4		
R-Tibial (m)					
Ankle – Abd hal	5.9	4.9			
Popliteal fossa - Ankle	17.1	3.0	32.9		
R-Peroneal (m)					
Ankle – EDB	7.22	3.3			
Bl. Fib. head – Ankle	18.2	2.5	24.8		
Ab. Fib. head - Bl. Fib. head	20.3	2.5	45.2		
R-Ulnar nerve (s)					
Wrist – Digit V	2.15	4.7	48.8		
Median (s)					
Wrist – Digit II	2.37	18.1	48.5		
Superficial peroneal (s)					
Lower leg – Ankle	2.14	6.1	51.4		
Sural (s)					
Mid lower leg - Lat alleolus	2.42	6.2	42.1		

Ab: Above; Abd hal: Abductor halluces; ADM: Abductor digiti minimi; APB: Abductor pollicis brevis; Bl: Below; EDB: Extensor digitorum brevis; m: Motor study; s: Sensory study.

manifestation of hepatitis B. Hence, it is crucial to emphasize the significance of conducting a thorough assessment of the patient's epidemiological background, liver function, and serological examinations to detect potential HBV infection in individuals suffering from unidentified peripheral neuropathy. Moreover, the patient's liver function was normal, and the degree of neurological damage was inconsistent with the degree of liver function damage. None of the reported cases have exhibited disease exacerbation or severity of demyelinating neuropathy that correlated precisely with the HBV load [12]. The exact cause of demyelinating neuropathy in individuals with HBV infection remains unclear. Studies in this area suggest that the lesion results from the action of the virus itself on nerve fibers or perhaps from deposits of immune complexes on the vasa nervorum of the nerves, leading to vasculitis and consequent ischemia of the nerve fibers[13-15]. Replication of the virus or deposition of immune complexes directly injures the blood vessels, leading to vasculitis. Activation of the complement system initiates inflammation that later leads to endothelial damage. PAN, a condition that primarily affects medium-sized arteries and causes tissue death, is responsible for the majority of fatalities in patients. Significant evidence from the 1970s has demonstrated a robust correlation between the presence of HBV infection and the occurrence of PAN[16]. Testing positive for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg+) can result in vasculitis, commonly appearing as PAN, which often occurs early in the progression of the illness and might be the initial sign of HBV infection. When linked with chronic active Hepatitis B, there is a reasonably prevalent association with demyelinating neuropathy and PAN. Our patient exhibited signs of chronic active Hepatitis B and multifocal sensorimotor mononeuropathy, a condition similar to vasculitis neuropathies such as PAN. The immediate effect of the virus on nerve fibers or the build-up of HBsAg and HBeAg immune complexes on the vasa nervorum may induce neuron damage related to the immune response, and could potentially lead to peripheral neuropathies[17]. Unfortunately, this patient refused muscle biopsy; however, the improvement in his symptoms following immunosuppressive therapy seems to suggest an immune-related pathogenesis. Furthermore, some studies suggest that antiviral medications such as interferon- $\alpha$ 2b, lamivudine, or a combination of these substances exhibit efficacy in the treatment of HBV-related demyelinating neuropathy[18]. Scholars recently disclosed the effectiveness of brief corticosteroid treatment, succeeded by lamivudine and plasma exchange, for demyelinating neuropathy associated with hepatitis B[15,19]. In our study, we

successfully treated patients with immunoglobulin by inhibiting HBV replication with lamivudine without exacerbating liver dysfunction. This approach can help patients avoid the confusion of using corticosteroids in the acute stage of hepatitis, while immunomodulatory therapy should be administered to accumulate clinical experience.

# CONCLUSION

Patients infected with HBV display demyelinating neuropathy as described in our patient. The fundamental disease process and functioning of peripheral neuropathy after HBV infection remain unclear. Additionally, the positive effect of immunoglobulin suggests the potential existence of chronic neuropathy triggered by the immune system.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yan XX managed the patient and wrote the manuscript; Huang J participated in data collection and revised the manuscript; Lin J was responsible for clinical management of the patient, and drafted and edited the manuscript; all the authors thoroughly reviewed and gave their approval for the final version of the manuscript.

Informed consent statement: The study participant provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Xiao-Xiao Yan 0009-0005-7442-8581; Jin Huang 0009-0009-0518-4527; Jing Lin 0009-0002-5871-8544.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Zhao S

# REFERENCES

Liu J, Liang W, Jing W, Liu M. Countdown to 2030: eliminating hepatitis B disease, China. Bull World Health Organ 2019; 97: 230-238 1 [PMID: 30992636 DOI: 10.2471/BLT.18.219469]

- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, 2 Anderson LM, Andrews KG, Atkinson C, Baddour LM, Barker-Collo S, Bartels DH, Bell ML, Benjamin EJ, Bennett D, Bhalla K, Bikbov B, Bin Abdulhak A, Birbeck G, Blyth F, Bolliger I, Boufous S, Bucello C, Burch M, Burney P, Carapetis J, Chen H, Chou D, Chugh SS, Coffeng LE, Colan SD, Colquhoun S, Colson KE, Condon J, Connor MD, Cooper LT, Corriere M, Cortinovis M, de Vaccaro KC, Couser W, Cowie BC, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahodwala N, De Leo D, Degenhardt L, Delossantos A, Denenberg J, Des Jarlais DC, Dharmaratne SD, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Duber H, Ebel B, Erwin PJ, Espindola P, Ezzati M, Feigin V, Flaxman AD, Forouzanfar MH, Fowkes FG, Franklin R, Fransen M, Freeman MK, Gabriel SE, Gakidou E, Gaspari F, Gillum RF, Gonzalez-Medina D, Halasa YA, Haring D, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Hoen B, Hotez PJ, Hoy D, Jacobsen KH, James SL, Jasrasaria R, Jayaraman S, Johns N, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Keren A, Khoo JP, Knowlton LM, Kobusingye O, Koranteng A, Krishnamurthi R, Lipnick M, Lipshultz SE, Ohno SL, Mabweijano J, MacIntyre MF, Mallinger L, March L, Marks GB, Marks R, Matsumori A, Matzopoulos R, Mayosi BM, McAnulty JH, McDermott MM, McGrath J, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Michaud C, Miller M, Miller TR, Mock C, Mocumbi AO, Mokdad AA, Moran A, Mulholland K, Nair MN, Naldi L, Narayan KM, Nasseri K, Norman P, O'Donnell M, Omer SB, Ortblad K, Osborne R, Ozgediz D, Pahari B, Pandian JD, Rivero AP, Padilla RP, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Phillips D, Pierce K, Pope CA 3rd, Porrini E, Pourmalek F, Raju M, Ranganathan D, Rehm JT, Rein DB, Remuzzi G, Rivara FP, Roberts T, De León FR, Rosenfeld LC, Rushton L, Sacco RL, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanman E, Schwebel DC, Segui-Gomez M, Shepard DS, Singh D, Singleton J, Sliwa K, Smith E, Steer A, Taylor JA, Thomas B, Tleyjeh IM, Towbin JA, Truelsen T, Undurraga EA, Venketasubramanian N, Vijayakumar L, Vos T, Wagner GR, Wang M, Wang W, Watt K, Weinstock MA, Weintraub R, Wilkinson JD, Woolf AD, Wulf S, Yeh PH, Yip P, Zabetian A, Zheng ZJ, Lopez AD, Murray CJ, AlMazroa MA, Memish ZA. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012; 380: 2095-2128 [PMID: 23245604 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0]
- Liu J, Zhang S, Wang Q, Shen H, Zhang M, Zhang Y, Yan D, Liu M. Seroepidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection in 2 million men aged 3 21-49 years in rural China: a population-based, cross-sectional study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016; 16: 80-86 [PMID: 26268687 DOI: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00218-2]
- 4 Kappus MR, Sterling RK. Extrahepatic manifestations of acute hepatitis B virus infection. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2013; 9: 123-126

[PMID: 23983659]

- Pelletier G, Elghozi D, Trépo C, Laverdant C, Benhamou JP. Mononeuritis in acute viral hepatitis. Digestion 1985; 32: 53-56 [PMID: 4018445 5 DOI: 10.1159/000199217]
- Stübgen JP. Neuromuscular disorders associated with hepatitis B virus infection. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis 2011; 13: 26-37 [PMID: 22361623 6 DOI: 10.1097/CND.0b013e3181df2b2b]
- Baig S, Alamgir M. The extrahepatic manifestations of hepatitis B virus. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2008; 18: 451-457 [PMID: 18760074] 7
- 8 Berger JR, Ayyar R, Sheremata WA. Guillain-Barré syndrome complicating acute hepatitis B. A case with detailed electrophysiological and immunological studies. Arch Neurol 1981; 38: 366-368 [PMID: 7236066 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.1981.00510060068011]
- Luth S, Birklein F, Schramm C, Herkel J, Hennes E, Muller-Forell W, Galle PR, Lohse AW. Multiplex neuritis in a patient with autoimmune 9 hepatitis: a case report. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 5396-5398 [PMID: 16981276 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i33.5396]
- Tsukada N, Koh CS, Inoue A, Yanagisawa N. Demyelinating neuropathy associated with hepatitis B virus infection. Detection of immune 10 complexes composed of hepatitis B virus surface antigen. J Neurol Sci 1987; 77: 203-216 [PMID: 3029335 DOI: 10.1016/0022-510x(87)90123-7]
- 11 Lupescu IC, Dulamea AO. Predominant Upper Limb Chronic Demyelinating Polyneuropathy Associated with HBV Infection. Maedica (Bucur) 2017; 12: 286-288 [PMID: 29610592]
- Chroni E, Thomopoulos C, Papapetropoulos S, Paschalis C, Karatza CL. A case of relapsing Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with 12 exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B virus hepatitis. J Neurovirol 2003; 9: 408-410 [PMID: 12775424 DOI: 10.1080/13550280390201731]
- Janssen HL, van Zonneveld M, van Nunen AB, Niesters HG, Schalm SW, de Man RA. Polyarteritis nodosa associated with hepatitis B virus 13 infection. The role of antiviral treatment and mutations in the hepatitis B virus genome. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004; 16: 801-807 [PMID: 15256984 DOI: 10.1097/01.meg.0000108362.41221.57]
- Guillevin L. Treatment of polyarteritis nodosa and Churg-Strauss angiitis: indications of plasma exchange. Results of three prospective trials in 14 162 patients. The Cooperative Study Group for the Study of Polyarteritis Nodosa. Prog Clin Biol Res 1990; 337: 309-317 [PMID: 1972283]
- Takeshita S, Nakamura H, Kawakami A, Fukushima T, Gotoh T, Ichikawa T, Tsujino A, Ida H, Toriyama K, Hayashi T, Eguchi K. Hepatitis 15 B-related polyarteritis nodosa presenting necrotizing vasculitis in the hepatobiliary system successfully treated with lamivudine, plasmapheresis and glucocorticoid. Intern Med 2006; 45: 145-149 [PMID: 16508228 DOI: 10.2169/internalmedicine.45.1460]
- Gocke DJ, Hsu K, Morgan C, Bombardieri S, Lockshin M, Christian CL. Association between polyarteritis and Australia antigen. Lancet 16 1970; 2: 1149-1153 [PMID: 4098431 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(70)90339-9]
- Nam TS, Lee SH, Park MS, Choi KH, Kim JT, Choi SM, Kim BC, Kim MK, Cho KH. Mononeuropathy multiplex in a patient with chronic 17 active hepatitis B. J Clin Neurol 2010; 6: 156-158 [PMID: 20944818 DOI: 10.3988/jcn.2010.6.3.156]
- Erhardt A, Sagir A, Guillevin L, Neuen-Jacob E, Häussinger D. Successful treatment of hepatitis B virus associated polyarteritis nodosa with 18 a combination of prednisolone, alpha-interferon and lamivudine. J Hepatol 2000; 33: 677-683 [PMID: 11059878 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-0641.2000.033004677.x
- Guillevin L, Mahr A, Cohen P, Larroche C, Queyrel V, Loustaud-Ratti V, Imbert B, Hausfater P, Roudier J, Bielefeld P, Petitjean P, Smadja 19 D; French Vasculitis Study Group. Short-term corticosteroids then lamivudine and plasma exchanges to treat hepatitis B virus-related polyarteritis nodosa. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 51: 482-487 [PMID: 15188337 DOI: 10.1002/art.20401]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1772-1777

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1772

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Successful treatment of Purpureocillium lilacinum pulmonary infection with isavuconazole: A case report

Xue-Lin Yang, Jun-Yu Zhang, Jian-Min Ren

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Akhoundi N, United States; Shariati MBH, Iran

Received: October 16, 2023 Peer-review started: October 16, 2023

First decision: January 24, 2024 Revised: February 5, 2024 Accepted: March 18, 2024 Article in press: March 18, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Xue-Lin Yang, Department of Emergency Medicine, Lishui Central Hospital, Lishui 323000, Zhejiang Province, China

Jun-Yu Zhang, Department of Hematology, Lishui Central Hospital, Lishui 323000, Zhejiang Province, China

Jian-Min Ren, Department of Clinical Laboratory, The Fifth Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Lishui 323000, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Jun-Yu Zhang, MD, MM, Associate Chief Physician, Chief Doctor, Department of Hematology, Lishui Central Hospital, No. 289 Kuocang Road, Lishui 323000, Zhejiang Province, China. zhangjunyu815@163.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Purpureocillium lilacinum (P. lilacinum) is a saprophytic fungus widespread in soil and vegetation. As a causative agent, it is very rarely detected in humans, most commonly in the skin.

#### CASE SUMMARY

In this article, we reported the case of a 72-year-old patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia who was admitted with cough and fever. Computed tomography revealed an infection in the right lower lobe. Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid culture and metagenomic next-generation sequencing were ultimately confirmed to have a pulmonary infection with P. lilacinum. She was eventually discharged with good outcomes after treatment with isavuconazole.

#### CONCLUSION

Pulmonary infection with P. lilacinum was exceedingly rare. While currently there are no definitive therapeutic agents, there are reports of high resistance to amphotericin B and fluconazole and good sensitivity to second-generation triazoles. The present report is the first known use of isavuconazole for pulmonary P. lilacinum infection. It provides new evidence for the characterization and treatment of clinical P. lilacinum lung infections.

Key Words: Purpureocillium lilacinum; Pulmonary infection; Isavuconazole; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Pulmonary infection caused by Purpureocillium lilacinum (P. lilacinum) is exceedingly rare, with uncharacteristic clinical symptoms, signs, and imaging findings. In this case, we reported an older woman with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, long-standing ibrutinib, poor immune function, and fever and cough was admitted to a hematologic department. The patient was diagnosed with P. lilacinum pulmonary infection based on bronchoalveolar lavage fluid culture and metagenomic next-generation sequencing. Conventional antifungal agents often have inherent resistance. Isavuconazole was found to have good safety and efficacy. This is the first known use of isavuconazole for pulmonary P. lilacinum infection. After treatment with isavuconazole, the clinical symptoms of cough and fever improved, and the patient was discharged from the hospital.

Citation: Yang XL, Zhang JY, Ren JM. Successful treatment of Purpureocillium lilacinum pulmonary infection with isavuconazole: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1772-1777 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1772.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1772

# INTRODUCTION

Purpureocillium lilacinum (P. lilacinum) is a saprophytic fungus widely found in soil and vegetation and a common contaminant detected in laboratories and instruments. In 1977, Takayasu et al[1] first reported that P. lilacinum causes skin infections in humans[1]. However, since then, only a few sporadic cases of infection have been reported worldwide. These cases were found in both immunocompetent and immunocompromised populations, most commonly in the skin but exceedingly rarely in the lungs<sup>[2,3]</sup>. While there are no standardized treatments for *P. lilacinum* infection, there are reports of high resistance to amphotericin B and fluconazole and good sensitivity to second-generation triazoles[4,5]. Herein, we reported a case of pulmonary infection caused by P. lilacinum successfully treated with isavuconazole, and reviewed the relevant literature.

# **CASE PRESENTATION**

#### Chief complaints

A 72-year-old female with fever and chest tightness coughing sputum for 1 month presented at our emergency department.

#### History of present illness

The patient had no history of present illness.

#### History of past illness

She had an 11-month history of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and was treated with long-term, regular ibrutinib antitumor therapy.

#### Personal and family history

The patient had no notable personal or family history.

#### Physical examination

Her physical examination was as follows: Clear consciousness, blood pressure 112/63 mmHg (14.896/8.379 kPa), respiratory rate 24/min, heart rate 102/min, body temperature 38.2 °C, fingertip oxygen saturation 98%, and moist rales in the right lung.

#### Laboratory examinations

White blood cell  $10.6 \times 10^{\circ}/L$  (Normal range:  $3.5 \times 10^{\circ}/L$  to  $9.5 \times 10^{\circ}/L$ ), neutrophils percentage 70.2% (Normal range: 40% to 75%), hemoglobin 98 g/L (Normal range: 115 g/L to 150 g/L), platelets  $310 \times 10^{\circ}/L$  (Normal range:  $125 \times 10^{\circ}/L$  to  $350 \times 10^9$ /L), and C-reactive protein 67 mg/L (Normal range: 0 mg/L to 8 mg/L). Procalcitonin 0.35 ng/mL (Normal range: 0 ng/mL to 0.05 ng/mL). Fungal D-glucan, galactomannan test and aspergillus IgG antibodies were all normal.

#### Imaging examinations

Computed tomography (CT) revealed an infection in the right lower lobe (Figure 1A and B).

#### Additional diagnostic work-up

After admission to the hospital, the patient was given oxygen, and because her etiology was unknown, we administered empiric cefoperazone-sulbactam for anti-infection. Three d post-treatment, the patient remained feverish and chest





**Figure 1 Chest computed tomography on admission and post-treatment.** A: Pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at admission [axial thorax computed tomography (CT) view); B: Mass consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at admission (coronal thorax CT view); C: Lesion reduction in pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe after 2 wk of isavuconazole treatment (axial thorax CT view); D: Lesion reduction in pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe after 2 wk of isavuconazole treatment (coronal thorax CT view); E: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view); F: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view); F: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view); F: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view); F: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view); F: Significant absorption of pulmonary consolidation in the posterior segment of the right lower lobe at 6 wk of discharge (axial thorax CT view).

tightness remained unresolved. Bronchoscopy was performed to identify the causative agent. On day 7, the colonies were approximately 3.0 cm in diameter, and the purplish colony were concentric (Figure 2A and B). Microscopic examination of the microbiota was performed, and clear, colorless, branching hyphae were observed, and the spores were infarct (Figure 2C). *P. lilacinum* was identified by the Vitek<sup>®</sup> MS Full Automated Rapid Microbiota Spectrometry System with a confidence interval of 99.9%. *In vitro* drug susceptibility for *P. lilacinum* was as follows: Amphotericin B = 8 µg/mL, fluconazole = 1 µg/mL, voriconazole = 1 µg/mL, and isavuconazolezole = 1 µg/mL. A sample of 1.5-3 mL of bronchoal-veolar lavage fluid (BALF) from the patient was submitted for metagenomic next-generation sequencing (mNGS) analysis, which showed 100% homology with ATCC10114 (AY213665.1) from the GenBank database, and was classified as *P. lilacinum*.

# **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The patient was diagnosed with *P. lilacinum* pulmonary infection and chronic lymphocytic leukemia based on medical history, physical examination, laboratory tests, imaging, BALF culture, and mNGS.

Raisbidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Culture and microscopic examination of the microorganisms. A: Salmonella glucose agar, 28 °C, culture for 7 d, the purplish colony were concentric on the front; B: Yellowish-pale colonies on the back; C: Colorless hyaline branching filaments were observed under light microscopy, and the spores were erect, with a broomy tip and a cone-shaped, fine bony tip at the base of the flask. The spores were mainly oval or near-spherical in shape, and the chains were cylindrical or discrete.

# TREATMENT

Based on pathogenic studies and in vitro drug sensitivity, we used voriconazole 200 mg tablets every 12 h for antifungal therapy. After 3 d, the patient presented with hallucinations and involuntary tremors of the hands and feet, which were considered adverse events associated with voriconazole. The patient stopped using voriconazole and was given isavuconazole tablets (200 mg every 8 h for the first 48 h, 200 mg once daily after 48 h) followed by antifungal therapy. The hallucinations and tremors of the hands and feet disappeared after 12 h of voriconazole. After 72 h of administration, her body temperature returned to normal, and cough and chest tightness improved after 1 wk.

# **OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP**

The patient was discharged from the hospital on day 14, continuing to take isavuconazole for 3 wk, during which time she experienced no significant adverse effects. At one week after discharge, re-examination using chest CT revealed reduced lung lesions (Figure 1C and D). At 6 wk after discharge, chest CT was performed again, and the pulmonary lesions were essentially absorbed (Figure 1E and F).

#### DISCUSSION

P. lilacinum is a fungus found in a wide range of habitats. In 1974, Samson classified it as a penicillium-like genus based on the characteristic cone-shaped distortion of the top of the flask[6]. Cultural identification of P. lilacinum is based on its pale-violet colony color and characteristic flask morphology, and genetic sequencing of the strain may provide a more accurate identification method for clinicians[7]. P. lilacinum is rarely found in humans and is generally not considered a pathogenic mold. However, sporadic cases have been reported worldwide since 1977, when it was first described as a skin infection. It predominantly presents as a skin infection, posing the highest threat for immunocompromised patients. Sprute *et al*[8] analyzed 101 cases of invasive *P. lilacinum* infection, found that the youngest patient was 31, and the oldest was 64; male accounted for 61.1%; 31 cases (30.7%) with hematologic and neoplastic disease, 27 (26.7%) with steroid therapy, 26 (25.7%) with solid organ transplantation, and 19 (18.8%) with diabetes mellitus, with the skin being the most common site of infection (36.6%); fever, cough, and dyspnoea were the most common clinical symptoms of pulmonary infection; overall mortality was 21.8%[8].

In the present case, an older woman with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, long-standing ibrutinib, poor immune function, and fever and cough was admitted to a hematologic department and initially considered to be infected with bacteria. She was injected with cefoperazone-sulbactam as an anti-infection therapy, with no good effect.

Identifying P. lilacinum is challenging, and its histomorphology is very similar to that of Aspergillus and other hyalurocephalus pathogens[9]. There are no characteristic imaging findings. In chest CT, nodular infiltrates and cavitary lesions were common findings[8]. In our case, there was a probability of progression from pulmonary consolidation to cavitary lesions without any treatment. To further identify the causative organisms, we cultured BALF on the medium for 7 d, observed the growth of a violet-colored colony on the dishes, and observed the microscopically characteristic infarct morphology of the bottle. Microbiome profiling and BALF mNGS further identified P. lilacinum, which provided laboratory evidence for diagnosing the pathogen.

There are only a few clinical cases of *P. lilacinum*, so no standard antifungal regimens exist[10]. Aguilar *et al*[11] showed early on that amphotericin B, miconazole, itraconazole, fluconazole, and flucytosine are less active against penicillium [11]. González performed in vitro drug susceptibility assays on 22 strains of Aspergillus pallidus, revealing that isavuconazole had a minimum inhibitory concentration of 0.2 to  $2 \mu g/mL$ , amphotericin B 4 to 16  $\mu g/mL$ , itraconazole 1 to 16 µg/mL, fluxonazole 16 to 64 µg/mL, voriconazole 0.5 to 4 µg/mL, posaconazole 0.5 to 2 µg/mL, and ravuconazole



Diskidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Yang XL et al. Isavuconazole treated Purpureocillium lilacinum pulmonary infection

0.25 to 2 µg/mL[12]. By analyzing clinical isolates of infected cases, Sprute et al[8] showed high resistance to amphotericin B and excellent in vitro activity against second-generation triazole[8]. In this case, we also performed in vitro drug susceptibility assays on isolates showing poor antifungal activity of amphotericin B and fluconazole, and excellent antifungal activity of voriconazole and isavuconazole, which is consistent with the previous literature. Our patient was administered voriconazole tablets, but on day 3 she developed hallucinations and involuntary tremors of the hands and feet, so the treatment was stopped. Isavuconazole is a second-generation triazole antifungal approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration in 2015 for treating invasive aspergillosis and mold diseases. It inhibits cytochrome woolly steroid 14 alpha-demethylation enzyme (CYP51), disrupts the structure and function of the fungal cell membrane by blocking the synthesis of ergosterol on the fungal cell membrane, has a higher affinity for fungal side chain CYP51 protein in its structural molecules, has a broad antifungal spectrum, and includes fungi resistant to other triazole antifungals<sup>[13]</sup>. In their study, Maertens et al[14] conducted an international multicenter, randomized, double-blind, phase III Secure clinical trial involving patients with a clinical diagnosis of invasive mold disease who were initially treated with isavuconazole and voriconazole, finding similar overall response rates (P > 0.05), with adverse drug reaction rates of 42% and 60%, respectively (P < 0.001), and lower visual, psychiatric, and liver toxicity associated with isavuconazole than with voriconazole[14]. In the vital study, Thompson et al[15] found that 38 patients with rare fungal diseases (including cryptococcosis, 9 cases of paracoccosis, 9 cases of coccidiosis, 7 cases of histoplasmosis, and 3 cases of blastomycosis) were treated with isavuconazole, with an overall response rate of 63.2% and stable disease progression in 21.1%, suggesting that isavuconazole is also an effective drug for rare invasive fungal diseases[15]. Moreover, compared with posaconazole, isavuconazole has a cost-effective option for treating invasive mold diseases in high-risk hematological patients[16]. We could identify only one case of a cutaneous infection caused by P. lilacinum used to treat a patient who was successfully cured by PubMed[17]. Huang et al[18] conducted a pharmacokinetic study of intravenous isavuconazole in healthy subjects, finding that lung tissue/plasma concentration was 1.438[18]. Caballero-Bermejo et al[19] found that isavuconazole was a drug with a tolerable safety profile that achieved adequate concentrations in the lung<sup>[19]</sup>. The bioavailability of isavuconazole tablets was 98%. Therefore, we switched to oral isavuconazole to continue antifungal therapy. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first known use of isavuconazole for pulmonary P. lilacinum infection.

After 12 h of voriconazole discontinuation, the patient's hallucinations and autonomic tremor disappeared, further confirming voriconazole-associated adverse effects. After 1 wk of treatment with isavuconazole, the clinical symptoms of cough and fever improved, and the patient was discharged from the hospital on day 14, continuing to take isavuconazole for 3 wk, during which time she experienced no significant adverse effects. At 6 wk after discharge, chest CT was performed again, and the pulmonary lesions were essentially absorbed.

# CONCLUSION

Pulmonary infection caused by *P. lilacinum* is exceedingly rare, with uncharacteristic clinical symptoms, signs, and imaging findings. Pathogenic detection is complex, and conventional antifungal agents often have inherent resistance. In our patient infected with *P. lilacinum*, isavuconazole was found to have good safety and efficacy, but due to the small number of patients, more studies are needed to determine the optimal treatment strategy.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhang JY conceived and designed the experiments, was responsible for the revision of the manuscript for important content; Yang XL collected information of case and drafted the manuscript; Ren JM performed the microbiological analyses. All authors critically reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: The patient has given us written informed consent for publication as a case report.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Xue-Lin Yang 0009-0002-0384-3997; Jun-Yu Zhang 0000-0002-1013-8172; Jian-Min Ren 0000-0001-6005-0374.

S-Editor: Liu H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S



# REFERENCES

- 1 Takayasu S, Akagi M, Shimizu Y. Cutaneous mycosis caused by Paecilomyces lilacinus. Arch Dermatol 1977; 113: 1687-1690 [PMID: 563706 DOI: 10.1001/archderm.1977.01640120055008]
- Salazar-González MA, Violante-Cumpa JR, Alfaro-Rivera CG, Villanueva-Lozano H, Treviño-Rangel RJ, González GM. Purpureocillium 2 lilacinum as unusual cause of pulmonary infection in immunocompromised hosts. J Infect Dev Ctries 2020; 14: 415-419 [PMID: 32379722] DOI: 10.3855/jidc.12235]
- 3 McGeachie DL, Boyce AE, Miller RM. Recurrent cutaneous hyalohyphomycosis secondary to Purpureocillium lilacinum in an immunocompetent individual. Australas J Dermatol 2021; 62: e411-e413 [PMID: 34170516 DOI: 10.1111/ajd.13657]
- 4 Lu KL, Wang YH, Ting SW, Sun PL. Cutaneous infection caused by Purpureocillium lilacinum: Case reports and literature review of infections by Purpureocillium and Paecilomyces in Taiwan. J Dermatol 2023; 50: 1088-1092 [PMID: 37082787 DOI: 10.1111/1346-8138.16806]
- 5 Albert R, Lemaignen A, Desoubeaux G, Bailly E, Bernard L, Lacasse M. Chronic subcutaneous infection of Purpureocillium lilacinum in an immunocompromised patient: Case report and review of the literature. Med Mycol Case Rep 2022; 38: 5-8 [PMID: 36147049 DOI: 10.1016/j.mmcr.2022.08.001]
- 6 Samson R. Paecilomyces and some allied hyphomycetes. Stud Mycol 1974; 6: 58-62
- Wang Y, Bao F, Lu X, Liu H, Zhang F. Case Report: Cutaneous Mycosis Caused by Purpureocillium lilacinum. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2023; 7 108: 693-695 [PMID: 36806492 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.22-0608]
- Sprute R, Salmanton-García J, Sal E, Malaj X, Ráčil Z, Ruiz de Alegría Puig C, Falces-Romero I, Barać A, Desoubeaux G, Kindo AJ, Morris 8 AJ, Pelletier R, Steinmann J, Thompson GR, Cornely OA, Seidel D, Stemler J; FungiScope® ECMM/ISHAM Working Group. Invasive infections with Purpureocillium lilacinum: clinical characteristics and outcome of 101 cases from FungiScope® and the literature. J Antimicrob Chemother 2021; 76: 1593-1603 [PMID: 33599275 DOI: 10.1093/jac/dkab039]
- 9 Khan Z, Ahmad S, Al-Ghimlas F, Al-Mutairi S, Joseph L, Chandy R, Sutton DA, Guarro J. Purpureocillium lilacinum as a cause of cavitary pulmonary disease: a new clinical presentation and observations on atypical morphologic characteristics of the isolate. J Clin Microbiol 2012; 50: 1800-1804 [PMID: 22322350 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.00150-12]
- Corrêa-Moreira D, de Lima Neto RG, da Costa GL, de Moraes Borba C, Oliveira MME. Purpureocillium lilacinum an emergent pathogen: 10 antifungal susceptibility of environmental and clinical strains. Lett Appl Microbiol 2022; 75: 45-50 [PMID: 35342967 DOI: 10.1111/lam.13707
- 11 Aguilar C, Pujol I, Sala J, Guarro J. Antifungal susceptibilities of Paecilomyces species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1998; 42: 1601-1604 [PMID: 9660991 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.42.7.1601]
- González GM. In vitro activities of isavuconazole against opportunistic filamentous and dimorphic fungi. Med Mycol 2009; 47: 71-76 [PMID: 12 19101837 DOI: 10.1080/13693780802562969]
- Lee SO. Diagnosis and Treatment of Invasive Mold Diseases. Infect Chemother 2023; 55: 10-21 [PMID: 36603818 DOI: 13 10.3947/ic.2022.0151]
- Maertens JA, Raad II, Marr KA, Patterson TF, Kontoyiannis DP, Cornely OA, Bow EJ, Rahav G, Neofytos D, Aoun M, Baddley JW, Giladi 14 M, Heinz WJ, Herbrecht R, Hope W, Karthaus M, Lee DG, Lortholary O, Morrison VA, Oren I, Selleslag D, Shoham S, Thompson GR 3rd, Lee M, Maher RM, Schmitt-Hoffmann AH, Zeiher B, Ullmann AJ. Isavuconazole versus voriconazole for primary treatment of invasive mould disease caused by Aspergillus and other filamentous fungi (SECURE): a phase 3, randomised-controlled, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2016; **387**: 760-769 [PMID: 26684607 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01159-9]
- Thompson GR 3rd, Rendon A, Ribeiro Dos Santos R, Queiroz-Telles F, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Azie N, Maher R, Lee M, Kovanda L, 15 Engelhardt M, Vazquez JA, Cornely OA, Perfect JR. Isavuconazole Treatment of Cryptococcosis and Dimorphic Mycoses. Clin Infect Dis 2016; 63: 356-362 [PMID: 27169478 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciw305]
- Han G, Xu Q, Lv Q, Li X, Shi X. Pharmacoeconomic evaluation of isavuconazole, posaconazole, and voriconazole for the treatment of 16 invasive mold diseases in hematological patients: initial therapy prior to pathogen differential diagnosis in China. Front Public Health 2023; 11: 1292162 [PMID: 38179563 DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1292162]
- Accetta J, Powell E, Boh E, Bull L, Kadi A, Luk A. Isavuconazonium for the treatment of Purpureocillium lilacinum infection in a patient with 17 pyoderma gangrenosum. Med Mycol Case Rep 2020; 29: 18-21 [PMID: 32547913 DOI: 10.1016/j.mmcr.2020.05.006]
- Huang H, Xie H, Chaphekar N, Xu R, Venkataramanan R, Wu X. A physiologically based pharmacokinetic analysis to predict the 18 pharmacokinetics of intravenous isavuconazole in patients with or without hepatic impairment. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2023; 65 [PMID: 33619060 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.02032-20]
- 19 Caballero-Bermejo AF, Darnaude-Ximénez I, Aguilar-Pérez M, Gomez-Lopez A, Sancho-López A, López García-Gallo C, Díaz Nuevo G, Diago-Sempere E, Ruiz-Antorán B, Avendaño-Solá C, Ussetti-Gil P; PBISA01-Study Group. Bronchopulmonary penetration of isavuconazole in lung transplant recipients. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2023; 67: e0061323 [PMID: 37787528 DOI: 10.1128/aac.00613-23]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1778-1784

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1778

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Cellular angiofibroma arising from the rectocutaneous fistula in an adult: A case report

Hao-En Chen, Yu-Yang Lu, Ruei-Yu Su, Hong-Hau Wang, Chao-Yang Chen, Je-Ming Hu, Jung-Cheng Kang, Kuan-Hsun Lin, Ta-Wei Pu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Han J, China; Zhang HZ, China; Zheng L, China

Received: November 2, 2023 Peer-review started: November 2, 2023 First decision: January 15, 2024 Revised: February 3, 2024 Accepted: March 5, 2024 Article in press: March 5, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Hao-En Chen, Department of Surgery, Taichung Armed Forces General Hospital, Taichung 411, Taiwan

Hao-En Chen, Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Yu-Yang Lu, Department of Pediatrics, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Ruei-Yu Su, Department of Pathology, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 105, Taiwan

Ruei-Yu Su, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Taoyuan Armed Forces General Hospital, Taoyuan 32551, Taiwan

Hong-Hau Wang, Department of Radiology, Tri-Service General Hospital Songshan Branch, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 105, Taiwan

Chao-Yang Chen, Je-Ming Hu, Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery, Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Jung-Cheng Kang, Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery, Department of Surgery, Taiwan Adventist Hospital, Taipei 105, Taiwan

Kuan-Hsun Lin, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Ta-Wei Pu, Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery, Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital Songshan Branch, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 105, Taiwan

Corresponding author: Ta-Wei Pu, MD, Lecturer, Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery, Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital Songshan Branch, National Defense Medical Center, No. 131 Jiankang Road, Taipei 105, Taiwan. tawei0131@gmail.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Rectocutaneous fistulae are common. The infection originates within the anal glands and subsequently extends into adjacent regions, ultimately resulting in fistula development. Cellular angiofibroma (CAF), also known as an angiomy-



ofibroblastoma-like tumor, is a rare benign soft tissue neoplasm predominantly observed in the scrotum, perineum, and inguinal area in males and in the vulva in females. We describe the first documented case CAF that developed within a rectocutaneous fistula and manifested as a perineal mass.

#### CASE SUMMARY

In the outpatient setting, a 52-year-old male patient presented with a 2-year history of a growing perineal mass, accompanied by throbbing pain and minor scrotal abrasion. Physical examination revealed a soft, well-defined, non-tender mass at the left buttock that extended towards the perineum, without a visible opening. The initial assessment identified a soft tissue tumor, and the laboratory data were within normal ranges. Abdominal and pelvic computed tomography (CT) revealed swelling of the abscess cavity that was linked to a rectal cutaneous fistula, with a track-like lesion measuring 6 cm × 0.7 cm in the left perineal region and attached to the left rectum. Rectoscope examination found no significant inner orifices. A left medial gluteal incision revealed a thick-walled mass, which was excised along with the extending tract, and curettage was performed. Histopathological examination confirmed CAF diagnosis. The patient achieved total resolution during follow-up assessments and did not require additional hospitalization.

#### CONCLUSION

CT imaging supports perineal lesion diagnosis and management. Perineal angiofibromas, even with a cutaneous fistula, can be excised transperineally.

Key Words: Angiofibroma; Perineal mass; Rectocutaneous fistula; Anorectal fistula; Anal fistula; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Although uncommon, certain typical clinical conditions, such as rectal cutaneous fistulas, may manifest in complex presentations, as demonstrated in this patient. Notably, recurrence and complications such as incontinence are frequently associated with complex fistulas and incomplete mapping. Therefore, establishing a definitive diagnosis through a precise mapping of the fistula is imperative before surgical intervention. Computed tomography imaging is useful for detecting, understanding and managing perineal lesions. Perineal angiofibromas can be removed *via* transperineal excision, even if linked to a rectal cutaneous fistula. In such complex cases, a personalized and careful diagnostic approach is crucial.

Citation: Chen HE, Lu YY, Su RY, Wang HH, Chen CY, Hu JM, Kang JC, Lin KH, Pu TW. Cellular angiofibroma arising from the rectocutaneous fistula in an adult: A case report. *World J Clin Cases* 2024; 12(10): 1778-1784 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1778.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1778

# INTRODUCTION

Cellular angiofibroma (CAF), also known as an angiomyofibroblastoma (AMF)-like tumor, is a rare benign soft tissue neoplasm that is predominantly observed in the scrotum, perineum, and inguinal area in males and the vulva in females. This description was first published by Nucci *et al*[1] in 1997. Microscopically, CAFs are distinguished by small- to medium-sized vessels with hyaline fibrosis and bland spindle cells[2]. The diagnosis of CAF can be challenging, particularly in cases outside the genital region, where more common pathologies may initially take precedence. Furthermore, its pathological attributes are similar to those of other mesenchymal tumors. Thus, immunohistochemistry is instrumental in separating CAF from other mesenchymal tumors, including those with the potential for higher aggressiveness[3,4].

Precise diagnosis of perianal fistulas poses an ongoing difficulty for medical professionals. Most often, perianal abscesses begin with an infection of the anal gland. Obstructing these glands can result in stagnation, excessive bacterial growth, and abscess formation within the intersphincteric groove[5]. Multiple drainage pathways exist for these abscesses, the most typical of which involve either downward extension into the anoderm or lateral progression involving the external sphincter muscle and extending into the ischiorectal fossa. Less prevalent dissemination patterns include expansion into the supralevator space and advancement within the submucosal plane. After abscess drainage, whether through surgical intervention or spontaneous resolution, there is the potential for septic foci to persist, and the draining tract may undergo epithelialization, giving rise to the development of a chronic anorectal fistula. Approximately 60% of abscesses eventually result in the formation of a fistula[6].

To date, no description of a CAF derived from a rectal-cutaneous fistula has been reported. Here, we describe the case of a 52-year-old man with a CAF that arose from a rectocutaneous fistulous tract that extended to the perineal region.

Raisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

# CASE PRESENTATION

#### **Chief complaints**

A perineal mass, present for 2 years, that had gradually increased in size over time, causing discomfort.

#### History of present illness

A 52-year-old Asian man visited the outpatient department for discomfort associated with a perineal mass that he had first noticed 2 years prior. Initially, the patient experienced pain but did not seek medical assistance because the recurrent condition had a negligible impact on his daily routine. However, the swelling gradually increased, leading to throbbing pain and minor scrotal abrasion.

### History of past illness

The patient had a medical history of hypertension and dyslipidemia, which were managed with oral medication. He also had a surgical history of ureteroscopic lithotripsy 4 years prior and conventional hemorrhoidectomy 10 years prior. The patient's medical history revealed no evidence of underlying abdominal malignancy, inflammatory bowel disease, abdominal trauma, or other gastrointestinal disorders.

### Personal and family history

No family history of abdominal neoplasms or inflammatory bowel disease was noted, and the patient exhibited regular social functioning and self-care abilities.

### Physical examination

Vital signs, including blood pressure and body temperature, were within the normal ranges. Physical examination revealed a soft, well-defined, non-tender mass at the left buttock tracking towards the patient's perineum, without a visible opening. The preliminary diagnosis indicated a soft tissue tumor.

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory data, including white blood cell count, hemoglobin, neutrophils, lymphocytes, and electrolytes such as sodium and potassium, were within the normal range.

#### Imaging examinations

Computed tomography (CT) of the abdomen and pelvis revealed a swelling of the abscess cavity connected to a rectal cutaneous fistula. A track-like lesion (approximately 6 cm × 0.7 cm) was observed between the internal and external anal sphincters (Figure 1A). The superior aspect of the lesion was positioned within the intersphincteric plane, and the lower part extended into the perineum (Figure 1B). There was no evidence of invasion of the levator ani muscle or muscular plane of the gluteus, and the small intestine and mesentery appeared normal.

# **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The definitive diagnosis was CAF.

# TREATMENT

After bowel preparation using an enema, the patient was transferred to the operating room and placed in the prone position under epidural anesthesia. A protruding mass was identified at the 1 o'clock position. An incision was made *via* the left medial gluteal approach, and a thick-walled mass was encountered (Figure 2A). The mass was excised, and the identified tract was found to extend medially. The lesion was found to be 5.4 cm × 3.2 cm × 1.8 cm in size, well circumscribed, and connected to a track-like tissue (Figure 2B). The tract was assessed *via* digital examination, and no apparent link to the rectum was identified. The tract was then partially excised and curetted, and the skin was closed over a Penrose drain (Figure 2C). Histopathological examination of the specimen confirmed findings consistent with CAF. Grossly, the specimens were gray and elastic (Figure 3). Microscopically, the section showed tumors with well-circumscribed borders that were primarily composed of consistently uniform, short, and spindle-shaped cells within a fibrous stroma. The stroma was characterized by the presence of short bundles of delicate collagen fibers and numerous small-to medium-sized thick-walled vessels with hyaline and fibrotic vascular walls. The spindle cell component was moderately-to-highly cellular and was randomly distributed throughout the lesion, occasionally in a fascicular arrangement. The tumor cells were immunohistochemically positive for smooth muscle actin, focally positive for estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor, and negative for S100, cluster of differentiation 34, and desmin.

Raishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Abdominal and pelvic computed tomography. A: A track-like lesion, approximately 6 cm × 0.7 cm in size (orange arrow) is visible, which appears to originate from between the internal and external anal sphincters, with the superior part of the lesion lying in the intersphicteric plan; B: The lower part of the lesion (orange arrow) bulged into the perineum.



Figure 2 Surgical findings. A: A thick-walled cavity was discovered, and the communicating tract was identified going medially; B: The thick-walled mass with tract-like lesion measured approximately 12 cm in length; C: The skin was closed over a Penrose drain.

# OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient had no complications postoperatively and was discharged on the 1<sup>st</sup> postoperative day. He was instructed to continue with routine dressings during the upcoming period, and throughout the 6-mo follow-up period, complete resolution of the fistulous tract was observed. The patient expressed satisfaction with the treatment outcome and no further hospitalization was necessary.

# DISCUSSION

We describe the first documented case of a CAF arising from a rectocutaneous fistula that presented as a perineal mass. CAFs are benign mesenchymal tumors that feature spindle cells and conspicuous stromal blood vessels. This condition most frequently occurs in the inguinoscrotal or vulvovaginal regions, and the tumors exhibit the highest frequency in women during the fifth decade of life, whereas men are typically affected in their seventh decade[7]. The differential diagnosis of this neoplasm is broad and encompasses epithelioid leiomyoma, CAF, aggressive angiomyxoma, and AMF. In a series of 51 patients, extragenital CAF was discovered in locations that include the vulva-vagina, inguinal-scrota, retroperitoneum, and urethra, and the rectal-cutaneous fistula stie has not been reported previously[8]. In our study, the unusual tumor site posed considerable diagnostic challenges during the preoperative evaluation and management of the patient.

Bishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com


Figure 3 Pathological findings. A: Grossly, the excised tumors were gray and elastic; B: Cellular angiofibroma displayed numerous thick-walled blood vessels with wall hyalinization (hematoxylin and eosin [H&E] 40 ×); C: The stroma contained small uniform short spindle-shaped cells with fusiform nuclei and pale indistinct cytoplasm (H&E 400 ×); D: Immunohistochemistry was positive for smooth muscle actin; E: Immunohistochemistry of the estrogen receptor showed focal positivity; F: Immunohistochemistry of the progesterone receptor showed focal positivity.

The presence of a rectal cutaneous fistula reflects the chronic state of an ongoing perianal infection. It commonly presents as a granulating channel that develops between the anorectal and perianal regions or perineum. The onset of most fistulas is attributed to anorectal abscesses, and fistula development often occurs when an abscess drains spontaneously. Anal fistulas are predominantly caused by infected anal glands in more than 90% of patients that create pathways for the infection to traverse the anal lumen into the deep sphincter muscles, leading to chronic continuous perianal infection. The infection can gain access to the wall of the anal canal by passing through a fissure or another type of wound. Once established, fecal content usually maintains the patency of the infected tract[9]. A typical fistula comprises a passageway with both a primary (internal) entrance and a secondary (external) exit.

Rectal cutaneous fistulas are characterized by the continuous or sporadic release of purulent, mucous, or bloody discharge. When there is an intersphincteric extension or mechanical obstruction due to swelling, patients may have difficulty sitting and encounter hindrances during defecation[10]. It is usually transformed by perianorectal abscesses and is closely associated with perianal trauma, tuberculosis, malignancy, Crohn's disease, and radiation proctitis. Classification of the fistula route and its relationship to the anal sphincters has been established by CT or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which depict different anatomical locations. The classification system introduced by Parks et al[11] in 1976, which sorts anorectal fistulas into intersphincteric, transsphincteric, suprasphincteric, and extrasphincteric categories, is the most commonly used and endorsed. This classification accurately describes the anatomical track of the fistula and is useful for predicting the complexity of the operative procedure to treat the fistula.

Radiologists have introduced the following alternative grading system for evaluating the outcomes of anorectal fistulae, known as the St. James's University Hospital classification, which incorporates axial plane landmarks, abscesses, and secondary extensions: 0, normal appearance; 1, simple linear intersphincteric fistula; 2, intersphincteric fistula with intersphincteric abscess or secondary fistulous tract; 3, trans-sphincteric fistula; 4, trans-sphincteric fistula with abscess or secondary track within the ischioanal or ischiorectal fossa; and 5, supralevator and translevator disease. Grades 1 and 2 typically lead to favorable outcomes, whereas less favorable results are commonly associated with grades 3–5, which often necessitates reoperation due to recurrence[12,13].

Our patient had experienced a perianal mass for a duration of 2 years before seeking medical attention, indicating that the formation of the fistulous tract and abscess likely predated this timeframe. Despite the resolution of the abscess, the fistulous tract remained intact. Most likely, the CAF emerged over time within the previous abscess cavity, with the internal entry of the fistulous tract positioned in the anal canal. The pathogenesis of rectal cutaneous fistulae is well established; however, the origin of the CAFs remains unclear. Several hypotheses have been proposed, including the possibility of monoallelic deletion of retinoblastoma 1 and forkhead box 1, both of which are located on chromosome 13q14, a region strongly implicated in disease pathogenesis[14]. As for the potential reasons behind CAF growth within a rectocutaneous fistula, we postulate that the presence of this benign mesenchymal tumor in such a specific anatomical location may be attributed to the chronic inflammation associated with the fistulous tract. Chronic inflammation is known to create a microenvironment that is conducive to tumorigenesis and promote cellular changes and the development of



Zaishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

neoplastic lesions[14]. Further research is needed to elucidate the precise mechanisms that link chronic inflammation, rectocutaneous fistula, and CAF development.

In the present case, the initial impression on physical examination was a soft tissue mass over the perineum. A rectalcutaneous fistula was not diagnosed until CT was performed, and CT is often performed as a first-line examination to locate the perineal mass and define its anatomical relationship[15]. In addition to CT, endosonography and MRI can serve as diagnostic tools for perianal tumors and rectal cutaneous fistulas [16]. In the present case, the path of the fistulous tract within the perianal region was identified on the left side, traversed the intersphincteric area, and extended inferiorly into the perineum. Considering that the tract was a rectal-cutaneous fistula accompanied by a soft tissue tumor, total excision of the mass with marsupialization was performed. Surgery was initiated through a transperineal incision and tumor excision was performed without compromising rectal integrity. The procedure was performed successfully using a minimally invasive technique that aimed to achieve permanent closure of the fistula tract without functional impairment. While the surgeon may consider flatus incontinence a minor issue, it can be a profound embarrassment for the patient [12].

Here, we present the case of a patient who was diagnosed with the coexistence of a perianal fistula and CAF, with clear margins observed after surgical resection. Notably, CAFs are generally characterized by a benign clinical course and exhibit a minimal risk of recurrence at the resection site. Local excision with negative margins is the current standard treatment[17]. It necessitates careful consideration of CAF's growth location, thereby tailoring the surgical approach to the specific anatomical site involved. In the context of a retrospective study of patients with a vulvovaginal CAF[18], urinary catheterization was employed during the excision procedure to ensure the safety of the patients and prevent urethral injury. When dealing with CAF growth within a rectocutaneous fistula, unlike vulvovaginal CAF, it is imperative to utilize pre-operative imaging examinations and intraoperative physical examination to ensure the preservation of the sphincter muscles when ligating the fistula tract. In our study, the tract was completely resected, with no noted impairment of the sphincter function in the postoperative course.

#### CONCLUSION

Although uncommon, certain typical clinical conditions, such as rectal cutaneous fistulas, can appear in complex ways, as in the case presented here. Before surgery, it is essential to confirm the diagnosis and outline the fistula accurately. Complex fistulae and incomplete mapping often result in recurrence or incontinence. CT imaging is useful for spotting and understanding perineal lesions and aiding treatment planning. Perineal angiofibromas can be removed via transperineal excision, even if they are linked to a rectal cutaneous fistula. The findings of our study indicates that, for complex cases like this one, a personalized approach and careful diagnostic setup are crucial. The accumulation of similar cases and larger-scale studies may help identify the best treatment approach.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the assistance of the people at the Department of Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, Songshan Branch. This report would not have been possible without their efforts in data collection and inter-professional collaboration in treating this patient.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chen HE, Lu YY, Su RY, and Wang HH wrote and edited the manuscript; Chen CY and Hu JM collected data; Kang JC, Lin KS, and Pu TW contributed to the conceptualization and supervision of the study; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patients for the publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

**ORCID** number: Hao-En Chen 0009-0009-6399-7219; Yu-Yang Lu 0000-0002-9258-188X; Ruei-Yu Su 0000-0001-6728-8705; Hong-Hau Wang



0009-0004-2748-0400; Chao-Yang Chen 0000-0002-2246-7635; Je-Ming Hu 0000-0002-7377-0984; Jung-Cheng Kang 0000-0001-7511-5337; Kuan-Hsun Lin 0000-0002-3371-5489; Ta-Wei Pu 0000-0002-0538-407X.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Nucci MR, Granter SR, Fletcher CD. Cellular angiofibroma: a benign neoplasm distinct from angiomyofibroblastoma and spindle cell lipoma. 1 Am J Surg Pathol 1997; 21: 636-644 [PMID: 9199640 DOI: 10.1097/00000478-199706000-00002]
- Iwasa Y, Fletcher CDM, Flucke U. Cellular angiofibroma. In: WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. Soft tissue and bone tumours. 2 Lyon (France): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020. (WHO classification of tumours series, 5th ed.; vol. 3)
- Hashino Y, Nishio J, Maeyama A, Aoki M, Nabeshima K, Yamamoto T. Intra-articular angiofibroma of soft tissue of the knee: A case report. Mol Clin Oncol 2017; 7: 229-232 [PMID: 28781791 DOI: 10.3892/mco.2017.1298]
- Zhao M, Sun K, Li C, Zheng J, Yu J, Jin J, Xia W. Angiofibroma of soft tissue: clinicopathologic study of 2 cases of a recently characterized 4 benign soft tissue tumor. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2013; 6: 2208-2215 [PMID: 24133600]
- PARKS AG. Pathogenesis and treatment of fistuila-in-ano. Br Med J 1961; 1: 463-469 [PMID: 13732880 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.1.5224.463] 5
- Robinson AM Jr, DeNobile JW. Anorectal abscess and fistula-in-ano. J Natl Med Assoc 1988; 80: 1209-1213 [PMID: 3074175] 6
- Mandato VD, Santagni S, Cavazza A, Aguzzoli L, Abrate M, La Sala GB. Cellular angiofibroma in women: a review of the literature. Diagn 7 Pathol 2015; 10: 114 [PMID: 26187500 DOI: 10.1186/s13000-015-0361-6]
- 8 Iwasa Y, Fletcher CD. Cellular angiofibroma: clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical analysis of 51 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2004; 28: 1426-1435 [PMID: 15489646 DOI: 10.1097/01.pas.0000138002.46650.95]
- Srivastava KN, Agarwal A. A complex fistula-in-ano presenting as a soft tissue tumor. Int J Surg Case Rep 2014; 5: 298-301 [PMID: 9 24857042 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2014.03.018]
- Deolekar S, Shaikh TP, Ansari S, Mandhane N, Karandikar S, Lal V. Pedunculated perianal lipoma: a rare presentation. Int J Res Med Sci 10 2017; 3: 1557-1558 [DOI: 10.18203/2320-6012.ijrms20150191]
- Parks AG, Gordon PH, Hardcastle JD. A classification of fistula-in-ano. Br J Surg 1976; 63: 1-12 [PMID: 1267867 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800630102
- Morris J, Spencer JA, Ambrose NS. MR imaging classification of perianal fistulas and its implications for patient management. Radiographics 12 2000; 20: 623-35; discussion 635 [PMID: 10835116 DOI: 10.1148/radiographics.20.3.g00mc15623]
- Torkzad MR, Karlbom U. MRI for assessment of anal fistula. Insights Imaging 2010; 1: 62-71 [PMID: 22347906 DOI: 13 10.1007/s13244-010-0022-y]
- 14 Greten FR, Grivennikov SI. Inflammation and Cancer: Triggers, Mechanisms, and Consequences. Immunity 2019; 51: 27-41 [PMID: 31315034 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025]
- Tappouni RF, Sarwani NI, Tice JG, Chamarthi S. Imaging of unusual perineal masses. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2011; 196: W412-W420 [PMID: 15 21427305 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.10.4728]
- Sharma A, Yadav P, Sahu M, Verma A. Current imaging techniques for evaluation of fistula in ano: a review. Egypt J Radiol Nucl Med 2020; 16 51: 130 [DOI: 10.1186/s43055-020-00252-9]
- 17 Maggiani F, Debiec-Rychter M, Vanbockrijck M, Sciot R. Cellular angiofibroma: another mesenchymal tumour with 13q14 involvement, suggesting a link with spindle cell lipoma and (extra)-mammary myofibroblastoma. Histopathology 2007; 51: 410-412 [PMID: 17727484 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2007.02775.x]
- Yuan Z, Wang J, Wang Y, Feng F, Pan L, Xiang Y, Shi X. Management of Vulvovaginal Cellular Angiofibroma: A Single-Center Experience. 18 Front Surg 2022; 9: 899329 [PMID: 35903253 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.899329]



W J C C World Journal Clinical Cases

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1785-1792

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1785

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome resulted in amputation: A case report

Jun Jiang, Min Liu

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Katanec T, Croatia

Received: October 28, 2023 Peer-review started: October 28, 2023 First decision: January 17, 2024 Revised: January 30, 2024 Accepted: March 13, 2024 Article in press: March 13, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Jun Jiang, Min Liu, Department of Pediatric Surgery, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Jun Jiang, MSc, Associate Chief Physician, Department of Pediatric Surgery, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, No. 37 Guoxue Lane, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China. jiangjun5@wchscu.edu.cn

### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome (JCS) is a very rare syndrome. The treatment of JCS is more conservative, and most authors recommend that no surgery should be done in asymptomatic patients. The conventional concept holds that the natural course of non-ossifying fibromas (NOFs) grows with the development of bones, and the osteolytic region gradually stops expanding and self-healing through bone ossifying around the lesion and ossification within the lesion. But in this case, the bone lesions were potentially biologically aggressive, which led to severe limb deformities and pain.

#### CASE SUMMARY

We present the case of a 5-year-old girl with JCS presenting with not only NOF sand café-au-lait macules, but also showed features not mentioned before, severe limb pain, and at last resulted in amputation. She was admitted to our hospital after presenting with claudication and mild pain over her right thigh, which worsened when stretching or being touched. Skin examination revealed multiple café-au-lait macules on the neck, arm, axilla, and torso, including the nipples and perineum. Radiographs revealed multiple lytic lesions in the proximal part of the right humerus, distal part of the right clavicle, proximal and distal parts of the right femur, and proximal parts of the right tibia and fibula. Curettage and biopsy were performed on the distal part of the right femur. At the age of 7, the girl was re-admitted to our hospital for a pathological fracture in the middle in the right femur and underwent Intralesional excision, internal fixation, bone grafting, and spica casting. At the age of 10, the girl came to our hospital again for severe pain of the right leg. Amputation from the middle level of the right femur was performed. We present the case of a 5-year-old girl with JCS presenting with not only NOFs and café-au-lait macules, but also showed features not mentioned before, severe limb pain, and at last resulted in amputation. She was admitted to our hospital after presenting with claudication and mild pain over her right thigh, which worsened when stretching or being touched. Skin examination revealed multiple café-au-lait macules on the neck, arm, armpit, and torso, including the nipples and perineum. Radiographs revealed multiple lytic lesions in the



proximal part of the right humerus, distal part of the right clavicle, proximal and distal parts of the right femur, and proximal parts of the right tibia and fibula. Curettage and biopsy were performed on the distal part of the right femur. At the age of 7, the girl was re-admitted to our hospital for a pathological fracture in the middle in the right femur and underwent Intralesional excision, internal fixation, bone grafting, and spica casting. At the age of 10, the girl came to our hospital again for severe pain of the right leg. Amputation from the middle level of the right femur was performed.

#### CONCLUSION

In our opinion, education on preventing pathological fractures and explaining the consequent serious consequences to the parents is a matter of prime significance. At the same time, prophylactic treatment (restricted exercise, support, or surgery) is also considerable for JSC.

Key Words: Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome; Multiple non-ossifying fibromas; Café-au-lait macule; Amputation; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome (JCS) is exceedingly rare. In this case, a 10-year-old girl with JCS presented with not only non-ossifying fibromas and café-au-lait macules, but also showed features not mentioned before, severe limb pain, and at last resulted in amputation. This case is a big failure with a tragic ending and has revelatory educational value to all orthopaedic surgeons. We aim to share our failures in treatment and remind other doctors that not every JSC grows with bone development and can be self-healing. We highly recommend education on preventing pathological fractures and explaining the consequent serious consequences to the parents is a matter of prime significance. At the same time, prophylactic treatment (restricted exercise, support, or surgery) is also considerable for JSC.

Citation: Jiang J, Liu M. Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome resulted in amputation: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1785-1792

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1785.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1785

### INTRODUCTION

Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome (JCS) is a very rare syndrome that was first described by Jaffe in 1959[1]. In 1983, Campanacci et al[2] reported 10 similar cases. The term "Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome" was first used in an article by Mirra et al[3] in 1982. To date, 22 cases of JCS have been reported in English literature (6 of 10 cases reported by Campanacci *et al*[2]), all of which were sporadic cases. Presently, most scholars describe it as an ill-defined syndrome associated with nonossifying fibromas (NOFs), skin manifestations (café-au-lait macules), and other extraskeletal anomalies. Some scholars consider axillary freckles to be an important feature of JCS[4-6]. The café-au-lait macules are usually in the shape of the "coast of California". In most cases, JSC patients were treated conservatively, if pathological fracture occurs, surgery would be necessary.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 10-year-old Chinese girl was admitted to our hospital for severe pain accompanied by shortening and deformity of the right leg.

#### History of present illness

Five years ago, the patient (5-year-old) came to our hospital after presenting with claudication and mild pain over her right thigh, which worsened when stretching or being touched. Radiographs revealed multiple lytic lesions in the proximal part of the right humerus, distal part of the right clavicle, proximal and distal parts of the right femur, and proximal parts of the right tibia and fibula (Figure 1). Curettage and biopsy were performed on the distal part of the right femur. Histopathological examination showed spindle-shaped fibroblastic and collagenous stromal tissue, characteristic of the NOF (Figure 2), then the diagnosis of JCS was made. Conservative therapy was applied with suggestions of observation, reduction of mobility, and follow-up. Three years ago, at the age of 7, the patient was re-admitted to our hospital for a pathological fracture in the middle of the right femur. Intralesional excision, internal fixation, bone grafting, and spica casting were performed (Figure 3). During the operation, brown granulomas-like tissues were found in the cortex and marrow of the femur and were extending into the metaphysis of the distal femur. The plaster was removed one month after surgery and the patient began to walk three months postoperatively.





Figure 1 Radiographs at first hospitalization at the age of 5.



Figure 2 Histological findings. A: × 200; B: × 400. Histopathological examination showed spindle-shaped fibroblastic and collagenous stromal tissue, characteristic of non-ossifying fibroma, then diagnosis of Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome was made. Conservative therapy was applied with suggestions of observation, reduction of mobility and follow-up.

#### Personal and family history

Family history did not reveal any familial disease, neurofibromatosis, or bone lesions.

#### Physical examination

The right leg was 20 cm shorter than the left leg, with a severe curved deformity of the thigh and crus (Figure 4). During palpation, there was severe pain from the middle part of the right thigh to the upper part of the calf. The right knee joint remained in a flexed position and could not be extended or flexed. The muscles of the right lower limb were atrophied. Skin examination revealed multiple café-au-lait macules on the neck, arm, armpit, and torso, including the nipples and perineum. The patient showed no pain or itching associated with the macules. The area of the lesions covered the neck, arm, armpit, and torso including the nipple and the perineum, and had a "Coast of Maine" shape with ragged, irregular outlines. Brown granular nodules eres noted in the middle of the lesions (Figure 5).

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory testing revealed no abnormal findings. The whole exome gene test found tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) 1 (exon7) on the chr9:135797354 had a missense mutation [NM\_000368.4: c.515T>C (p. Val172Ala)] in peripheral blood.

#### Imaging examinations

The lytic lesions of the right femur, tibia, and fibula were larger than before, both femur and tibia were severely curved.



Saisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Jiang J et al. Two-year follow-up of JCS



Figure 3 Patient at the age of 7: X-rays before and after surgery. A: X-rays before surgery; B: X-rays after surgery.



Figure 4 Changes in the appearance of both lower limbs. A: Patient at age 5, after curettage and biopsy of the distal part of the right femur: The right leg is about 5 cm shorter than the left leg; B: Patient at age 10, before amputation: The right leg is obviously shorter than the left side and shows severe deformity of the thigh and shank.

The whole tibia was affected by the lesion with a large cortical defect in the lower part of the tibia (Figure 6).

#### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

Considering the results of imaging and histopathological examination we arrived at a final diagnosis of JSC.

#### TREATMENT

Amputation from the middle level of the right femur was performed (Figure 7).



Baishideng® WJCC https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Multiple café-au-lait macules were noted on the child's body.



Figure 6 Radiographs of the right humerus, right clavicle, right femur, right tibia, and fibula before amputation.

#### **OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP**

The wound on the right thigh healed well 2-month after surgery with no pain reoccurring, and the girl started rehabilitation. During the following 3-year follow-up, the area of the lesions did not expand with no pain or itching. She could walk and run well with the help of artificial limb.

#### DISCUSSION

Presently, most scholars describe JCS as an ill-defined syndrome associated with NOFs, skin manifestations (café-au-lait macules), and extraskeletal anomalies, which include mental retardation, hypogonadism, cryptorchidism, ocular anomalies, or cardiovascular malformations some. It is still controversial whether JCS is a special type of type 1 neurofibromatosis or a separate syndrome. Mirra's group suggested that JSC might clinically be considered an abortive form (forme frusta) of neurofibromatosis[3]. Colby and Saul suggested that JCS may be a manifestation of Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) mutations because they studied four patients who fulfilled the diagnostic criteria for both NF1 and JCS,



Saishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Jiang J et al. Two-year follow-up of JCS



Figure 7 X-ray of the right femur 1 d after amputation.

which led them to think that these two syndromes may be potentially allelic<sup>[7]</sup>. This hypothesis has not been confirmed because no genetic analysis of JCS patients has been performed before 1990 in which the NF1 gene was identified [7,8]. In research by Stewart et al [8], the majority of patients with café-au-lait macules and NOFs or giant cell lesions were found to harbor a pathogenic germline NF1 mutation, suggesting that many JCS cases may have NF1[8]. In this case, we found a missense mutation in tuberous sclerosis complex 1, which can cause lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM) or TSC. LAM is a rare, progressive, and systemic disease that typically results in cystic lung destruction. It predominantly affects women, especially during childbearing years. The term sporadic LAM is used for patients with LAM not associated with TSC, while TSC-LAM refers to LAM that is associated with TSC. However, the patient did not have any clinical manifestations of these diseases nor any matutions in NF1 SPRED1 or guanine nucleotide binding protein 1 (exon8).

In all 22 cases have been reported in English literature, most patients were under the age of 18 and males were more than females (13 males, 9 females) (Supplementary Table 1). Three previous cases have been reported in East Asia, and, thus, the present case is the fourth[9-11]. It is interesting to find that the bone lesions and café-au-lait macules of this and another case from East Asia were unilateral – especially the abdominal café-au-lait macules which were bounded by the midline on the right and did not cross to the other side (Figure 5). The café-au-lait macules were in the shape of the "coast of Maine", rather than the "coast of California". In this case, brown granular nodules occurred in the middle of the caféau-lait macules, which was different from those described in the previous literature of JCS. The lesion feature of NF1 commonly presents as a painless skin-colored or violaceous papule, nodule, or subcutaneous mass, which is also different from this case. These features are distinct from those reported in Caucasian patients. Localized skin lesion histopathological examination was suggested, but the parents refused to do any more surgeries but the leg.

Most JCS patients are asymptomatic, the most typical extraskeletal anomalies are café-au-lait macules, some patients have axillar freckling, i.e., clusters of freckle-like light brown macules with a diameter of 1 mm to 3 mm located in the armpits or other parts of the trunk. Another unusual manifestation was limb pain. The child felt mild pain after activity, which worsened gradually and extended from the thigh to the crus. The right leg became shorter and shorter with femoral and tibial flexion deformity, which seriously affected mobility and daily life. Serious pain was not reported in previous cases, the reason and mechanism are still uncertain. But it seems to be caused by the bone lesions, for the pain in the right thigh had greatly relieved after the intralesional excision surgery and became more serious as the bone lesions deteriorated. During the treatment, an arachnoid cyst was found in the occipital area of the head, which was not mentioned in previous literature.

No consensus has been reached for the treatment for JSC. In most cases, JSC patients were treated conservatively, for the simple reason as Campanacii et al<sup>[2]</sup> found, the natural course of NOFs grows with bone development, the osteolytic region gradually stops expanding, and there will be self-healing through bone ossification around the lesion and ossification within the lesion<sup>[2]</sup>. The reason why this case is characterized by pain, and it became more and more serious with the progress of the bone lesions is uncertain. However, the lesions in this case were potentially biologically aggressive, consistent with the case described by Blau *et al*[12].

If pathological the fracture occurs, curettage, grafting, and internal fixation would be necessary. Colby and Saul[7] supposed this could be because large polyostotic area lesions cause weight-bearing bones (e.g., proximal femur, proximal tibia) to become thin and brittle. When pathological fractures occur, operation is necessary[7]. As differentiation of JSC from other osteolytic lesions is sometimes difficult, some authors also recommend a two-stage operation[6]. Biopsy surgery should be performed first and then Definitive surgery followed. Of all the 22 cases of JSC reported in the English literature, 59.1% (13/22) had pathological fractures, which is much higher than the incidence of NOFs pathological fractures. The girl in the present case is the first report of amputation in JCS. There are various reasons for amputation. Firstly, the progressive aggravation of the lesions leads to severe limb deformities. After curettage, grafting, and internal fixation with a conventional plate, the lesions of the right femur and tibia were enlarged with a large defect in the lower part of the tibia, and the tibia was bent and deformed with severe shortening. As the progression of the disease, there was no way to regain either alignment or length of the leg. Secondly, the pain in the right leg is from beginning to end. When the girl had performed Intralesional excision, internal fixation, and bone grafting surgery, the pain was relieved for half a year, but then became more and more serious and gradually extended to the right crus. Before amputation, the girl had to



ease the pain by drugs every day.

There are limited reports about the long-term prognosis. The short-term prognosis of JCS with conservative treatment is good except high incidence of pathological fractures. Patients with pathological fractures gradually healed after surgery, and mobility was largely unaffected. Although there have been no reports of limb malformations in JCS, limb malformation caused by NOFs has been reported[13]. Proper intervention (restricted exercise, support, or surgery) may reduce the rate of long-term disability[7]. Given the present case, we highly recommend preventive measures for patients (especially overweight patients) with simultaneous femoral and tibial lesions who have a high risk of limb deformity. Given the close relationship between JSC and NF1, some researchers have suggested that patients diagnosed with NF1 should undergo bone examination to exclude NOFs or even JCS to prevent secondary pathological fractures[4]. However, the skin lesions of this case are different from those in other cases of JSC. Meanwhile, both the bone lesions and the pain were continuously deteriorating, leading to a poor prognosis. All these suggested the lesions in this case were potentially aggressive.

#### CONCLUSION

Our case showed features of JCS not mentioned before. The bone lesions and café-au-lait macules of this case were unilateral – especially the abdominal café-au-lait macules which were bounded by the midline on the right and never crossed to the other side. Another unusual manifestation was severe limb pain. Both the bone lesions and the pain were continuously deteriorating, leading to a poor prognosis. All these suggested the lesions in this case were potentially aggressive. In our opinion, education on preventing pathological fractures and explaining the consequent serious consequences to the parents is a matter of prime significance. At the same time, prophylactic treatment (restricted exercise, support, or surgery) is also considerable for JSC.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Jiang J contributed to manuscript writing, editing, and data collection; Liu M and Jiang J prepared the figures and completed the surgery; Jiang J was responsible for manuscript modification; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Jun Jiang 0000-0003-1147-1353; Min Liu 0000-0002-2149-3794.

S-Editor: Che XX L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

Jaffe HL. Tumors and tumorous conditions of the bones and joints. J Med Educ 1959; 34: 72 [DOI: 10.1097/00001888-195901000-00023] 1

Campanacci M, Laus M, Boriani S. Multiple non-ossifying fibromata with extraskeletal anomalies: a new syndrome? J Bone Joint Surg Br 2 1983; 65: 627-632 [PMID: 6643569 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.65B5.6643569]

- 3 Mirra JM, Gold RH, Rand F. Disseminated nonossifying fibromas in association with café-au-lait spots (Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome). Clin Orthop Relat Res 1982; 192-205 [PMID: 7105545]
- Cherix S, Bildé Y, Becce F, Letovanec I, Rüdiger HA. Multiple non-ossifying fibromas as a cause of pathological femoral fracture in Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014; 15: 218 [PMID: 24965055 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-218]
- 5 Hau MA, Fox EJ, Cates JM, Brigman BE, Mankin HJ. Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome. A case report and review of the literature. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002; 84: 634-638 [PMID: 11940628]
- Sonar M, Isik M, Ekmekci AY, Solmaz OA. Pathological fractures on both lower limbs with Jaffe-Campanacci's syndrome. BMJ Case Rep 6 2012; 2012 [PMID: 23087282 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2012-007047]



- Colby RS, Saul RA. Is Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome just a manifestation of neurofibromatosis type 1? Am J Med Genet A 2003; 123A: 60-63 7 [PMID: 14556247 DOI: 10.1002/ajmg.a.20490]
- Stewart DR, Brems H, Gomes AG, Ruppert SL, Callens T, Williams J, Claes K, Bober MB, Hachen R, Kaban LB, Li H, Lin A, McDonald M, 8 Melancon S, Ortenberg J, Radtke HB, Samson I, Saul RA, Shen J, Siqveland E, Toler TL, van Maarle M, Wallace M, Williams M, Legius E, Messiaen L. Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome, revisited: detailed clinical and molecular analyses determine whether patients have neurofibromatosis type 1, coincidental manifestations, or a distinct disorder. Genet Med 2014; 16: 448-459 [PMID: 24232412 DOI: 10.1038/gim.2013.163
- Yang C, Gong Y, Li C, Gu G, Liu J, Qi X. Jaffe-Campanacci Syndrome: A Case Report and Review of Literature. JBJS Case Connect 2012; 2: 9 e10 [PMID: 29252461 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.CC.K.00038]
- Choi EM, Jung N, Shim YJ, Choi HJ, Kim JS, Kim HS, Song KS, Lee HJ, Kim SP. Short stature and growth hormone deficiency in a girl with 10 encephalocraniocutaneous lipomatosis and Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome: a case report. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2016; 21: 240-244 [PMID: 28164079 DOI: 10.6065/apem.2016.21.4.240]
- Han Y, Wang H. Intracranial arterial dolichoectasia and skull damage in a girl with Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome: a case report. Childs Nerv 11 *Syst* 2019; **35**: 1051-1054 [PMID: 30721350 DOI: 10.1007/s00381-019-04064-9]
- Blau RA, Zwick DL, Westphal RA. Multiple non-ossifying fibromas. A case report. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1988; 70: 299-304 [PMID: 12 3343278
- Tsuchiya H, Morsy AF, Matsubara H, Watanabe K, Abdel-Wanis ME, Tomita K. Treatment of benign bone tumours using external fixation. J 13 Bone Joint Surg Br 2007; 89: 1077-1083 [PMID: 17785749 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.89B8.19132]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1793-1798

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1793

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Paradoxical herniation associated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy after decompressive craniectomy: A case report

Zhong-Xing Ye, Xin-Xin Fu, Yang-Zong Wu, Ling Lin, Liang-Qi Xie, Yu-Ling Hu, Yi Zhou, Zhu-Gui You, Hai Lin

Specialty type: Neurosciences

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

reviewed.

P-Reviewer: Shen HN, Taiwan

Received: October 29, 2023 Peer-review started: October 29, 2023

First decision: January 17, 2024 Revised: February 3, 2024 Accepted: March 12, 2024 Article in press: March 12, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Zhong-Xing Ye, Xin-Xin Fu, Ling Lin, Liang-Qi Xie, Yu-Ling Hu, Yi Zhou, Hai Lin, Department of Neurosurgery, The Second People's Hospital of Fujian Province (The Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian University of Traditional Chinese Medicine), Fuzhou 350001, Fujian Province, China

Yang-Zong Wu, Department of Neurosurgery, The Second Hospital of Longyan, Longyan 364000, Fujian Province, China

Zhu-Gui You, Department of Neurosurgery, Zhangping City Hospital, Longyan 364400, Fujian Province, China

Corresponding author: Hai Lin, PhD, Associate Chief Physician, Department of Neurosurgery, The Second People's Hospital of Fujian Province (The Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian University of Traditional Chinese Medicine), No. 282 Wusi Road, Fuzhou 350001, Fujian Province, China. 461898474@qq.com

## Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Whether hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) can cause paradoxical herniation is still unclear.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 65-year-old patient who was comatose due to brain trauma underwent decompressive craniotomy and gradually regained consciousness after surgery. HBOT was administered 22 d after surgery due to speech impairment. Paradoxical herniation appeared on the second day after treatment, and the patient's condition worsened after receiving mannitol treatment at the rehabilitation hospital. After timely skull repair, the paradoxical herniation was resolved, and the patient regained consciousness and had a good recovery as observed at the follow-up visit.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Paradoxical herniation is rare and may be caused by HBOT. However, the underlying mechanism is unknown, and the understanding of this phenomenon is insufficient. The use of mannitol may worsen this condition. Timely skull repair can treat paradoxical herniation and prevent serious complications.

Key Words: Decompressive craniectomy; Hyperbaric oxygen therapy; Mannitol; Para-



doxical herniation; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Paradoxical herniation may be caused by high-pressure oxygen therapy after decompressive craniectomy has not been reported. Paradoxical herniation has been misdiagnosed by the neurosurgery department of subordinate hospitals and provincial neurological rehabilitation hospitals for many times, thus delaying treatment. This report is to improve the understanding of paradoxical herniation.

Citation: Ye ZX, Fu XX, Wu YZ, Lin L, Xie LQ, Hu YL, Zhou Y, You ZG, Lin H. Paradoxical herniation associated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy after decompressive craniectomy: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1793-1798 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1793.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1793

#### INTRODUCTION

Decompression with a bone flap is an effective rescue measure for alleviating various types of malignant intracranial hypertension. After cerebral edema subsides, the skull loses mechanical support, and the force generated by atmospheric pressure directly acts on the skull defect site. This causes the flap to sag after collapsing downward and inward, leading to a series of neurological declines. The mechanism by which paradoxical herniation occurs remains unclear because it is relatively rare. Moreover, many doctors do not have a comprehensive understanding of this disease, which can lead to misdiagnosis, missed diagnosis, or even deterioration of the patient's condition and, in severe cases, death. We encountered a rare patient with paradoxical herniation caused by hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) that was misdiagnosed. Here we report such case to improve the understanding of this disease.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 65-year-old male patient was in a coma for more than a month due to a high fall.

#### History of present illness

A 65-year-old male patient presented to Zhangping City Hospital in Fujian Province on May 2, 2021 (Figure 1A) with loss of consciousness for 20 min following a fall from a high height. Cranial computed tomography (CT) revealed a bilateral acute temporal subdural hematoma and contusion in the right frontotemporal lobe. The patient was admitted to the hospital and underwent physical examination. The Glasgow Coma Scale score of the patient was 7 (E1, V2, M4), and he was slightly unconscious, irritable, and unable to answer and cooperate during examination. The bilateral pupils were equally round and large, 0.2 cm in diameter, and slow to respond to light. Lacerations were observed in the left temporal area with obvious local swelling. Bright red bloody fluid was observed in the left external auditory canal and bilateral nasal cavity, with slight resistance in the neck. Lacerations were present in the left thorax, waist, and left anterior abdominal region, with slightly greater muscle tension. The Barnberg sign and Ke's sign were negative. In the Emergency Department, "right craniotomy + intracranial hematoma removal + bone decompression + secondary artificial dural repair" was performed (Figure 1B). After the operation, fluid rehydration therapy, hemostatic agents, nutritional support, brain tissue assessment, infection prevention treatment, stomach protection measures, electrolyte balance therapy, and sedation and analgesia were administered. After the operation (Figure 1C), the patient's condition gradually improved, but he was unable to speak. On May 24, 2021 (Figure 1D), "hyperbaric oxygen" (inside the cabin, gauge pressure 0.1 mPa, oxygen inhalation for 30 min, rest for 10 min (air inhalation), and oxygen inhalation for 30 min) was administered. The next day (May 25, 2021, Figure 1E), the bone window collapse was obvious; however, local doctors considered it to be normal and thus continued two courses of hyperbaric oxygen treatment. The duration of each treatment course was 10 d, and the degree of bone window collapse did not significantly improve. The patient's family considered that the treatment response was poor due to his speech disturbance, dysphagia, and occasional dizziness. On June 14, 2021, the patient was transferred to a higher-level hospital for rehabilitation treatment, and on June 15, 202, he was transferred to the Rehabilitation Hospital Affiliated with Fujian University of Chinese Medicine. On the day after admission, cranial CT examination revealed paradoxical herniation (Figure 1F). An attempt to lower cranial pressure using mannitol resulted in drowsiness. On June 17, 2021 (Figure 1G), craniocerebral CT revealed worsened paradoxical herniation, and further treatment was not effective. Five days later (June 22, 2021), a craniocerebral CT review revealed no improvement, and consultation was requested due to continued drowsiness. The patient was referred to our hospital on June 25, 2021, at which point the effects of fluid rehydration were unsatisfactory. A review of the craniocerebral CT images revealed that the paradoxical herniation was still present (June 27, 2021; Figure 1H and I). Cranioplasty was performed on July 1, 2021





Figure 1 Computed tomography findings during patient diagnosis and treatment. A: Preoperative cranial computed tomography (CT) image on May

WJCChttps://www.wjgnet.com1795

April 6, 2024 Volume 12 Issue 10

2, 2021; B: First postoperative cranial CT image (May 2, 2021); C: Cranial CT image obtained 1 wk after the first surgery (May 8, 2021); D: Cranial CT image before hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) (May 24, 2021); E: Cranial CT image on the second day of HBOT (May 25, 2021); F: Cranial CT image on the tenth day of HBOT (June 15, 2021); G: Cranial CT image before mannitol treatment (June 17, 2021); H: Second preoperative cranial CT image (axial) (June 27, 2021); I: Second preoperative cranial CT image (coronal) (June 27, 2021); J: Cranial CT before the second surgery (July 2, 2021); K: Cranial CT at 20 d after the second surgery (July 22, 2021); L: One-year postoperative cranial MR image (June 17, 2022).

(Figure 1]), and the patient was no longer drowsy on the second day after surgery. The stitches were removed, and the patient was discharged from the hospital one week later.

#### History of past illness

The patient had a medical history of pulmonary tuberculosis.

#### Personal and family history

The patient denied any family history of malignant tumors or other genetic conditions.

#### **Physical examination**

The vital signs of the patient were as follows: Body temperature, 36.9 °C; heart rate, 68/min; respiratory rate, 20/min; and blood pressure, 123/83 mmHg.

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory examinations showed no abnormalities.

#### Imaging examinations

Cranial CT showed the presence of paradoxical herniation on the next day of HBOT initiation (May 25, 2021, Figure 1E), abnormal aggravation of the cerebral hernia on June 17, 2021 after receiving mannitol treatment (Figure 1G), and the disappearance of paradoxical herniation following cranioplasty on July 1, 2021 (Figure 1J).

#### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

Paradoxical herniation associated with HBOT.

#### TREATMENT

After the patient's skull was repaired, the paradoxical herniation disappeared.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

At the postoperative follow-up visit, the patient was mentally clear. Repeat magnetic resonance imaging showed that the paradoxical herniation did not reappear. The patient's speech gradually improved (Figure 1).

#### DISCUSSION

Paradoxical herniation, also known as paradoxical herniation syndrome or acute progressive hypotension syndrome, was first described by Schwab *et al*[1] in 1998 as the result of the absence of a portion of the skull after craniotomy. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) flow produces a siphoning effect, and atmospheric pressure directly acts on the cerebral cortex and causes intracranial venous reflux, ultimately leading to flap collapse. Thus, surgery-induced dynamic changes in CSF that cause an intracranial infection or require mannitol dehydration after decompression of the bone flap may lead to brain tissue displacement and brain hernia. Although the pathophysiological mechanism of paradoxical herniation remains unclear, the sum of the changes in intracranial pressure, cerebral blood flow dynamics, and CSF dynamics after bone flap removal can be evaluated using brain compliance ( $\Delta V/\Delta P$ ). All factors causing increased cerebral compliance reduce CSF pulsation, resulting in the abovementioned CSF dynamics disorders[2-4]. It has often been reported that excessive drainage reduces the pressure gradient and creates bilateral imbalances, ultimately leading to paradoxical herniation[5-9].

HBOT-induced paradoxical herniation has not been reported in the literature. However, whether it affects CSF circulation is unknown. Early use of HBOT is conducive to the rehabilitation of patients after decompressive craniotomy. Its main mechanism of action is to increase the oxygen supply to the lesion area in the brain, reduce blood oxygen tension, increase oxygen dispersion, facilitate the establishment of collateral circulation, reverse the inhibition of brain cells, and

Boishidene® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

prevent further decline in brain cell function<sup>[10]</sup>. However, the establishment of collateral circulation increases CSF absorption, which decreases the amount of CSF. HBOT helps to improve the absorption function of the cerebral surface and arachnoid granulations to establish a balance between CSF secretion and absorption. However, in this case, the patient received HBOT after decompressive craniectomy surgery, during which time excessive dehydration was not achieved and cranial pressure was not reduced; this led to paradoxical herniation on the second day. In a normal cranial cavity[11], brain pulsation is closely related to changes in intracranial arterial and venous pulsation; however, bone flap decompression may have an impact on this process. Atmospheric pressure may act on the defective cranial cavity, resulting in a sunken bone window flap and a compressed intracranial cortex, which may lead to neurological function damage, insufficient cerebrospinal fluid volume, and flap sinking syndrome. If the atmospheric pressure increases significantly, the volume of CSF becomes insufficient, resulting in the formation of a paradoxical herniation. Siphoning due to skull defects may lead to excessive drainage of CSF[1], which reduces the intracranial pressure and the "fluid cushion" effect of CSF. Direct compression caused by high atmospheric pressure causes the cranial contents to shift to the normal tissue side, resulting in symptoms of neuropathy. The dural space may be partially deformed or displaced by high air pressure, thus increasing the size of the cerebral cortex and the intracranial venous return flow. This results in the dynamic siphoning effect of CSF, which may also lead to insufficient CSF volume and the occurrence of paradoxical herniation[8,12]. Bender et al[13] suggested that due to the loss of protective support provided by a bone flap as a unilateral decompressor, atmospheric pressure and flap gravity directly act on the flap, the elastic modulus of which is much smaller than that of the skull, resulting in flap collapse. This further diminishes the integrity of the already collapsing flap, causing scalp depression. In addition, surgical damage to the scalp and surrounding tissues leads to the formation of adhesions between the scalp and surrounding tissues and scar formation. With increasing depression, the volume of the cranial cavity gradually decreases, and paradoxical herniation occurs[14,15].

Ignoring the nature of the high compliance and low cranial pressure associated with disordered CSF dynamics, attempting to drain CSF, or using dehydrating agents to change its abnormal distribution will further exacerbate disordered CSF dynamics, destroy the homeostasis of the central nervous system, and seriously worsen nerve function. Because doctors, including neurosurgeons[14] and neurorehabilitation doctors, have some deficiencies in understanding this phenomenon, mannitol dehydration treatment is often administered immediately after the discovery of a cerebral hernia. This method of treatment has been a standard protocol for a long time but results in worsening of both paradoxical herniation and consciousness disorders, thereby affecting patient rehabilitation.

Intracranial pressure can be effectively reduced by placing the patient in the low-head and high-foot supine position [15], discontinuing drugs that promote dehydration, increasing the intravenous fluid supply, eliminating all factors leading to CSF loss (lumbar cisternal drainage, ventriculoperitoneal shingles, and cerebrospinal fluid rhinorrhea and otorrhea), and restoring skull integrity as soon as possible. Restoring the integrity of the skull is not only the aim of treatment for paradoxical herniation [12,13,15] but also a means to improve the blood supply to the brain on the skull defect side in patients with paradoxical herniation and to aid in the recovery of nerve function.

In summary, paradoxical herniation is a rare complication after decompressive craniotomy, but its pathological mechanism is unknown. HBOT may cause paradoxical herniation after decompressive craniotomy. However, due to the limitations of single cases, further studies are needed to confirm the exact role of HBOT in the pathogenesis of paradoxical herniation. To improve the in-depth understanding of paradoxical herniation, early diagnosis and timely detection are necessary to ensure timely implementation of effective treatment measures, such as skull repair. Moreover, effective treatment measures are beneficial for repairing the peripheral nerves of lesions and improving patient prognosis.

#### CONCLUSION

HBOT may cause paradoxical herniation after decompressive craniotomy. Early diagnosis and timely detection are necessary to ensure timely implementation of effective treatment measures, such as skull repair.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ye ZX, Fu XX, Wu YZ, Lin L, Xie LQ, Hu YL, and Zhou Y designed the research study; Ye ZX, Fu XX, Wu YZ, and Lin L performed the research; You ZG analyzed the data; Lin H analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Hai Lin 0009-0000-3890-6340.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: China Medical Education Association, ETCHB-203.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Schwab S, Erbguth F, Aschoff A, Orberk E, Spranger M, Hacke W. ["Paradoxical" herniation after decompressive trephining]. Nervenarzt 1 1998; 69: 896-900 [PMID: 9834480 DOI: 10.1007/s001150050360]
- Greitz D, Franck A, Nordell B. On the pulsatile nature of intracranial and spinal CSF-circulation demonstrated by MR imaging. Acta Radiol 2 1993; 34: 321-328 [PMID: 8318291 DOI: 10.1080/02841859309173251]
- Wagshul ME, Eide PK, Madsen JR. The pulsating brain: A review of experimental and clinical studies of intracranial pulsatility. Fluids 3 Barriers CNS 2011; 8: 5 [PMID: 21349153 DOI: 10.1186/2045-8118-8-5]
- Idris Z, Mustapha M, Abdullah JM. Microgravity environment and compensatory: Decompensatory phases for intracranial hypertension form new perspectives to explain mechanism underlying communicating hydrocephalus and its related disorders. Asian J Neurosurg 2014; 9: 7-13 [PMID: 24891884 DOI: 10.4103/1793-5482.131058]
- 5 Creutzfeldt CJ, Vilela MD, Longstreth WT Jr. Paradoxical herniation after decompressive craniectomy provoked by lumbar puncture or ventriculoperitoneal shunting. J Neurosurg 2015; 123: 1170-1175 [PMID: 26067613 DOI: 10.3171/2014.11.JNS141810]
- Watanabe J, Maruya J, Nishimaki K. Sinking skin flap syndrome after unilateral cranioplasty and ventriculoperitoneal shunt in a patient with 6 bilateral decompressive craniectomy. Interdiscip Neurosurg 2016; 5: 6-8 [DOI: 10.1016/j.inat.2016.03.010]
- Nasi D, Dobran M, Iacoangeli M, Di Somma L, Gladi M, Scerrati M. Paradoxical Brain Herniation After Decompressive Craniectomy 7 Provoked by Drainage of Subdural Hygroma. World Neurosurg 2016; 91: 673.e1-673.e4 [PMID: 27108031 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2016.04.041]
- Shen L, Qiu S, Su Z, Ma X, Yan R. Lumbar puncture as possible cause of sudden paradoxical herniation in patient with previous 8 decompressive craniectomy: report of two cases. BMC Neurol 2017; 17: 147 [PMID: 28768486 DOI: 10.1186/s12883-017-0931-1]
- 9 Zhao J, Li G, Zhang Y, Zhu X, Hou K. Sinking skin flap syndrome and paradoxical herniation secondary to lumbar drainage. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2015; 133: 6-10 [PMID: 25817571 DOI: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2015.03.010]
- 10 Galbiati G, Paola C. Effects of Open and Closed Endotracheal Suctioning on Intracranial Pressure and Cerebral Perfusion Pressure in Adult Patients With Severe Brain Injury: A Literature Review. J Neurosci Nurs 2015; 47: 239-246 [PMID: 25951310 DOI: 10.1097/JNN.00000000000146
- Wee HY, Kuo JR. Never neglect the atmospheric pressure effect on a brain with a skull defect. Int Med Case Rep J 2014; 7: 67-69 [PMID: 11 24741332 DOI: 10.2147/IMCRJ.S59410]
- Hiruta R, Jinguji S, Sato T, Murakami Y, Bakhit M, Kuromi Y, Oda K, Fujii M, Sakuma J, Saito K. Acute paradoxical brain herniation after 12 decompressive craniectomy for severe traumatic brain injury: A case report. Surg Neurol Int 2019; 10: 79 [PMID: 31528417 DOI: 10.25259/SNI-235-2019
- Bender PD, Brown AEC. Head of the Bed Down: Paradoxical Management for Paradoxical Herniation. Clin Pract Cases Emerg Med 2019; 3: 13 208-210 [PMID: 31403093 DOI: 10.5811/cpcem.2019.4.41331]
- Jung HJ, Kim DM, Kim SW. Paradoxical transtentorial herniation caused by lumbar puncture after decompressive craniectomy. J Korean 14 Neurosurg Soc 2012; 51: 102-104 [PMID: 22500203 DOI: 10.3340/jkns.2012.51.2.102]
- 15 Narro-Donate JM, Huete-Allut A, Escribano-Mesa JA, Rodríguez-Martínez V, Contreras-Jiménez A, Masegosa-González J. [Paradoxical transtentorial herniation, extreme trephined syndrome sign: A case report]. Neurocirugia (Astur) 2015; 26: 95-99 [PMID: 25455761 DOI: 10.1016/j.neucir.2014.09.006]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1799-1803

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1799

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Subdural effusion associated with COVID-19 encephalopathy: A case report

Zhi-Yuan Xue, Zhong-Lin Xiao, Ming Cheng, Tao Xiang, Xiao-Li Wu, Qiao-Ling Ai, Yang-Ling Wu, Tao Yang

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kawahara H, Japan

Received: November 16, 2023 Peer-review started: November 16, 2023 First decision: December 26, 2023 Revised: January 7, 2024

Accepted: March 8, 2024 Article in press: March 8, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Zhi-Yuan Xue, Ming Cheng, Tao Xiang, Xiao-Li Wu, Qiao-Ling Ai, Yang-Ling Wu, Tao Yang, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Chengdu Jinniu District People's Hospital, Chengdu 610000, Sichuan Province, China

Zhong-Lin Xiao, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, The General Hospital of the Western Theater Command of the People's Liberation Army of China, Chengdu 610000, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Ming Cheng, MD, PhD, Director, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Chengdu Jinniu District People's Hospital, No. 389 Huazhaobi Road, Jinniu District, Chengdu 610000, Sichuan Province, China. 516436950@qq.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

The precise mechanism by which severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) impacts the central nervous system remains unclear, with manifestations spanning from mild symptoms (e.g., olfactory and gustatory deficits, hallucinations, and headache) to severe complications (e.g., stroke, seizures, encephalitis, and neurally demyelinating lesions). The occurrence of single-pass subdural effusion, as described below, is extremely rare.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 56-year-old male patient presented with left-sided limb weakness and slurred speech as predominant clinical symptoms. Through comprehensive imaging and diagnostic assessments, he was diagnosed with cerebral infarction complicated by hemorrhagic transformation affecting the right frontal, temporal, and parietal regions. In addition, an intracranial infection with SARS-CoV-2 was identified during the rehabilitation process; consequently, an idiopathic subdural effusion developed. Remarkably, the subdural effusion underwent absorption within 6 d, with no recurrence observed during the 3-month follow-up.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Subdural effusion is a potentially rare intracranial complication associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Key Words: Cerebral infarction; Hemorrhagic transformation; Subdural effusion; COVID-19 encephalopathy; Novel coronavirus infection; Brain fog; Case report



©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) may transmit *via* the retrograde axonal pathway, bloodstream, or direct penetration through the blood-brain barrier, exerting its effects on angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptors. This intricate interaction can cause neurological complications, including subdural effusion, which is very rare. Clinical vigilance is advised for cranial imaging in individuals with SARS-CoV-2 infection to enhance diagnostic precision. Considering its unique characteristics, subdural effusion, a seldom reported complication, warrants attention.

Citation: Xue ZY, Xiao ZL, Cheng M, Xiang T, Wu XL, Ai QL, Wu YL, Yang T. Subdural effusion associated with COVID-19 encephalopathy: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1799-1803 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1799.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1799

#### INTRODUCTION

Subdural effusion or subdural hydrocele commonly stems from craniocerebral trauma, postcranial surgery, or cerebral atrophy. Typically presenting unilaterally or bilaterally in the frontotemporal region, symptoms include headache, dizziness, cognitive alterations, and mood changes. Its slow absorption may progress to chronic subdural hematoma, with treatment options ranging from medications to surgical interventions such as bone flap craniotomy, subdural effusion capsule wall stripping, abdominal shunt, and external drainage[1-4]. This report presents a unique case of subdural effusion that formed after severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection but was remarkably resolved within 6 d, showcasing a rare and expeditious resolution.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 56-year-old male presented with a sudden onset of left-sided limb weakness for over 20 d.

#### History of present illness

On November 25, 2021, the patient experienced a sudden onset of left-sided limb weakness accompanied by slurred speech. After a comprehensive examination, he was diagnosed with cerebral infarction with hemorrhagic transformation affecting the right frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes. He was then treated for his cranial hemorrhage symptoms. Throughout the hospitalization period, he exhibited fever, dyspnea, and generalized muscular aches and pains. The patient's temperature fluctuated at 38.0 °C, accompanied by headache, hallucinations, and incoherent speech.

#### History of past illness

He had primary hypertension for 4 years, with a maximum blood pressure of 188/106 mmHg. The patient was on longterm oral medication with sacubitril/valsartan sodium tablets (100 mg) once a day.

#### Personal and family history

The patient denied any personal or family history of related diseases.

#### Physical examination

The patient was unresponsive, a shallow left nasolabial groove, slurred speech, difficulty swallowing fluids (leading to choking), slight neck resistance, a positive Kernig's sign, and muscle strength graded at 0, 2, and 5 in the left-upper, leftlower, and right limbs, respectively, were observed. Reduced muscle tone in the left upper limb, decreased pharyngeal reflexes, and a positive Babinski's sign on the left side were also observed. The remaining systematic examination did not reveal any positive signs.

#### Laboratory examinations

The patient's laboratory examination results were as follows: Platelet count,  $462 \times 10^{\circ}/L$  (reference range: 100-300/L); sodium level, 125 mmol/L (reference range: 135-145 mmol/L); positive throat swab test result for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19); C-reactive protein level, 44.18 mg/L (reference range: 0-10 mg/L); and blood gas analysis, 60 mmHg (reference range: 83-108 mmHg). Furthermore, inflammatory factors were elevated, with interleukin (IL)-2, IL-6, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a) at 878.54, 62.83, 136.15, and 111.14 U/mL (reference range: 160-625, 0-7, 0-9.5, and 0-8.5 U/mL), respectively. Lumbar puncture revealed a cerebrospinal fluid pressure of 150 mmH<sub>2</sub>O (reference range: 80-180 mmH<sub>2</sub>O). The cerebrospinal fluid analysis for SARS-CoV-2 showed specific gene Ct values: N gene Ct value of



35.5429 and ORF1ab gene Ct value of 30.3402 (reference range: > 40 for both). Routine biochemistry of cerebrospinal fluid revealed no abnormalities. Cultures and a full set of viral screenings did not detect pathogens such as bacteria, fungi, parasites, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex, Mycoplasma, or Chlamydia. Moreover, cerebrospinal fluid and serum specimens were negative for autoimmune encephalitis antibodies, paraneoplastic syndrome autoantibody profile semiquantitative test, and ganglioside antibody profile. Coagulation function and procalcitonin levels also showed no abnormalities. Electroencephalogram results showed bilateral symmetrical diffuse slow waves.

#### Imaging examinations

Cranial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed a typical infarction in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes, along with brain atrophy indications. On magnetic resonance angiography, the right internal carotid artery and middle cerebral artery were largely undetected, and the walls of the left internal carotid artery, left middle cerebral artery MI segment, and bilateral posterior cerebral arteries exhibited abnormalities (Figure 1A and B). On December 28, 2021, a repeat cranial computed tomography (CT) scan revealed infarction with hemorrhagic transformation in the right frontal, temporal, parietal, and basal ganglia areas, and chest CT showed scattered patchy shadows in the lungs (Figure 1C). On March 15, 2022, cranial MRI revealed new subdural effusion in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal areas (Figure 1D), with subsequent absorption of the subdural effusions on March 21 (Figure 1E).

#### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The patient was diagnosed with the following: (1) Cerebral infarction with hemorrhagic transformation on the right frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes (atherosclerotic large artery type); (2) Cerebral atrophy; (3) Primary hypertension, grade 3 (extremely high-risk group); (4) Pneumonia associated with COVID-19; (5) COVID-19 encephalitis; (6) Subdural effusion; and (7) Hyponatremia.

#### TREATMENT

The patient received the following: Aspirin enteric-coated tablet (100 mg) orally once a day, rosuvastatin calcium tablet (10 mg) orally at night, butylphthalide soft capsule (0.2 g) orally thrice a day, sacubitril/valsartan sodium tablet (100 mg) orally once a day, and early comprehensive rehabilitation training. He was also prescribed nemavirit (300 mg)/ritonavir (100 mg) tablet orally every 12 h for 5 d, methylprednisolone sodium succinate injection (40 mg) intravenously once a day, and acetylglutamide injection (0.6 g) intravenously once a day.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

At 3 months after discharge, we noted that the patient's left-sided limb weakness had improved, and he had clear speech and mild headache that did not disrupt his sleep or daily activities (Figure 1F). The patient's condition has remained stable without any noteworthy concerns.

#### DISCUSSION

Subdural effusions encompass regressive, stable, progressive, and evolving types, with craniocerebral trauma being the predominant cause. The stable and evolving types are more common among older adults, often progressing slowly and occasionally evolving into chronic subdural hematomas necessitating surgical intervention when conservative approaches fail. Conversely, regressive types are more prevalent in young individuals, showcasing optimal healing outcomes, and progressive types, which are found more commonly in pediatrics, exhibit severe symptoms, neurological deficits, and the highest mortality rate[5]. In the case of our elderly male patient, the subdural effusion spontaneously resolved in only 6 d, aligning with the typical characteristics of regressive subdural effusion.

We analyzed the potential causes of subdural effusion. First, SARS-CoV-2 has a neuroinvasive and neurophilic nature, as seen in the associations of subdural effusion with other viruses, such as enterovirus 71, herpes simplex virus type 1, and Epstein-Barr virus[6]. However, currently, only one case of subdural effusion associated with SARS-CoV-2 has been reported[7]. Involvement in the central nervous system (CNS) by the virus primarily occurs through direct invasion, inflammatory response activation, and autoimmune response induction. Excessive immune activation leads to the intracranial infiltration of inflammatory cells and upregulation of proinflammatory factors such as IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , resulting in a "cytokine inflammatory storm". The virus enters the CNS through the interstitial space between endothelial cells and affects the angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptor, causing brain tissue damage and cerebrospinal fluid extravasation[8-12]. Second, blood-brain barrier permeability may be altered. The complex mechanism of cerebral infarction with hemorrhagic transformation involves the release of oxygen-free radicals, inflammatory factors, and cytokines and the degradation of collagen and laminin by brain cell extracellular matrix metalloproteins. This event affects the structural integrity of endothelial cells, basement membranes, and the perivascular pedicle of astrocytes. The



**Figure 1 Cranial magnetic resonance imaging.** A: Cranial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed distinct, patchy, nodular long T2 signal shadows in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes; B: Head and neck MRI displayed non-visualization of the right internal carotid and middle cerebral arteries, particularly noting superficial shadows in the right internal carotid siphon, the middle cerebral artery M1 segment, and the right anterior cerebral artery A1 segment (indicated by arrow); C: Chest computed tomography showed scattered patchy shadows in the lungs; D: Cranial MRI displayed new subdural effusion in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal regions; E: Cranial MRI displayed marked absorption of subdural effusion in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal regions at 6 d after its appearance; F: Head computed tomography displayed the scar of cerebral infarction with hemorrhagic transformation in the right frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes at 3 months after discharge.

patient's right cerebral hemispheric parenchyma displayed edema, and MRI revealed fragmented protein deposition in the lesion, further implying blood-brain barrier disruption. Third, brain atrophy could be a potential cause. Cranial CT and MRI revealed ventricular enlargement, cerebral pool enlargement, cerebral sulcus and fissure deepening, and brain tissue volume reduction. Brain atrophy coupled with compensatory dilation of the subdural space was considered to be a factor leading to subdural effusion.

In summary, the mechanisms by which SARS-CoV-2 affects the CNS are insufficiently understood. This virus may use various routes of transmission, ranging from retrograde axonal pathways to bloodstream transmission and direct transmission through the blood-brain barrier. Clinical manifestations may range from mild symptoms (*e.g.*, olfactory and taste deficits) to severe ones (*e.g.*, stroke, seizures, encephalitis, and neurally demyelinating lesions)[13-15]. Subdural effusion has been proposed as a potentially rare feature of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Hence, early evaluation of brain imaging in infected patients is crucial to promptly detect neurological involvement, with timely screening and intervention playing a critical role in reducing subsequent morbidity and mortality.

#### CONCLUSION

Subdural effusion is a potentially rare intracranial complication associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Ming Cheng for his editing assistance.

Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors made a significant contribution to the work reported, whether that was in the conception, study design, execution, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, or in all these areas; all authors took part in drafting, revising, or critically reviewing the article; gave final approval of the version to be published; have agreed on the journal to which the article has been submitted; and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Informed consent statement: The study participant provided written informed consent before enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Zhi-Yuan Xue 0000-0003-1146-4188; Ming Cheng 0000-0003-0270-0951.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Yu J, Tang J, Chen M, Ren Q, He J, Tang M, Zhang X, Liu Z, Ding H. Traumatic subdural hygroma and chronic subdural hematoma: A 1 systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Neurosci 2023; 107: 23-33 [PMID: 36462413 DOI: 10.1016/j.jocn.2022.11.010]
- 2 Xie D, Xie J, Wan Y, Qi X, Yang S. The Comparison Between Surgical Procedure and Conservative Treatment in the Management of Traumatic Subdural Effusion. Turk Neurosurg 2016; 26: 725-731 [PMID: 27337229 DOI: 10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.11826-14.1]
- 3 Zhou JY, Zhang X, Gao HB, Cao Z, Sun W. Endoscopic-assisted surgery for skull defects with subdural effusion. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne 2021; 16: 219-226 [PMID: 33786137 DOI: 10.5114/wiitm.2020.99350]
- Hagan MJ, Volpe JK. Subdural Hygroma: A Rare Complication of a Common Brain Malformation. R I Med J (2013) 2021; 104: 40-43 4 [PMID: 34044437]
- Fan G, Ding J, Wang H, Wang Y, Liu Y, Wang C, Li Z. Risk factors for the development of chronic subdural hematoma in patients with 5 subdural hygroma. Br J Neurosurg 2021; 35: 1-6 [PMID: 31992088 DOI: 10.1080/02688697.2020.1717444]
- Lee KY. Enterovirus 71 infection and neurological complications. Korean J Pediatr 2016; 59: 395-401 [PMID: 27826325 DOI: 6 10.3345/kjp.2016.59.10.395]
- Martio AE, Carregosa ALDS, Karam OR, Padua WL, Mesquita Filho PM. Spontaneous subdural effusion in a hospitalized Covid-19 patient: 7 Case report. Brain Hemorrhages 2023 [PMID: 36817286 DOI: 10.1016/j.hest.2023.02.002]
- Ladopoulos T, Zand R, Shahjouei S, Chang JJ, Motte J, Charles James J, Katsanos AH, Kerro A, Farahmand G, Vaghefi Far A, Rahimian N, 8 Ebrahimzadeh SA, Abedi V, Papathanasiou M, Labedi A, Schneider R, Lukas C, Tsiodras S, Tsivgoulis G, Krogias C. COVID-19: Neuroimaging Features of a Pandemic. J Neuroimaging 2021; 31: 228-243 [PMID: 33421032 DOI: 10.1111/jon.12819]
- Wu H, Zhu H, Yuan C, Yao C, Luo W, Shen X, Wang J, Shao J, Xiang Y. Clinical and Immune Features of Hospitalized Pediatric Patients 9 With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Wuhan, China. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3: e2010895 [PMID: 32492165 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.10895]
- Stein SR, Ramelli SC, Grazioli A, Chung JY, Singh M, Yinda CK, Winkler CW, Sun J, Dickey JM, Ylaya K, Ko SH, Platt AP, Burbelo PD, 10 Quezado M, Pittaluga S, Purcell M, Munster VJ, Belinky F, Ramos-Benitez MJ, Boritz EA, Lach IA, Herr DL, Rabin J, Saharia KK, Madathil RJ, Tabatabai A, Soherwardi S, McCurdy MT; NIH COVID-19 Autopsy Consortium, Peterson KE, Cohen JI, de Wit E, Vannella KM, Hewitt SM, Kleiner DE, Chertow DS. SARS-CoV-2 infection and persistence in the human body and brain at autopsy. Nature 2022; 612: 758-763 [PMID: 36517603 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-022-05542-y]
- Payus AO, Jeffree MS, Ohn MH, Tan HJ, Ibrahim A, Chia YK, Raymond AA. Immune-mediated neurological syndrome in SARS-CoV-2 11 infection: a review of literature on autoimmune encephalitis in COVID-19. Neurol Sci 2022; 43: 1533-1547 [PMID: 34853897 DOI: 10.1007/s10072-021-05785-z
- 12 Yachou Y, El Idrissi A, Belapasov V, Ait Benali S. Neuroinvasion, neurotropic, and neuroinflammatory events of SARS-CoV-2: understanding the neurological manifestations in COVID-19 patients. Neurol Sci 2020; 41: 2657-2669 [PMID: 32725449 DOI: 10.1007/s10072-020-04575-3
- Erickson MA, Rhea EM, Knopp RC, Banks WA. Interactions of SARS-CoV-2 with the Blood-Brain Barrier. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 13 33800954 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22052681]
- 14 Mahalakshmi AM, Ray B, Tuladhar S, Bhat A, Paneyala S, Patteswari D, Sakharkar MK, Hamdan H, Ojcius DM, Bolla SR, Essa MM, Chidambaram SB, Qoronfleh MW. Does COVID-19 contribute to development of neurological disease? Immun Inflamm Dis 2021; 9: 48-58 [PMID: 33332737 DOI: 10.1002/iid3.387]
- Iroegbu JD, Ifenatuoha CW, Ijomone OM. Potential neurological impact of coronaviruses: implications for the novel SARS-CoV-2. Neurol 15 Sci 2020; 41: 1329-1337 [PMID: 32424503 DOI: 10.1007/s10072-020-04469-4]



W J C C World Journal C Clinical Cases

# World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1804-1809

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1804

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Cemented vertebra and adjacent vertebra refractured in a chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder patient: A case report

Ti-Dong Zhang, Shuai Cao, Hui-Yong Ren, Yu-Min Li, Yi-Ming Yuan

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ohashi N, Japan; Sanyal D, India

Received: November 14, 2023 Peer-review started: November 14, 2023 First decision: January 23, 2024 Revised: February 5, 2024

Accepted: March 8, 2024 Article in press: March 8, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Ti-Dong Zhang, Shuai Cao, Hui-Yong Ren, Yu-Min Li, Yi-Ming Yuan, Department of Orthopedics, Civil Aviation General Hospital, Beijing 100123, China

Corresponding author: Yi-Ming Yuan, MM, Doctor, Department of Orthopedics, Civil Aviation General Hospital, No. 1 Gaojing Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100123, China. yim122@126.com

## Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Although percutaneous vertebral augmentation (PVA) is a commonly used procedure for treating vertebral compression fracture (VCF), the risk of vertebral refracture should be considered. Chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is a systemic disease of mineral and bone metabolism. It is associated with an increased risk of fracture. Few studies have reported the use of PVA in patients with CKD-MBD. We herein report a rare case wherein the cemented vertebra and the adjacent vertebra refractured simultaneously in a CKD-MBD patient after PVA.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 74-year-old man suffered from low back pain after taking a fall about 3 wk ago. According to physical examination, imaging and laboratory findings, diagnoses of T12 VCF, CKD-MBD, and chronic kidney disease stage 5 were established. He then received percutaneous vertebroplasty at T12 vertebra. Fourteen weeks later, he presented with T12 and L1 vertebral refractures caused by lumbar sprain. Once again, he was given PVA which was optimized for the refractured vertebrae. Although the short-term postoperative effect was satisfactory, he reported chronic low back pain again at the 3-month follow-up.

#### CONCLUSION

It is necessary that patients with CKD-MBD who have received PVA are aware of the adverse effects of CKD-MBD. It may increase the risk of vertebral refracture. Furthermore, the PVA surgical technique needs to be optimized according to the condition of the patient. The medium- and long-term effects of PVA remain uncertain in patients with CKD-MBD.

Key Words: Chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder; Percutaneous vertebral augmentation; Vertebral compression fracture; Vertebral refracture; Cemented vertebra; Adjacent vertebra; Case report



©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This is a rare case wherein the cemented vertebra and the adjacent vertebra refractured simultaneously in a chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) patient after percutaneous vertebral augmentation (PVA). He was given PVA once more, which was optimized for the refractured vertebrae. While, the medium- and long-term effects were not satisfactory. It is necessary that patients with CKD-MBD who have received PVA are aware of the adverse effects of CKD-MBD.

Citation: Zhang TD, Cao S, Ren HY, Li YM, Yuan YM. Cemented vertebra and adjacent vertebra refractured in a chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder patient: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1804-1809 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1804.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1804

#### INTRODUCTION

Percutaneous vertebral augmentation (PVA), including percutaneous vertebroplasty (PVP) and percutaneous kyphoplasty (PKP), is widely recognized as a suitable procedure for vertebral compression fracture (VCF). However, vertebral refracture is a common concern after PVA. Chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is a systemic disorder of mineral and bone metabolism caused by CKD and is associated with an increased risk of hip and vertebral fractures[1,2]. The vertebral fracture is relatively common in patients with CKD-MBD. A previous study has shown that PVA can relieve pain and disability in these patients<sup>[3]</sup>, whereas few studies have reported the refracture of the vertebrae. Here, we report a rare case of simultaneous fracture of a cemented vertebra and an adjacent vertebra in a patient with CKD-MBD after PVA.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

The patient was a 74-year-old man who experienced persistent low back pain after taking a fall about 3 wk ago.

#### History of present illness

The patient took a fall 3 wk ago, and then, he suffered from persistent and drastic lower back pain, and he was barely able to stand and walk.

#### History of past illness

The patient was diagnosed as having CKD stage 5 in 2006, and since then, he has undergone hemodialysis three times a week and was prescribed oral calcium (1000 mg/d) and calcitriol ( $0.5 \ \mu g/d$ ). The causative disease of CKD was not clear. He was diagnosed with urothelium carcinoma in 2012 and received surgical treatment.

#### Personal and family history

The patient and his family had no history of fragility fracture, and he had no history of chronic low back pain.

#### Physical examination

Tenderness was found at the thoracolumbar vertebrae, but there were no neurological signs or symptoms. His body mass index was 16.7 kg/ $m^2$ .

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory examination (Table 1) revealed bone metabolism abnormalities in the patient.

#### Imaging examinations

The computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging revealed T12 VCF (Figure 1A-C). The L1-L4 bone mineral density (BMD) was 0.922 (T score: -1.3), and the femoral neck BMD was 0.579 (T score: -3.1).

#### FINAL DIAGNOSIS

According to the history, physical examination, laboratory and imaging examinations, he was diagnosed as having T12 VCF, CKD-MBD, and CKD stage 5. The secondary causes like hyperparathyroidism, osteomalacia, and malignant tumors



#### Zhang TD et al. Vertebra refractured in a CKD-MBD patient

Table 1 Results of laboratory examinations for the two admissions					
	Serum calcium (mmol/L)	Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	Parathyroid hormone (pg/mL)	Vitamin D (ng/mL)	Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)
1st admission	2.45	2.74	562.2	9.25	53
2 <sup>nd</sup> admission	2.16	1.71	557.4	8.57	60



Figure 1 Pre- and post-operative images of T12 vertebral compression fracture. A: preoperative sagittal computed tomography; B: preoperative T1weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI); C: preoperative T2-weighted fat-suppressed MRI; D: postoperative anteroposterior radiograph; E: postoperative lateral radiograph. Orange arrow: The intravertebral cleft in the vertebra.

were excluded.

#### TREATMENT

He underwent hemodialysis and was prescribed oral medicine as usual. After full preoperative testing and preparation, the patient received T12 PVP (left pedicle approach, cement injection: 3 mL). Typically, the standard procedures of PVP and PKP are the surgical treatment for VCF in patients with CKD-MBD. However, in this case, to fill the intravertebral cleft (IVC; Figure 1, orange arrow) with cement, we penetrated the cleft as precisely as possible during the operation. Postoperatively, the X-ray (Figure 1D and E) revealed that the IVC was filled with the cement without any leakage.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The pain was alleviated significantly on the first postoperative day: The visual analog scale (VAS) score had decreased from 9 to 2, the Oswestry disability index (ODI) score had decreased from 72.5 to 47.5, and he was discharged 3 d later.

Baisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

During 14th week postoperatively, low back pain occurred again after a lumbar sprain, but he showed no neurological signs or symptoms. CT and bone scan showed T12 and L1 VCFs (Figure 2A-C, thin arrow), the IVC around the injected cement (Figure 2, orange arrow), and the rupture of the posterior vertebral wall (Figure 2, white arrow). The results of the laboratory examination were similar to the previous findings (Table 1). This time, he was diagnosed as having L1 VCF, T12 cemented vertebral refracture, CKD-MBD, and CKD stage 5. After clinical assessment and discussion, we decided to operate again with a further optimized and improved method.

L1 PKP (left pedicle approach, cement injection: 4 mL) was performed as usual, whereas the T12 vertebra was punctured bilaterally (PVP, cement injection: 4 mL). On the left side, a hole in the previous bone cement was drilled using a fine drill, and then, the newly mixed bone cement was injected into the hole and vertebra. The procedure was as usual on the right side. The postoperative X-ray (Figure 2D and E) showed a little cement leakage (Figure 2, bold arrow) in the T12 segment. No neurological signs or symptoms were identified postoperatively. The next day, he could stand and walk with a brace. The VAS score had decreased from 9 to 3, and the ODI score had decreased from 95 to 57.5. He was satisfied with the treatment and discharged 4 d later.

At 1-month follow-up, the VAS score was 2 and ODI was 27.5. The patient complained of chronic low back pain at the 3-month telephonic follow-up, and his VAS score and ODI were found to be 5 and 47.5, respectively. However, owing to loss of follow-up, his imaging examination scheduled to be done at 3-month follow-up could not be performed.

#### DISCUSSION

Cemented vertebral refracture rarely co-occurs with the adjacent vertebral refracture after PVA in patients with CKD-MBD. The incidence rate of cemented vertebral refracture is reportedly 0.56%-12.5% [4], and its risk factors include age, low BMD, the IVC, high anterior vertebral height restoration, high Cobb angle restoration, and low cement dose in the previous operation[5]. Furthermore, the rate of adjacent vertebral refracture is reportedly 9.9%–16.2%[6-9], and its risk factors include intradiscal cement leakage[6], low BMD, female[10], exceeded cement injection[10], preoperative segmental kyphosis >30°[8], and rheumatoid arthritis and cardiovascular disease[8]. Few studies have reported simultaneous refracture of cemented vertebrae and adjacent vertebrae.

In this case, low BMD and low cement dose in the previous operation may be the factors related to the dual refracture. The minimum volume of cement recommended in the thoracolumbar vertebra is 4-6 mL[11]; however, only 3 mL of the cement was injected in the first operation. In our patient, abnormalities in bone turnover and mineralization caused by CKD-MBD led to low BMD, and we believe this was the most predominant factor resulting in T12 and L1 vertebra refracture. Previous studies have reported that the IVC is the presentation of ischemic vertebral osteonecrosis complicated with fracture nonunion and pseudoarthrosis<sup>[12]</sup>, the histomorphological feature of which is delayed callus mineralization [13].

In the T12 vertebra, IVCs were found both times he was admitted to the hospital. For the first visit at the 3rd week after injury, the abnormality in mineralization and the fracture nonunion caused the formation of the IVC, and its imaging findings were typical [13,14]. At the time of refracture, the IVC formed around the cement again because of abnormal bone mineralization. A large IVC reduced or nullified the strengthening effect of the cement, and the cement even made the vertebra more unstable, thus leading to a fracture even after a minor traumatic injury.

For the L1 vertebra, the low BMD and biomechanical changes of the adjacent vertebra<sup>[15]</sup> together resulted in the refracture. Thus, the refractures of the vertebrae in this case were both related to the abnormal bone mineralization and low BMD caused by CKD-MBD.

The distribution of cement and filling with cement in the IVC may reportedly influence the clinical outcome [16,17]. In the first operation, we did our best to ensure that the IVC was full of cement and there was sufficient cement distribution. According to the CT findings (Figure 2A and B) acquired after the refracture, although the IVC was completely filled with the cement, the cement was not distributed well. Meanwhile, a larger IVC formed in T12 vertebra, which was accompanied by rupture of the posterior vertebral wall. The surgical technique was optimized to bond the old and the new cement with each other; the IVC was filled with the cement, and more cement was injected into the vertebra. In this way, cement was diffusely distributed, and the stability of the vertebra was enhanced.

The findings of Mo *et al*[18] and Li *et al*[19] establish that cement distribution is associated with the degree of postoperative pain relief. Based on their findings, our patient should have experienced a satisfactory treatment effect; however, he presented with low back pain at 3 months postoperatively. We speculated that the increased stiffness of the cemented vertebrae led to a minimal fracture in the osteoporotic adjacent vertebrae. This implies that medium- and longterm efficacy of PVA may be uncertain in patients with CKD-MBD. Unfortunately, we could not find results of long-term follow-up of these patients in the literature.

Taken together, we consider the following factors to have contributed to the refractures: low BMD, abnormal bone turnover, and abnormal bone mineralization caused by CKD-MBD. These led to the formation of IVCs and may explain why the efficacy was not satisfactory at the last follow-up. The limitation of the case was that bone turnover markers were not tested at the time of admission.

#### CONCLUSION

For the PVA treatment in patients with CKD-MBD, it is necessary to be aware of the adverse effects of CKD-MBD. It may increase the risk of vertebral refracture. PVA surgical technique needed to be optimized according to the condition of the





Figure 2 Cemented vertebral refracture and adjacent vertebral refracture after percutaneous vertebral augmentation. A: preoperative sagittal computed tomography (CT); B: preoperative axial CT; C: bone scan; D: postoperative anteroposterior radiograph; E: postoperative lateral radiograph. Orange arrow: the intravertebral cleft in the vertebra; White arrow: the rupture of the posterior vertebral wall; Thin arrow: The fracture of T12 and L1 vertebrae; Bold arrow: Cement leakage in T12 vertebra.

patient. The medium- and long-term treatment effects of PVA may still be uncertain in patients with CKD-MBD.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yuan YM and Li YM contributed to the conceptualization and project administration; Zhang TD, Cao S, Ren HY investigated the case and data; Zhang TD, Cao S contributed to the visualization; Zhang TD wrote the manuscript; Yuan YM, Cao S reviewed and edited the manuscript; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yi-Ming Yuan 0000-0001-9186-6106.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A



Raishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### REFERENCES

- Vilaca T, Salam S, Schini M, Harnan S, Sutton A, Poku E, Allen IE, Cummings SR, Eastell R. Risks of Hip and Nonvertebral Fractures in 1 Patients With CKD G3a-G5D: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2020; 76: 521-532 [PMID: 32654892 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.02.450
- West SL, Lok CE, Jamal SA. Fracture Risk Assessment in Chronic Kidney Disease, Prospective Testing Under Real World Environments 2 (FRACTURE): a prospective study. BMC Nephrol 2010; 11: 17 [PMID: 20727179 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2369-11-17]
- Chen H, Yang H, Jia P, Bao L, Tang H. Effectiveness of kyphoplasty in the treatment of osteoporotic vertebral compression fracture patients 3 with chronic kidney disease. J Orthop Sci 2016; 21: 571-578 [PMID: 27292116 DOI: 10.1016/j.jos.2016.05.004]
- Li YX, Guo DQ, Zhang SC, Liang D, Yuan K, Mo GY, Li DX, Guo HZ, Tang Y, Luo PJ. Risk factor analysis for re-collapse of cemented 4 vertebrae after percutaneous vertebroplasty (PVP) or percutaneous kyphoplasty (PKP). Int Orthop 2018; 42: 2131-2139 [PMID: 29464371 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-018-3838-6]
- Zhu S, Su Q, Zhang Y, Sun Z, Yin P, Hai Y. Risk factors of cemented vertebral refracture after percutaneous vertebral augmentation: a 5 systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroradiology 2020; 62: 1353-1360 [PMID: 32683478 DOI: 10.1007/s00234-020-02495-9]
- Ko BS, Cho KJ, Park JW. Early Adjacent Vertebral Fractures after Balloon Kyphoplasty for Osteoporotic Vertebral Compression Fractures. 6 Asian Spine J 2019; 13: 210-215 [PMID: 30481974 DOI: 10.31616/asj.2018.0224]
- Yang W, Yang J, Liang M. Percutaneous Vertebroplasty Does Not Increase the Incidence of New Fractures in Adjacent and Nonadjacent 7 Vertebral Bodies. Clin Spine Surg 2019; 32: E99-E106 [PMID: 30394878 DOI: 10.1097/BSD.00000000000734]
- Spross C, Aghayev E, Kocher R, Röder C, Forster T, Kuelling FA. Incidence and risk factors for early adjacent vertebral fractures after 8 balloon kyphoplasty for osteoporotic fractures: analysis of the SWISSspine registry. Eur Spine J 2014; 23: 1332-1338 [PMID: 24197481 DOI: 10.1007/s00586-013-3052-6]
- 9 Uppin AA, Hirsch JA, Centenera LV, Pfiefer BA, Pazianos AG, Choi IS. Occurrence of new vertebral body fracture after percutaneous vertebroplasty in patients with osteoporosis. Radiology 2003; 226: 119-124 [PMID: 12511679 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2261011911]
- Hu L, Sun H, Wang H, Cai J, Tao Y, Feng X, Wang Y. Cement injection and postoperative vertebral fractures during vertebroplasty. J Orthop 10 Surg Res 2019; 14: 228 [PMID: 31324196 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-019-1273-z]
- Martinčič D, Brojan M, Kosel F, Štern D, Vrtovec T, Antolič V, Vengust R. Minimum cement volume for vertebroplasty. Int Orthop 2015; 11 39: 727-733 [PMID: 25500712 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-014-2620-7]
- 12 Chen B, Fan S, Zhao F. Percutaneous balloon kyphoplasty of osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures with intravertebral cleft. Indian J Orthop 2014; 48: 53-59 [PMID: 24600064 DOI: 10.4103/0019-5413.125498]
- Qi H, Qi J, Sun Y, Gao J, Sun J, Wang G. Bone microarchitecture and metabolism in elderly male patients with signs of intravertebral cleft on 13 MRI. Eur Radiol 2022; 32: 3931-3943 [PMID: 34989849 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-021-08458-9]
- 14 Wang C, Zhang X, Liu J, Shan Z, Li S, Zhao F. Percutaneous kyphoplasty: Risk Factors for Recollapse of Cemented Vertebrae. World Neurosurg 2019; 130: e307-e315 [PMID: 31226459 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2019.06.071]
- Boger A, Heini P, Windolf M, Schneider E. Adjacent vertebral failure after vertebroplasty: a biomechanical study of low-modulus PMMA 15 cement. Eur Spine J 2007; 16: 2118-2125 [PMID: 17713795 DOI: 10.1007/s00586-007-0473-0]
- Lv NN, Hou MZ, Zhou ZZ, Feng XX, Liu HJ, Shan FR, Li EH, Guan BY, He SJ, Liu MM. Does the Relationship Between Bone Cement and 16 the Intravertebral Cleft of Kummell Disease Affect the Efficacy of PKP? World Neurosurg 2022; 160: e430-e435 [PMID: 35051635 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2022.01.050]
- Yu W, Xiao X, Zhang J, Li Z, Wang X, Tang F, Jiang X, Zhong Y. Cement Distribution Patterns in Osteoporotic Vertebral Compression 17 Fractures with Intravertebral Cleft: Effect on Therapeutic Efficacy. World Neurosurg 2019; 123: e408-e415 [PMID: 30503288 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2018.11.181]
- Mo L, Wu Z, Liang D, Y L, Cai Z, Huang J, Lin S, Cui J, Zhang S, Yang Z, Yao Z, Jiang X. Influence of bone cement distribution on 18 outcomes following percutaneous vertebroplasty: a retrospective matched-cohort study. J Int Med Res 2021; 49: 3000605211022287 [PMID: 34233516 DOI: 10.1177/03000605211022287]
- Li Q, Long X, Wang Y, Guan T, Fang X, Guo D, Lv J, Hu X, Jiang X, Cai L. Clinical observation of two bone cement distribution modes after 19 percutaneous vertebroplasty for osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2021; 22: 577 [PMID: 34167517 DOI: 10.1186/s12891-021-04480-6]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1810-1816

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1810

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis missed by a radiologist at initial diagnosis: A case report

Min Wang, Yu-Xia Wan, Jin-Wen Liao, Fei Xiong

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Sharma D, India

Received: November 20, 2023 Peer-review started: November 20, 2023 First decision: January 17, 2024 Revised: January 31, 2024 Accepted: March 7, 2024 Article in press: March 7, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Min Wang, Department of Gastroenterology, Changning County People's Hospital, Yibin 644300, Sichuan Province, China

Yu-Xia Wan, Department of Gastroenterology, Qianwei People's Hospital, Leshan 614400, Sichuan Province, China

Jin-Wen Liao, Department of Gastroenterology, The People's Hospital of Jianyang City, Chengdu 641400, Sichuan Province, China

Fei Xiong, Department of Gastroenterology, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu 610000, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Fei Xiong, MD, Attending Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, No. 18 Huanhua North Road, Chengdu 610000, Sichuan Province, China. feiji19841984@gmail.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis (IMP) is a rare type of ischemic colitis characterized by thickening of the wall of the right hemicolon and calcification, sclerosis, and fibrosis of mesenteric veins. The diagnosis of IMP is based on typical clinical features and imaging findings. We report a case of IMP that was initially missed by the radiologist.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 77-year-old woman was admitted to the hospital due to chronic diarrhea for over 2 months. She had been consuming Chinese patent medicines (CPM) containing fructus gardeniae for more than 15 years. Colonoscopy revealed an edematous mucosa, bluish-purple discoloration, erosions, and ulcerations throughout the colorectal area. Abdominal computed tomography (CT) showed diffuse mural thickening of the entire colorectum, with tortuous thread-like calcifications in the right hemicolon, left hemicolon, and rectum. Most of the calcifications were located in the mesenteric vein. The diagnosis of IMP was established based on medical history, colonoscopy, CT findings, and histopathological examination. The patient was treated conservatively with papaverine and rifaximin, and CPM was stopped. Her diarrhea symptoms improved, indicating the effectiveness of the treatment. Over the next several years, she took opium alkaloids for an extended period and did not require hospitalization for the



aforementioned gastrointestinal disorder.

#### CONCLUSION

IMP is a rare gastrointestinal disease affecting Asian populations, possibly related to long-term herbal medicine intake. Accurate imaging analysis is crucial for diagnosis, but insufficient understanding of the disease can lead to misdiagnosis or missed diagnosis. Treatment strategies should be personalized.

Key Words: Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis; Computed tomography; Colonoscopy; Chinese patent medicines; Fructus gardeniae; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis (IMP) is a rare type of ischemic colitis characterized by thickening of the wall of the right hemicolon and calcification, sclerosis, and fibrosis of mesenteric veins. The diagnosis is based on typical clinical features and abdominal imaging. We report a case of IMP that was initially missed by the radiologist. Finally, IMP was diagnosed by a clinically experienced endoscopist.

Citation: Wang M, Wan YX, Liao JW, Xiong F. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis missed by a radiologist at initial diagnosis: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1810-1816 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1810.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1810

#### INTRODUCTION

Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis (IMP) is a rare form of ischemic colitis characterized by thickening of the wall of the right hemicolon and calcification, sclerosis, and fibrosis of mesenteric veins[1]. This clinical entity was first described by Yao et al<sup>[2]</sup> in 1989, and it was proposed to be named as IMP in 2003<sup>[3]</sup>. In the early stages of the disease, patients may be asymptomatic or have atypical symptoms. As the disease progresses, patients may present with abdominal pain, abnormal stool, or intestinal obstruction<sup>[4]</sup>. The diagnosis of IMP is based on the characteristic clinical features and abdominal imaging findings<sup>[5]</sup>. However, we encountered a case of IMP that was initially missed by the radiologist.

### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 77-year-old woman was admitted to the hospital with chronic diarrhea for more than 2 months.

#### History of present illness

Symptoms started more than 2 months before presentation with chronic diarrhea.

#### History of past illness

The patient had a history of taking Chinese patent medicines (CPM) containing fructus gardeniae for more than 15 years for treatment of constipation. Four years back, she was diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. There was no history of infectious diseases (such as hepatitis or tuberculosis), hypertension, coronary heart disease, or diabetes.

#### Personal and family history

There was no family history of malignant tumors.

#### Physical examination

On physical examination, there was severe edema in the patient's lower legs and her abdomen was distended and mildly tender.

#### Laboratory examinations

Initial laboratory investigations showed hypoalbuminemia (albumin: 30.8 g/L), electrolyte imbalance (K<sup>+</sup>: 2.38 mmol/L; Na<sup>+</sup>: 128.4 µmol/L; Cl<sup>-</sup>: 90.8 mmol/L), and anemia (hemoglobin: 78 g/L). Other laboratory indices were normal. Polymerase chain reaction for Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNA, cytomegalovirus (CMV)-BD, and CMV-KT were all negative. The enzyme immunoassay for Clostridium difficile toxins A and B were also negative. The stool bacterium culture was negative.



#### Imaging examinations

Carotid color Doppler flow imaging showed carotid atherosclerosis plaque. Abdominal sonography showed the presence of ascites. The initial abdominal computed tomography (CT) scan did not clearly depict numerous thread-like calcifications within the right-side mesenteric veins and their branches. These calcifications appeared denser in intramural tributaries, marginal veins, and vena recti peripherally. Colonoscopy revealed an edematous mucosa with bluish-purple discoloration, erosions, and ulcerations throughout the colorectal region (Figure 1). Histopathological examination showed mild inflammation and granulomatous reactions (Figure 2).



Figure 1 Colonoscopy findings. A: Bluish purple mucosa with multiple ulcers in the ascending colon; B: A deep ulcer in the rectum.



Figure 2 Histological examination. A and B: Mild inflammation and granulomatous reaction were observed.

#### MULTIDISCIPLINARY EXPERT CONSULTATION

After reevaluating the abdominal CT images in conjunction with colonoscopy findings, a tentative diagnosis of IMP was considered. Further observation of the abdominal CT images exhibited diffuse mural thickening of the entire colon and rectum, with tortuous thread-like calcifications in the right hemicolon, left hemicolon, and rectum. Notably, most of these calcifications were located within the mesenteric vein (Figure 3). Arterial calcification usually occurs in the major arteries. However, it exhibits an irregular and patchy appearance, and usually there are no large areas of point-like fine linear calcifications. Our patient had a plaque in the abdominal aorta and showed stratified calcification in the intestinal wall (Figure 4A and B). The number of point-like intensifications in the arterial and venous phases in similar areas at the same level varied. There was more punctate reinforcement in the arterial phase than in the venous phase, and the punctate reinforcement in the venous phase indicates the foci of calcification (Figure 4C and D). Mesenteric venous calcification points, usually compared to the same level of the venous phase, can be found in the relatively dense occurrence of punctate and linear enhanced areas. In contrast to the arterial phase, the point of disappearance and the position of linear enhancement in the venous phase are usually near the calcification point, and some of the linear enhancement sites become point-like locations, suggesting that there may be arterial enhancement near the calcification point at the same time, which makes the imaging turn linear. It becomes punctate calcification only after the venous phase, relatively in a



Zaishideng<sup>®</sup> WJCC https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Plain abdominal computed tomography. A-C: Diffuse mural thickening of the total colorectum and tortuous thread-like calcification were observed in the right hemicolon, left hemicolon, and rectum; D: Multiphase, contrast-enhanced computed tomography showed that most calcifications are located in the mesenteric vein.

nearby concomitant position, similar to the relative position of the arteriovenous mesentery. In the arterial phase, the vanishing points in the venous phase will appear randomly, and there will be no similar concomitant relationship between the vanishing points and the calcification points in the same area, and there will be no possibility of linear calcification becoming punctate calcification.

#### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

A diagnosis of IMP was established based on the patient's medical history, colonoscopy and CT findings.

#### TREATMENT

The patient was immediately advised to discontinue the use of CPM. Intravenous papaverine (30 mg twice a day) was administered for 3 d, but there was no significant improvement in diarrhea. Although fecal occult blood test was positive and fecal flora was normal, the levels of C-reactive protein (25.03 mg/L) and procalcitonin (0.13 ng/mL) were raised. Therefore, oral rifaximin 0.2 g three times a day was initiated to cover potential intestinal infection. The patient's diarrhea significantly improved, with 1-2 bowel movements per day and improved stool consistency. After discharge, oral rifaximin was continued for 2 wk, while oral papaverine 30 mg is being continued till date, without any side effects.

#### **OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP**

Nearly 5 years after discharge, the patient has not been readmitted to the hospital for the above disease.



Figure 4 Contrast-enhanced abdominal computed tomography. A: Calcification of the abdominal aorta (arrow); B: Stratified calcification of the intestinal wall (arrow); C and D: The number of point intensifications in the arterial and venous phases in similar areas at the same level were seen to vary (box). There is more punctate reinforcement in the arterial phase than in the venous phase, and the punctate reinforcement in the venous phase is the calcification point.

#### DISCUSSION

IMP is a rare chronic disease characterized by non-thrombotic, non-inflammatory stenosis or occlusion of the mesenteric veins[6]. It primarily affects the right hemicolon, often involving the proximal colon, and may extend to the terminal ileum or the distal colon[7]. According to a literature review, IMP is more prevalent in middle-aged and elderly men [median age at onset: 61 years (range, 22-87 years)][8]. Guo et al[9] observed that the majority of patients were Asians, predominantly from Japan, Taiwan, and mainland China. The exact etiology and pathogenesis of IMP remain elusive but long-term exposure to toxins and biochemical substances may play a role[10]. Nearly all reported cases of IMP had a history of prolonged use of medicinal herbs containing geniposide, such as oldenlandia herbacea, plantaginis semen, eucommiae cortex, herba paederiae scandentis, radix scrophulariae, and fructus gardeniae[11]. Notably, licorice has also been reported as a possible causative agent of IMP[11]. Our patient was a 77-year-old Chinese woman who had a history of taking CPM containing fructus gardeniae for over 15 years, consistent with previous literature reports, and ultimately developed IMP.

Some scholars have proposed that geniposide can be transformed into genipin in the intestinal tract through hydrolysis under the influence of various microenvironmental factors such as the intestinal flora, amino acids, and sulfuric acid. The absorbed genipin then reacts with proteins in the mesenteric vein plasma[6,8]. Additionally, the gradual submucosal accumulation of collagen leads to intimal hyperplasia, venous wall thickening, and fibrosis, resulting in a condition known as "mummification" [6,12]. This process leads to obstruction of venous lumen, impedes venous return, and induces intestinal wall thickening, edema, gliosis, and sclerosis[8,12]. However, geniposide undergoes hydrolysis only after entering the colon and is then transformed to its metabolite, genipin. Genipin then permeates the enterocyte membrane under the influence of various colon microenvironments<sup>[6]</sup>. This explains why the characteristic lesion sites of IMP are the right-sided colon and transverse colon, which can spread to the entire colorectal area as the disease progresses.

In the early stage, many patients with IMP (10%-27.7%) are asymptomatic [8,13-15]. However, as the disease progresses, patients may present with nonspecific symptoms such as abdominal pain, diarrhea, constipation, nausea, vomiting, abdominal distension, fever, and bloody stool[8,15]. These symptoms complicate the diagnosis of IMP, necessitating the use of abdominal CT and colonoscopy for diagnostic purposes, with histopathological examination ultimately confirming the diagnosis<sup>[8]</sup>. The typical abdominal CT findings are colonic wall thickening and diffuse calcifications in small

Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

mesenteric veins and their intramural branches [16]. Although the right-sided colon is more commonly involved, the entire colon may be involved in severe cases [16]. The typical colonoscopy findings are a blue or bluish-purple mucosa, which may also display hyperemia, edema, erosion, or ulceration[6]. Histopathologically, IMP is characterized by venous wall thickening, fibrosis, and calcification, venous narrowing, atrophy, and submucosal fibrosis with intrinsic myometrium thickening[10]. Our patient presented with chronic diarrhea. Abdominal CT showed diffuse mural thickening of the entire colorectum and tortuous thread-like calcifications in the right and left hemicolon and rectum, with most calcifications located in the mesenteric veins. Colonoscopy revealed lesions involving the entire colorectal region. Histopathological examination revealed mild inflammation and granulomatous changes. These findings were consistent with the diagnosis of IMP.

As there are currently no standardized treatment guidelines or specific therapeutic agents for IMP, discontinuation of herbal medicine is considered the first-line therapy for early-stage IMP, which, when combined with proper treatment, generally leads to a favorable prognosis [17,18]. According to a large-scale nationwide survey, discontinuation of herbal medicines led to alleviation of symptoms in 84.3% of patients, with none of the cases requiring surgery post-discontinuation[13]. However, the choice between conservative and surgical treatment in patients with IMP is challenging. Surgical treatment will be necessary in case of severe complications, such as colonic obstruction, necrosis, perforation, or massive intestinal bleeding[19]. Sze et al[20] reported a 45-year-old Chinese woman with IMP who had stopped consuming Chinese herbs for 3 years and still had recurrent episodes of abdominal pain and flatulence. She eventually had to be treated surgically for intestinal obstruction. However, the presence of poor circulation may mean that colon surgery is not an appropriate treatment, and it must be chosen with care[6]. Our patient received conservative treatment with papaverine and rifaximin and discontinued using CPM. This led to improvement in diarrhea. The patient has been followed for 5 years without any readmissions related to the aforementioned conditions.

#### CONCLUSION

IMP is a rare intestinal disease that is more prevalent among Asians. The pathogenesis of IMP remains unclear, but it may be associated with the long-term intake of medicinal herbs. While it is crucial to analyze the imaging features on CT or colonoscopy, a lack of awareness about the disease can easily lead to missed or misdiagnoses. The treatment strategy for IMP should be individualized to achieve the best possible outcome.

#### FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Min Wang and Yu-Xia Wan.

Author contributions: Wang M, Wan YX, Liao JW, and Xiong F designed the research study; Wang M and Wan YX drafted the manuscript and provided the images; Liao JW and Xiong F performed the review; Wang M and Wan YX contributed equally to this work as co-first authors; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest concerning the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Min Wang 0009-0007-1969-9287; Yu-Xia Wan 0009-0009-3086-6220; Jin-Wen Liao 0000-0002-8381-7723; Fei Xiong 0000-0002-5304-6374.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

Zheng Q, Zhang B, Cao Z, Wang L. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis associated with long-term oral intake of herb drug occurring in a



mother and her daughter. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2021; 45: 101467 [PMID: 32565200 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2020.05.015]

- Yao K, Iwashita A. Diagnosis of Early Gastric Cancer: Endoscopic Diagnosis and Classification: VS Classification System for the Diagnosis 2 of Early Gastric Cancer by Magnifying Endoscopy. In: Chiu PWY, Sano Y, Uedo N, Singh R. Endoscopy in Early Gastrointestinal Cancers, Volume 1. Singapore: Springer [DOI: 10.1007/978-981-10-6769-3\_6]
- Iwashita A, Yao T, Schlemper RJ, Kuwano Y, Iida M, Matsumoto T, Kikuchi M. Mesenteric phlebosclerosis: a new disease entity causing 3 ischemic colitis. Dis Colon Rectum 2003; 46: 209-220 [PMID: 12576895 DOI: 10.1097/01.DCR.0000044720.43258.6E]
- Ding J, Zhang W, Wang L, Zhu Z, Wang J, Ma J. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis: clinical and CT imaging characteristics. Quant 4 Imaging Med Surg 2021; 11: 763-771 [PMID: 33532275 DOI: 10.21037/qims-20-301]
- Takasaki T, Motomura Y, Shioya K. Idiopathic Mesenteric Phlebosclerosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: A19 [PMID: 35218953] 5 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.02.038]
- Wen Y, Chen YW, Meng AH, Zhao M, Fang SH, Ma YQ. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis associated with long-term oral intake of 6 geniposide. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 3097-3108 [PMID: 34168411 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i22.3097]
- 7 Jiang Y, Huang S, Chen K, Chen X. [Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis: one case report and literature review]. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 2017; 42: 117-120 [PMID: 28216508 DOI: 10.11817/j.issn.1672-7347.2017.01.019]
- 8 Wang J, Shao J, Lu H, Wang B, Chen J. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis: one case report and systematic literature review of 240 cases. Am J Transl Res 2021; 13: 13156-13166 [PMID: 34956536]
- Guo F, Zhou YF, Zhang F, Yuan F, Yuan YZ, Yao WY. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis associated with long-term use of medical liquor: 9 two case reports and literature review. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 5561-5566 [PMID: 24833888 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i18.5561]
- Wen Y, Zhao M, Huang W, Fang S, Lin C. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis associated with use of Chinese herbal medicine: Two case 10 reports. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e22813 [PMID: 33080758 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000022813]
- 11 Jin YR, Zhou H, Liu ZZ, Li XF, Liang J. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis occurring after long-term medication with licorice: A case report. J Dig Dis 2022; 23: 183-185 [PMID: 35156308 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.13087]
- Young Chuah Y, Yeh Lee Y. Geniposide Causes Idiopathic Mesenteric Phlebosclerosis. Turk J Gastroenterol 2023; 34: 890-891 [PMID: 12 37434401 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2023.23208]
- 13 Shimizu S, Kobayashi T, Tomioka H, Ohtsu K, Matsui T, Hibi T. Involvement of herbal medicine as a cause of mesenteric phlebosclerosis: results from a large-scale nationwide survey. J Gastroenterol 2017; 52: 308-314 [PMID: 27220772 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-016-1218-9]
- Chen W, Zhu H, Chen H, Shan G, Xu G, Chen L, Dong F. Phlebosclerotic colitis: Our clinical experience of 25 patients in China. Medicine 14 (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e12824 [PMID: 30412073 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000012824]
- Chou JW, Chang CH, Wu YH, Chang KC, Cheng KS, Huang PJ. Idiopathic Mesenteric Phlebosclerosis: A Single-Institute Experience in 15 Taiwan. Turk J Gastroenterol 2023; 34: 483-489 [PMID: 36789983 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2023.22335]
- Li H, Liu H. Idiopathic Mesenteric Phlebosclerosis. Radiology 2023; 306: 76 [PMID: 36098638 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.220443] 16
- Shan J, Chen F, Yu P. Intestinal obstruction due to idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis colitis: A case report. Front Surg 2022; 9: 969154 17 [PMID: 36061039 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.969154]
- Kawashima A, Shimomura A, Inagaki T. Idiopathic Mesenteric Phlebosclerosis Secondary to Chinese Herbal Medicine Intake in an Older 18 Adult. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2023; 109: 715-716 [PMID: 37696511 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.22-0772]
- Washington C, Carmichael JC. Management of ischemic colitis. Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2012; 25: 228-235 [PMID: 24294125 DOI: 19 10.1055/s-0032-1329534]
- 20 Sze SF, Lam PWY, Lam JTW, Chung CCC, Lee YT. Idiopathic mesenteric phlebosclerosis: A rare cause of chronic diarrhea. JGH Open 2020; 4: 769-770 [PMID: 32782970 DOI: 10.1002/jgh3.12335]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1817-1823

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1817

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

## Gallbladder carcinosarcoma with a poor prognosis: A case report

Yi Dai, Min Meng, Qi-Zhi Luo, Yuan-Jun Liu, Fan Xiao, Chun-Hua Wang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Aoki H, Japan; Keeratibharat N, United States

Received: November 23, 2023 Peer-review started: November 23. 2023

First decision: January 9, 2024 Revised: February 3, 2024 Accepted: March 8, 2024 Article in press: March 8, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Yi Dai, Fan Xiao, Chun-Hua Wang, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Suining Central Hospital, Suining 629000, Sichuan Province, China

Min Meng, The Cancer Center, Suining Central Hospital, Suining 629000, Sichuan Province, China

Qi-Zhi Luo, Department of Pathology, Suining Central Hospital, Suining 629000, Sichuan Province, China

Yuan-Jun Liu, Department of Liver Surgery & Liver Transplantation, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Corresponding author: Yi Dai, MD, Chief Physician, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Suining Central Hospital, No. 127 West Desheng Road, Chuanshan District, Suining 629000, Sichuan Province, China. 158650601@qq.com

### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder is a rare malignant tumor with a very poor prognosis. To date, only approximately 100 patients have been reported in the English literature. The prognosis of this tumor type is poor, the preoperative diagnosis is difficult, and there is a possibility of a misdiagnosis. We present an unsuccessful case of carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder with a preoperative misdiagnosis and rapid early postoperative recurrence. Therefore, we have a deeper understanding of the poor prognosis of gallbladder carcinosarcoma (GBC) patients.

#### CASE SUMMARY

The patient is a 65-year-old male. He was admitted to the hospital because of right upper abdomen distending pain and discomfort for half a month. Abdominal magnetic resonance imaging revealed a polycystic mass in the right lobe of the liver and the fossa of the gallbladder. After admission, the patient was diagnosed with a liver abscess, which was treated by abscess puncture drainage. Obviously, this treatment was unsuccessful. Hepatectomy and cholecystectomy were performed one month after the puncture. Postoperative pathologic examination revealed carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder, and the resected specimen contained two tumor components. One month after surgery, the patient's tumor recurred in situ and started to compress the duodenum, resulting in duodenal obstruction and bleeding. The treatment was not effective. The patient died of gastrointestinal hemorrhage and hypovolemic shock.


#### CONCLUSION

Carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder is a rare malignant tumor that is easily misdiagnosed preoperatively and has a poor prognosis.

**Key Words:** Gallbladder disease; Carcinosarcoma; Misdiagnosis; Poor prognosis; Pathological diagnosis; Recurrence; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Herein, we report a patient with carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder who was diagnosed with a liver abscess before surgery due to radiographic polycystic features of the liver. Then, the wrong treatment was administered. After surgical removal of the tumor, the tumor rapidly recurred locally and caused obstruction and bleeding of the digestive tract, leading to the patient's death. We need to learn some lessons from this case.

Citation: Dai Y, Meng M, Luo QZ, Liu YJ, Xiao F, Wang CH. Gallbladder carcinosarcoma with a poor prognosis: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1817-1823 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1817.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1817

### INTRODUCTION

Gallbladder carcinosarcoma is an extremely rare malignant tumor that contains both mesodermal and epithelial tumor components[1]. The clinical presentation of this condition is nonspecific, making it challenging to diagnose preoperatively, and the overall prognosis is unfavorable[2]. In 2023, a patient with highly malignant gallbladder carcinosarcoma was admitted to our department, and unfortunately, the patient's prognosis was very poor. The details of the case are presented below.

#### **CASE PRESENTATION**

#### Chief complaints

Abdominal pain for two weeks.

#### History of present illness

In January 2023, we admitted a 65-year-old male patient to our hospital who presented with a history of abdominal pain for two weeks. The patient reported experiencing right upper abdominal pain and discomfort, characterized by intermittent distending pain, along with mild fatigue and weight loss. Notably, the patient denied any symptoms of jaundice, fever, nausea, vomiting, or diarrhea.

#### History of past illness

The patient denied any history of hepatitis B or gallstones.

#### Personal and family history

The patient denied a family history of similar episodes of illness.

#### Physical examination

The patient's body temperature was measured at 36.5 °C, and no obvious signs of jaundice were observed in the skin or sclera. Tenderness was noted in the right upper abdomen, with no evidence of muscle tension or rebound pain. No palpable masses were detected, but a suspicious positive Murphy sign was noted.

#### Laboratory examinations

The routine blood test results were as follows: WBC 13.9 × 10<sup>9</sup>/L, neutrophils granulocyte percentage 85.5%; RBC 2.86 × 10<sup>12</sup>/L; Hb 8.0 g/L; PLT 423 × 10<sup>9</sup>/L; CRP 105.71 mg/L; liver function: ALT 23  $\mu$ /mL; AST 38  $\mu$ /mL; AKP 388  $\mu$ /mL; r-GGT 469  $\mu$ /mL; TBLD 4.7  $\mu$ mol/L, ALB 37.5 g/L; tumor marker: CA19-9 59.86  $\mu$ /mL; CA125 43.97  $\mu$ /mL; CEA 2.13 ng/mL; and AFP 7.4 ng/mL.

Raishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Imaging examinations

Abdominal computed tomography (CT) revealed clumps with slightly reduced density in the right lobe of the liver and the gallbladder fossa. There was also an area of uneven density, along with localized high-density shadows, with a larger cross-section measuring approximately 10.1 cm × 7.5 cm. An enhanced scan indicated irregular enhancement, suggesting the potential presence of suppurative cholecystitis involving the liver and the formation of a liver abscess (Figure 1).

#### Admission diagnosis

Liver abscess. Followed by abscess puncture drainage guided by color ultrasound. Approximately 100 mL of milky pus was drained, and less drainage followed. One month later, a follow-up abdominal CT scan revealed that the mass consisted mostly of solid tissue, with a small amount of cystic components (Figure 2). A biopsy of the mass was performed through puncture. The findings suggested a soft tissue sarcoma.

# FINAL DIAGNOSIS

The preoperative diagnosis was abdominal soft tissue sarcoma stage IIb (GxT2NxM0, AJCC tumor stage 9<sup>th</sup> edition). Postoperative pathological diagnosis was "gallbladder carcinoma sarcoma".

### TREATMENT

Gallbladder tumor resection was performed under general anesthesia. Intraoperatively, a small amount of light yellow ascites was observed in the abdominal cavity, and the gallbladder was adhered to the surrounding omentum. A palpable soft tissue mass was identified within the gallbladder. The tumor was found to be invading liver segments 5 and 4. Upon removal of the specimen, a section revealed that the gallbladder was filled with soft, fish-like tissue measuring approximately 8 cm × 7 cm × 5 cm. The tumor had invaded the right margin of the liver portal and the right hepatic pedicle. Gallbladder contained new fish-like tissue. Necrosis and bleeding were observed in the lesion (Figure 3).

#### Postoperative pathological report

The findings indicate a malignant gallbladder tumor involving the entire layer and adjacent liver. Extensive necrosis and vascular thrombus are present. Immunohistochemical staining demonstrates positive expression of CK(AE1/AE3) and CK19 in epithelial cells, negative expression of CK7, positive expression of SATB2 in interstitial cells, and positive expression of TLE1 in the lesion (Figure 4).

# OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient experienced a smooth recovery after surgery. However, one month postsurgery, he was readmitted to the hospital due to recurrent vomiting and abdominal distension. A CT examination of the upper abdomen revealed a 9 cm × 8 cm × 8 cm mass invading the right upper abdomen, causing duodenal obstruction. Local recurrence of gallbladder carcinosarcoma with duodenal invasion was suspected (Figure 5).

To alleviate his gastrointestinal symptoms, a gastric tube was inserted to decompress the gastrointestinal tract, successfully draining approximately 500 mL of gastric fluid per day. Unfortunately, the patient declined further surgical intervention. Within seven days of readmission, a significant amount of blood was drained through the gastric tube, and the patient started to pass bloody stools. An attempted interventional embolization and hemostasis procedure was unsuccessful. Subsequently, there was another significant discharge of bright red blood through the gastric tube the following day, accompanied by the continued presence of blood in the stool. At the request of the patient and his family, no further interventions or blood transfusions were pursued. Tragically, the patient passed away two days later due to gastrointestinal bleeding and resulting hypovolemic shock.

#### DISCUSSION

Gallbladder carcinosarcoma is an exceptionally rare malignant tumor of the gallbladder that accounts for only approximately 1.7% of all gallbladder malignancies[1]. Most reported cases in the literature are sporadic, with a total of approximately 100 documented cases. In 1907, Landsteiner[3] reported the first recorded case of gallbladder carcinosarcoma. This tumor is distinguished by the presence of two malignant tumor components: epithelial tumor tissue and stromal sarcoma tissue.

Carcinosarcoma can also occur in other organs, including the uterus, gastrointestinal tract, lungs, pancreas, thyroid, and kidneys. Although the exact cause of this disease is not well understood, a study by Dacic et al[4] suggested that the coexistence of two distinct tumor cell types in carcinosarcoma may be attributed to the varied differentiation pathways of tumor totipotent stem cells.



Dai Y et al. Gallbladder carcinosarcoma



Figure 1 Enhanced computed tomography scan revealed a polycystic mass of 10.1 cm × 7.5 cm in size in the right liver and gallbladder fossa with a thick and enhanced cyst wall. Gallbladder was not obvious. No evidence of gallstones were seen.



Figure 2 A month later, computed tomography reexamination revealed that the liver mass had not shrunk significantly and had become a fully solid mass. The common bile duct is not dilated by the pressure.

Gallbladder carcinosarcoma is more frequently diagnosed in women than in men and accounts for approximately 72.4% of cases. The average age of onset was 66 years. The most commonly reported clinical manifestations include abdominal pain (76%), weight loss (29%), nausea and vomiting (25%), fever (17%), jaundice (10%), and abdominal distension (4%). Notably, a significant majority of patients had a prolonged history of gallstones (83%). Abnormal liver function is observed in 47.5% of patients, with CA19-9 (15.5%) being the most commonly elevated tumor marker[5].

In the case of this particular patient, the primary clinical symptoms were mild to moderate distending pain in the right upper abdomen and a slight increase in CA19-9, despite a lack of gallstones being detected.

The reported literature on gallbladder carcinosarcoma shows wide variation in tumor imaging sizes, ranging from 25  $cm \times 35 cm$  to 1.5 cm  $\times 1 cm$ , with an average diameter of approximately 8.1 cm[6]. For the patient in our study, the initial maximum tumor diameter was approximately 9 cm × 8 cm.

Regarding magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and CT findings, most studies describe solid space-occupying lesions within the gallbladder, with some cases demonstrating invasion of the liver and surrounding organs. Unfortunately, imaging findings often lack specific characteristics that can aid in diagnosis and differentiation. In this particular study, the initial MRI findings showed multiple liver cysts, leading to a misdiagnosis of a liver abscess, which was subsequently treated with puncture drainage. Intriguingly, a similar situation was reported by Khurram[7]. The underlying reasons for this resemblance and whether it reflects any unique tissue biochemical reactions during the growth of gallbladder carcinosarcoma in patients have not been determined. Notably, no similar incidents have been documented in the other cases reported in the literature.

Gallbladder carcinosarcoma exhibits a diverse array of compositions, manifesting in various forms, such as leiomyosarcoma, osteosarcoma, chondrosarcoma, synovial sarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, angiosarcoma, fibrosarcoma, etc[8-10]. In the case of this patient, positive expression of TLE1 and SATB2 indicated the presence of synovial sarcoma and osteosarcoma as the two sarcomatous components. On the other hand, the presence of keratin (CK and CK19) primarily serves as the main diagnostic basis for epithelial adenocarcinoma. It is essential for the diagnosis of carcinosarcoma that both tissue components are concurrently present.



Zaishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 The resected specimen was a nodular mass with a size of about 9 cm × 8 cm × 6.5 cm. The section is grayish white, solid tissue, soft texture, and adhesion to the surrounding tissue. The gallbladder was invaded into the liver. The gallbladder contained new fish-like tissue. Necrosis and bleeding were seen in the lesion.



**Figure 4 Pathological features of carcinosarcoma of gallbladder.** A: High power view of the gallbladder wall show intramucosal adenocarcinoma [hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain, 40 ×]; B: High power view show high-grade spindle cell sarcoma (H&E, 40 ×); C: Cytokeratin (CK) (HIC, 40 ×) staining show strong membranous positivity in the intramucosal adenocarcinoma; D: CK-19 (HIC, 10 ×) staining show strong membranous positivity in the intramucosal adenocarcinoma; D: CK-19 (HIC, 10 ×) staining show strong membranous positivity in the intramucosal adenocarcinoma; E: Transducin-like enhancer protein 1 (HIC, 40 ×) staining show strong sarcomatous component positivity in the gallbladder neoplasm; F: Special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 2 (HIC, 40 ×) staining show osteoblastic component positivity in the gallbladder neoplasm.

Gallbladder carcinosarcoma exhibits biological behavior more akin to that of sarcomas and is characterized by rapid growth and insensitivity to both radiation and chemotherapy. Achieving R0 resection through surgical removal is considered the most promising treatment for ensuring long-term survival. However, the patient outcomes generally remain poor. For instance, in a study of 26 patients with gallbladder carcinosarcoma conducted by Huguet *et al*[11], only 3 individuals survived beyond one year. Ajiki *et al*[12] reported in the literature that few patients survive beyond 20 months, regardless of the treatment undertaken. Unfortunately, in the patient who underwent surgical resection, rapid tumor growth, recurrence, and complications arose from organ invasion. These circumstances further underscore the unfavorable prognosis associated with this malignant tumor.

Baisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Dai Y et al. Gallbladder carcinosarcoma



Figure 5 One month after surgery, the patient had recurrent episodes of nausea and vomiting. Vomiting more stomach contents. Abdominal computed tomography (CT) scan (the patient refused to undergo enhanced CT) revealed a 9 cm × 8 cm × 8 cm mass in the anterior duodenum (indicated by the red arrow), leading to duodenal obstruction. Local recurrence of the tumor is suspected.

# CONCLUSION

This case report found gallbladder carcinosarcoma is a very rare disease, and its clinical manifestations, laboratory tests and imaging examinations are not specific. As a result, it is easy to be misdiagnosed before operation. Moreover, the prognosis of this disease is extremely poor, and it is prone to relapse even after surgical resection.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Dai Y designed the study, performed the surgery, and managed the patients; Meng M provided the oncology data; Luo QZ provided the pathological data and analysis; Liu YJ, Xiao F, and Wang CH managed the patients and signed the treatment and study consent forms; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and all accompanying images.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: We have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yi Dai 0009-0001-2649-653X; Yuan-Jun Liu 0000-0002-0695-0897.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Ryś J, Kruczak A, Iliszko M, Babińska M, Wasilewska A, Limon J, Niezabitowski A. Sarcomatoid carcinoma (carcinosarcoma) of the 1 gallbladder. Gen Diagn Pathol 1998; 143: 321-325 [PMID: 9653915]
- Lazcano-Ponce EC, Miquel JF, Muñoz N, Herrero R, Ferrecio C, Wistuba II, Alonso de Ruiz P, Aristi Urista G, Nervi F. Epidemiology and 2 molecular pathology of gallbladder cancer. CA Cancer J Clin 2001; 51: 349-364 [PMID: 11760569 DOI: 10.3322/canjclin.51.6.349]



- Landsteiner K. Plattenepithelkarzinom und sarkom der gallenblase in cinem falle von cholelithiasis. Zischr Klin Med 1907; 62: 427-433 3
- Dacic S, Finkelstein SD, Sasatomi E, Swalsky PA, Yousem SA. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary carcinosarcoma as determined by 4 microdissection-based allelotyping. Am J Surg Pathol 2002; 26: 510-516 [PMID: 11914631 DOI: 10.1097/00000478-200204000-00015]
- Mansour S, Derkach E, Abergil V, Khuri S. Carcinosarcoma of the Gallbladder: A Rare Tumor. World J Oncol 2022; 13: 103-106 [PMID: 5 35837320 DOI: 10.14740/wjon1495]
- Zhang L, Chen Z, Fukuma M, Lee LY, Wu M. Prognostic significance of race and tumor size in carcinosarcoma of gallbladder: a meta-6 analysis of 68 cases. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2008; 1: 75-83 [PMID: 18784825]
- Khurram R, Khamar R, Lunat R, Novelli D, Ozretić L, Chaudhary K. Gallbladder carcinosarcoma masquerading as a hepatic abscess. Radiol 7 Case Rep 2021; 16: 152-156 [PMID: 33240458 DOI: 10.1016/j.radcr.2020.10.058]
- 8 Sodergren MH, Silva MA, Read-Jones SL, Hubscher SG, Mirza DF. Carcinosarcoma of the biliary tract: two case reports and a review of the literature. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 17: 683-685 [PMID: 15879734 DOI: 10.1097/00042737-200506000-00016]
- Gupta S, Kori C, Kumar V. Primary Carcinosarcoma of the Gall Bladder: A Rare Entity. Indian J Surg Oncol 2016; 7: 101-105 [PMID: 9 27065693 DOI: 10.1007/s13193-015-0420-1]
- Okabayashi T, Sun ZL, Montgomey RA, Hanazaki K. Surgical outcome of carcinosarcoma of the gall bladder: a review. World J 10 Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 4877-4882 [PMID: 19842216 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.4877]
- Huguet KL, Hughes CB, Hewitt WR. Gallbladder carcinosarcoma: a case report and literature review. J Gastrointest Surg 2005; 9: 818-821 11 [PMID: 15985237 DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2004.12.009]
- Ajiki T, Nakamura T, Fujino Y, Suzuki Y, Takeyama Y, Ku Y, Kuroda Y, Ohbayashi C. Carcinosarcoma of the gallbladder with chondroid 12 differentiation. J Gastroenterol 2002; 37: 966-971 [PMID: 12483254 DOI: 10.1007/s005350200162]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1824-1829

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1824

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Unique method for removal of knotted lumbar epidural catheter: A case report

# Nian-Hua Deng, Xiao-Cong Chen, Shou-Bo Quan

Specialty type: Anesthesiology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: DeSousa K, India

Received: November 30, 2023 Peer-review started: November 30, 2023

First decision: January 29, 2024 Revised: February 3, 2024 Accepted: March 4, 2024 Article in press: March 4, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Nian-Hua Deng, Xiao-Cong Chen, Shou-Bo Quan, Anesthesia and Surgery Center, Dongguan Songshan Lake Central Hospital, Dongguan 523326, Guangdong Province, China

Corresponding author: Shou-Bo Quan, MD, Doctor, Professor, Teacher, Anesthesia and Surgery Center, Dongguan Songshan Lake Central Hospital, No. 1 Xianglong Road, Dongguan 523326, Guangdong Province, China. nhxys413@163.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Combined spinal-epidural (CSE) anesthesia is the preferred anesthesia method for cesarean delivery. The use of an epidural catheter is essential for administering additional drugs intraoperatively and managing postoperative pain. However, the insertion of epidural catheters is associated with various complications, such as total spinal anesthesia, symptoms indicative of spinal nerve root irritation, and challenges in epidural catheter removal.

#### CASE SUMMARY

We present a case report of a challenging epidural catheter removal due to knotting. The lumbar computed tomography scan results revealed that the catheter formed a tight knot in the epidural space. We used a novel extubation method and successfully removed the catheter.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The operator can use opposite forces to "spiral" apart the spinal joints by positioning the patient's body in a specific position. The findings indicate that, when combined with imaging examination results, this method is effective for the removal of epidural catheters.

Key Words: Epidural catheter; Knotting; Challenging extubation; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Lumbar computed tomography imaging showed that the reinforced catheter formed a tight knot in the epidural space. The patient's body was placed in a specific position, and the doctor's hands were respectively at the right scapula and the right hip joint of the patient, and the force in the opposite direction was used to "spiral" the spinal joint, and the catheter was successfully removed.

**Citation:** Deng NH, Chen XC, Quan SB. Unique method for removal of knotted lumbar epidural catheter: A case report. *World J Clin Cases* 2024; 12(10): 1824-1829 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1824.htm

**DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1824

#### INTRODUCTION

Challenging removal of the epidural catheter is among the complications associated with continuous epidural anesthesia. This challenge is attributed to the compression of the catheter in the narrow intervertebral space or the formation of loops, tangles, or knots within the epidural space. The occurrence of catheter knotting, which leads to challenging removal, is extremely rare[1].

# **CASE PRESENTATION**

#### Chief complaints

A 30-year-old female patient (38 wk pregnant, single pregnancy) underwent cesarean section. After the surgery, the anesthesiologist found it difficult to remove the epidural catheter.

#### History of present illness

The pregnant patient was placed in a right lateral tilt position. The midline puncture through the L2-3 intervertebral space was executed, but the medical staff encountered resistance after several needle direction adjustments. An alternate paramedian puncture technique was used, resulting in reduced resistance. A sensation of ligamentum flavum penetration was experienced at a depth of approximately 7 cm. A negative pressure test confirmed the entry of the epidural puncture needle into the epidural space. Subsequently, a spinal needle was inserted through the epidural needle, resulting in a sensation of dura mater puncture without evidence of nerve stimulation. Clear cerebrospinal fluid flow was observed and 1.8 mL of 0.5% ropivacaine was administered slowly. After removing the spinal needle, the left hand of the anesthesiologist held in place the epidural puncture needle, and an enhanced epidural catheter (MaiChuang Medical, Jiangsu Province, China) was advanced with the right hand until the 15 cm scale. The epidural puncture needle was retracted using the left hand, ensuring that the catheter was retreated outward of the skin to the 12 cm scale, leaving the catheter positioned at a length of 5 cm in the epidural cavity. The catheter was smoothly inserted, and no blood or cerebrospinal fluid was observed upon syringe withdrawal. The patency of the catheter was good, as demonstrated by the physiological saline test. The exposed end of the catheter was fixed to the patient's back using adhesive tape. The anesthesia administered during the surgery was effective, and the procedure was conducted smoothly.

Ten minutes before the conclusion of the operation, the injection of the initial dose of analgesia through the epidural catheter failed due to significant resistance during administration. Preliminary speculation suggested that a section of the catheter might have formed a knot under pressure on the patient's back. However, no knots were observed in the catheter after the surgery. The patient's position was adjusted to a right lateral tilt, but an attempt to remove the catheter was unsuccessful. The patient did not experience any pain or abnormal sensations during the catheter traction process. Consequently, a decision was reached to postpone the catheter removal. The exposed portion of the catheter was disinfected, dressed, and secured. Intravenous analgesia was administered as an alternative. With the consent of the patient and her family, an emergency computed tomography (CT) examination was performed, revealing a tight knot in the catheter at the right subvertebral notch of the L2 vertebra (Figure 1). Evaluation using the spinal model showed that placing the patient in a left lateral position with the left lower limb extended and the right lower limb flexed at a 90degree angle allowed the anesthesiologist to apply pressure on the patient's right scapula, pushing it backward and downward with the left hand. Simultaneously, the anesthesiologist applied pressure to the patient's right hip joint, pushing it forward with the right hand. This maneuver effectively "spiraled" and separated the small joints of the spine (Figure 2). A careful attempt was made at the bedside to remove the catheter by using this method with the consent of the patient and her family. The catheter was gently pulled with a constant force. Despite encountering resistance, the catheter was successfully removed. The patient did not experience pain or abnormal sensations during the removal process. Examination of the catheter showed that a knot had formed approximately 3.2 cm from the catheter tip. Additionally, the inner wire coil of the catheter had significantly elongated under continual tension, and the outer part of the catheter coil, located 8 cm from the tip, had fractured, leaving an intact end (Figure 3). The patient was monitored for 1 wk following catheter removal, and no adverse complaints or complications were reported.

Raisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Computed tomography images of the patient. A-C: Computed tomography images of the lumbar region show a knot in the catheter at the right subvertebral notch of the L2 vertebra (indicated by orange arrows).



Figure 2 A unique method was adopted in order to pull out the knotted catheter in the patient's epidural space. A: The patient was placed in a left lateral position with the left lower limb extended and the right lower limb flexed at a 90-degree angle. The operator applied pressure on the patient's right scapula, pushing it backward and downward with the left hand while pushing the patient's right hip joint forward with the right hand; B: Demonstration of a spinal model showing the steps presented in A, which effectively opened the right-sided facet joint of the lumbar vertebrae.

### History of past illness

The patient had a history of ectopic pregnancy three years ago, and the ectopic pregnancy lesions were removed under laparoscopy.

#### Personal and family history

The patient had good living habits and denied any family history of disease or other genetic diseases.

#### Physical examination

The vital signs of the patient were as follows: Body temperature, 36.8 °C; heart rate, 89/min; respiratory rate, 18/min; blood pressure, 138/86 mmHg; weight, 80 kg; and height, 154 cm.

#### Laboratory examinations

The patient's platelet count was 132 10°, thrombin time was 16 s, prothrombin time was 10.4 s, fibrinogen was 3.85 g/L, and activated partial thromboplastin time ratio was 0.98.





Figure 3 The shape of the knotted catheter in the epidural space after it was successfully pulled out. A knot located approximately 3.2 cm from the catheter tip (indicated by the orange arrow). The soft portion of the catheter coil fractured at a distance of 8 cm from the catheter tip (indicated by the yellow arrow)

#### Imaging examinations

The preoperative electrocardiogram was normal. Emergency CT examination after the operation showed that the catheter had a tight knot at the right subvertebral notch of the L2 vertebra (Figure 1A-C).

#### FINAL DIAGNOSIS

The reinforced catheter formed a knot in the epidural space.

# TREATMENT

The doctor placed the patient's body in a specific position, with both hands at the right shoulder blade and the right hip joint of the patient, used the "spiral" force in the opposite direction to separate the spinal joint, and successfully removed the catheter.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

We used a novel extubation method and successfully removed the catheter.

#### DISCUSSION

The occurrence of epidural catheter knotting is rare, with an incidence of 1 in 65140 catheters and an average of 0.0015% [2]. The length of the part of the catheter retained in the epidural space is a highly debated issue as it is associated with the incidence of catheter knotting. Some researchers believe that retaining a catheter length of 5 cm in the epidural space is optimal, balancing effective analgesia with the reduction of risks such as catheter looping, extrusion, or inadvertent arterial placement [3,4]. Researchers also propose that retaining the catheter length within 3-4 cm from the catheter tip could prevent a 180° rotation and subsequent knot formation[1]. However, some studies report knot formation even when the catheter length is maintained within 3 cm from the tip[2]. In our study, the knot was located approximately 3.2 cm from the catheter tip. Brichant et al[5] reported the formation of a tight single knot at a distance of 4 mm from the catheter tip. Mizota et al[6] reported a firm single knot formed approximately 3 mm from the catheter tip. These findings indicate that there is no gold standard for the optimal length of catheter retained within the epidural space to prevent knot formation. Catheter knots are more prevalent in the lumbar region than in the thoracic region[6], with 64.4% of catheter knots occurring in the lumbar region[7]. This difference can be attributed to the perpendicular angle of needle insertion in the lumbar region compared to the obtuse angle in the thoracic region[8]. The obtuse angle allows more effective catheter insertion and advancement within the epidural space.

Researchers are exploring alternative methods for reducing the occurrence of catheter knotting. Enhancing the puncture success rate and catheter placement is important to reduce complications. Obesity is associated with a higher failure rate of epidural puncture and catheter placement[9]. Ultrasound-guided intrathecal puncture and needle guidance techniques are used to improve the puncture success rate and catheter placement[10] and to accurately identify the position of the puncture needle tip[11]. Oscar *et al*[12] observed that visualizing the blood flow in the epidural space and tracking the path of the catheter in the epidural space could be indirectly achieved by injecting 1 mL of normal saline into the catheter and performing color Doppler ultrasound. This technique aids in determining whether the catheter is

forming loops or knots in the epidural space.

A flexed lateral position during removal should be considered if challenges are encountered during the removal of the epidural catheter[13-16]. Although in most cases of catheter knotting, a continuous, gentle pull successfully facilitates catheter removal, approximately 30% of these cases ultimately require surgical intervention due to catheter breakage[14, 17-19]. Previous studies reported successful catheter removal under general anesthesia with muscle relaxation[20,21]. However, this approach should only be considered if the patient remains awake and has not experienced neurological pains or sensory abnormalities during previous catheter removal. If any abnormal neurologic symptoms are observed during catheter removal, the procedure must be stopped because there is a potential risk of the catheter entangling with nerve roots, blood vessels, or other structures<sup>[22]</sup>. In the present case, it is postulated that during the paramedian puncture, the epidural needle did not penetrate the epidural space in the correct sequence of the supraspinous ligament, interspinous ligament, and ligamentum flavum. The epidural needle traversed through the adjacent paraspinal tissue and entered the epidural space through the vertebral lamina fissure near the right upper and lower facets of the L2-3 vertebrae, ultimately resulting in knot formation in the epidural space.

Previous results indicated that reinforced catheters have higher tensile strength than traditional polyethylene or polyurethane catheters[23]. Asai et al reported a case in which a reinforced catheter broke approximately 7-8 cm from the catheter tip during removal, leaving the broken distal end inside the patient's body, while the steel wire from the distal end remained attached to the removed segment of the catheter[19]. Therefore, continuous strong pulling should be minimized even when using reinforced catheters. In this study, we observed that the fracture of the catheter sheath occurred at a distance of 8 cm from the distal end, which could be attributed to the low-density distal end of wire coils in the 7-8 cm segment [19]. In our case, the complete removal of the entire catheter could have been due to the catheter knotting, which prevented the fractured distal end of the catheter from detaching from the inner wire coils. Although reinforced catheters have higher tensile strength, they are more flexible than traditional polyethylene or polyurethane catheters. This prompts the question of whether reinforced catheters may have a higher risk of tangling and knotting when they encounter resistance during insertion into the epidural space.

In summary, knotting of the epidural catheter is a rare complication of spinal anesthesia, with limited clinical reports available. The approach for catheter removal must be tailored to the individual circumstances. In our case, a new and previously unreported method of removing the interdural catheter was reported, and it was done without the assistance of an orthopaedic surgeon, and we recommend using the method presented in Figure 2 of this case report, which involves the use of opposite forces to separate the spinal facet joints in a "spiral" manner based on the imaging examination findings. The results indicate that this technique is more effective for catheter removal and can serve as a reference method in challenging catheter removal situations.

#### CONCLUSION

The operator can use opposite forces to "spiral" apart the spinal joints by positioning the patient's body in a specific position. The findings indicate that, when combined with imaging examination results, this method is effective for the removal of epidural catheters.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the patient for her collaboration and all the medical staff who contributed to this study.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Deng NH and Chen XC contributed equally to this work; Deng NH and Chen XC wrote the manuscript; Quan SB was responsible for revision and quality supervision of the manuscript; all the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China



ORCID number: Xiao-Cong Chen 0009-0005-9373-1455; Shou-Bo Quan 0009-0002-0426-6159.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Zhao S

## REFERENCES

- 1 Arnaoutoglou HM, Tzimas PG, Papadopoulos GS. Knotting of an epidural catheter: a rare complication. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg 2007; 58: 55-57 [PMID: 17486925 DOI: 10.1016/s1875-4597(10)60010-0]
- Fibuch EE, McNitt JD, Cussen T. Knotting of the Theracath after an uneventful epidural insertion for cesarean delivery. Anesthesiology 1990; 2 73: 1293 [PMID: 2248413 DOI: 10.1097/00000542-199012000-00040]
- 3 Cartagena R, Gaiser RR. Advancing an epidural catheter 10 cm then retracting it 5 cm is no more effective than advancing it 5 cm. J Clin Anesth 2005; 17: 528-530 [PMID: 16297752 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2005.08.002]
- 4 Beilin Y, Bernstein HH, Zucker-Pinchoff B. The optimal distance that a multiorifice epidural catheter should be threaded into the epidural space. Anesth Analg 1995; 81: 301-304 [PMID: 7618719 DOI: 10.1097/00000539-199508000-00016]
- 5 Brichant JF, Bonhomme V, Hans P. On knots in epidural catheters: a case report and a review of the literature. Int J Obstet Anesth 2006; 15: 159-162 [PMID: 16431103 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijoa.2005.07.003]
- 6 Mizota T, Kimura K, Takeda C. Knot formation in a thoracic epidural catheter: a case report. JA Clin Rep 2021; 7: 45 [PMID: 34100173 DOI: 10.1186/s40981-021-00448-6]
- Browne RA, Politi VL. Knotting of an epidural catheter: a case report. Can Anaesth Soc J 1979; 26: 142-144 [PMID: 466553 DOI: 10.1007/bf03013787]
- 8 Muneyuki M, Shirai K, Inamoto A. Roentgenographic analysis of the positions of catheters in the epidural space. Anesthesiology 1970; 33: 19-24 [PMID: 5430289 DOI: 10.1097/00000542-197007000-00007]
- Kula AO, Riess ML, Ellinas EH. Increasing body mass index predicts increasing difficulty, failure rate, and time to discovery of failure of 9 epidural anesthesia in laboring patients. J Clin Anesth 2017; 37: 154-158 [PMID: 28235511 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2016.11.010]
- Vernon TJ, Vogel TM, Dalby PL, Mandell G, Lim G. Ultrasound-assisted epidural labor analgesia for landmark identification in morbidly 10 obese pregnant women: A preliminary investigation. J Clin Anesth 2020; 59: 53-54 [PMID: 31226533 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2019.05.023]
- Riveros-Perez E, Albo C, Jimenez E, Cheriyan T, Rocuts A. Color your epidural: color flow Doppler to confirm labor epidural needle 11 position. Minerva Anestesiol 2019; 85: 376-383 [PMID: 30482003 DOI: 10.23736/S0375-9393.18.13175-0]
- van den Bosch OFC, Gleicher Y, Arzola C, Siddiqui N, Downey K, Carvalho JCA. Color flow Doppler in spinal ultrasound: a novel technique 12 for assessment of catheter position in labor epidurals. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2022; 47: 775-779 [PMID: 36215115 DOI: 10.1136/rapm-2022-103948
- Boey SK, Carrie LE. Withdrawal forces during removal of lumbar extradural catheters. Br J Anaesth 1994; 73: 833-835 [PMID: 7880675 DOI: 13 10.1093/bja/73.6.833]
- Hajnour MS, Khokhar RS, Ejaz AA, Al Zahrani T, Kanchi NU. Difficulty in the removal of epidural catheter for labor analgesia. Saudi J 14 Anaesth 2017; 11: 117-119 [PMID: 28217071 DOI: 10.4103/1658-354X.197353]
- Sia-Kho E, Kudlak TT. How to dislodge a severely trapped epidural catheter. Anesth Analg 1992; 74: 933 [PMID: 1595929 DOI: 15 10.1213/00000539-199206000-00031
- Morris GN, Warren BB, Hanson EW, Mazzeo FJ, DiBenedetto DJ. Influence of patient position on withdrawal forces during removal of 16 lumbar extradural catheters. Br J Anaesth 1996; 77: 419-420 [PMID: 8949823 DOI: 10.1093/bja/77.3.419]
- Asai T, Sakai T, Murao K, Kojima K, Shingu K. More difficulty in removing an arrow epidural catheter. Anesth Analg 2006; 102: 1595-1596 17 [PMID: 16632862 DOI: 10.1213/01.ane.0000215172.96873.43]
- Bréget JM, Fischer C, Ben Meftah R, Tabary N. [Impossible withdrawal of an epidural catheter]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim 2008; 27: 1016-1018 18 [PMID: 19027262 DOI: 10.1016/j.annfar.2008.10.009]
- 19 Asai T, Yamamoto K, Hirose T, Taguchi H, Shingu K. Breakage of epidural catheters: a comparison of an arrow reinforced catheter and other nonreinforced catheters. Anesth Analg 2001; 92: 246-248 [PMID: 11133637 DOI: 10.1097/00000539-200101000-00048]
- Jongleux EF, Miller R, Freeman A. An entrapped epidural catheter in a postpartum patient. Reg Anesth Pain Med 1998; 23: 615-617 [PMID: 20 9840860 DOI: 10.1097/00115550-199823060-00018]
- Singh V, Bhakta P, Ahuja A. Epidural catheter knot immediately after catheter insertion. Anaesth Intensive Care 2015; 43: 280-281 [PMID: 21 25735704 DOI: 10.1177/0310057x0203000223]
- Sidhu MS, Asrani RV, Bassell GM. An unusual complication of extradural catheterization in obstetric anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 1983; 55: 22 473-475 [PMID: 6849730 DOI: 10.1093/bja/55.5.473]
- Gonzalez Fiol A, Horvath R, Schoenberg C, Ahmed N, Dhar SK, Le V. Comparison of Changes in Tensile Strength in Three Different 23 Flexible Epidural Catheters Under Various Conditions. Anesth Analg 2016; 123: 233-237 [PMID: 27111646 DOI: 10.1213/ANE.00000000001305



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1830-1836

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1830

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Moyamoya syndrome may result from psoriasis: Four case reports

Zhi-Ying Chen, Xiao-Qin Yu, Yuan-Yuan Xiang, Ling-Hua Liu, Xiao-Ping Yin

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bhagavathy MG, Saudi Arabia

Received: January 1, 2024 Peer-review started: January 1, 2024

First decision: January 21, 2024 Revised: January 28, 2024 Accepted: March 11, 2024 Article in press: March 11, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Zhi-Ying Chen, Xiao-Qin Yu, Yuan-Yuan Xiang, Xiao-Ping Yin, Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Hospital of Jiujiang University, Jiujiang 332000, Jiangxi Province, China

Ling-Hua Liu, Department of Dermatology, The Affiliated Hospital of Jiujiang University, Jiujiang 332000, Jiangxi Province, China

Corresponding author: Xiao-Ping Yin, PhD, Academic Editor, Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Hospital of Jiujiang University, Xunyang East road, Jiujiang 332000, Jiangxi Province, China. xiaopingbuxiao@126.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Moyamoya syndrome (MMS) is a group of diseases that involves more than one underlying disease and is accompanied by moyamoya vascular phenomena. Psoriasis is a chronic immune skin disease closely linked to high blood pressure and heart disease. However, psoriasis-related MMS has not been reported.

#### CASE SUMMARY

We collected data on patients with stroke due to MMS between January 2017 and December 2019 and identified four cases of psoriasis. Case histories, imaging, and hematological data were collected. The average age of the initial stroke onset was  $58.25 \pm 11.52$  years; three cases of hemorrhagic and one case of ischemic stroke were included. The average duration from psoriasis confirmation to the initial MMS-mediated stroke onset was 17 ± 3.56 years. All MMS-related stenoses involved the bilateral cerebral arteries: Suzuki grade III in one case, grade IV in two cases, and grade V in one case. Abnormally elevated plasma interleukin-6 levels were observed in four patients. Two patients had abnormally elevated immunoglobulin E levels, and two had thrombocytosis. All four patients received medication instead of surgery. With an average follow-up time of 2 years, two causing transient ischemic attacks occurred in two patients, and no hemorrhagic events occurred.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Psoriasis may be a potential risk factor for MMS. Patients with psoriasis should be screened for MMS when they present with neurological symptoms.

Key Words: Moyamoya syndrome; Psoriasis; Stroke; Interleukin-6; Immune; Hypertension; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** As we all known that moyamoya syndrome (MMS) is a special subtype of intracranial arterial disease. Herein, we analyzed the clinical characteristics and prognosis of MMS-related ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke in patients with psoriasis retrospectively, and also, analyzed the probable mechanisms of psoriasis-related MMS, so as to make a reference for diagnosis and early etiology treatment. Finally we suspect that psoriasis may be a potential risk factor of MMS formation. Whereby, we considered that MMS should be screened in patients with psoriasis when they presented neurological symptoms.

Citation: Chen ZY, Yu XQ, Xiang YY, Liu LH, Yin XP. Moyamoya syndrome may result from psoriasis: Four case reports. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1830-1836

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1830.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1830

# INTRODUCTION

Moyamoya is classified as moyamoya disease (MMD) and moyamoya syndrome (MMS). MMD is characterized by unexplained intracranial arterial stenosis and the development of characteristic movamoya-like vessels, primarily affecting the precerebral circulation, first reported by Suzuki and Takaku in 1969[1]. It is prone to transient ischemic attack (TIA), acute ischemic stroke and hemorrhagic stroke. Some patients have a younger age of onset and are prone to severe disability<sup>[2]</sup>. MMS is a secondary intracranial arterial disease with imaging similarities to MMD but different etiologies, such as atherosclerosis, autoimmune disease or rheumatoid arthritis<sup>[2]</sup>. However, psoriasis related MMS, especially MMS-mediated cerebral hemorrhage in adult psoriasis patients, has not been reported[3]. Psoriasis is a common, chronic, immune skin disease with a global incidence of about 2%-3% per year that usually presents as red spots and scales on the scalp and extremities. Psoriasis can induce many complications, including autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, and diabetes[4]. A previous study showed that psoriasis was an independent risk factor for stroke; The incidence of stroke in patients with mild or severe psoriasis is 1/4115 and 1/530 per year, respectively[5].

The value of reporting patients with psoriasis in combination with stroke due to MMS is to reveal possible synergistic effects between the two diseases and provide vital clues for a more comprehensive understanding of stroke pathogenesis.

## **CASE PRESENTATION**

#### Chief complaints

Case 1: A 42-year-old male was admitted to the hospital with sudden weakness in the right hand and foot for 5 h.

Case 2: A 71-year-old man was admitted to the hospital with recurring left-sided limb weakness of 1 year's duration with 4 h recurrence.

Case 3: A 47-year-old man was admitted to the hospital with sudden onset of headache, vomiting, and weakness of the left hand for 2 h.

Case 4: A 65-year-old man was admitted to the hospital with sudden numbness of the left hand for 3 h.

#### History of present illness

Case 1: Sudden right limb weakness with persistent symptoms. No headache, nausea, vomiting, or impaired consciousness was observed.

Case 2: In the last year, episodic weakness appeared on the left side of the limbs, with only a gradual relief of symptoms within 1-2 h. This time, there was a second episode of persistent weakness in the left limbs. No limb twitching, headache, nausea, vomiting, or impaired consciousness were observed.

Case 3: The patient had sudden onset of headache, vomiting, and weakness of the left hand for 2 h, with persistent symptoms. No limb convulsions or impaired consciousness was observed.

Case 4: Although no limb weakness, convulsions, or impaired consciousness, the patient had a sudden onset of numbness in the left hand for 3 h, with persistent symptoms.

#### History of past illness

Case 1: Had psoriasis for 30 years.

Case 2: Had psoriasis for 52 years and hypertension for 3 years.



Case 3: Had psoriasis for 30 years and hypertension for 2 years.

Case 4: Had psoriasis for 35 years and hypertension for 3 years.

#### Personal and family history

None of the four patients had a personal or family history of the disease.

#### Physical examination

Neurological examination: (1) Case 1: Grade 4 muscle strength in the right upper and lower extremities and Grade 5 muscle strength in the left extremity were observed, and the remaining examination was normal; (2) Case 2: Grade 5 muscle strength was observed in all four limbs, and the rest of the examination was normal; (3) Case 3: Examinations revealed Grade 4 muscle strength in the left upper and lower limbs, Grade 5 in the right limbs, and positive meningeal irritation signs; the rest of the examinations were normal; and (4) Case 4: Hypesthesia in the left upper limb and Grade 5 muscle strength were observed in the left and right limbs, with remaining normal examination findings.

Skin examination: All four patients had red lesions on the lower limbs, with their backs covered with white or silverywhite scales.

Cardiopulmonary and abdominal examinations of all three patients showed no abnormalities or positive signs (Table 1).

#### Laboratory examinations

Interleukin (IL)-6 was elevated in all cases. Patients 1 and 2 had elevated immunoglobulin E levels, and patient 3 had an elevated CD4 count. Patient 1 had elevated total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (Table 2).

#### Imaging examinations

Case 1: Cranial computed tomography (CT) showed a cerebral hemorrhagic lesion in the left basal ganglia. CT angiography (CTA) revealed severe stenosis of the bilateral middle cerebral arteries with puff of moyamoya-vessels.

Case 2: Cranial CT showed no abnormalities. Digital subtraction angiography exhibited occlusion of the right internal carotid artery with moyamoya-vessels.

Case 3: Cerebral hemorrhagic lesions in the right basal ganglia and lateral ventricle are seen on cranial CT. CTA showed severe stenosis of the bilateral ICAs with moyamoya-vessels.

Case 4: Hemorrhagic lesions were observed in the right thalamus, and foci of old softening were observed in the right basal ganglia. CTA showed severe stenosis of the ICAs with moyamoya-vessels bilaterally (Figure 1).

### FINAL DIAGNOSIS

#### Case 1

Intracerebral hemorrhage, psoriasis, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia.

#### Case 2

TIA, psoriasis, hypertension.

#### Case 3

Intracerebral hemorrhage, psoriasis, hypertension.

#### Case 4

Intracerebral hemorrhage, psoriasis, hypertension.

### TREATMENT

Patients 1, 3, and 4 were treated with medications to manage blood pressure and reduce intracranial pressure following the American Society of Anesthesiologists guidelines, whereas patient 2 received clopidogrel and calcium atorvastatin. No brain surgeries were performed.

After consulting with a dermatologist, glucocorticoids and carbotriol were prescribed for patients with psoriasis.

Table 1 Demographic characteristics									
Items	Gender	Age of developing psoriasis (age)	Age at MMS- related stroke (age)	Duration of hypertension (yr)	Blood pressure at admission (mmHg)	Type of stroke	NIHSS on admission 0- 42	Suzuki grade I- VI	mRS on admission 0- 5
Case 1	Male	30	42	-	120/70	ICH	2	III	2
Case 2	Male	52	71	3	122/68	TIA	0	V	0
Case 3	Female	30	47	2	140/88↑	ICH	2	IV	2
Case 4	Male	35	65	3	190/100†	ICH	1	IV	1

MMS: Moyamoya syndrome; NIHSS: National Institute of Health stroke scale; mRS: Modified Rankin scale; ICH: Intracerebral hemorrhage; TIA: Transient ischemic attack.

Table 2 Data of blood tests										
Items	White blood cell (4- 10, × 10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	Neutrophils (1.8-3.6, × 10º/L)	Monocytes (0.1-0.6, × 10º/L)	Platelet (100- 300, × 10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	Interleukin- 4 (0-3, pg/mL)	Interleukin- 6 (0-5.3, pg/mL)	lmmunoglobulin E (0-40, mg/L)	Treg cells (CD4+) (2.86- 7.74, %)	Cholesterol (2.8-5.2, mmol/L)	LDL cholesterol (1.6-3.4, mmol/L)
Case 1	9.38	5.57	0.63↑	203	1.09	8.27↑	90.8↑	-	5.76↑	4.15↑
Case 2	7.67	4.95	0.51	244	1.22	7.63↑	68.9↑	-	4.04	3.18
Case 3	6.92	4.32	0.5	358↑	3.43	8.49↑	17.8	11.4↑	4.88	3.36
Case 4	9.4	7.5	0.74↑	338↑	0.35	8.86↑	16.9	-	4.84	2.44

The arrows indicated that the results were over the normal cutoff value.

# **OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP**

#### Case 1

The patient was discharged from the hospital with an National Institute of Health stroke scale (NIHSS) score of 0 and a modified Rankin score (mRS) of 0. During the 2-year follow-up, the patient experienced two TIA events and no further stroke events after the administration of aspirin and atorvastatin. The itchy skin recurred.

#### Case 2

The patient was discharged from the hospital with an NIHSS score of 0 and an mRS score of 0. After 2 years of follow-up, although the patient did not undergo a stroke or TIA, pruritus episodes recurred.

#### Case 3

The patient was discharged with an NIHSS score of 1 and mRS score of 1. At 1 years after discharge, the patient experienced a TIA and was administered clopidogrel and atorvastatin. No stroke occurred during the second year of follow-up. The itchy skin recurred.

#### Case 4

The patient was discharged with an NIHSS score of 1 and mRS of 1. After 2 years of follow-up, the patient experienced no further strokes. The itchy skin recurred.



Figure 1 Cerebral arteriography or computed tomography angiography shows arterial stenosis and moyamoya-like vessels. Computed tomography shows cerebral hemorrhage, and limb imaging shows skin psoriasis. Arrows showed the intracerebral hematoma.

# DISCUSSION

According to our hospital's database, the prevalence of psoriasis in patients in the moyamoya study group was 1.9% (unpublished data), which is much higher than the prevalence of psoriasis in the Chinese population of 0.47%. Therefore, we hypothesized an association between psoriasis and MMS.

Baishideng® WJCC https://www.wjgnet.com

Histological inflammatory infiltration and immune response exist in the pathological mechanism of psoriasis and atherosclerosis, and they have certain similarities[6]. Psoriasis causes dermal skin damage, T cell infiltration and promotes systemic immune processes. Studies have found that the degree of histological infiltration of helper T1 and T17 lymphocytes is positively correlated with the degree of psoriasis and atherosclerosis[7].

All four patients had abnormally elevated plasma IL-6 levels in this study. Immunoglobulin E was abnormally elevated in 2 patients, platelet count was increased in 2 patients, and Treg cells were abnormally elevated in 1 patient (Table 2). Therefore, we speculate that the mechanism of psoriasis-mediated MMS may be that psoriasis activates a chronic T-cellmediated immune-inflammatory process that damages the endothelial cell layer of the cerebral vasculature, leading to arterial inflammatory intervention stenosis and inducing stroke<sup>[3]</sup>. Patient 3 had a TIA event in the first year after discharge, and his blood CD4 count was above the normal range, possibly indicating the severity of immune dysfunction. Treatment against psoriasis may require using biological agents to organize psoriasis and stroke. Unfortunately, we did not administer specific immunotherapy to these patients to see if treating psoriasis would prevent stroke recurrence.

Kazumata et al[8] has reported a case of MMS-induced psoriasis in an 8-year-old female patient without stroke. There was only one adult male Chinese MMS combined with psoriasis previously reported[9], who presented with typical cerebral ischemia and symptoms of dizziness, tingling, and weakness of the extremities. A meta-analysis reported a 20% increased risk of stroke and myocardial infarction in patients with psoriasis, and a study by Gelfand reported a 44% increased risk of stroke in patients with severe psoriasis[10]. However, neither study provided a detailed classification of stroke subtypes. From our four cases it seems that haemorrhagic stroke was more likely. Abnormally high expression of IgG and S100A4 in the walls of intracranial vessels in patients with MMD suggests that MMD-associated arterial intimal injury releases IgG, which recruits smooth muscle cells through the intima gap, leading to intimal thickening, and that arterial stenosis in MMS has a similar mechanism[11]. It has also been shown that vascular endothelial progenitor cells are involved in MMS-related vascular stenosis. We know that endothelial progenitor cells can induce angiogenesis, monocyte chemotactic protein-1, tumor necrosis factor and vascular endothelial growth factor participate in the activation and proliferation of vascular endothelial progenitor cells, and accelerate angiogenesis. These factors may induce the formation of abnormal vascular networks and lead to stroke[12]. Although three of the four patients had mild hypertension, which may result in stroke, all their hypertension was under control. In this case series, the predominant risk factor of arterial stenosis was psoriasis-related MMS.

To date, this is the first report of cerebral hemorrhage and TIA secondary to psoriasis associated MMS. This study suggests that T cell-mediated immune damage may be involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis associated MMS. However, the exact molecular mechanism needs to be confirmed with larger clinical samples and basic studies.

#### CONCLUSION

Therefore, psoriasis may be a potential risk factor for MMS. Thus, patients with psoriasis should be screened for MMS when they present with neurological symptoms.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to appreciate all patients who participated in this research.

#### FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Zhi-Ying Chen and Xiao-Qin Yu.

Author contributions: Chen ZY and Yu XQ contributed equally to this work as co-first authors; Chen ZY contributed to manuscript drafting and revision, data collection and interpretation; Yu XQ, Xiang YY and Liu LH contributed to data collection and interpretation; Yin XP contributed to study concept and design, and manuscript drafting and revision.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82260249.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare there is no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zhi-Ying Chen 0000-0002-8481-3927; Xiao-Ping Yin 0000-0002-7121-7077.

S-Editor: Zheng XM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

## REFERENCES

- Suzuki J, Takaku A. Cerebrovascular "moyamoya" disease. Disease showing abnormal net-like vessels in base of brain. Arch Neurol 1969; 20: 288-299 [PMID: 5775283 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.1969.00480090076012]
- Research Committee on the Pathology and Treatment of Spontaneous Occlusion of the Circle of Willis; Health Labour Sciences Research 2 Grant for Research on Measures for Infractable Diseases. Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of moyamoya disease (spontaneous occlusion of the circle of Willis). Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 2012; 52: 245-266 [PMID: 22870528 DOI: 10.2176/nmc.52.245]
- Evensen K, Slevolden E, Skagen K, Rønning OM, Brunborg C, Krogstad AL, Russell D. Increased subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. Atherosclerosis 2014; 237: 499-503 [PMID: 25463081 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.10.008]
- Greb JE, Goldminz AM, Elder JT, Lebwohl MG, Gladman DD, Wu JJ, Mehta NN, Finlay AY, Gottlieb AB. Psoriasis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 4 2016; 2: 16082 [PMID: 27883001 DOI: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.82]
- Egeberg A, Khalid U, Gislason GH, Mallbris L, Skov L, Hansen PR. Impact of Depression on Risk of Myocardial Infarction, Stroke and 5 Cardiovascular Death in Patients with Psoriasis: A Danish Nationwide Study. Acta Derm Venereol 2016; 96: 218-221 [PMID: 26280176 DOI: 10.2340/00015555-2218
- Liu C, Chen H, Liu Y, Huang H, Yu W, Du T, Long X, Chen X, Chen Z, Guo S, Li J, Jiang Z, Wang L, Lu C. Immunity: Psoriasis comorbid 6 with atherosclerosis. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 1070750 [PMID: 36591241 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1070750]
- Huang LH, Zinselmeyer BH, Chang CH, Saunders BT, Elvington A, Baba O, Broekelmann TJ, Qi L, Rueve JS, Swartz MA, Kim BS, 7 Mecham RP, Wiig H, Thomas MJ, Sorci-Thomas MG, Randolph GJ. Interleukin-17 Drives Interstitial Entrapment of Tissue Lipoproteins in Experimental Psoriasis. Cell Metab 2019; 29: 475-487.e7 [PMID: 30415924 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.10.006]
- Kazumata K, Kuroda S, Houkin K, Abe H, Kiyohara T, Kobayashi H, Okuno A. Moyamoya disease with precocious puberty and pustular 8 psoriasis. Childs Nerv Syst 1996; 12: 339-342 [PMID: 8816300 DOI: 10.1007/BF00301024]
- 9 Jiang HQ, Lei Y, Ni W, Li YJ, Gu YX. [Adult moyamoya syndrome with psoriasis, a case report]. Zhonghua Shenjingke Zazhi 2014; 47: 587-589 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1006-7876.2014.08.019]
- 10 Gelfand JM, Dommasch ED, Shin DB, Azfar RS, Kurd SK, Wang X, Troxel AB. The risk of stroke in patients with psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 2009; 129: 2411-2418 [PMID: 19458634 DOI: 10.1038/jid.2009.112]
- Zibert JR, Skov L, Thyssen JP, Jacobsen GK, Grigorian M. Significance of the S100A4 protein in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 2010; 130: 11 150-160 [PMID: 19641515 DOI: 10.1038/jid.2009.206]
- Michalak-Stoma A, Bartosińska J, Raczkiewicz D, Kowal M, Kozak J, Gujski M, Krasowska D, Chodorowska G. Multiple Cytokine Analysis 12 of Th1/Th2/Th9/Th17/Th22/Treg Cytokine Pathway for Individual Immune Profile Assessment in Patients with Psoriasis. Med Sci Monit 2022; 28: e938277 [PMID: 36419330 DOI: 10.12659/MSM.938277]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1837-1843

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1837

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Thoracic spinal cord injury and paraplegia caused by intradural cement leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty: A case report

Zi Mao, Zhi-Hong Xiong, Jun-Feng Li

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Hassel B, Norway

Received: January 2, 2024 Peer-review started: January 2, 2024 First decision: February 9, 2024 Revised: January 28, 2024 Accepted: March 18, 2024 Article in press: March 18, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Zi Mao, Zhi-Hong Xiong, Department of Pain Management, The Affiliated Hospital of Yunnan University, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China

Jun-Feng Li, Department of Medical Administration, The Affiliated Hospital of Yunnan University, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China

Corresponding author: Zi Mao, MMed, Doctor, Department of Pain Management, Affiliated Hospital of Yunnan University, No. 176 Qingnian Road, Wuhua District, Kunming 650000, Yunnan Province, China. maozi0314@sina.com

# Abstract

### BACKGROUND

Percutaneous kyphoplasty (PKP) is a pivotal intervention for osteoporotic fractures, pathological vertebral compression fractures, and vertebral bone tumors. Despite its efficacy, the procedure presents challenges, notably complications arising from intradural cement leakage. Timely and accurate diagnosis, coupled with emergent intervention is imperative to improve patient prognosis. This case report illuminates the intricacies and potential complications associated with PKP, emphasizing the critical need for vigilant monitoring, prompt diagnosis, and immediate intervention to mitigate adverse outcomes.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 58-year-old male patient, experiencing a T7 osteoporosis-related pathological compression fracture, underwent PKP at a local hospital. Two weeks postprocedure, the patient developed paraplegic and dysuric symptoms, necessitating emergency decompression surgery. Gradual improvement was achieved, marked by the restoration of muscle strength, sensation, and mobility.

#### **CONCLUSION**

PKP Intradural cement leakage following PKP is unusual and potentially fatal. Prompt imaging examinations, urgent evaluation, and the decompression surgery are essential, which help alleviate symptoms associated with spinal damage, markedly improving the overall prognosis.

Key Words: Percutaneous kyphoplasty; Intradural cement leakage; Complication; Decompression surgery; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: The report describes the first documented case of a patient experiencing spinal cord injury, paraplegia, and cerebrospinal fluid leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty, with subsequent remission achieved through emergency decompression surgery at our hospital.

Citation: Mao Z, Xiong ZH, Li JF. Thoracic spinal cord injury and paraplegia caused by intradural cement leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1837-1843 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1837.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1837

# INTRODUCTION

Percutaneous vertebroplasty (PVP) and percutaneous kyphoplasty (PKP) have emerged as increasingly common techniques for treating osteoporotic and pathological vertebral compression fractures since the late 1980s, with PKP representing a refinement and advancement of PVP[1]. The mechanism of PKP encompasses the reinforcement of vertebral strength, enhancement of spinal stability, and alleviation of spinal pain. Comparative studies have demonstrated that PKP exhibits superior clinical efficacy, safety, pain reduction, and a lower incidence of complications when compared with PVP. Consequently, PKP is widely considered a more suitable treatment modality for most patients with osteoporotic and pathological vertebral compression fractures, as well as vertebral bone tumors<sup>[2]</sup>. Although rare, complications associated with cement leakage after PKP include symptomatic neurological compromise on nerve roots or the spinal cord, paraplegia, cerebrospinal fluid leakage, pulmonary embolism, and infection. A recent study analyzing 138 articles, encompassing 1027 levels treated with either PVP or PKP, reported no untoward cement-leak-related complications. The authors suggested that cement extravasation may be clinically insignificant, asserting that emergency decompression surgery for cement leaks is unnecessary[3]. Conversely, another recent literature review revealed only seven documented cases of neurological deficits caused by intradural cement leakage after PVP. These cases resulted in residual functional impairment necessitating emergency decompression surgery, highlighting the urgent nature of intradural cement leakage and the need for timely intervention<sup>[4]</sup>. Notably, there is currently no reported instance of serious complications associated with intradural cement leakage following PKP in the available literature. This report describes the first documented case of a patient experiencing spinal cord injury, paraplegia, and cerebrospinal fluid leakage after PKP, with subsequent remission following emergency decompression surgery at our hospital.

### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 58-year-old male patient was admitted to our hospital complaining of lower back pain on September 15, 2023.

#### History of present illness

Two months before admission, the patient presented with lower back pain, leading to a diagnosis of herpes zoster at the local hospital outpatient clinic. Despite receiving oral medication and infusion therapy, the symptoms persisted. Subsequently, on August 27, the patient sought care at the Orthopedics Department of the local hospital and was admitted. He was diagnosed with T7 osteoporosis and a pathological compression fracture, prompting the performance of PKP on September 4 (Figure 1). Post-operation, the patient experienced relief from lower back pain; however, he developed bilateral hypochondrium pain and abdominal discomfort. Over the following week, the lower back pain and bilateral hypochondrium pain worsened, accompanied by progressive numbness and weakness in both lower extremities.

#### History of past illness

The patient had suffered from hypertension for 2 years and underwent PKP at a local hospital on September 4, 2023.

#### Personal and family history

The patient's medical history inquiry revealed the absence of any pertinent familial medical background or genetic predispositions to the observed condition.

#### Physical examination

During the physical examination, the patient's vital signs were assessed and found to be stable: body temperature was 36.2°C, blood pressure was 120/78 mmHg, heart rate was 73 bpm, and respiratory rate was 20 breaths/min. Examinations of the heart, lungs, and abdomen revealed no specific findings. Upon special examination, positive results were noted for percussion tenderness of the thoracic spinous process, positive findings for extensive tenderness beside the spinous process, and positive tenderness in the bilateral hypochondrium. Muscle strength in both lower limbs, tendon reflexes, and cutaneous sensation exhibited no significant abnormalities. The visual analog scale (VAS) for pain was recorded as 6.





Figure 1 X-ray of the thoracic spine. A: Anteroposterior image of T7 after percutaneous kyphoplasty (PKP); B: Lateral image of T7 after PKP.

#### Laboratory examinations

Routine blood examination, liver function, electrolyte, infectious disease-related laboratory tests, coagulation function, rheumatoid factors, and the antistreptolysin O test all yielded normal results. Abnormal test findings are detailed in Table 1.

#### Imaging examinations

Three days after admission, the patient presented with lower abdominal pain, dysuria, loss of sensation below the T7 level, and immobility of both lower limbs. On September 19, 2023, T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was conducted. The MRI revealed a wedge-shaped T7 vertebra, indicating spinal canal stenosis and spinal cord compression resulting from the protrusion of T7 vertebra cement into the spinal canal (Figure 2). Based on these abnormal findings, it was hypothesized that the patient's paralysis symptoms were associated with the inadvertent leakage of cement into the spinal canal during the kyphoplasty procedure.

### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The patient was diagnosed with thoracic spinal cord injury and paraplegia of both lower limbs.

### TREATMENT

Urgent surgical interventions, including the incision and exploration of the spinal canal, posterolateral decompression, T7 subtotal vertebrectomy, and posterior instrumented spinal fusion (T5-T11), were performed on September 20, 2023 (Figure 3). During the operation, it was observed that cement had leaked into the dura within the spinal canal, compressing the spinal cord from the left side and causing contusions to both the spinal cord and nerve root. Postsurgery, the patient was promptly transferred to the intensive care unit (ICU) for vigilant postoperative monitoring. While in the ICU, the patient received standard treatment comprising routine mannitol and dexamethasone to mitigate spinal cord edema. Additionally, a preventative anti-infection regimen involving ceftriaxone was administered to reduce the risk of central nervous system infection.

### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The day after admission to the ICU, the patient was successfully weaned off the ventilator, and exhibited stability in both respiratory and circulatory systems. Subsequently, he was transferred to a regular ward. Over time, the patient experienced gradual improvement in muscle strength, sensation, and overall mobility, leading to a safe discharge oneweek post-surgery. At the one-month follow-up, a diagnosis of pancreatic cancer was made at the local hospital. It was hypothesized that the T7 pathological compression fracture was associated with the presence of pancreatic cancer. Unfortunately, the patient opted to discontinue treatment, marking a regrettable conclusion to his medical care.



Mao Z et al. Intradural cement leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty

Table 1 Abnormal test results							
Tests	Results	Normal range					
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	3.94	< 1.7					
Uric acid (µmol/L)	649	208-428					
Creatinine (µmol/L)	229	57-97					
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	14.3	≤5					
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (mm/h)	49	< 15					
Urine protein	1+	Negative					



Figure 2 Preoperative T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging of the thoracic spine. A-D: Sagittal view; E and F: Axial view.

#### DISCUSSION

Currently, PKP is the preferred and optimal treatment for osteoporotic and pathological vertebral compression fractures, representing an innovative departure from traditional PVP. PKP offers distinct advantages by addressing kyphosis deformity, streamlining procedures to reduce operation time, utilizing an expandable balloon to restore vertebral height, and reinforcing the vertebra while minimizing cement leakage [5,6]. Notably, the reported rate of cement leakage exceeds 80% in PVP but remains below 50% in PKP[3,7]. Cement leakage into the perivertebral or intervertebral disc space generally manifests without significant clinical symptoms. However, when it occurs in the spinal canal or epidural space, it may lead to neurological symptoms or infections, while entry into the paraspinal venous system can result in embolism [8]. Research by Hulme et al[9] highlighted that cement leakage in PVP primarily occurs in the spinal canal and epidural region, whereas in PKP, it predominantly occurs in the perivertebral and intervertebral disc space. Several established risk factors for cement leakage include vertebral cortex fragmentation, defects in posterior vertebral walls, pathological compression fractures, high resistance in vertebrae (fracture compression greater than 2/3 or old fracture), a large volume of injected cement, low cement viscosity, low bone mineral density, intravertebral cleft, and Schmorl nodes[10-12]. While cement infiltration into the dura is a rare and serious complication, it has been reported in PVP cases. Herein, we present the first documented case of spinal cord injury, paraplegia, and cerebrospinal fluid leakage due to cement leakage into the intradural space after PKP.

As shown in previously published studies in the same field, the primary cause of dural rupture in this context is attributed to iatrogenic techniques. Specifically, the complication arises from repeated punctures and inaccurate needle angles during the procedure, leading to rupture of the pedicle or vertebral wall cortex and subsequent dural penetration. This sequence of events can result in cement extravasation into the intradural space following withdrawal of the puncture needle[13-16]. In the case of PKP, the recovery effect of the vertebral anterior margin, operative time, and improvement of

Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Postoperative image examinations: T7 subtotal vertebrectomy, and posterior instrumentation. A and B: Anteroposterior and lateral Xray; C and D: Axial computed tomography scan.

postoperative low back pain VAS did not show a significant difference between unilateral and bilateral punctures. However, unilateral puncture demonstrated the advantage of a shorter operative time and reduced cement injection [17]. It is crucial to note that in the unilateral approach, an excessively large puncture angle may lead to damage to the medial wall of the pedicle. Therefore, during the procedure, the needle tip should not traverse the medial border of the pedicle on the anteroposterior view until it reaches the posterior cortex of the vertebral body on the lateral view [13-16].

To effectively prevent cement leakage, several key strategies based on summarized experiences have been identified. Firstly, comprehensive preoperative imaging, including computed tomography (CT) and MRI examinations, is imperative to fully understand the conditions of the injured vertebrae. Careful consideration and meticulous operation are particularly crucial for vertebral bodies with cortical damage. Intraoperatively, maintaining clear visualization of the cement is essential, as blurry images and blind punctures not only heighten the risk of cement leakage but also contribute to the inability to detect intraoperative leakage [18]. Secondly, the selection of cement with an appropriate viscosity is crucial. This, coupled with a strategy to reduce repeated punctures and avoid damaging the medial wall of the pedicle, allows for better control over the speed of cement injection[19]. Studies by Lu et al[20] have suggested that infusing a smaller dose (1.8-3 mL) of cement during PKP can achieve equivalent clinical effects to conventional doses (3.5-6 mL) while significantly reducing the incidence of cement leakage. Thirdly, precise control of the strength and depth of the screw tap and guide needle is essential to prevent rupture of the vertebral anterior cortex and subsequent cement extravasation. Implementation of these strategies collectively enhances the safety and efficacy of the PKP procedure[18-20].

Postoperative and meticulous CT scans play a pivotal role in accurately assessing cement leakage. For patients displaying intradural cement leakage and varying degrees of neurological deficits, prompt decompression surgery is imperative[13-16,21-24]. Literature reviews in this specific field indicate symptom improvement in the majority of patients, except one elderly patient who opted against open surgery [24]. Neurological deficits may arise from thermal injury resulting from the exothermic reaction at the posterior cortex of cement leakage in the spinal canal<sup>[25]</sup>. Early surgical intervention facilitates the removal of cement, reduces chronic inflammation and fibrosis on the cement surface, and prevents further damage to nerve tissue. In our case, the patient developed neurological symptoms, including urination disturbance and paraplegia, two weeks post-PKP. After confirming the precise location of cement leakage by MRI, immediate decompression surgery was performed. After the operation, the patient's muscle power gradually recovered. Our analysis suggests that the root cause of cement leakage in this patient may be attributed to the puncture technique employed by the surgeon.

#### CONCLUSION

In presenting this rare and distinctive case of intradural cement leakage following PKP, we emphasize the critical role of refining surgical techniques, conducting thorough preoperative evaluations, ensuring clear intraoperative visualization of



Mao Z et al. Intradural cement leakage after percutaneous kyphoplasty

the cement, and carefully selecting cement with appropriate viscosity and quantity to mitigate the risk of such complications. In the event of neurological deficits post-PKP, swift action is essential. Performing a prompt CT scan or MRI exploration is imperative to precisely identify the site of cement leakage, facilitating urgent surgical decompression. Our findings underscore the significance of a comprehensive approach to enhance procedural safety and address complications swiftly for improved neurological outcomes.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Xiong ZH and Li JF contributed equally to this work; Xiong ZH and Li JF performed the research and analysis; Mao Z analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have nothing to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zi Mao 0009-0002-8522-7302.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

### REFERENCES

- Gosev I, Nascimben L, Huang PH, Mauri L, Steigner M, Mizuguchi A, Shah AM, Aranki SF. Right ventricular perforation and pulmonary embolism with polymethylmethacrylate cement after percutaneous kyphoplasty. Circulation 2013; 127: 1251-1253 [PMID: 23509033 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.144535
- 2 Hu KZ, Chen SC, Xu L. Comparison of percutaneous balloon dilation kyphoplasty and percutaneous vertebroplasty in treatment for thoracolumbar vertebral compression fractures. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2018; 22: 96-102 [PMID: 30004560 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 201807 15370]
- Rose LD, Bateman G, Ahmed A. Clinical significance of cement leakage in kyphoplasty and vertebroplasty: a systematic review. Eur Spine J 3 2023 [PMID: 37999769 DOI: 10.1007/s00586-023-08026-3]
- Ma QH, Liu GP, Sun Q, Li JG. Delayed complications of intradural cement leakage after percutaneous vertebroplasty: A case report. World J 4 Clin Cases 2022; 10: 8998-9003 [PMID: 36157648 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i25.8998]
- 5 Li Y, Jing Q, Chen F, Xu Y. Comparative Analysis of Therapeutic Outcomes and Prognoses Among Osteoporosis Patients with Varied Bone Mineral Density T-Values Following Percutaneous Kyphoplasty. Altern Ther Health Med 2023 [PMID: 38064631]
- Alarkawi D, Bliuc D, Tran T, Ahmed LA, Emaus N, Bjørnerem A, Jørgensen L, Christoffersen T, Eisman JA, Center JR. Impact of 6 osteoporotic fracture type and subsequent fracture on mortality: the Tromsø Study. Osteoporos Int 2020; 31: 119-130 [PMID: 31654084 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-019-05174-5]
- 7 Wang B, Zhao CP, Song LX, Zhu L. Balloon kyphoplasty versus percutaneous vertebroplasty for osteoporotic vertebral compression fracture: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Orthop Surg Res 2018; 13: 264 [PMID: 30348192 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-018-0952-5]
- Verlaan JJ, Oner FC, Dhert WJ. Anterior spinal column augmentation with injectable bone cements. Biomaterials 2006; 27: 290-301 [PMID: 8 16102818 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.07.028]
- Hulme PA, Krebs J, Ferguson SJ, Berlemann U. Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty: a systematic review of 69 clinical studies. Spine (Phila Pa 9 1976) 2006; 31: 1983-2001 [PMID: 16924218 DOI: 10.1097/01.brs.0000229254.89952.6b]
- Chen C, Fan P, Xie X, Wang Y. Risk Factors for Cement Leakage and Adjacent Vertebral Fractures in Kyphoplasty for Osteoporotic Vertebral 10 Fractures. Clin Spine Surg 2020; 33: E251-E255 [PMID: 32011354 DOI: 10.1097/BSD.00000000000928]
- Gao C, Zong M, Wang WT, Xu L, Cao D, Zou YF. Analysis of risk factors causing short-term cement leakages and long-term complications 11 after percutaneous kyphoplasty for osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures. Acta Radiol 2018; 59: 577-585 [PMID: 28782368 DOI: 10.1177/0284185117725368
- Zhan Y, Jiang J, Liao H, Tan H, Yang K. Risk Factors for Cement Leakage After Vertebroplasty or Kyphoplasty: A Meta-Analysis of 12 Published Evidence. World Neurosurg 2017; 101: 633-642 [PMID: 28192270 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.124]
- Bhide RP, Barman A, Varghese SM, Chatterjee A, Mammen S, George J, Thomas R. A rare presentation of subacute progressive ascending 13 myelopathy secondary to cement leakage in percutaneous vertebroplasty. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2014; 93: 431-436 [PMID: 24322431 DOI: 10.1097/PHM.000000000000028]



- Chen CH, Chuang MT, Wang CK. Intradural cement leakage after vertebroplasty. Spine J 2015; 15: 1493-1494 [PMID: 25801388 DOI: 14 10.1016/j.spinee.2015.03.025]
- Baek IH, Park HY, Kim KW, Jang TY, Lee JS. Paraplegia due to intradural cement leakage after vertebroplasty: a case report and literature 15 review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2021; 22: 741 [PMID: 34454446 DOI: 10.1186/s12891-021-04625-7]
- Grelat M, Le Van T, Fahed E, Beaurain J, Madkouri R. Rare Complication of Percutaneous Technique: Intradural Cement Leakage and Its 16 Surgical Treatment. World Neurosurg 2018; 118: 97 [PMID: 30026152 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2018.07.045]
- Qiao Y, Wang X, Liu Y, Hu J, Yuan FH, Zhao ZG. Comparison of Unilateral and Bilateral Percutaneous Kyphoplasty for Osteoporotic 17 Vertebral Compression Fractures. J Pain Res 2023; 16: 1813-1823 [PMID: 37273274 DOI: 10.2147/JPR.S393333]
- Potet J, Weber-Donat G, Curis E, Arnaud FX, Thome A, Valbousquet L, Peroux E, Geffroy Y, Bouzad C, Kervella Y, Lahutte M, Ukkola-18 Pons E, Baccialone J, Teriitehau CA. Incidence of pulmonary cement embolism after real-time CT fluoroscopy-guided vertebroplasty. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2013; 24: 1853-1860 [PMID: 23958047 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2013.05.048]
- 19 Habib M, Serhan H, Marchek C, Baroud G. Cement leakage and filling pattern study of low viscous vertebroplastic versus high viscous confidence cement. SAS J 2010; 4: 26-33 [PMID: 25802646 DOI: 10.1016/j.esas.2010.01.001]
- Lu LM, Ni XH, Ni JP, Tan W, Zhu XY, Yin S, Wu JS, Xu FC, Zhao QM. Clinical effect of unilateral balloon infusion of low dose bone 20 cement in PKP for osteoporotic thoracolumbar compression fractures in the elderly. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2022; 26: 3642-3647 [PMID: 35647845 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 202205 28859]
- Sabuncuoğlu H, Dinçer D, Güçlü B, Erdoğan E, Hatipoğlu HG, Ozdoğan S, Timurkaynak E. Intradural cement leakage: a rare complication of 21 percutaneous vertebroplasty. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2008; 150: 811-815 [PMID: 18509588 DOI: 10.1007/s00701-008-1503-3]
- 22 Teng MM, Cheng H, Ho DM, Chang CY. Intraspinal leakage of bone cement after vertebroplasty: a report of 3 cases. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2006; 27: 224-229 [PMID: 16418389]
- 23 Shapiro S, Abel T, Purvines S. Surgical removal of epidural and intradural polymethylmethacrylate extravasation complicating percutaneous vertebroplasty for an osteoporotic lumbar compression fracture. Case report. J Neurosurg 2003; 98: 90-92 [PMID: 12546397 DOI: 10.3171/spi.2003.98.1.0090]
- Chen YJ, Tan TS, Chen WH, Chen CC, Lee TS. Intradural cement leakage: a devastatingly rare complication of vertebroplasty. Spine (Phila 24 Pa 1976) 2006; 31: E379-E382 [PMID: 16721284 DOI: 10.1097/01.brs.0000219495.57470.67]
- Lai PL, Tai CL, Chen LH, Nien NY. Cement leakage causes potential thermal injury in vertebroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011; 12: 25 116 [PMID: 21615939 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-116]



W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1844-1850

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1844

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Panhypopituitarism caused by a suprasellar germinoma: A case report

Jelena Roganovic, Lea Saric, Silvije Segulja, Ana Dordevic, Mia Radosevic

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Liu TF, China; Yahya FS, Iraq

Received: January 4, 2024 Peer-review started: January 4, 2024 First decision: January 17, 2024 Revised: January 31, 2024 Accepted: March 15, 2024 Article in press: March 15, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Jelena Roganovic, Department of Pediatrics, Clinical Hospital Centre Rijeka, Rijeka 51000, Croatia

Jelena Roganovic, Lea Saric, Mia Radosevic, Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka, Rijeka 51000, Croatia

Silvije Segulja, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Rijeka, Rijeka 51000, Croatia

Ana Dordevic, Department of Business Development, Jadran Galenski Laboratorij, Rijeka 51000, Croatia

Corresponding author: Jelena Roganovic, PhD, Adjunct Professor, Department of Pediatrics, Clinical Hospital Centre Rijeka, Istarska 43, Rijeka 51000, Croatia. roganovic.kbcri@gmail.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Suprasellar germinomas are rare intracranial tumors frequently associated with permanent endocrine disorders. We present the clinical picture, treatment, and complications of suprasellar germinoma at pediatric age which, besides being lifethreatening, has lifelong endocrinological consequences.

### CASE SUMMARY

A 12-year-old female patient was presented having had intensive headaches for three weeks and visual disturbances for six months. An ophthalmological examination revealed bilateral papilledema and a marked loss of vision. Emergency brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed a suprasellar tumor, involving the infundibulum and the optic chiasm, extending to the third ventricle. Laboratory tests confirmed decreased levels of thyroxine, cortisol, gonadotropins, and insulin-like growth factor 1. Maximal tumor reduction was performed, and immunohistopathology established the diagnosis of suprasellar germinoma. MRI of the spine and cerebrospinal fluid cytology confirmed the localized disease. Adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy were performed according to the SIOP CNS GCT II protocol. A post-treatment MRI showed no residual tumor, but pituitary function had not recovered. Three and a half years after the end of the treatment, the patient is in a complete remission, requiring hormonal replacement therapy, continuous education, and psychological support.



#### **CONCLUSION**

This complex case highlights the importance of timely diagnosis, a multidisciplinary approach, and close follow-up in children with suprasellar germinomas.

Key Words: Germinoma; Germ cell tumor; Suprasellar tumor; Hypopituitarism; Management; Pediatrics; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Suprasellar germinomas are rare tumors that may be associated with hypopituitarism at diagnosis and after therapy. We report the presentation, diagnosis, treatment, and complications of a suprasellar germinoma in a 12-year-old patient. The tumor caused visual impairment, headaches, and hypopituitarism. The patient was treated surgically, followed by adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Post-treatment panhypopituitarism required hormonal replacement therapy. The case underscores the complexity of managing these rare tumors and the importance of a multidisciplinary approach. The findings contribute to the understanding of the long-term consequences and holistic lifelong care of pediatric patients with suprasellar germinomas.

Citation: Roganovic J, Saric L, Segulja S, Dordevic A, Radosevic M. Panhypopituitarism caused by a suprasellar germinoma: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1844-1850 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1844.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1844

### INTRODUCTION

Germinomas are germ cell neoplasms that primarily affect the gonads but can appear extragonadally, along midline structures of the body[1]. Intracranial germinomas are rare brain tumors predominantly affecting pediatric and young adult patients. They often occur in the pineal or the sellar/suprasellar regions, and less frequently in the basal ganglia/ thalamus[2]. Patients may present with a wide spectrum of non-specific endocrinological, visual, and cognitive disturbances, contributing to delayed diagnosis[2,3]. Slow tumor progression may additionally hamper the diagnosis[4]. Accurate diagnosis is based on the characteristic immunohistopathology and molecular biology [5,6]. No optimal treatment strategy has been established[7]. Germinomas generally respond well to radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or a combination of both, leading to 5-year overall survival rates up to 96%[8,9]. Recently, increasing attention has been paid to the late consequences of the treatment[2].

Germinomas of the suprasellar region cause the clinical picture of diabetes insipidus, visual disturbances, and hypopituitarism, due to the lack of stimulating hormones from the pituitary gland [10,11]. The aim of this case report is to present a patient with a rare brain tumor - a suprasellar germinoma, associated with a rare endocrine condition hypopituitarism, that persists even after the underlying cause has been cured.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A twelve-year-old female patient presented to the Emergency Department with gradual vision loss for 6 months and frontoparietal headache in the morning for 3 wk.

#### History of present illness

The patient reported gradual vision loss over the previous 6 months and a 3-wk long frontoparietal headache in the morning. She had no nausea, vomiting, double vision, or other symptoms.

#### History of past illness

The patient was being followed-up regularly by an ophthalmologist due to strabismus surgery performed at the ages of 8 and 11.

#### Personal and family history

Parents denied any family history of malignant tumors.

#### Physical examination

The patient was in a good general condition. Her vital signs included blood pressure 105/69 mmHg, pulse rate 82 beats/ min, oxygen saturation 100%, and axillar temperature of 36.7 °C. The girl had age-appropriate growth [height 157 cm (75<sup>th</sup>



Roganovic J et al. Suprasellar germinoma with panhypopituitarism

percentile), body weight (BW) 49 kg (75<sup>th</sup> percentile), and body mass index (BMI) 19.8 (75<sup>th</sup> percentile)]. Sexual maturation was normal with Tanner stage 2 breast development and Tanner stage 1 pubic hair development. Neurological examination was normal. An ophthalmological examination revealed bilateral papilledema and loss of vision of 50% compared to the previous examination carried out 6 months earlier.

#### Laboratory examinations

Abnormal laboratory findings included lower levels of thyroxine (7.46 pmol/L, reference range 10-26 pmol/L), cortisol (53.52 nmol/L, range 171-536 nmol/L for a blood sample taken at 8 in the morning), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (< 0.1 IU/L, range 3-10 IU/L), luteinizing hormone (LH) (< 0.1 IU/L, range 2-8 IU/L), estradiol (< 18 pg/mL, range 30-400 pg/mL), progesterone (< 0.05 ng/mL, range 0.1-0.3 ng/mL for prepubescent girls), testosterone (< 0.087 nmol/L, range 0.29-1.67 nmol/L), and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) (6.7 nmol/L, range 12.5-70.9 nmol/L). Thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) (1.53 mIU/L, range 0.58-4.1 mIU/L) and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) (2.20 pmol/L, range 2-11 pmol/L) were within normal limits. Prolactin level (1063 mIU/L, range 40-530 mIU/L) was elevated. The diagnosis of hypopituitarism was established on the basis of diminished levels of anterior pituitary gland hormones (gonadotropins FSH and LH) and target hormones, thyroxine and cortisol. Beta-human chorionic gonadotropin ( $\beta$ -hCG) and alpha fetoprotein (AFP) tumor markers were negative. Lactate dehydrogenase (318 U/L, range 152-284 U/L) and uric acid concentrations (436 µmol/L, range 125-293 µmol/L) were slightly elevated.

#### Imaging examinations

Emergency magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain showed a suprasellar mass measuring 22 mm × 18 mm. The tumor was compressing the anterior commissure and the tuber cinereum, extending to the bottom of the third ventricle. The lesion was isointense to the brain on non-contrast T1 weighted image (WI) and showed homogenous contrast enhancement. The axial T2WI MRI scan showed the lesion isointense to the brain. The infundibulum and optic chiasm were incorporated into the mass, and a cyst 13 mm × 10 mm was found in the pineal region. No calcifications, signs of ischemia, or hemorrhage were observed (Figure 1).

### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The final diagnosis of suprasellar germinoma was established by imaging studies and immunohistopathology.

### TREATMENT

Replacement therapy with hydrocortisone and levothyroxine was started, but no additional hormone levels in basal conditions and dynamic stimulation tests were performed as the patient's clinical condition dictated emergency intervention.

The patient was transferred to another hospital for neurosurgery. Maximal tumor reduction was performed, and brain MRI at 48 h after surgery showed minimal residual tumor. The postoperative course was uneventful. MRI of the spine and cytology of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) confirmed non-metastatic disease. A diagnosis of suprasellar germinoma was established by pathohistological examination. Immunohistochemistry revealed positivity for CD117, OCT-3/4, focal cytokeratin, and placental alkaline phosphatase, and negative staining for CD30, β-hCG and AFP, contributing to the accurate identification of the tumor type.

Postoperative treatment was continued according to the SIOP CNS GCT II protocol for children, adolescents, and young adults with intracranial germ cell tumors. Pretreatment investigations included repeated endocrine status including TSH (0.66 mIU/L, range 0.58-4.1 mIU/L) and ACTH (< 0.22 pmol/L, range 1.6-13.9 pmol/L) and tumor markers, routine blood tests, renal function, and hearing, ophthalmological and neurocognitive assessments.

A central venous catheter was implanted. Adjuvant chemotherapy consisted of two courses of carboplatin/etoposide, alternating with two courses of ifosfamide/etoposide. The courses were given at 21-d intervals; only the second course was delayed due to hematological toxicity. MRI of the brain after four courses of chemotherapy revealed no residual tumor (Figure 2). In the later course the patient was treated with radiotherapy. She received whole ventricular irradiation and tumor bed irradiation in a total dose of 24 Gy (15 fractions, dose per fraction 1.6 Gy).

Due to persistent hypopituitarism, hormonal replacement therapy with recombinant human growth hormone (GH) (somatropin,  $1 \times 2.25$  mg subcutaneously daily), hydrocortisone (10 + 5 + 5 mg per os daily), levothyroxine ( $1 \times 125$  mcg per os daily, and estrogens ( $17 \beta$ -oestradiol,  $1 \times 1$  mg per os daily) was conducted. A water deprivation test provided a diagnosis of central diabetes insipidus, requiring therapy with desmopressin ( $2 \times 60$  mcg sublingually daily). Progestogens (medroxyprogesterone acetate,  $1 \times 5$  mg per os daily) were added after two years.

The patient was followed-up regularly by an oncologist and endocrinologist. Eight months of treatment with GH led to a height increase of 7 centimeters (from 162 to 169 centimeters). After the end of antitumor treatment, significant weight gain was observed, from BW of 49 kg and BMI of 19.2 to BW 95 kg (94% increase) and BMI of 32.3 (68% increase) over a three-year period. The girl had her first menstrual period at the age of 15. She had marked psychological changes in the form of low self-esteem, depression, anxiety, and maladjustment to her peer group, which required psychological and psychiatric support.

Raisbideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Suprasellar germinoma in a twelve-year-old girl. The sagittal brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan demonstrates a suprasellar lesion with lobular contours, adjacent to the tuber cinereum and anterior commissure, involving the infundibulum of the pituitary gland and the optic chiasm. A and B: The lesion is isointense to the brain on non-contrast T1 weighted image (WI) (A) and shows homogenous contrast enhancement (B); C: The axial T2WI MRI scan shows the lesion isointense to the brain.



Figure 2 Brain magnetic resonance imaging after the end of chemotherapy. Magnetic resonance imaging shows no residual tumor.

### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

Three and a half years after the end of treatment, the patient is in remission, with regular oncological follow-up (MRI) and hormonal replacement therapy.

#### DISCUSSION

Hypopituitarism is defined as partial or complete deficiency of a single or multiple pituitary hormones[12]. The clinical presentation varies depending on the underlying disorder, and the number and severity of specific pituitary hormone deficiencies. The presence of signs and symptoms suggestive of hypopituitarism warrants prompt further investigation, including a thorough clinical history and physical examination, baseline biochemical testing, measurement of hormone levels in basal conditions and after appropriate stimulation, and imaging of the brain with pituitary focus[12,13].

Hypopituitarism is divided into primary (caused by disorders of the pituitary gland), and secondary (caused by disorders of the hypothalamus). It can be congenital (associated with structural pituitary and hypothalamic abnormalities) and acquired. Acquired hypopituitarism can result from any damage to the pituitary gland, including tumor, trauma, infection, autoimmune disease, chemotherapy, and irradiation[13,14]. The beginning is insidious, GH is usually the first to be lacking, followed by gonadotropins, and finally TSH and ACTH. Vasopressin deficiency is rare in primary pituitary disorders, but the frequency is higher in lesions of the pituitary stalk and hypothalamus. Lack of all hormones (panhypopituitarism) leads to hypofunction of all target glands. In children, the lack of GH leads to slow height growth, and the lack of gonadotropins leads to a delay in pubertal development. TSH deficiency causes hypothyroidism, with the typical clinical picture of a puffy face, a hoarse voice, bradycardia, and cold intolerance. ACTH deficiency leads to hypoadrenalism, with fatigue, hypotension, reduced tolerance to stress, and infections[13,15].

Treatment is based on the removal of the primary pathology, along with hormone replacement of hypofunctioning target glands. In the case of pituitary apoplexy and hypothalamic compression with progressive deterioration of con-



Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

sciousness, emergency surgery is indicated[16].

The predominant cause of primary hypopituitarism is pituitary tumors, including tumors of germ cell origin[14]. Germinomas are rare intracranial tumors, with an estimated frequency between 0.4%-3.4% in Western countries[10]. Most of these tumors develop along the midline, mainly from the pineal gland, and are usually manifested by diabetes insipidus, visual impairment, and failure of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis[2]. Histopathological and immunohistochemical diagnostics are necessary for optimal treatment<sup>[5]</sup>. Preoperative staging includes craniospinal MRI, CSF cytology, and measurement of biological tumor markers in the serum and CSF. The surgical approach is determined by the MRI findings, and the extent of resection by staging and intraoperative histopathological evaluation of frozen sections [2]. Treatment should be individualized, and usually consist of a combination of surgery, platinum-based chemotherapy, and focal radiotherapy (whole ventricular and tumor bed radiotherapy [2,17]. Germinomas are very responsive to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, with excellent therapeutic outcomes<sup>[8]</sup>. The greatest challenge is to minimize the adverse effects of irradiation treatment, and to improve the quality of life of patients who develop neurological, neurocognitive, and endocrine impairments<sup>[19]</sup>.

Our patient had a typical presentation with vision loss and headaches related to the underlying disorder. Her hypopituitarism, with reduced levels of thyroxine, cortisol, IGF-1, and gonadotropins, was clinically silent. Emergency MRI of the brain demonstrated the suprasellar tumor, which was diagnosed as a germinoma with immunohistopathology after surgery. Adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy were performed, and complete remission was achieved. Due to post-treatment panhypopituitarism, hormonal replacement therapy with somatropin, hydrocortisone, levothyroxine, estrogens, progestogens and desmopressin was prescribed.

There are several other reports of suprasellar germinomas with hypopituitarism at a younger age. Jevalikar et al[20] reported a 10-year-old boy with central diabetes insipidus and multiple autoimmune disorders, who developed progressive panhypopituitarism. Serial brain MRI showed changes suggestive of germinoma, and the patient was successfully treated with radiotherapy.

Celik et al[21] reported on lasting remission from multimodal treatment in an 18-year male presenting with blurred vision, headache and delayed sexual development. Pal et al[22] reported a 12-year-old girl with a sellar/suprasellar germinoma, masquerading as secondary granulomatous hypophysitis, presenting with panhypopituitarism and central diabetes insipidus. da Nóbrega et al[23] described a 14-year-old boy with a suprasellar germinoma, initially presenting with diabetes insipidus, in whom panhypopituitarism developed after chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Partenope et al [24] examined endocrine manifestations in 55 children with intracranial germ cell tumors at diagnosis and during followup. Endocrine disorders were present in 50.9% of patients at diagnosis. The most common was diabetes insipidus (85.7%), followed by central adrenal insufficiency (57.1%), central hypothyroidism (50%), GH deficiency (28.5%), hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism (10.7%), and precocious puberty (10.7%). If not diagnosed previously, endocrinopathies arose 15.15 months (1.3-404.2) after the end of treatment in an additional 16.4% patients [24].

All reported cases emphasize the significance of careful clinical and radiological follow-up in patients with endocrine and neurological manifestations. Integrated multidisciplinary involvement, including pediatric oncology, endocrinology, neurosurgery, pathology, radiation oncology and psychology, can optimize the complex care of children with suprasellar tumors and hypopituitarism.

#### CONCLUSION

Suprasellar germinomas are rare malignant brain tumors that may be associated with hypopituitarism at diagnosis and after treatment. Although the prognosis is good, they still present a diagnostic and therapeutic challenge. Our case highlights the importance of timely diagnosis, multimodality treatment with a multidisciplinary approach, and careful lifelong care of affected patients.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to acknowledge Dr. Dragan Javoran of the Department of Radiology at Clinical Hospital Centre Rijeka for highquality images and image interpretations.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Roganovic J designed the study and oversaw patient treatment; Saric L, Dordevic A and Radosevic M collected data; Roganovic J, Saric L, Segulja S, Dordevic A and Radosevic M wrote the paper; Roganovic J was responsible for writing instructions and communication contact; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the parent of the patient for publication of this report and accompanying images.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised



#### according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Croatia

**ORCID number:** Jelena Roganovic 0000-0002-7960-6069; Lea Saric 0009-0001-5996-6147; Silvije Segulja 0000-0002-2524-1324; Ana Dordevic 0000-0003-3896-6698; Mia Radosevic 0009-0003-8838-1521.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Weil BR, Billmire DF. Management of Germ Cell Tumors in Pediatric Patients. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 2021; 30: 325-338 [PMID: 33706903 DOI: 10.1016/j.soc.2020.11.011]
- Kremenevski N, Buchfelder M, Hore N. Intracranial Germinomas: Diagnosis, Pathogenesis, Clinical Presentation, and Management. Curr 2 Oncol Rep 2023; 25: 765-775 [PMID: 37036624 DOI: 10.1007/s11912-023-01416-2]
- Nakamura H, Takami H, Yanagisawa T, Kumabe T, Fujimaki T, Arakawa Y, Karasawa K, Terashima K, Yokoo H, Fukuoka K, Sonoda Y, 3 Sakurada K, Mineharu Y, Soejima T, Fujii M, Shinojima N, Hara J, Yamasaki K, Fujimura J, Yamasaki F, Takahashi M, Suzuki T, Sato I, Nishikawa R, Sugiyama K. The Japan Society for Neuro-Oncology guideline on the diagnosis and treatment of central nervous system germ cell tumors. Neuro Oncol 2022; 24: 503-515 [PMID: 34671804 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noab242]
- Sethi RV, Marino R, Niemierko A, Tarbell NJ, Yock TI, MacDonald SM. Delayed diagnosis in children with intracranial germ cell tumors. J 4 Pediatr 2013; 163: 1448-1453 [PMID: 23896184 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.06.024]
- Louis DN, Perry A, Wesseling P, Brat DJ, Cree IA, Figarella-Branger D, Hawkins C, Ng HK, Pfister SM, Reifenberger G, Soffietti R, von 5 Deimling A, Ellison DW. The 2021 WHO Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Neuro Oncol 2021; 23: 1231-1251 [PMID: 34185076 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noab106]
- Zhang Y, Zhong C, Ke X, Liu J, Ye Z, Lu L, Deng K, Zhu H, Yao Y. Advances in genetic abnormalities, epigenetic reprogramming, and 6 immune landscape of intracranial germ cell tumors. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2023; 11: 188 [PMID: 38012690 DOI: 10.1186/s40478-023-01682-y]
- Aridgides P, Janssens GO, Braunstein S, Campbell S, Poppe M, Murphy E, MacDonald S, Ladra M, Alapetite C, Haas-Kogan D. Gliomas, 7 germ cell tumors, and craniopharyngioma. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021; 68 Suppl 2: e28401 [PMID: 32960496 DOI: 10.1002/pbc.28401]
- 8 Bartels U, Onar-Thomas A, Patel SK, Shaw D, Fangusaro J, Dhall G, Souweidane M, Bhatia A, Embry L, Trask CL, Murphy ES, MacDonald S, Wu S, Boyett JM, Leary S, Fouladi M, Gajjar A, Khatua S. Phase II trial of response-based radiation therapy for patients with localized germinoma: a Children's Oncology Group study. Neuro Oncol 2022; 24: 974-983 [PMID: 34850169 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noab270]
- 9 Calaminus G, Kortmann R, Worch J, Nicholson JC, Alapetite C, Garrè ML, Patte C, Ricardi U, Saran F, Frappaz D. SIOP CNS GCT 96: final report of outcome of a prospective, multinational nonrandomized trial for children and adults with intracranial germinoma, comparing craniospinal irradiation alone with chemotherapy followed by focal primary site irradiation for patients with localized disease. Neuro Oncol 2013; 15: 788-796 [PMID: 23460321 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/not019]
- Srinivasan N, Pakala A, Mukkamalla C, Oswal A. Pineal germinoma. South Med J 2010; 103: 1031-1037 [PMID: 20818311 DOI: 10 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181ebeeff
- 11 Xue K, Han G, Wang Z, Zhang X. Primary suprasellar germinoma: A series of 15 cases. J Clin Neurosci 2023; 111: 71-77 [PMID: 36963125 DOI: 10.1016/j.jocn.2023.03.007]
- Yeliosof O, Gangat M. Diagnosis and management of hypopituitarism. Curr Opin Pediatr 2019; 31: 531-536 [PMID: 31082937 DOI: 12 10.1097/MOP.000000000000779]
- Hoffman RP. Panhypopituitarism. 2022 Apr 21 [cited 2 January 2024]. Available from: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/923789 13
- Kim SY. Diagnosis and Treatment of Hypopituitarism. Endocrinol Metab (Seoul) 2015; 30: 443-455 [PMID: 26790380 DOI: 14 10.3803/EnM.2015.30.4.443]
- 15 Stieg MR, Renner U, Stalla GK, Kopczak A. Advances in understanding hypopituitarism. F1000Res 2017; 6: 178 [PMID: 28299199 DOI: 10.12688/f1000research.9436.1]
- Mayol Del Valle M, De Jesus O. Pituitary Apoplexy. 2023 Aug 23. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 16 2024 Jan- [PMID: 32644648]
- Mesquita Filho PM, Santos FP, Köhler LR, Manfroi G, De Carli F, Augusto de Araujo M, Schwingel D. Suprasellar Germinomas: 2 Case 17 Reports and Literature Review. World Neurosurg 2018; 117: 165-171 [PMID: 29913291 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2018.06.041]
- 18 Scherz A, Feller K, Berezowska S, Genitsch V, Zweifel M. Successful Treatment of Pituitary Germinoma with Etoposide, Cisplatin, Vincristine, Methotrexate and Bleomycin Chemotherapy Without Radiotherapy. Anticancer Res 2017; 37: 3111-3115 [PMID: 28551652 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.11668]
- 19 Osorio DS, Allen JC. Management of CNS germinoma. CNS Oncol 2015; 4: 273-279 [PMID: 26118663 DOI: 10.2217/cns.15.13]
- Jevalikar G, Wong SC, Zacharin M. Rapidly evolving hypopituitarism in a boy with multiple autoimmune disorders. J Paediatr Child Health 20 2013; 49: 783-785 [PMID: 23586429 DOI: 10.1111/jpc.12169]
- Celik O, Ozyurt S, Saglican Y. Suprasellar germinoma with hypopituitarism in an 18-year old man: A case report and review of literature. Clin 21 Neurol Neurosurg 2020; 196: 106026 [PMID: 32580069 DOI: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2020.106026]



Roganovic J et al. Suprasellar germinoma with panhypopituitarism

- Pal R, Rai A, Vaiphei K, Gangadhar P, Gupta P, Mukherjee KK, Singh P, Ray N, Bhansali A, Dutta P. Intracranial Germinoma Masquerading 22 as Secondary Granulomatous Hypophysitis: A Case Report and Review of Literature. Neuroendocrinology 2020; 110: 422-429 [PMID: 31269501 DOI: 10.1159/000501886]
- da Nóbrega VA, da Nóbrega VA, Soares RD. Childhood-onset panhypopituitarism and differential diagnosis of polyuria. Medicina (Ribeirão 23 Preto) 2021; 54: e-178625
- Partenope C, Pozzobon G, Weber G, Arya VB, Carceller F, Albanese A. Endocrine manifestations of paediatric intracranial germ cell 24 tumours: from diagnosis to long-term follow-up. Endocrine 2022; 77: 546-555 [PMID: 35767181 DOI: 10.1007/s12020-022-03121-9]



Baishideng® WJCC https://www.wjgnet.com

W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2024 April 6; 12(10): 1851-1856

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1851

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Can we triumph over locally advanced cervical cancer with colossal para-aortic lymph nodes? A case report

Abdulla Alzibdeh, Issa Mohamad, Lina Wahbeh, Ramiz Abuhijlih, Fawzi Abuhijla

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Zeng C, United States

Received: January 23, 2024 Peer-review started: January 23, 2024 First decision: January 31, 2024 Revised: February 4, 2024 Accepted: March 18, 2024 Article in press: March 18, 2024 Published online: April 6, 2024



Abdulla Alzibdeh, Issa Mohamad, Lina Wahbeh, Ramiz Abuhijlih, Fawzi Abuhijla, Department of Radiation Oncology, King Hussein Cancer Center, Amman 11941, Jordan

Corresponding author: Fawzi Abuhijla, MD, MSc, Assistant Professor, Department of Radiation Oncology, King Hussein Cancer Center, Queen Rania St. PO Box 1269, Amman 11941, Jordan. fhijle@khcc.jo

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Para-aortic lymph nodes (PALNs) are common sites for the regional spread of cervical squamous cell carcinoma (SCC).

### CASE SUMMARY

We report the case of a 36-year-old woman who presented with cervical SCC with multiple bulky PALNs, largest measured 4.5 cm × 5 cm × 10 cm. The patient was treated with radical intent with definitive chemoradiation using sequential doseescalated adaptive radiotherapy, followed by maintenance chemotherapy. The patient achieved a complete response; she has been doing well since the completion of treatment with no evidence of the disease for 2 years.

### CONCLUSION

Regardless of the size of PALN metastases of cervical carcinoma origin, it is still treatable (with radical intent) via concurrent chemoradiation. Adaptive radiotherapy allows dose escalation with minimal toxicity.

Key Words: Cervical cancer; Bulky; Lymph node; Radiotherapy; Para-aortic; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** In rare case of locally advanced cervical cancer with massive para-aortic lymph node involvement, we demonstrated successful treatment with concurrent chemoradiotherapy, achieving a complete response without surgery. Our study underscores the challenge of managing such cases because of the limited evidence on the optimal radiation doses for bulky lymph nodes. Despite this, our case highlights the potential efficacy of high-dose radiation, and the importance of multidisciplinary collaboration in treatment planning. Further research is warranted to refine treatment strategies and improve outcomes in similar cases.

Citation: Alzibdeh A, Mohamad I, Wahbeh L, Abuhijlih R, Abuhijla F. Can we triumph over locally advanced cervical cancer with colossal para-aortic lymph nodes? A case report. World J Clin Cases 2024; 12(10): 1851-1856 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v12/i10/1851.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v12.i10.1851

# INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer is a gynecological cancer, with an incidence of 604127 recorded cases globally in 2020[1]. In Jordan, however, cervical cancer is considered a rare cancer, with 39 recorded cases according to the annual cancer registry by the Ministry of Health, and 115 new cases in 2020, according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer[1]. Locally advanced cancer, defined as International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) stage IB2 or higher, is treated with definitive chemoradiation and has a 5-year relative survival rate of 58%[2]. Many prognostic factors have been associated with poor survival in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer treated with chemoradiation. Such factors include enlarged regional lymph nodes on imaging, especially para-aortic lymph node (PALN) involvement (stage IIIC2) [3-5]. PALN metastasis was found to be an independent prognostic factor for survival[5].

In this study, we report a case of locally advanced cervical cancer with bulky PALN involvement. To our knowledge, the size of the lymph nodes in the reported case is the largest in the literature. There is no consensus regarding the radiation dose required to control the disease.

## CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

The patient was complaining of intermenstrual and postcoital bleeding for 2 months duration.

#### History of present illness

Her initial symptoms started 2 months prior to diagnosis (May 2021); as she complained of intermenstrual bleeding and postcoital bleeding that became more frequent with time.

#### History of past illness

Her medical history included endometriosis at the cesarean section scar, which was managed by resection and mesh reconstruction in 2008. She was not taking any medications and reported no family history of cancer. She was a working woman and did not smoke. The patient had been using combined oral contraceptives.

#### Personal and family history

She was not on any medications and reported no family history of cancer.

#### Physical examination

Upon examination, her height was 59.84 in (152.00 cm), and her weight was 143.30 kg (65.14 Lb.). Her BMI was 28 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Abdominal examination revealed a Pfannenstiel scar without tenderness or masses on palpation. Her vaginal examination was limited because the patient was nervous during examination and showed a narrowed vagina with an irregular cervical os surface. Bleeding was evident after examination. The inguinal lymph nodes were not palpable, and rectal and speculum examinations were not performed for patient comfort.

#### Laboratory examinations

Her initial labs showed unremarkable kidney and liver function tests and a HGB level of 13.9 g/dL.

#### Imaging examinations

Initial pelvic MRI showed thickening of the external os, consistent with cervical cancer, with no definite parametrial invasion. Contrast CT of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis showed multiple enlarged para-aortic and pelvic lymph nodes, some of which showed foci of calcification, measuring up to 4.8 cm in the short axis (Figure 1).





Figure 1 CT scan showing bulky para-aortic nodes. A: Axial view; B: Coronal view; C: Sagittal view.

Her case was discussed in a weekly multidisciplinary clinic for gynecological cancers at our institute, and FDG-18 whole-body PET/CT was recommended. FDG-18 whole body PET/CT scan showed multiple hypermetabolic enlarged abdomino-pelvic lymphadenopathy, involving: retrocrural, aorto-caval, retrocaval, bilateral para-aortic, bilateral common, external, and internal iliac lymph nodes, some of them with calcifications, the most prominent one is measuring about: 5 cm × 4.6 cm in max axial dimension with SUV max of 15. Otherwise, staging was negative for distant metastases.

### MULTIDISCIPLINARY EXPERT CONSULTATION

After completing the workup, the case was discussed again in the multidisciplinary clinic for gynecological cancers, and the final staging was determined to be IIIC2 according to the 9th FIGO staging system. The recommended treatment plan was concurrent chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin-based chemotherapy and radiotherapy with external beam radiation therapy and brachytherapy, followed by subsequent assessment with imaging for possible surgical resection of any residual disease, if necessary.

### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

Cervical poorly differentiated squamous cell carcinoma (stage IIIC2), according to 9th FIGO staging system.

#### TREATMENT

Radiation treatment was planned over three sequential phases via volumetric arc radiotherapy (VMAT): 45 Gy/25 Fx to the primary tumor, upper vagina, parametrium, entire uterus, and elective and positive lymph nodes, as shown in Figure 2. The second and third phases were boost doses targeting the primary tumor and positive bulky lymph nodes up to 65 Gy, instead of brachytherapy. A brachytherapy boost was deferred as the patient had internal iliac deep vein thrombosis (DVT) with submissive pulmonary embolism (PE) and was deemed at moderate risk for general anesthesia after cardiology and respiratory assessment. In addition, the patient prognosis correlated with the nodal disease status rather than the primary disease since she had minimal thickening at the cervical os via MRI following the first phase. Anticoagulation therapy was initiated.

The patient started radiation treatment on September 15, 2021; she required one re-planning CT simulation during treatment as adaptive radiotherapy to account for nodal volume reduction. She also underwent a subsequent CT simulation to plan the boost phase. She completed her treatment on November 24, 2021, with a total duration of 71 d.

She concurrently started chemotherapy with 64 mg of cisplatin and 25 mg of mannitol. The patient received six cycles, and the last cycle was completed on October 24, 2021. Apart from her DVT and PE during treatment, the patient tolerated her treatment well and was seen weekly in a radiotherapy clinic with an acute Radiation Therapy Oncology Group gastrointestinal and genitourinary toxicity profile of grade 1.

After completing chemoradiotherapy, the patient was discussed again by the medical team within the multidisciplinary clinic, and the plan was to administer maintenance chemotherapy with carboplatin/paclitaxel-based therapy. She received five cycles, which were completed in February 2022.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient underwent a CT scan with contrast for the chest, abdomen, and pelvis on February 16, 2022, which showed excellent response with no residual uterine cervix tumor and no distant metastases. Stable calcified left para-aortic



Zaisbidene® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com


#### Figure 2 Radiotherapy dosimetric plan, including primary disease and locoregional lymph nodes with simultaneous integrated boost to bulky para-aortic nodes.

PALNs were also observed. Enlarged pelvic lymph nodes were not observed.

Follow-up imaging with MRI and CT on May 21, 2022, showed no local recurrence of cervical cancer. Pelvic lymph nodes were unremarkable. Stable calcified left para-aortic PALNs were also observed.

A Pap smear was performed on August 16, 2022, revealing radiation changes, negative for intraepithelial lesion or malignancy, and the subsequent smear on August 15, 2023, was within normal limits.

A CT scan was performed on October 13, 2022, which showed stable left para-aortic inferior calcified lymph nodes, the largest measuring 2 cm. Otherwise, no definite para-aortic, mesenteric, pelvic, or inguinal lymphadenopathy was observed. MRI was performed on January 15, 2023, and showed no suspicious recurrent or metastatic disease in the pelvis.

Her last follow-up images by chest, abdomen and pelvic CT scan and MRI in January 2024 showed a complete response, with no local recurrence or distant metastasis, as shown in Figure 3. She was assessed in gynecology and radiation oncology clinics in January 2024, she is doing well, and has no gastrointestinal or genitourinary related symptoms, pap smear was performed and came back negative for malignancy.

#### DISCUSSION

Cervical cancer comes fourth in global female cancers, and also the fourth most common cause of female mortality<sup>[1]</sup>, however it is a rare cancer in Jordan, most likely due to the conservative culture of sexual practice before marriage, although under reporting is also a contributing factor, considering the imperfect cancer registry systems in developing countries like Jordan.

Locally advanced cancer is treated with definitive chemoradiation, and many prognostic factors have been found to be associated with poor survival in locally advanced cervical cancer treated with chemoradiation. These factors include large size of the primary tumor (> 6 cm), non-squamous cell carcinoma histology, advanced stage (IIIA-IVA), a lower pretreatment hemoglobin level (120 and 126 g/L have been identified as cut-off level/value), enlarged regional lymph nodes on imaging, especially PALN (stage IIIC2), HIV positivity, poor functional status, and treatment duration longer than 56 d[3-8]. Pelvic and PALN metastases were significantly associated with worse progression-free survival (PFS), whereas only PALN metastasis was an independent prognostic indicator of survival<sup>[5]</sup>. In one study, PALN involvement was the most important prognostic factor in radical radiotherapy for cervical cancer<sup>[4]</sup>.

Zaishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 CT scan showing stable calcified para-aortic node. A: No other enlarged nodes on axial view; B: Coronal view; C: Sagittal view.

Oncological outcomes are worse with lymph node metastases and depend on the number, size, and affected region of nodal metastases [9,10]. The term 'bulky' nodes does not have an affixed definition, but a range of  $\geq$  1.5 or  $\geq$  2.0 cm of the short axis on imaging has been frequently reported in the literature[11-15]. One study showed that patients with large metastatic nodes ( $\geq$  15 mm) are at an increased risk of early distant disease failure and death from distant metastasis[14]. Large positive pelvic or PALNs (> 10 mm) have been found to be associated with in-field failure after concurrent chemoradiotherapy [9]. A size  $\geq$  10 mm of the involved pelvis and PALNs was a significant prognostic factor for poor overall survival and disease-free survival rates[9].

Resection of bulky lymph nodes prior to radiotherapy may affect patient survival. A study published in 1995 found that survival was comparable for patients with completely resected bulky pelvic and common iliac nodes in comparison with patients with micrometastases, suggesting that resection prior to concurrent chemoradiotherapy may benefit patients, especially when higher doses may be required to eradicate bulky nodes[15]. There is a paucity of data regarding the dose of radiation that is sufficient to effectively treat bulky lymph nodes, particularly PALNs that reside at levels that require a significantly larger field of radiation.

A study published in 2014 studied 61 patients with locally advanced cervical cancer with nodal involvement (pelvis only in 67% and pelvis + para-aortic in 33%). The median nodal size was 1.8 cm, ranging from 0.7 cm to 4.5 cm. The patient was treated with concurrent chemoradiotherapy and brachytherapy. External beam radiotherapy was performed with extended-field intensity-modulated radiation therapy at a dose of 45 Gy in 25 fractions with simultaneous boost to the involved nodes to a median of 55 Gy in 25 fractions. Local failure rates were low (at a mean follow-up time of 29 months, eight patients experienced recurrence), suggesting that a dose of 55 Gy in 25 fractions was effective in treating the involved nodes[16].

Adjuvant systemic treatment after concurrent chemoradiotherapy is an area of research aimed at improving the outcomes of locally advanced cervical cancer. However, the OUTBACK trial showed that chemotherapy after concurrent chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer did not improve overall survival or PFS[17].

### CONCLUSION

Despite their large size, bulky PALNs can still be treated with chemoradiation for locally advanced cervical carcinoma with curative intent. More prospective studies and trials are needed to fill in the gaps to determine the best radiation doses and regimens and the most suitable adjuvant treatments in terms of oncologic outcomes and toxicity profiles.

## FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Alzibdeh A and Abuhijla F designed research concept, reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript; all author have edited the manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed consent obtained from the patient.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare no conflict of interest.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Bishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Country/Territory of origin: Jordan

ORCID number: Issa Mohamad 0000-0003-0153-9131; Ramiz Abuhijlih 0000-0001-5397-6267; Fawzi Abuhijla 0000-0002-7264-6789.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

# REFERENCES

- 1 Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-249 [PMID: 33538338 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21660]
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020; 70: 7-30 [PMID: 31912902 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21590] 2
- Endo D, Todo Y, Okamoto K, Minobe S, Kato H, Nishiyama N. Prognostic factors for patients with cervical cancer treated with concurrent 3 chemoradiotherapy: a retrospective analysis in a Japanese cohort. J Gynecol Oncol 2015; 26: 12-18 [PMID: 25310853 DOI: 10.3802/jgo.2015.26.1.12]
- Yamashita H, Nakagawa K, Tago M, Shiraishi K, Nakamura N, Ohtomo K. Treatment results and prognostic analysis of radical radiotherapy 4 for locally advanced cancer of the uterine cervix. Br J Radiol 2005; 78: 821-826 [PMID: 16110104 DOI: 10.1259/bjr/13147816]
- Liu J, Tang G, Zhou Q, Kuang W. Outcomes and prognostic factors in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer treated with concurrent 5 chemoradiotherapy. Radiat Oncol 2022; 17: 142 [PMID: 35978412 DOI: 10.1186/s13014-022-02115-1]
- Kim HS, Park NH, Wu HG, Cho JY, Chung HH, Kim JW, Song YS, Kim SH, Kang SB. Matched-case comparison for the role of surgery in 6 FIGO stage Ib1-IIa squamous cell carcinoma of cervix and suspicious para-aortic lymph node metastasis. Ann Surg Oncol 2009; 16: 133-139 [PMID: 18979134 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-0197-3]
- Bush RS. The significance of anemia in clinical radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1986; 12: 2047-2050 [PMID: 3771322 DOI: 7 10.1016/0360-3016(86)90146-x
- 8 Maiman M, Fruchter RG, Guy L, Cuthill S, Levine P, Serur E. Human immunodeficiency virus infection and invasive cervical carcinoma. Cancer 1993; 71: 402-406 [PMID: 8093678 DOI: 10.1002/1097-0142(19930115)71:2<402::aid-cncr2820710222>3.0.co;2-y]
- 9 Oh J, Seol KH, Choi YS, Lee JW, Bae JY. Clinical significance of lymph node size in locally advanced cervical cancer treated with concurrent chemoradiotherapy. Yeungnam Univ J Med 2019; 36: 115-123 [PMID: 31620623 DOI: 10.12701/yujm.2019.00143]
- Ditto A, Martinelli F, Lo Vullo S, Reato C, Solima E, Carcangiu M, Haeusler E, Mariani L, Lorusso D, Raspagliesi F. The role of 10 lymphadenectomy in cervical cancer patients: the significance of the number and the status of lymph nodes removed in 526 cases treated in a single institution. Ann Surg Oncol 2013; 20: 3948-3954 [PMID: 23812772 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-013-3067-6]
- Choi KH, Kim JY, Lee DS, Lee YH, Lee SW, Sung S, Park HH, Yoon SC, Hur SY, Park JS, Kim YS. Clinical impact of boost irradiation to 11 pelvic lymph node in uterine cervical cancer treated with definitive chemoradiotherapy. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e0517 [PMID: 29668638 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000010517]
- 12 Kodama J, Seki N, Ojima Y, Nakamura K, Hongo A, Hiramatsu Y. Prognostic factors in node-positive patients with stage IB-IIB cervical cancer treated by radical hysterectomy and pelvic lymphadenectomy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2006; 93: 130-135 [PMID: 16563395 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2006.02.012]
- Inoue T, Chihara T, Morita K. The prognostic significance of the size of the largest nodes in metastatic carcinoma from the uterine cervix. 13 Gynecol Oncol 1984; 19: 187-193 [PMID: 6489830 DOI: 10.1016/0090-8258(84)90179-3]
- Song S, Kim JY, Kim YJ, Yoo HJ, Kim SH, Kim SK, Lim MC, Kang S, Seo SS, Park SY. The size of the metastatic lymph node is an 14 independent prognostic factor for the patients with cervical cancer treated by definitive radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2013; 108: 168-173 [PMID: 23684584 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.04.015]
- 15 Hacker NF, Wain GV, Nicklin JL. Resection of bulky positive lymph nodes in patients with cervical carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Cancer 1995; 5: 250-256 [PMID: 11578485 DOI: 10.1046/j.1525-1438.1995.05040250.x]
- Vargo JA, Kim H, Choi S, Sukumvanich P, Olawaiye AB, Kelley JL, Edwards RP, Comerci JT, Beriwal S. Extended field intensity modulated 16 radiation therapy with concomitant boost for lymph node-positive cervical cancer: analysis of regional control and recurrence patterns in the positron emission tomography/computed tomography era. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014; 90: 1091-1098 [PMID: 25303889 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.08.013]
- Mileshkin LR, Moore KN, Barnes E, Gebski V, Narayan K, Bradshaw N, Lee YC, Diamante K, Fyles AW, Small W, Gaffney DK, Khaw P, 17 Brooks S, Thompson JS, Huh WK, Carlson M, Amanda C. Adjuvant chemotherapy following chemoradiation as primary treatment for locally advanced cervical cancer compared to chemoradiation alone: The randomized phase III OUTBACK Trial (ANZGOG 0902, RTOG 1174, NRG 0274). J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: Suppl 18 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15 suppl.LBA3]



WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



# Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: office@baishideng.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

